
           
 

AGENDA
ESCAMBIA COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

SPECIAL MEETING
November 13, 2017–8:30 a.m.

Escambia County Central Office Complex
3363 West Park Place, Room 104

             
1. Call to Order.  
 

2. Swearing in of Staff and acceptance of staff as expert witness  
 

3. Acceptance of the BOA Meeting Package with the Development Services Staff
Findings-of-Fact, into evidence.

 

 

4. Proof of Publication and waive the reading of the legal advertisement.  
 

5. Consideration of the following cases:  
 

A.   CASE NO.: AP-2016-01 
ADDRESS: 1999 Massachusetts Avenue
REQUESTED APPEAL:  Appeal of the Development Review Committee

denial of project # PSP160400044, Sean's Outpost
REQUESTED BY:  William J. Dunaway, Agent for Sean's Outpost, Inc.

 

6. Announcement.

The next Board of Adjustment Meeting is scheduled for Wednesday,
November 15, 2017 at 8:30 a.m., at the Escambia County Central Office
Complex, Room 104, 3363 West Park Place.

 

 

7. Adjournment.  
 



   
Board of Adjustment Special Meeting   5. A.           
Meeting Date: 11/13/2017  

I. SUBMISSION DATA:
APPLICANT: William J. Dunaway, Agent for Sean's Outpost,

Inc.
DATE OF ADMINISTRATIVE
DECISION:

10/12/2016

DATE OF APPEAL APPLICATION: 10/27/2016
PROJECT ADDRESS: 1999 Massachusetts Avenue
PROPERTY REFERENCE NO.: 12-2S-30-7002-000-000
ZONING DISTRICT: HC/LI, Heavy Commercial and Light Industrial

district
FUTURE LAND USE: MU-U, Mixed-Use Urban

III. REQUESTED APPEAL::
The Applicant is requesting an appeal of the Development Review Committee's (DRC)
denial of project # PSP160400044, Sean's Outpost.

III. RELEVANT APPEAL AUTHORITY:
Land Development Code of Escambia County, Florida (Ordinance 96-3 as
amended), Section: 2-6.10(b)(3)

Section 2-6-10, Appeal of Administrative Decisions of the Escambia County Land
Development Code (Ordinance No. 96-3 as amended), provide the relevant authority for
the BOA’s review of administrative decisions.

(b) Appeal process. Conditions that may justify modification of administrative decisions
are evaluated through quasi-judicial public hearing review by the Board of Adjustment
(BOA).

(3) Compliance review. The BOA shall conduct the quasi-judicial public hearing to
consider the appeal of an administrative decision. The applicant has the burden of
presenting competent substantial evidence to the board that establishes each of the



following conditions with regard to the decision being appealed:

a. Arbitrary or capricious. The decision of the administrative official was neither
required nor supported by the Comprehensive Plan or the LDC and was therefore
arbitrary or capricious.

b. LDC noncompliance. The specific LDC provisions identified in the appeal application
are appropriate to the decision and the decision was not in compliance with those
provisions.

c. Adverse impact. The applicant’s property will suffer an adverse impact as a result of
the decision if it is not modified.

d. Protected interest. The adverse impact is to a specific interest protected or furthered
by the LDC or Comprehensive Plan.

e. Greater impact. The adverse impact adversely affects the applicant in a greater
degree than any adverse impact shared by the community at large; and, if the applicant
is a third party to the decision, the adverse impact peculiar to the applicant differs in kind
(as opposed to degree) to any suffered by the community as a whole.

IV. BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The project in question was submitted to the county DRC for the purpose of obtaining
Development Order (DO) approval. As with all projects submitted to the DRC, the
assigned reviewers then reviewed the plan for LDC compliance.

Following the reviews it was determined that this submittal did not meet all of the
conditions for approval and the project was denied at the October 12, 2016 DRC meeting.

The Applicant met with staff to discuss the option of appeal and the case was submitted
on October 27, 2016, meeting the required time frame set forth in  LDC 2-6.10(b)(1).

Staff then scheduled the BOA hearing for Dec. 7, 2016, also meeting the time time frame
of LDC 2-6.10(b)(1).

V.  BOARD DECISION
A motion was made and seconded to accept the recommendation of staff's denial and to
uphold the DRC denial of the Sean's Outpost development order.  That motion resulted
in a 3-3 tied vote.  The appeal failed to receive an affirmative majority vote and was
denied.

In January 2017, the Applicant filed an appeal of the Board's decision with the Circuit
Court. In September of 2017, the case was remanded back to the Board of Adjustment.

Attachments



AP-2016-01
Final Order
Petition for Writ of Certiorari with Appendix
Transcripts from December 7, 2016



AP-2016-01 



S MADISON D R

TOULO U S E DR

RUBY
AV E

W FAIR FIELD D R

HAVRE
W AY

SARATOGA
AVE

HOLLY W
OOD

AVE

S IL VERSIDESLOOP

MASSACHUSETTS AVE

BELAIR RD

ARNARD
PL ERRESS BLVD

EM
ER

A L
D

A V
E

UTAH CT

KE
LL

 D
R

C U
RT

IS
S

DR

W
ES

T
SH

OR
E

DR

ED ISON DR

CADDY
SHACK LN

DES

MONDED R FL ETCHERDR

EDISON DR

IDAHO CT
EMBERS LNDG

BA
LL

AR
D

ST

HAVREW
A Y

AM IENSCI R

NEW

MEXICO
DR

W M ICHIGAN AVE

MEDFORD AVE

O LD

FA IRFIE LD DR

MONTCLAIR RD

WABASH AVE

MON PE L LI ER
DR

ROCHELLE DR

C HA NTI L LY
W

AY

VE RSA IL LES
DR

CLIFTON
AVE

NEW
YORK DR

GL
EN

W
OO

D
A V

E

RAMPART
WAY

WEBSTER DR

GR
AN

DV
IE

W
ST

MISS
ISSIPP I

CIR

NO
RT

HV
I E

W
DR

ALEXANDRIA
DR

BRIDG
E DALE RD

GEOR GIA DR

BRISTOL
AVE

TRENTON
DR

FREMO NT
A VE

GA
RF

IE
LD

DR

W BOBE ST

OA
K W

OO
D

A V
E

DR
. S

. W
.

BO
YD

BL
VD

TU

J AQ UE S PL
JA ZZ

P L

T O P A Z

A V E

SAND
TRAP LN

HO
LL

Y W
OO

D
AV E

P IN
HIGH

DR

DU
 M

ON
DE

PL

BROUSSARD S T

MOBILE HWY

W S COTT
STSIOUXTRL

D IE GO

C I R

WYOMING ST
TENNES S EE DR

ST
NAZ AIRE

R D

W
FA

IRFIELD D R

HA

LE

ST

AMIE NS
WAY

LUKE
ST

NE
VADA

CIR

IVY LN

FERRANA
WAY

LE BLANC W AY
NANTES

WAY
BARFIELD

AVECUSHM A NST

W FAIRF IELD
DR

MA R SE IL
LE

DR

SUBURBANDR

G ARFI EL
D

DR

LE
MANS
WAY

GUERLAIN

WAY

E
MA

DI
SO

N
D R

LE
MOY

N E
LN

A QUAMARI N E
AV

E

RE
VE

RE
DR

FLO RELLE WAY
ELLYSEE

WAY
DEAUVILLE

W
AY

N MADISO N DR

KE
AR

NY
DR

PO
TO

MA
C 

DRMCKINLEY DR

OP
AL

AV
E

STRE
G I S DR

LU CERNE
AVE

W AL THAM ST

BR
I D

GE
DALE

RD

MASSACHUSETTS LN

NEW WARRINGTON

SPUR
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 1,000 2,000 3,000

Ft

AP-2016-01
LOCATION MAP

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



MDR

MDR

MDR

HC/LI

HC/LI

MDR

MDR
MDR

Rec

MDR

CA
LV

AR
Y

DR

BROUSSARD ST

M ASS ACHUSETTS

A VE

ED
ISO

N DR

REVERE
DR

W EBST ER DR

NE
W

ME
XI

CO
 D

R

NO
RT

HV
IE

W
DR

TRENTON DR

BRIDGEDALE
RD

KE
AR

NY
 D

R

PO
TO

MA
C 

DR

BR
I D

GE
DA

LE
RD

CUSHMAN ST

SUBURBAN DR

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 300 600 900

Ft

AP-2016-01
500' RADIUS ZONING

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer

MASSACHUSETTS AVE

FENNEL ST

AMAZON DR

EC
L IO

DR



MU-U

MU-U

MU-U
MU-U

MU-U

MU-U

CA
LV

AR
Y

DR

BROUSSARD ST

M ASS ACHUSETTS

A VE

ED
ISO

N DR

REVERE
DR

W EBST ER DR

NE
W

ME
XI

CO
 D

R

NO
RT

HV
IE

W
DR

TRENTON DR

BRIDGEDALE
RD

KE
AR

NY
 D

R

PO
TO

MA
C 

DR

BR
I D

GE
DA

LE
RD

CUSHMAN ST

SUBURBAN DR

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 300 600 900

Ft

AP-2016-01
FUTURE LAND USE

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer

MASSACHUSETTS AVE

FENNEL ST

AMAZON DR

EC
L IO

DR



CA
LV

AR
Y

DR
M ASSA CHU SETTS AVE

BROUSS A RD
ST DESMONDE DR

WEBSTER DR

C U S HMAN ST

AMAZON DR

W

CLIO DR E CLIO DR

FENNEL
ST

SUBURBAN DR

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 200 400 600

Ft

AP-2016-01
AERIAL MAP

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



CA
LV

AR
Y

DR
M ASSA CHU SETTS AVE

BROUSS A RD
ST DESMONDE DR

WEBSTER DR

C U S HMAN ST

AMAZON DR

W

CLIO DR E CLIO DR

FENNEL
ST

SUBURBAN DR

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD
WETLANDS_20060 200 400 600

Ft

AP-2016-01
WETLANDS MAP

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



PI N
HIG H D R

S M ADISON DR

RUBYAVE

HAVRE WAY

BEL AIR RD

MAR S E IL L E
DR

HOLLYW
OOD AVE

ARNARD
PL

EM
ER

AL
D

A V
E

UTAH CT

KE
LL

 D
R

DES M ONDE DR FLETCHER
DR

NEW YORK DR

MASSA CHUSETTS AVE

EDISON DR

IDAHO CT
EMBERS

LNDG

BA
LL

AR
D

S T
AM IE NSCI R

NEW

MEXICO DR

HAVREW

A Y

MONPE LLIER
DR

CHANTILLY
W

AY

S HANSEL  ST
CHERBOUR G

W
AY

R A M P AR T W
AY

WEBSTER DR

MI
SSISS IPP I

CIR

NO
RT

HV
IE

W
DR

ALEXANDRIA DR
BR

IDGEDALE RD

GE
ORG IA DR W Y O NGE STK ENTUCKY

DR

TR
EN

TO
N

DR

E
HANSEL

ST

W BOBE ST

TO PA Z
A V E

DU
M

ON
DE

P L

BROUSSARD S T

W
FA

IR
FIE

LD
DR

E CLIOD R

ONTARIO L N

EDISONDR

W
IS

CO
NS IN

DR

WYOMING ST
TENNESS EE DR

ST
NAZAIR E

RD

B IENVI L
LE

DR

AM
IEN

S

WA

Y

N M A D ISON DR

GAR
FI

E L
D

DR

NE

VADA

CIR

AL
G I

ER

S

ST

MCKINLEY
DR

TOU L OU SE D R BARFIELD
AVE

CUSHMA N ST

WALT HAM S T

SUBURBAN DR

DEAUVILLE
WAYLEMANS

WAY

GUERLAIN

WAY

E
MA

DI
SO

N
DR

A Q U AMARINE

AVE

ELLYSEE WAY
RE

VE
RE

DR

FLORELLE

WAY

NEW WARRINGTON

SPUR

KE
AR

NY
DR

PO
TO

MA
C 

DR

OP
A L

AV
E

ST
REGIS DR

BR
ID

GEDALE
RD

MASSACHUSETTS LN

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 1,000 2,000 3,000

Ft

AP-2016-01
2500' MAILING RADIUS

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer

































RECEIPT

Development Services Department

Building Inspections Division
3363 West Park Place

Pensacola, Florida, 32505

(850) 595-3550

Molino Office - (850) 587-5770

JMCOSTINCashier ID :

10/27/2016Date Issued. : 677951Receipt No. :

Application No. : PBA161000015

125 WEST ROMANA ST, SUITE 800Address :

Pensacola, FL, 32502

Project Name : AP-2016-01

Method of Payment Reference Document Amount Paid Comment

PAYMENT INFO

Check

$682.601037 App ID : PBA161000015

$682.60 Total Check

Received From :

Total Receipt Amount :

Change Due :

SEANS OUTPOST INC

$682.60

$0.00

Job AddressBalanceInvoice AmtInvoice #Application #

APPLICATION INFO

1999  MASSACHUSETTS AVE, PENSACOLA, FL, 32505PBA161000015  771246 $0.00 682.60

Total Amount : $0.00
Balance Due on this/these 

Application(s) as of 10/27/2016
 682.60

Page 1 of 1Receipt.rpt



















Filing # 62142143 E-Filed 09/28/2017 02:46:54 PM



























 

 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 
SEAN'S OUTPOST, INC., 
a Florida Corporation, 
       Petition for Writ of Certiorari 
  Petitioner,    (Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(c)(2)) 
       Case No.:  2017-CA-____________ 
v.       Division: _____________________ 
 
ESCAMBIA COUNTY, acting by and  
through its BOARD OF 
ADJUSTMENTS, 
 
  Respondent. 
_____________________________/ 
 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI 
 

 Petitioner, SEAN'S OUTPOST, INC., a Florida Corporation, ("Sean's 

Outpost"), by and through its undersigned counsel, files this Petition for Writ of 

Certiorari pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(c)(2). 

I. Introduction 

A. Background 

 Sean's Outpost, in an effort to comply with the Escambia County 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code (LDC), as well as, to ensure the 

safety of the persons living peacefully on its property, submitted an application on 

April 5, 2016, to the Director of Development Services, Horace L. Jones ("Mr. 

Jones"), to have the County recognize and permit the continued use of Sean's 

Outpost's commercially zoned property for use by persons sheltering on the 

Filing # 50894864 E-Filed 01/06/2017 06:55:16 PM



 

 
2 of 26 

property.   The application was accompanied by an explanation of the request and a 

detailed site plan required by the County staff.  The submission of the permit 

application and payment of the $847.00 application fee followed years of 

discussions with the County staff to get to a point where the County would 

authorize the continued use of the property for residential use.   

 The process was unnecessarily complicated because a single vocal neighbor 

adjacent to the property continually opposed Sean's Outpost in this multi-year 

permitting process.  It appears from the record that the neighbor's opposition is 

rooted in prejudice against the use of Sean's Outpost's private property to provide a 

safe and secure location for homeless persons to shelter.  County staff denies that 

their opposition to the application is based on the fact that the use is a "homeless" 

encampment.  They insisted they have no problem with the requested use, they just 

want Sean's Outpost to comply with the development review process.  However, as 

is evident by the fact that the Development Order Application submitted by Sean's 

Outpost met the objective criteria for approval and did not propose any 

development, it is difficult to square staff's position with the fact that the staff 

denied the application instead of issuing it with a condition.  The only requested 

action was to continue use of the property as a place where persons can shelter 

peacefully as they have for years – essentially a continuation of the residential use 



 

 
3 of 26 

that had occurred on the property in prior years (although that residential use was 

in a trailer, not a tent). 

 Despite the Development Order Application that sought no development, the 

County staff, acting as the Development Review Committee (DRC), made a final 

determination to "Deny" Sean's Outpost's request to continue to use the property 

for residential use to shelter persons living in tents.  The Written Final 

Determination of October 12, 2016, gave no reasons for the denial.  From the 

testimony at the DRC it was assumed that the denial was because staff determined 

that an all-weather road was required from the County's public road (Massachusetts 

Avenue) back to the rear of Sean's Outpost's  property.  At the DRC hearing held 

on October 12, 2016, the issue was narrowed to the County claiming that the 

Design Standard Manual (DSM) Section 2.2 required the construction of an all-

weather access road from Massachusetts Avenue all the way to the rear of the 

property in order to service the portable toilets.  Even though Sean's Outpost's own 

Engineer of Record and the company servicing the portable toilets indicated in 

writing that the existing dirt road was sufficient to service the portable toilets, the 

County nevertheless insisted the all-weather road was required.   

 Although Sean's Outpost disagreed with staff's interpretation of the DSM 

standard they acquiesced to County staff and asked the DRC to approve the 

application with the all-weather road as a condition.  Unexpectedly, Mr. Jones told 



 

 
4 of 26 

the DRC that because the all-weather road was not listed on the applicant's site 

plan (because it was never desired), then the DRC should deny the permit.  The 

DRC denied the permit.  Sean's Outpost paid the $682.60 fee and timely appealed 

that denial to the Board of Adjustments (BOA). 

 At the BOA hearing on December 7, 2016, the newest member, Mark 

Robinson, recused himself without explanation.  That left six BOA members 

present for the quasi-judicial hearing.  Following a four hour hearing, Jesse Casey 

made a motion to uphold the DRC's denial.  The motion was seconded by Judy 

Gund.  One other BOA member, Frederick Gant, voted for the motion.  Three 

BOA members, Chairman, Auby Smith;  Vice Chairman, Bill Stromquist; and 

Jennifer Rigby voted against the motion.  The vote was 3-3 (tie).  Despite an 

attempt to clarify from the undersigned counsel, the hearing adjourned and on 

December 9, 2016, Andrew Holmer, the Division Manager of Development 

Services, issued a written notification of BOA action stating: "The appeal failed to 

receive an affirmative majority vote and is denied." 

 As argued below, because Sean's Outpost was denied due process and 

because its application otherwise met all requirements for approval, the County 

was required to show by competent substantial evidence that the permit, did not, in 

fact, meet the requirements of the LDC and that the approval of the permit would 

be adverse to the public.  Due process was denied because, the BOA, in its vote of 



 

 
5 of 26 

3-3, failed to take official action because the LDC is clear that a majority of those 

BOA members present and voting is required to take official action.  Since there 

was no majority vote, then no official action was taken.  The County failed to 

present competent substantial evidence at the hearing that the permit did not, in 

fact, meet the requirements of the LDC and they likewise failed to produce 

evidence that the approval of the permit would be adverse to the public.  

 Therefore, the Court should quash the Final Order and remand back to 

the BOA with clear findings of fact leading to an approval of the application. 

 B. Appendix   

 The Petition includes an Appendix containing Exhibits 1-10.  Exhibit 1 

contains Sean's Outpost's initial application dated April 5, 2016.  Exhibit 2 is the 

final site plan and operating manual submitted prior to the DRC meeting on 

October 12, 2016.  Exhibit 3 is the DRC's Written Final Determination dated 

October 12, 2016.  Exhibit 4 is the October 27, 2016 appeal of the DRC action 

submitted with the requested compatibility analysis.  Exhibit 5 contains the written 

notification of the BOA's action dated December 9, 2016.  Exhibit 6 contains a 

series of correspondence between the undersigned counsel and the BOA's attorney 

seeking clarification on Exhibit 5 including a provision from the former LDC.  The 

BOA’s authority and duty is described in §1-4.5 of the LDC.  Exh. 7; 314-316.  

Section 2-1.4(d)(2) describes appeal procedures and requirements.  Exh. 7; 319.  



 

 
6 of 26 

Section 2-6.10(b) describes the LDC appeal process.  Exh. 7; 320-322.  Section 1-

1.11 outlines the rules for understanding LDC provisions.  Exh. 7; 323-325.  

Section 3-2.11 outlines zoning criteria in a Heavy Commercial/Light Industrial 

district (HC/LI).  Exh. 7; 326-331.  DSM Section 2.2 describes access 

management.  Exh. 7; 332.  Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(c)(2) relates to petitions for 

review of quasi-judicial action of agencies, boards and commissions of local 

government.  Exh. 7; 334.  Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(i) defines the "Rendition of an 

Order".  Exh. 7; 336.  Exhibit 8 is the Special Magistrate's Amended Order. Exhibit 

9 is a letter from Mr. Jones dated September 13, 2016 setting the date for the 

October 12, 2016 DRC meeting.  Exhibit 10 is the Minutes from the BOA hearing 

held on December 7, 2016. 

II. Basis for Jurisdiction 

 This Court’s jurisdiction is invoked pursuant to: Article V, §5, Florida 

Constitution; §26.012, Fla. Stat.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(c); Fla. R. App. P. 

9.100(c)(2); and LDC §2-1.4(d)(2).  Although submitted as a petition for writ of 

certiorari, this is an appeal as a matter of right.  Haines City Community 

Development v. Heggs, 658 So. 2d, 523, 530 (Fla. 1995).  See, e.g., Broward 



 

 
7 of 26 

County v. G.B.V. Int'l, Ltd., 787 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 2001) ("first-tier certiorari review 

is not discretionary but rather is a matter of right.")1 

III. Parties and Standing 

 The real parties in interest are Sean's Outpost and Escambia County. 

 Section 2-1.4(d)(2), LDC, permits an appeal of the decision of the BOA to 

the Circuit Court in accordance with Florida law.  Exh. 7; 319.  Fla. R. App. P 

9.100(c)(2) permits an appeal to be filed within 30 days of the rendition of the 

order to be reviewed.  Exh. 7; 334.  Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(i) defines "Rendition of 

an Order" to be when a signed, written order is filed with the clerk of the lower 

tribunal.  Exh. 7; 336.  Although it can be fairly argued that the rendition date of 

the BOA's decision was December 9, 2016, when Exhibit 5 was signed (although it 

is not clear that this Final Order was ever filed with the BOA's Clerk), this petition 

is filed within 30 days of the BOA hearing held on December 7, 2016.  Under 

either date, the petition is timely filed. 

IV. Statement of the Record 

A. The Requested Action 

 The property at issue is owned by Sean's Outpost, Inc., an entity organized 

under the laws of the State of Florida.  Sean's Outpost provides meals and other 

                                       
1  Because the appeal is a matter of right, the Court should issue the required Order 
to Show Cause so that this matter can be resolved in a timely manner without 
additional harm to Sean's Outpost. 



 

 
8 of 26 

services to persons in need.  The Future Land Use Designation for the property is 

Mixed Use Urban and it is in the Heavy Commercial/Light Industrial (HC/LI) 

zoning district. 

 Sean's Outpost's property is approximately 8.82 acres of which 

approximately the easternmost five acres are jurisdictional wetlands.  The area is 

vacant and heavily wooded.  The northern boundary of the property abuts 

Massachusetts Avenue.  The Mayfair residential neighborhood is to the south and 

west of the property and to the east is a swamp.  For the past several years, Sean's 

Outpost has allowed persons who otherwise have no permanent residence to 

remain onsite.  Those guests have, from time to time, constructed temporary 

shelters utilizing tents and tarps.  Except for a properly permitted privacy fence 

along the western boundary, no permanent development or other development 

activity has occurred on the site.  The County was provided and the property is 

governed according to a detailed Operating Manual that provides rules of conduct 

for a guest on site.  (Transcript 26: 8-14 and Exh. 2; 246-269).  The County claims 

the use is "development" and so required Sean's Outpost to obtain a campground 

permit or to submit a development order application in order to continue to use its 

property. 



 

 
9 of 26 

 After two years of negotiations with both the County and the State 

Department of Health2, Sean's Outpost received final action on its application for a 

campground on March 22, 2016.  In that action, Sean's Outpost learned that in its 

present use, the property does not require a license or permit for camping from the 

State Department of Health and, therefore, it is operating in full compliance with 

State health and sanitation provisions.  Exh. 1; 216-217.   The Health Department 

has periodically inspected the facility and has documented full compliance.  Two 

weeks after the State's action, Sean's Outpost filed the development order 

application at issue in this appeal.  In the application dated April 5, 2015 (Exhibit 

1), Sean's Outpost proposed to maintain the status quo residential camping use of 

the property. 

 As indicated on the Preliminary Site Plan (Exh. 1; 207), Sean's Outpost  

proposes no development and seeks nothing more than to continue its residential 

camping use.  That is, it does not intend to construct, develop, or otherwise change 

the nature of the use which has for the past two years coexisted peacefully with the 

surrounding neighborhood and which prior to Sean's Outpost ownership was a 

residential use. 

 The site is serviced by ECUA potable water and garbage service and the 

sanitary facilities are provided by Containers, Inc. in the form of three portalets  

                                       
2 The State Department of Health and not the County has permitting authority over 
campgrounds and RV parks. 



 

 
10 of 26 

(portable toilets) and one hand washing station.  These sanitary facilities are clearly 

shown on the site plan.  While the site plan shows specific locations for tent sites, 

in actual practice, the tents are more spread out on the available uplands.  As stated 

earlier, the State Health Department inspectors have continued to provide 

inspection services and have documented compliance in their Inspection Reports. 

Exh. 1; 218-240.    

B. The Denial by DRC 

 The DRC process in Escambia County is normally one of back and forth 

between applicant and staff.  Traditionally, a pre-application meeting occurs 

followed by the applicant submitting a written application along with a detailed 

site plan of the requested improvements.  Staff reviews the application and they 

offer written comments.  Some of the comments are pro forma and others are 

substantive.  An applicant reviews the comments, complies as appropriate and 

proceeds to DRC when the objective criteria of the LDC have been met. 

 Here the process was not traditional both because the application for the 

development order was requesting no development and because the process was 

under the strict time frames set by the Code Enforcement Special Magistrate.  The 

Code Enforcement Special Magistrate was involved because the County issued a 

Notice of Violation (NOV) to Sean's Outpost on June 20, 2016, citing them for 

violation of the LDC for not having completed the development review process.  



 

 
11 of 26 

Obviously, the remedy for the NOV was completion of the DRC process which 

Sean's Outpost initiated by submission of its application on April 5, 2016 (Exhibit 

1).  Even though Sean's Outpost was working cooperatively with the County to 

complete the development review process, the County felt the need to issue its 

NOV3.   

 In the written Amended Order issued by the Special Magistrate (Exhibit 8), 

Sean's Outpost was "permitted to maintain the current use of the property for a 

period of up to no more than (90) ninety dates from the date the DRC returns its 

final comments to the current application."  The Order further stated "that the 

County will timely review the application in its amended form and provide 

comments and conditions for approval or deny the application...The Respondent 

[Sean's Outpost] shall have ninety (90) days from the issuance of the County 

response to either accept the conditions and request the issuance of the 

development order or pursue its appellate remedies.  Compliance with this Order 

may be achieved by either (1) issuance of a development order; (2) the filing of a 

timely appeal by the Respondent of an unacceptable condition or denial of the 

development application (in such case the time does not commence until the 

                                       
3 This was the second NOV issued to Sean's Outpost.  The first was issued in 2014 
and Sean's Outpost successfully challenged the NOV and it was dismissed and the 
dismissal upheld on appeal to the Circuit Court.  Thereafter, the County amended 
the LDC and changed the provisions on temporary structures. 



 

 
12 of 26 

resolution of the appeal), or (3) removal of all non-conforming temporary 

structures from the property."  Exh. 8; 334. 

 By letter of September 13, 2016 (Exhibit 9), the County informed Sean's 

Outpost that it had filed with the Special Magistrate comments on the application 

and set the date for the DRC on October 12, 2016 "for the purpose of determining 

site plan compliance with the [LDC] for issuance or denial of the development 

order" and required that all of staff's comments be addressed no later than 

September 28, 2016.  On September 28, 2016, Sean's Outpost submitted a revised 

site plan addressing comments of staff along with a detailed Operating Manual 

(Exhibit 2).  Staff reviewed and seemed to hold to their position that an all-weather 

road to service the portable toilets would have to be a condition of permit approval.   

 On October 12, 2016, the DRC meeting opened with only one member 

present.  Mr. Jones presented for the County.  Sean's Outpost questioned the DSM 

2.2 "requirement" for an all-weather access road to service portable toilets given 

the fact that both the engineer of record and the company that actually services the 

portable toilets stated such a road was not required and, in fact, that the existing 

access road was sufficient.  Furthermore, it was pointed out that DSM 2.2 does not 

state the length of the road, only that an all-weather access exist where it meets the 

public road.  The purpose being to protect the public road and provide a single 

point of access to the public road from the property. 



 

 
13 of 26 

 Notwithstanding that position, Sean's Outpost clearly indicated that if the 

County believed the all-weather road all the way to the rear of the property was 

needed, then the DRC should approve the application with the all-weather road as 

a required condition.  This was completely consistent with the Special Magistrate's 

Amended Order to "either accept the conditions and request issuance of the 

development order or pursue its appellate remedies." (Emphasis added).  Exh. 

8;334.  Even though Sean's Outpost clearly indicated that it would accept as a 

condition of approval the condition of an all-weather access road, Mr. Jones told 

the sole DRC member (a subordinate of Mr. Jones) that because the all-weather 

access road did not appear on the site plan, then he recommended that the DRC 

deny the application.  The DRC denied the application as shown by Exhibit 3.  

That document, on page 4 of 4, states that "[t]he development plan is denied for the 

reasons noted below."  There are no reasons noted.    

C. BOA Hearing 

 Although there were no reasons noted on the DRC denial, Sean's Outpost 

proceeded with its appeal to the BOA under the assumption that the issues had 

been narrowed to the County's claim that an all-weather access road was required.  

This was clearly stated in the appeal package submitted on October 27, 2016 

(Exhibit 4).  Staff never clarified or offered any contrary evidence before or at the 

BOA hearing. 



 

 
14 of 26 

i. No competent substantial evidence presented by staff that 
Sean's Outpost did not meet the criteria for approval. 
 

 At the BOA hearing, which lasted over four hours, the six members of the 

BOA present and participating4 heard the evidence presented and argument from 

the County and counsel for Sean's Outpost.  The County submitted no evidence 

that an all-weather access road was required by DSM 2.2 to extend all the way 

from Massachusetts Avenue to the rear of the subject property.  The County simply 

stated it was required and introduced a copy of DSM 2.2 to justify the requirement.  

Staff called no witness to testify on the matter and provided no other evidence.  All 

DSM 2.2 requires is that "[v]ehicular access to public roadways shall be 

accomplished by means of an improved access facility (i.e., driveway, private road, 

etc.).  Unimproved and/or unrestricted access will not be permitted."  Exh. 7; 332.  

As is clearly shown on the site plan, an improved driveway onto Massachusetts 

Avenue from the property is provided.  There was no evidence (much less 

competent substantial evidence) introduced by the staff at the BOA hearing that 

DSM 2.2 requires the contemplated access to the public roadway extend all the 

way to the rear of the property. 

 Assuming, however, for the sake of this appeal, that such evidence had been 

presented, it was clear from the evidence before the BOA that Sean's Outpost 

                                       
4 As indicated in the BOA minutes, BOA member, Mark Robinson recused himself 
and left the hearing (Exhibit 9). 



 

 
15 of 26 

informed the staff and DRC that they could issue the permit conditioned on the all-

weather road being built.  No other competent substantial evidence for denial of 

the application was submitted at the BOA hearing. 

ii. No competent substantial evidence was presented by staff that, 
if approved, the use would be adverse to the public. 
 

 The County staff presented no evidence that the requested use of the 

property would be adverse to the public.  In fact, the staff took every opportunity  

to state that the proposed use was not at issue, only compliance with the LDC 

which, as stated above, was narrowed to the all-weather access road by both Sean's 

Outpost's appeal package and the staff's failure to produce sufficient evidence of 

any other deficiencies. 

 The only "evidence" of any opposition to the use of the property to shelter 

those without permanent homes was the testimony of Richard Pierce Grimes, III 

and Louis and Helen Jolly5, residents of the Mayfair neighborhood who told the 

BOA of their general objections to the application.  Mr. Grimes acknowledged he 

was the main objector to the project and had been present at every hearing.  He 

summed up his position on the issue thusly: 

 

                                       
5 The BOA attorney cautioned the BOA on the appropriate weight to give the 
testimony of these lay witnesses and the undersigned objected to their testimony 
(Transcript at 138: 8-13). 



 

 
16 of 26 

GRIMES:  We do not need this in the neighborhood. And yes, this will be  
   the first homeless campground permitted anywhere in the  
   United States.  If this gets permitted here, y'all could wind up  
   having them behind your house because you set a precedent at  
   that point. 
 
VOICE IN THE  
AUDIENCE:  That's right. 
 
(Transcript 131: 4-11) 
 

D. BOA Vote Results in No "Official Action" 

 As reported in the transcript, the minutes (Exhibit 9), and the notification of 

the BOA action (Exhibit 5) the vote of the BOA at the close of the hearing was 3-

3.  The undersigned counsel alerted the BOA's attorney to the fact that a 3-3 vote 

resulted in "no official action taken" and requested the BOA attorney set another 

BOA hearing, but the BOA attorney respectfully disagreed with my interpretation 

of the requirements of the LDC (Exhibit 6) and stated the matter would have to be 

resolved on appeal.  Sean's Outpost was thus forced to pay $405.00 filing fee and 

file this Writ of Certiorari. 

V. Standards for Review 

 A. Standards for Certiorari Review by the Circuit Court. 

 Since Sean's Outpost is entitled as a matter of right to certiorari review of the 

BOA's decision, the circuit court must determine:  (a) whether procedural due 

process was accorded; (b) whether the essential requirements of law were 

observed; and (c) whether the order in dispute was supported by competent 



 

 
17 of 26 

substantial evidence.  See, e.g., Broward County v. G.B.V. Int'l, Ltd., 787 So. 2d 

838 (Fla. 2001); Haines City, 658 So. 2d at 530.  Since the Court is essentially 

acting in an appellate capacity, its "duty is simply to review the record to determine 

whether the decision is supported by competent substantial evidence" City of 

Jacksonville Beach v. Car Spa, Inc., 772 So. 2d 630, 631 (Fla. 1st DCA. 2000). 

 Competent substantial evidence was defined more than 50 years ago in 

DeGroot v. Sheffield, 95 So. 2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957), wherein the court said: 

Substantial evidence has been described as such evidence as will 
establish a substantial basis of fact from which the fact at issue can be 
reasonably inferred.  We have stated it to be such relevant evidence as 
a reasonable mind would accept as adequate to support a conclusion. 
(Citations omitted.)  In employing the adjective "competent" to 
modify the word "substantial," we are aware of the familiar rule that 
in administrative proceedings the formalities in the introduction of 
testimony common to the courts of justice are not strictly employed.  
(Citations omitted.)  We are of the view, however, that the evidence 
relied upon to sustain the ultimate finding should be sufficiently 
relevant and material that a reasonable mind would accept it as 
adequate to support the conclusion reached.  To this extent the 
"substantial" evidence should also be "competent." 

 
 The District Court of Appeal emphasized the importance of DeGroot in 

Agner v. Smith, 167 So. 2d 86, 91 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964), cert. dismissed, 172 So. 2d 

598 (Fla. 1965), by repeating the language of Mr. Justice Thornal in DeGroot. 

 B. Legal Standard for Evaluation of a Denied Permit Application. 

 With respect to the standard of review to be applied during the quasi-judicial 

hearing of an appeal of a denied permit application, the case most often cited is 



 

 
18 of 26 

Irvine v. Duval County Planning Commission, 495 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1986), 

approving and adopting Judge Zehmer’s dissent in Irvine v. Duval County 

Planning Commission, 466 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).  The Supreme Court 

decision is short.  Here is what the court said:   

On the facts and circumstances of the case, we agree with Judge 
Zehmer (dissenting) that once the petitioner met the initial burden of 
showing that his application met the statutory criteria for granting 
such exceptions, "the burden was upon the Planning Commission to 
demonstrate, by competent substantial evidence presented at the 
hearing and made a part of the record, that the [special] exception 
requested by petitioner did not meet such standards and was, in fact, 
adverse to the public interest."  Irvine, 466 So. 2d at 364. 

 
 Sean's Outpost satisfied its initial burden to show compliance with the 

criteria set forth in the LDC as discussed in more detail below in VI.(C).  The 

question then is what level of evidence was required for the BOA to justify denial?  

Irvine informs us the BOA was required to satisfy two burdens: (1) the evidence 

presented in support of the permit did NOT "in fact" meet the County criteria; and 

(2) the permit, if granted, would "in fact" be "adverse to the public interest."  In 

addition, the evidence in opposition to the application must be both "competent" 

and "substantial."  DeGroot v. Sheffield, supra. 

VI. Argument 

A. Sean's Outpost assertions of error and summary of argument as 
to why the Court should quash the Final Order. 
 

 In reviewing the Board’s decision, the Court must examine: 



 

 
19 of 26 

(a) Whether procedural due process was accorded, 
 

(b) Whether the essential requirements of law were observed, and 
 

(c) Whether the order in dispute was supported by competent 
substantial evidence.   
 

 The record shows that the County failed in all three areas.  Firstly, Sean's 

Outpost was not afforded due process because the BOA took no official action 

with its 3-3 vote, however, the staff wrongly reported and affirmed that the BOA 

did take official action (i.e. denial of Sean's Outpost's appeal).  Secondly, the 

consideration by the BOA of the permit denial did not follow the essential 

requirements of law because the BOA, acting on advice of its counsel, staff, and 

the LDC incorrectly applied the Irvine standard.  Lastly, the County failed to 

present any competent substantial evidence that the permit did not in fact meet the 

County criteria or that if granted, the permit would "in fact" be adverse to the 

public. 

B. Majority vote required for official action. 
 
 The BOA is created and granted its authority by the LDC.  Acting as a 

quasi-judicial body, the BOA must follow the LDC and state law in the area of 

land use.  Additionally, the BOA can only act in accordance with the authority 

granted it by the LDC and state law.  As stated in Section 1-1.11(a) "[t]he LDC 

shall be interpreted and administered broadly...to achieve its declared purposes."  

Section 1-1.11(b) goes on to state that the "meaning of a provision in the LDC 



 

 
20 of 26 

must first be evaluated according to the plain language of the provision.  If the 

meaning is clear, then the remaining administrative function is to enforce it 

according to its stated terms."  Finally, Section 1-1.11(d) states "[a] particular 

intent expressed in the LDC has authority over a general one, such that when there 

is a more specific requirement it must be followed in place of a more general one, 

regardless of whether the general requirement is more lenient or in conflict with 

the specific one."  Exh. 7; 323-325. 

 Regarding the BOA, Section 1-4.5 established it and grants it powers and 

procedures.  Regarding its quorum and vote, Section 1-4.5(c)(1) is clear when it 

states that "[a]t least four of the seven members must be present to hold a meeting, 

and a majority vote of those present is required for any official action to be taken 

at the meeting." (Emphasis added).  Section 1-4.5(c)(3) states that "the BOA shall 

follow its adopted rules of procedure for quasi-judicial hearings consistent with the 

application review processes of the LDC and any other applicable county or state 

requirements." 

 LDC Section 2-6.10 provides the BOA guidance on the appeal of 

administrative decisions with Section 2-6.10(b)(4) stating that "[i]f the BOA finds 

from the record of the hearing that the applicant has presented competent 

substantial evidence providing the required conditions set out in the compliance 

review provisions of this section, the board shall find the appealed decision in 



 

 
21 of 26 

error.  The finding shall state with particularity how the decision of the 

administrative official was arbitrary or capricious.  If the conditions are not proven 

the board shall affirm the decision."   

 However the BOA finds the evidence and applies the law, it must do so with 

an "official action."  Since it is clear from the LDC that "a majority vote of those 

present (in this case four votes) is required for any official action to be taken" then 

a 3-3 vote (as occurred in this case) cannot result in official action.  Therefore, an 

interpretation of this fact pattern to mean that because the applicant failed to get 

four votes means the denial of its appeal is wrong and is a violation of due process. 

 Although it is clear on its face that it takes a majority vote of those present 

before any official action can be taken, the point is further supported by previous 

language of the LDC regarding the BOA appeal process before it was amended to 

its present language.  The previous authority for the BOA to act on an 

administrative appeal was found in LDC Section 2.04.01(C).  Exh. 6; 307-308.  

There the specific provision stated: "The concurring vote of a majority of the 

members of the BOA present and voting shall be necessary" (not for "any action to 

be taken") but "to reverse any order, requirement, decision, or determination of any 

such administrative official, or to decide in favor of the applicant on any matter 

upon which it is required to vote." 



 

 
22 of 26 

 Under the previous LDC provision, a 3-3 vote would result in official action 

in that it would not reverse the DRC denial or decide in favor of the applicant.  

Based on this, it is clear the Board of County Commissioners knows how to write a 

code provision that results in "official action" with a 3-3 vote but because it 

amended that specific provision with the new provision of Section 1-4.5(c)(1) it 

must have intended the plain language of the provision to apply – that it takes a 

majority vote of those present before "any official action is taken."  (Emphasis 

added). 

 Since there was not a majority vote of those present, then no official action 

was taken and unless and until such official action is taken, Sean's Outpost is being 

denied due process of law. 

C. Sean's Outpost's initial burden. 
  
 The LDC Section 3-2.11 (Exh. 7; 326-331) established the objection criteria 

that must be met for approval of Sean's Outpost's application to continue to use its 

property to shelter homeless persons.  Section 3-2.1(b) provides the permitted uses 

and includes in subsection: 

 (1) Residential uses if outside the Industrial future land use (as here);  

 (4)(g) homeless shelters; and 

 (5)(b) campgrounds. 



 

 
23 of 26 

 However one classifies the use of the subject property it falls into one of 

these permitted uses.  The only restriction on campgrounds is that it requires a 

minimum lot area of five acres; which is met here because the property is almost 

nine acres.  Because the requested use of the property is a permitted use, Sean's 

Outpost met its initial burden and that burden, under Irvine, shifted to those 

opposing the project. 

D. The BOA's decision on December 7 violated the Irvine standard 
for quasi-judicial hearings. 

 
 Under the Irvine standard discussed above, in order for the BOA to have 

properly upheld DRC's denial of the permit application, those who opposed the 

application (staff and public) must have shown by competent substantial evidence 

that the application did not meet the published criteria and that granting the 

application was adverse to the public interest.  See, e.g., Florida Power & Light 

Co. v. City of Dania, 761 So. 2d 1089, 1090 (Fla. 1980) ("In order for the agency 

to deny a permitted special exception application, the party opposing the 

application (i.e., either the agency itself or a third party) must show by competent 

substantial evidence that the proposed exception does not meet the published 

criteria," citing Irvine).   

 Staff submitted no such evidence that the approval would be adverse to the 

public and the only testimony that was in opposition to the project was not 

competent substantial testimony of adverse use but rather lay opinion speculating 



 

 
24 of 26 

on general unfavorable impacts of the use.  Lay witness speculation about potential 

problems with smoke or visual blight "and general impacts of a proposed land use 

are not...considered competent substantial evidence."  Katherine's Bay, LLC v. 

Fagan, 52 So. 3d 19, 30 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).  General statements in opposition 

which are subjective and not supported by fact, do not constitute competent 

substantial evidence.  Metropolitan Dade County v. Blumenthal, 675 So. 2d 598, 

607. 

VII. Summary and Conclusion 
 

 Sean's Outpost was denied due process of law because the BOA took no 

official action.  Assuming for this Writ that the BOA took official action, it failed 

to comply with the essential requirements of law because it failed to apply the 

Irvine standard to its decision and because the record reflects, the Final Order is 

not supported by competent substantial evidence within the meaning of well-

established Florida law.  In failing to apply the Irvine standard, in expanding the 

legislated criterion so as to impose a more erroneous requirement on Sean's 

Outpost, the BOA departed from the essential requirements of law. 

VIII. Request for Relief 

  The Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be GRANTED and the Court 

should quash the Final Order (Exhibit 5) and remand back to the BOA with clear 

findings of fact leading to an approval of Sean's Outpost's application. 



 

 
25 of 26 

 Respectfully submitted 6th day of January, 2017. 

/s/ William J. Dunaway    
 WILLIAM J. DUNAWAY 

      Florida Bar No. 0021620 
E-mail: wdunaway@clarkpartington.com 
E-mail: sprice@clarkpartington.com 
CLARK PARTINGTON  
125 West Romana, Suite 800 
Pensacola, FL 32591-3010 

      Phone: (850) 434-9200 
Fax:  (850) 432-7340  

 Counsel for Petitioner 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL 
 
 The undersigned hereby certifies that this petition complies with the Times 

New Roman 14-point font requirement set forth in Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(l) 

      /s/ William J. Dunaway  
      WILLIAM J. DUNAWAY 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
26 of 26 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY in accordance with Escambia County LDC 2-

1.4(d)(2), that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Petition for Writ of 

Certiorari was served via U.S. Mail on this 6th day of January, 2017, to the 

following: 

Debbie F. Lockhart 
3363 West Park Place 
Pensacola, FL 32505 
Escambia County 
Board of Adjustment Clerk 
 

 

Kristin D. Hual  
Assistant County Attorney 
221 Palafox Place, Suite 430 
Pensacola, FL 32502 
Counsel for Escambia County  
Board of Adjustment 
 

      /s/ William J. Dunaway  
      WILLIAM J. DUNAWAY 
 



 

 

INDEX 
 
 

Appendix A. – Transcript, Order and Evidence 
 
Transcript - (12/7/16 BOA Hearing) 
 
Exhibit# Document         Page 
 
1  April 5, 2016 – Initial Permit Application               201      
 
2  Revised Site Plan and Operating Manual                                        242 
 
3  October 12, 2016 – DRC Written Final Determination    271 
 
4  October 27, 2016 – Appeal with Compatibility Analysis    276 
    
5  December 9, 2016 – Written Notification of BOA's Action   299 
        
6  BOA Procedural "Action" Correspondence      305 
 
7  LDC Section §1-4.5                                                                        310 
  LDC Section §2-1.4(d)(2)  
  LDC Section §2-6.10(b) 
  LDC Section §1-1.11 
  LDC Section §3-2.11 
  DSM Section 2.2 
  Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(c)(2) 
  Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(i)   
   
8  September 7, 2016 – Special Magistrate's Amended Order  339 
 
9  September 13, 2016 – County Letter Setting DRC Meeting  347 
 
10  December 7, 2016 – BOA Minutes      349 
     
 
   



 

 

 

 

 

 

TRANSCRIPT 

1



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 1

          ESCAMBIA COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

                    SPECIAL MEETING

                         - - -

CASE NO.:          AP-2016-01

ADDRESS:           1999 Massachusetts Avenue

REQUESTED APPEAL:  Appeal of the Development Review

                   Committee denial of project

                   #PSP160400044, Sean's Outpost

REQUESTED BY:      William J. Dunaway, Agent for

                   Sean's Outpost, Inc.

________________________________________________________

             Proceedings held in the above-styled cause

before the Escambia County Board of Adjustment on the

7th day of December 2016, commencing at 8:30 a.m., at

Escambia County Central Office Complex, 3363 West Park

Place, Room 104, Pensacola, Florida, reported by David

A. Deik, CP, CPE, Professional Reporter.

2



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 2

1                       APPEARANCES
2

       BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEMBERS:
3

       AUBY SMITH, Chairman
4

       KRISTEN HUAL, ESQ., County Attorney
5

       JESSE CASEY
6

       FREDERICK GANT
7

       JUDY GUND
8

       MARK ROBINSON
9

       BILL STROMQUIST
10

       JENNIFER RIGBY
11
12        BOARD STAFF PRESENT:
13        Horace Jones, Department Director

       Andrew D. Holmer, Development Services Manager
14

       Debbie Lockhart, Administrative Assistant
15        Development Services, Planning Division
16

       FOR APPELLANT SEAN'S OUTPOST:
17

       CLARK PARTINGTON
18        BY:  WILLIAM J. DUNAWAY, ESQUIRE

       125 West Romana Street
19        Pensacola, Florida 32502
20
21
22
23
24
25

3



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 3

1                   INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS

2

DESCRIPTION                                       PAGE

3

4 PROCEEDINGS.........................................4

5 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER...........................198

6                          - - -

7                    INDEX OF WITNESSES

8

NAME                                              PAGE

9

10 MICHAEL KIMBREL....................................59

11

RICHARD PIERCE GRIMES, III........................128

12   Cross-Examination by Mr. Dunaway................138

13

CATHERINE B. KELLY................................141

14   Cross-Examination by Mr. Dunaway................144

15

MICHAEL KIMBREL  (recalled)

16   Direct Examination by Mr. Dunaway...............148

17

LOUIS JOLLY.......................................156

18

19 HELEN JOLLY.......................................158

20

21

22

23

24

25

4



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 4

1                  P R O C E E D I N G S

2               (Board staff members were duly sworn.)

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Members of the Board,

4         copies of staff resumes have previously been

5         provided and remain on file for reference.

6               The Board has previously recognized staff

7         as expert witnesses.  Does anyone have any

8         questions regarding their qualifications and

9         abilities to offer expert testimony?

10               (No response.)

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Seeing none, the Board

12         of Adjustment meeting package for December 7,

13         2016, with development service staff findings of

14         fact has previously been provided to the board

15         members.

16               The Chair will entertain a motion to

17         accept the BOA meeting package into evidence.

18         Do we have a motion?

19               MR. STROMQUIST:  So moved.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a motion by

21         Bill.

22               MS. GUND:  Second.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a second by

24         Judy.

25               Those in favor, signify by raising your

5



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 5

1         right hand?

2               (All board members raised their hand,

3         Mr. Gant not present.)

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Passing unanimously.

5               Do we have proof of publication?

6               MS. LOCKHART:  Yes, sir, we do.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Did the publication meet

8         all legal requirements?

9               MS. LOCKHART:  Yes, it did.

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  The Chair will now

11         entertain a motion to waive the reading of the

12         legal advertisement.  Do we have a motion?

13               MR. STROMQUIST:  So moved.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Motion by Bill.

15               MS. GUND:  Second.

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Second by Judy.

17               Those in favor, signify by raising your

18         right hand.

19               (All board members raised their hand,

20         Mr. Gant not present.)

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Passes unanimously.

22               MS. GUND:  The Board of Adjustment, the

23         BOA, hears administrative appeals, variances and

24         conditional use requests.  These hearings are

25         quasi-judicial in nature.  Quasi-judicial

6



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 6

1         hearings are like evidentiary hearings in a

2         court of law but less formal.

3               All public testimony will be taken under

4         oath, and anyone testifying before the BOA may

5         be subject to cross-examination.

6               All documents and exhibits that the BOA

7         considers are entered into evidence and made

8         part of the record.

9               (Mr. Gant entered the hearing room.)

10               MS. GUND:  The giving of opinion testimony

11         will be limited to experts, and closing

12         arguments will be limited to the evidence in the

13         record.

14               After hearing the testimony and arguments

15         for and against the proposed action and before

16         making its decision, the BOA will consider the

17         relevant testimony, exhibits entered into

18         evidence and the applicable law.

19               Because the decision of the BOA relating

20         to variances, conditional uses and extension of

21         the Development Code order for site plans are

22         final, unless overturned by a court of competent

23         jurisdiction, the county may issue development

24         orders and permits for properties in accordance

25         with the decision of the BOA.

7



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 7

1               However, if an applicant requests the

2         issuance of any such order or permit and such

3         order or permit is issued, the applicant and not

4         the county shall bear any risk that such

5         decision may be set aside, the development order

6         or permit may be revoked, or the development may

7         be otherwise enjoined by the reviewing court.

8               Any application for relief from the

9         decision of the BOA's said action for any

10         aggrieved party, as defined by state law, may be

11         reviewed by petition and by filing an

12         appropriate pleading in a court of competent

13         jurisdiction within 30 days of the BOA decision.

14         The date of the BOA decision shall be the date

15         the BOA voted at the conclusion of the hearing.

16               Whenever the BOA denies an application, no

17         new application for identical action on the same

18         parcel shall be accepted for consideration

19         within a period of 180 days of the BOA decision.

20               Any person aggrieved by a decision of the

21         BOA relating to an appeal of an administrative

22         decision may within 15 days thereafter apply to

23         the Circuit Court for review.

24               Each individual who wishes to address the

25         board regarding a particular issue must complete

8



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 8

1         a request-to-speak form and submit it to the

2         clerk.  These forms are located on the back of

3         the table of the commission chambers.  You will

4         not be allowed to speak until we receive one of

5         these completed request-to-speak forms.  We must

6         have these completed forms for public record.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  They're in the back.

8         They've turned green today, but they're in the

9         back.

10               All written or oral communications at the

11         time of this hearing with members of the Board

12         of Adjustment regarding matters under review

13         today are considered ex parte communications.

14               Ex parte communications are presumed

15         prejudicial under Florida law and must be

16         disclosed as provided in Board of County

17         Commission Resolution 96-13 before a decision by

18         this board or any administrative appeal variance

19         or conditional use request.

20               The Chair will ask as each case is heard

21         that any board member who has been involved in

22         any ex parte communication regarding the

23         respective issue to please identify themselves

24         and describe the communication.

25               The case we're addressing today is

9



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 9

1         AP-2016-01, 1999 Massachusetts Avenue.

2               Board members, has there been any ex parte

3         communication regarding this case?

4               (No response.)

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Seeing none, would like

6         for the minutes to reflect that we have a

7         seventh member present today, so we have seven

8         board members present.

9               Does any board member intend to refrain

10         from voting due to a voting conflict of

11         interest?

12               MR. ROBINSON:  I do.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have one.  The new

14         board member, Mark, will abstain from voting.

15         So that will give us six voting present.

16               Does anyone have knowledge or information

17         obtained from a site visit or other sources?

18               It should be noted that the Chair visited

19         the site.

20               Would the individuals who are a party to

21         this item please come to the podium, identify

22         yourself, and by stating your name and address

23         for the record, be sworn in by the clerk.

24               MR. DUNAWAY:  My name is Will Dunaway,

25         with the law firm of Clark Partington.  I

10



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 10

1         represent the applicant, Sean's Outpost.

2               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  You will not have

3         to be sworn, as an attorney.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  The applicant does intend to

5         present witnesses and would present our

6         applicant rep, who will be Michael Kimbrel.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  All right, sir.  You've

8         been provided with a copy of staff's findings of

9         fact.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  We have been provided with a

11         copy of staff's findings.  There were no facts,

12         but we anticipate that that was what was part of

13         your board package that you just admitted into

14         evidence.

15               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Correct.

16               Would you like to go ahead and make a

17         presentation, or . . .

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, if you like, I

19         could run through the PowerPoint, just to get

20         everybody acquainted.

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Is that okay with you,

22         Counsel?

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, that will

24         be -- I'm not sure if the mic's working, but in

25         any event, if anyone can hear, that would be

11



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 11

1         fine.

2               Two procedural points:  I would note that,

3         again, Mr. Kimbrel has not yet been sworn but

4         can be sworn prior to him being called as a

5         witness.  And I would assume the same thing

6         would be for Mr. Jones, who was not present when

7         staff was sworn.

8               I would like to inquire, if I could, Mr.

9         Chairman.  On a matter of voir dire, there was

10         an indication that the Chairman had visited the

11         site.  I'd like to inquire as to when that was

12         and in whose presence.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That was . . .  Let's

14         see.  What's today?  Today is . . .

15               MR. DUNAWAY:  December the 7th.

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Wednesday, December 7th.

17         That would have been Saturday.  And I was alone.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.  And

19         that was the site at 1999 Massachusetts.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Correct.

21               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

22               And were you able to fully visit the

23         entire site, the whole eight acres?

24               THE CHAIRPERSON:  No, I was not.  I didn't

25         transgress anywhere that there was a posted

12



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 12

1         sign.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  The posted sign that was on

3         the neighbor's property where the chain was?

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  So you just

6         simply observed it from Massachusetts?

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  The public right-of-way?

9               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

11               And at that time, did you see that there

12         was the posted -- or the sign that staff had

13         posted announcing tonight's -- today's meeting?

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

15               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  And a mailbox?

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I didn't notice a

17         mailbox.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

19               THE CHAIRPERSON:  But I did see the sign.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  And I

21         don't have any further voir dire.

22               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Sure.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Nor any challenge.  Thank

24         you.

25               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Sure.  Okay, sir.

13



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 13

1               MR. HOLMER:  All right, sir.  We'll just

2         go through the maps here.  This is, once again,

3         Appeal Case 2016-01.

4               This is our location map.  This is our

5         500-foot radius map, showing zoning on site.

6         Heavy commercial, light industrial.  Our future

7         land use on site is mixed-use urban.

8               This is the 2013 aerial map of the site.

9         This is a map indicating the national wetlands

10         inventory layer showing wetlands on site.

11               This is a map of the 2500 foot mailing

12         radius the postcards were sent out to.  This is

13         the public hearing sign.  Original posting, it

14         fell over in the weather.  It's telling when --

15         it's tied to the street sign to hold it up.

16               This is just a photo of the site entrance.

17         And this is another photo looking east on

18         Massachusetts showing the sign, and that's the

19         mailbox that was being referred to.

20               And this is the site plan.  This is the

21         one that was involved with the denial.  This is

22         one that was submitted with a September date

23         that I circled in red.  And I have all these --

24         we can zoom in on on the pdf.

25               And Mr. Dunaway is correct.  With an

14



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 14

1         appeal, we don't go ahead and do findings ahead

2         of time.  We just basically do a background of

3         the case and the criteria.

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Is that okay with you,

5         Counselor, if we let staff proceed with the --

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh, yes, sir.  Absolutely.

7         We prefer that.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Generally we just go

9         ahead with applicant's opening and then --

10               MR. HOLMER:  Okay.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  And go from there.

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Would you like to make

13         an opening statement, then, or your client?

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  No; we'd take

15         that opportunity, if we could.

16               If I may ask a note of procedure, Mr.

17         Chairman, does this end the staff's presentation

18         of the evidence on this matter, or would they --

19         I mean, do they want to go after we go and call

20         witnesses?  How would the board prefer?  Because

21         I want to do it the way you --

22               MR. HOLMER:  I mean, it's a quasi-judicial

23         hearing.  It's not as formal.  We can follow the

24         usual plaintiff/defendant, et cetera.

25               THE CHAIRPERSON:  The usual procedure is

15



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 15

1         for y'all to make your -- make your

2         presentation, and then followed by staff's

3         findings, and then there will be discussion and

4         questions.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Perfectly

6         acceptable.

7               If I could, though, before I start with my

8         presentation, because we were provided with the

9         package that is publicly available, but that

10         package is different than just the view of the

11         slides, so I would be happy -- I would be -- it

12         would be helpful for me to understand what that

13         was that was included in the evidence that you

14         accepted, the staff report.  And would that be

15         different from that that was provided on the

16         link that's publicly available?

17               MR. HOLMER:  Right.  The PowerPoint is

18         just a cleaned-up version.  There are some

19         documents in there that I was going to show the

20         board and zoom in on the criteria.

21               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

22               MR. HOLMER:  That they're going to need.

23         I have the package.  Sorry.  The mouse doesn't

24         work so good on this.

25               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I only asked

16



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 16

1         this so that I can understand what my -- how to

2         tailor my presentation.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Sure.

4               MR. HOLMER:  Here we go.  This will be the

5         link.  The web page.  Once again, there are the

6         maps.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

8               MR. HOLMER:  Zoom in.  There's the letter.

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  Good.  And so that's

10         part of the package.

11               MR. HOLMER:  Oh, yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.

12         Absolutely.

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  Just making sure.

14               MR. HOLMER:  Here.  Let's go through --

15         would you like to -- do you want to go through

16         the whole thing?

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  If we could, yeah, what the

18         board was presented as a package.

19               MR. HOLMER:  Absolutely.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  So we know what's in

21         evidence already.

22               MR. HOLMER:  Okay.  So we have the letter

23         from Mr. Dunaway.  We have the proof of

24         ownership.  Articles of incorporation.  We have

25         the deed.

17



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 17

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  So we do have the

2         compatibility and locational criteria analysis.

3               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.

5               The traffic report.

6               MR. HOLMER:  Traffic report.

7               This is the receipt.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.  This was the payment

9         of the $682.60 appeal fee.

10               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Following the $859

12         application fee.

13               MR. HOLMER:  Oh, the DRC, yeah.

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

15               MR. HOLMER:  This isn't the best version

16         of Adobe to work with.  Do you want to . . .

17         Okay.  This is -- what we're working with here

18         is the site plan that was submitted.  It's going

19         to be a little bit difficult to see on

20         eight-and-a-half by eleven paper.  That's what I

21         said:  We've got the digital version we can work

22         through.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

24               MR. HOLMER:  And this has all the pages,

25         the plan.

18



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 18

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  So just for clarity, those

2         pages are the scanned versions of the full-size

3         plan that we submitted to the staff as part of

4         the Landmark Engineering site plan.

5               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  All right.

7               MR. HOLMER:  Those are the ones that are

8         on the county files, once again the September --

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

10               MR. HOLMER:  -- plan.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  With the notes and the

12         information there.

13               MR. HOLMER:  Yes.

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  So that -- and that's

15         everything?

16               MR. HOLMER:  That should be the last page.

17         It is.  Yeah.  The last document is going to be

18         the page after this, which is going to be . . .

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  That's fine.  This

20         is --

21               MR. HOLMER:  C-1, I think.

22               MR. DUNAWAY:  This would be a good

23         place -- if we could keep this on the screen

24         with this as the -- with the site plan that

25         we've drawn up, that's -- no.  That other one.

19



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 19

1               MR. HOLMER:  The next one?

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yeah, the next one.  It

3         should have . . .

4               MR. HOLMER:  Computer's running a little

5         slow.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yeah.  Understood.

7               It's actually the first one.  I mean,

8         well, that's the first one.  Then there's -- it

9         would be the one that shows the location of the

10         site.  That's okay.  It's going to be that one.

11         This is going to be the last.  I think this is

12         it.  Nope.

13               MR. HOLMER:  Oh.

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  Go up.  That's it.  That's

15         it.

16               Mr. Chairman, with your permission, may I

17         address the board from my seated position at

18         table or would you prefer that I address from

19         the podium?

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I believe if we don't

21         have you at the podium, it won't record.

22               MR. HOLMER:  He has a microphone.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Oh.  That will work.

24               MR. DUNAWAY:  And we have a court

25         reporter.

20



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 20

1               MR. HOLMER:  Button's on the bottom.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  So we have a

3         microphone that's on.

4               So with your permission, Mr. Chairman

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Please.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

7         Mr. Chairman, as is indicated, and members of

8         the board, we're here on an appeal of the staff

9         decision of a denial of the DRC for a permit

10         essentially to have a use of this HCLI, heavy

11         commercial, light industrial property,

12         approximately a little over eight acres.

13               And the use that we are asking was simply

14         so that it be residential.  And those

15         residential are housed in temporary structures.

16               This is a homeless area.  Let's make no

17         bones about what we are and what Sean's Outpost

18         has been doing for the last three to four years.

19               Let's just start, go back to the beginning

20         of the acquisition of this property by Sean's

21         Outpost, my client.  This is an enterprising

22         group of people who came into the opportunity to

23         purchase this heavy commercial, light industrial

24         zoned area, which, as the Chairman knows, having

25         visited, and as you've seen from the aerials, is

21



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 21

1         at the bottom of Massachusetts, the lowest

2         point, as the -- essentially, the series of

3         drainage canals that connect with old burrow

4         pits, come through that area draining out,

5         essentially, everything north from Marcus Pointe

6         all the way down.

7               So a large percentage of the property --

8         and you can see from the aerial almost half of

9         it, that is the easternmost half, is underwater.

10         I mean, it's a swamp.  It's wetlands.  And it's

11         actually active standing water.

12               And so the upland area is a smaller area.

13         Now, you have seen and you will note that from

14         your -- the aerials, that the property is an odd

15         shape.  It would have been a nice -- I don't

16         know that it's a square, but let's call it a

17         four-sided parallelogram, so it would have

18         evened up, but you see this odd thing that

19         sticks out of it.

20               This was formerly ECUA property.  There is

21         an ECUA former -- an old lift station here, that

22         as you can imagine in -- it's a low area.

23         Gravity works.  You have to move things uphill.

24         There was a lift station here.

25               That was replaced.  There's a large -- and

22



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 22

1         you'll see that it's transecting across the

2         property.  It's a large easement area that runs

3         across, and there's a main ECUA access to keep

4         that pipe flowing.  Yeah, Mr. Holmer's got it,

5         or whoever's operating that is showing that

6         correctly.

7               So ECUA owned that odd piece, that you see

8         that it juts out on the western side.  And

9         there's been past uses of the property, but

10         mainly there was -- there's an old pad.  There

11         were several trailers, and there were some folks

12         that -- that lived out there, but mainly the

13         purpose of it was as an ECUA.

14               From Massachusetts on that western side --

15         and you'll see this area.  And if I may, I'm

16         referring -- Y'all are not going to be able to

17         see this, but if you're talking about the

18         westernmost -- you'll look at your -- at your

19         drawing, you'll see what looks like a road.

20               That connected back.  It was a dirt road,

21         and it was the access that ECUA used off of, and

22         you could go both from Massachusetts, and you

23         could go all the way into -- and it connected to

24         what was the backside of the neighborhood there.

25               I don't know if that -- it actually comes

23



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 23

1         out -- I believe that to be Amazon Drive, but

2         that was a routine dirt road and -- where you

3         came and accessed it.

4               So Sitocia acquired this property, had

5         plans for development and for improvements.  And

6         in the meantime, as those plans were being

7         formulated and funds being raised, started to

8         allow people who were being run out -- who had

9         been run out, trespassed off of other areas of

10         either private property or public right-of-ways.

11               If you're not familiar with the process,

12         the last count in Escambia County was about 859

13         active persons who are living on the street.

14               Now, you probably would be surprised to

15         know that in Escambia County School District,

16         the school district indicates and counts 2,000

17         school-age children who are classified as

18         homeless.

19               Their definition of homeless is different

20         than the homeless count.  Their definition of

21         homeless is those who don't have a more

22         permanent structure.  They could be

23         couch-surfing or living with aunts or uncles or

24         friends.  But when I talk about the count that

25         the Escambia Coalition does of homeless, we're

24



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 24

1         talking about actual people on the street.

2               So we know in Escambia County we don't

3         have enough beds for people who do not have

4         permanent shelter.  And so, nevertheless they

5         exist.

6               You probably don't often see those camps

7         but they exist.  And when I talk about a camp,

8         I'm talking about a structure:  A tent, a tarp,

9         a lean-to, a shelter, a bridge, those kinds of

10         things that provide some temporary shelter.

11               So Sean's Outpost began to allow, when

12         they were called -- and they would get calls

13         from either the Sheriff's Department or the

14         emergency rooms or other emergency-type

15         situations, crisis shelters, and there would be

16         someone who had no place to go.

17               So Sean's Outpost had eight acres of

18         commercial -- heavy commercial, light industrial

19         zoned property.  And they said, "Well, you can

20         be here because we won't run you off.  You can

21         stay here."

22               And so over the years, and we -- Sean's

23         Outpost has been operating this for -- well,

24         certainly for the last three years.  This

25         process started, and it allowed for a central

25



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 25

1         location which someone could stay who would not

2         be violated.  They couldn't -- the sheriffs

3         wouldn't be rousting them because, of course,

4         they had permission to be on the property.

5               Then the question became:  Well, what is

6         the status of persons who are living on property

7         with permission in temporary structures?

8               And in 2014 the county decided, through

9         Code Enforcement, that the status was a status

10         that they would not permit, and there was a code

11         violation for temporary shelters.

12               That process went through the special

13         magistrate process.  The special magistrate

14         found that there was not a violation.  That code

15         violation was dismissed, and the process went

16         even -- and was upheld.

17               So the process -- the use of the property

18         continued its conforming way, with a shelter

19         area:  Again, tents, tarps, temporary shelters

20         for a small number of people that Sean's Outpost

21         gave permission and allowed to be there.

22               Now, this population is not static.  There

23         are people who come.  They're in crises.  They

24         spend some time at Sean's Outpost.  They find

25         other places, whether that's permanent or

26



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 26

1         whether they move out.

2               Some work.  Some do not work.  Some have

3         medical issues.  Some don't.  The process is a

4         fluid process.  Sean's Outpost, essentially

5         through Michael Kimbrel, who is sitting here to

6         my left, manages that.  It's an active

7         management.

8               The county has been provided, and I hope

9         that you have had -- and if you don't, at the

10         end I'll make sure that you get -- we admit into

11         evidence a detailed operating manual.  The

12         county asked for, and we provided that, a

13         detailed operating manual of how this process

14         works.  We provided that.

15               It's an active process.  The Sheriff's

16         Office knows -- they know who to contact.  They

17         know how to get in touch with Michael to respond

18         very, very quickly.

19               The Health Department early on in the

20         process with the 2014 violation was very much

21         involved in this process because, as you may not

22         know, camping . . . that is what this most

23         resembles.  It most resembles a campsite, a

24         camping area.

25               Camping in the State of Florida is

27



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 27

1         permitted not by the county but by the State

2         Department of Health.  They issue permits for

3         camping and for RV sites.

4               As you know, an RV site is also an area

5         which has some level of improvements which

6         allows both temporary structures, in the form of

7         motor homes or pull trailers or tents.  Most RV

8         sites do have tent facilities.

9               And so this facility, as we started

10         looking at what we needed or might need to do

11         from county permission to continue, we looked at

12         the concept of camping.

13               We applied.  And when I say "we," I'm

14         talking about Sean's Outpost.  I've been

15         representing them since this started, pro bono

16         to try to help them get through this process.

17               We submitted an application for a camping

18         permit, a campsite permit to the State

19         Department of Health.  That process goes through

20         a local -- there's a local county department,

21         and then it goes on up to the state.

22               After years of evaluation back and forth,

23         meetings, discussions, trying to figure out is a

24         homeless camp camping, is camping regulated, how

25         are we going to do it, the State Department of

28



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 28

1         Health ultimately ruled -- and this is in a

2         letter of March 22, 2016, a copy of which I'm

3         going to submit to you in evidence, which

4         indicated -- and you'll have a copy, but I'm

5         going to just read.

6               "Your client does not need a license from

7         the Florida Department of Health to continue

8         operating as is currently occurring.  Our

9         inspections have not discovered any insanitary

10         [sic] conditions."

11               That was a concern, obviously, when you

12         have a group of people who are living outside,

13         what are the sanitary conditions, a legitimate

14         concern for both Sean's Outpost, the residents,

15         and of course the county.

16               And so as part of this process, we had

17         actually contracted and we were paying for the

18         County Health Department to date -- actually, it

19         started as weekly inspections and moved on to

20         monthly, and then they got progressively more

21         time in-between because they were coming out and

22         inspecting the property and making sure and

23         pointing out and helping us as we first started

24         up, on what the sanitary conditions were.

25               And ultimately what the stable condition

29



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 29

1         is and has been for many years is that there are

2         three portable pot -- portalets that you see,

3         like at parades, and those kinds of things, and

4         a washing station, a hand-washing station that

5         are there.

6               Those are serviced by Sean's Outpost,

7         weekly service, and taking care of them.

8         They're sanitary.  And that process was part of

9         that inspection with the Health Department.

10               So that, again, the letter states, "As

11         currently operated, Sean's Outpost is not

12         included in the facilities that the Florida

13         Department of Health licenses."

14               That is, they determined it was not, in

15         fact, a recreational camping.  And that became

16         an important concept.  I won't go into the whole

17         thing.  We spent a year talking and debating and

18         agonizing over what is a recreational camp.

19               Ultimately it came down to because we

20         weren't a facility, that if you drove in off the

21         street pulling a camper and paid us $14, you

22         could stay there because that's not how Sean's

23         Outpost operated, so the State Department of

24         Health said, "It's not camping, recreational

25         that we license.  What you're doing there is

30



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 30

1         fine, and it's not something that we license."

2               So that put us back into the county

3         process.  And we had I don't know how many

4         meetings, so we had a lot of meetings with the

5         county.  And the ultimate question was:  What is

6         it?  What do you want us to do?  What -- help us

7         craft an application for the use that we are

8         doing that you can evaluate under the Land

9         Development Code and get to an ultimate position

10         of permitting.

11               And then they said to us, "Well" -- and

12         rightly so -- "Well, what do you want to do?"

13               And we said, "Just what we're doing.  And

14         we just want to keep doing what we're doing."

15               Because in the ensuing years, the ideas

16         that -- and, of course, these ideas are not --

17         are not gone, but they're not in a position --

18         Sean's Outpost is not in a position to execute

19         on it.  The ideas of building a grand, you know,

20         bathhouse with a commercial kitchen facility and

21         an enclosed area, I mean all of those are plans

22         that we would love to bring forward and go

23         through that process.

24               And that process is very well understood.

25         If you're building a building and you're going

31



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 31

1         to execute and put some real permanent

2         improvements on it, everybody knows how to

3         evaluate that.  The county knows how to

4         evaluate.  We know how to do it.  The engineers

5         know how to do it.

6               But that's not what the plan is.  What the

7         plan is, is simply allow the continued

8         residential use in the way that we have been

9         doing it compatibly for these last many years.

10               And the county said, "Well, you got to

11         tell us what that is because we can't evaluate a

12         concept."

13               We said, "Okay.  And we'll pay the

14         application fee, $859, and we'll write down on

15         it what it is that we want to do."  And

16         essentially it is we want to do the same thing

17         that we've been doing.

18               And they said, "Well, show us what that

19         looks like."

20               And we said, "Well, you know, there's some

21         areas out in the uplands where people reside.

22         Sometimes they reside where that -- one of those

23         boxes are, and, you know, sometimes the wind --

24         we have a storm like we just had, and, you know,

25         that blows down.

32



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 32

1               "And so when they set it up, it's five

2         feet over to the other side or sometimes it's,

3         you know, around the corner.  But it generally

4         is an area in which someone puts up a tarp

5         and/or a tent, and they end up being a resident

6         there for a period of time."  That's what it is.

7         That's the use.  It's nothing more complicated

8         than that.

9               So then the question:  Well, how do you

10         get to it?  Well, again, as you saw, this

11         odd-shaped process, it looks like that you

12         can't, but you -- and this took another six

13         months to figure out, but finally realized that

14         you'll see that what looks like -- it's actually

15         a spike strip, but you see that strip that goes

16         off?  There was a drainage.  It's in the top

17         right corner.  You know what I'm talking about?

18         Yeah, right there.

19               So that strip -- run that up and down.

20         That connects the larger square.  That goes --

21         juts out towards Massachusetts.  Yeah.

22               So that actually is a part of the ECUA --

23         the former ECUA parcel, but Sean's Outpost, the

24         property owner of the larger parcel, has an

25         easement across that as part of its deed;

33



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 33

1         therefore, has access across it, on it and

2         through it for its use.

3               So what you see as labeled on your

4         document as the "dirt road," that quite

5         literally is a road that was created when Sean's

6         Outpost lost the use of the ECUA parcel.

7               And so how that came about was, after,

8         again, endless discussions and negotiations with

9         the ECUA, I finally convinced them to excess

10         that property because it is the good upland

11         property for this parcel.  It's where the

12         majority of the good high ground is in this

13         parcel.

14               ECUA wasn't really using it, and so they

15         said, "Okay, we'll excess the property."  And so

16         it went through the public process of excessing

17         property.  And at the bidding, Sean's Outpost

18         was outbid and someone else bought the property.

19               You know, there's only so much money that

20         nonprofits have.  And that process ended up

21         going -- and that property went to someone else.

22         So when that -- when that was cut off, when we

23         were not able to utilize that property -- if

24         you'll show the members, you'll see along the

25         western property line, our -- Sean's Outpost

34



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 34

1         property line, as part of the attempt to be, you

2         know, good neighbors here, there was a board

3         fence.  It's just inside the line.

4               It's the zeros and the tacks.  You'll see

5         that's the fence.  So there is a -- there is a

6         board fence that was installed and paid for,

7         permitted and built along that boundary that

8         separates the road, the access road, from it,

9         from the property.

10               And so from that, once we couldn't enter,

11         which was where you entered the property, was

12         about right there where that wooden gate was,

13         that's where you entered the property from the

14         former ECUA access road.

15               Once that was -- we didn't have access, as

16         the Chairman correctly pointed out, the posted

17         signs on the gate there along Massachusetts, if

18         you go back up, we had to have a new way to get

19         into the property.

20               So if you'll go up just a little bit.

21         Yeah.  Right there.  Stop.  So that's where you

22         come in.  It's about -- it's near where the

23         mailbox is.  You just come onto the property.

24               The property is -- it landlocks the

25         property that was the former ECUA.  There's no

35



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 35

1         access to the former ECUA property right now,

2         except that you go through someone else's

3         property.

4               So you can't access that property from

5         either Massachusetts, nor can you actually

6         really legally access it from the south, so you

7         can, of course, because Mr. Grimes, who you

8         probably will hear from a little bit later.

9         Since he is one of the property owners, he can

10         access it from his lot because he abuts it from

11         the back side.

12               But in any event, it doesn't have public

13         street access that wouldn't go through either a

14         developed lot or someone else's property, like,

15         for instance, Massachusetts through either ours,

16         or potentially the county owns a park there just

17         to the left, and I use that word loosely.

18               It's a triangle strip of property, which

19         mainly is used for a sheriff car, you know, just

20         monitoring Massachusetts, so it's not -- it's

21         not actually a developed part.

22               The point being is that, as you can see,

23         we do have access, and that is the dirt road, so

24         what we ended up starting to do is to get back

25         there and to, you know, get food and stuff.  We

36



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 36

1         just drive down this little dirt road.

2               And when I say "dirt road," I refer to

3         what I would call, you know, a pig trail.  I

4         mean, that's how it started.  Started as a path,

5         and then it's a dirt road.  But it crosses the

6         easement area.

7               You'll note that that easement area

8         doesn't go to -- all the way to the end of our

9         property boundary, so there is a -- you could go

10         around it, but that's underwater.  I mean,

11         that's -- that's out into -- into the water area

12         there.  Okay.

13               So that's the process, and that was the

14         background on that acquisition.  Obviously that

15         acquisition made the plans for development and

16         everything change in a big way, as did the issue

17         of money.

18               And so, again, we were back to the county.

19         And we started in earnest earlier this year, the

20         first of this year.  And the reason we started

21         in earnest is because the county issued another

22         notice of violation on a code enforcement.

23               And they said once again, essentially,

24         your use is unpermitted.  It's an unpermitted

25         use.

37



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 37

1               And so we started meeting with them.  We

2         met with staff here at this level, all the way

3         up to the administrator level.

4               And I want to thank the staff.  We worked

5         very closely because we recognize what we were

6         doing is different.  I mean, I assure you there

7         is no permitted homeless camp in the county.  It

8         doesn't exist.

9               There's not another similarly situated

10         property that is not an RV park, a camping

11         facility.  The closest thing would be the Alfred

12         Washburn Center, but there's no residential

13         overnighting there.

14               And then, of course, the next closest,

15         which is not really comparable, but would be

16         like a Waterfront Mission, a fully developed

17         site in which there is overnight dormitories.

18               But the Waterfront Mission looks more like

19         a UWF dormitory than it does a homeless shelter

20         in the -- in the nature of what Sean's Outpost

21         is.  Sean's Outpost is actually -- would be more

22         comparable to, you know, the camps either on --

23         on the scenic bluffs or the old Trillium site

24         before that was developed and those folks were

25         run out, or along the Gullian Yard FDOT

38



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 38

1         right-of-ways, and endless numbers of camps that

2         I could mention to you that we don't in public

3         forums.

4               The point is that we worked very closely

5         to try to figure out what it is that we are

6         trying to do.  And we finally settled in on the

7         situation that we have and the presentation that

8         we made ultimately to the DRC.

9               And that was, we simply want to exist.  We

10         simply want you to permit the existing use.

11         We're not building anything.  We're not making

12         any alterations to the property.  We're not

13         putting in any improvements to the property,

14         that is, structural improvements.

15               It simply is property that Sean's Outpost

16         owns that Sean's Outpost has graciously given

17         permission to a handful of folks who don't have

18         other permanent locations to be, so that they

19         can exist in this county without getting run

20         off, trespassed in the middle of the night or

21         rousted out.

22               So the application.  Let's focus on that

23         and what we were looking at.  The application

24         that was submitted, and it -- Mr. Holmer, was

25         the application the April 5, 2016?  Was that

39



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 39

1         part of the board package?  That would have been

2         my letter of April, along with the development

3         review application package.

4               Mr. Chairman, while Mr. Holmer is looking

5         for that, I'll just briefly go through.

6         Essentially what we applied for and what ended

7         up being agreed to, was we would submit a site

8         plan, a minor site plan application for

9         approval.

10               Yeah, that's the October 27th.

11               And so on April 5, 2016, we submitted that

12         application under my two-page cover letter.  And

13         the full project information form filled out was

14         attached, and all of the criteria that was

15         stated in the development review application,

16         certification process, along with site plans was

17         submitted to staff.

18               And as Mr. Holmer correctly pointed out,

19         there was a back and forth.  And you're familiar

20         with that back and forth with an applicant and

21         the staff, on trying to get a plan.

22               The staff said there was some details that

23         we needed.  That resulted in the operating

24         agreement being -- the staff was concerned

25         about.  How are you going to operate it?  And so

40



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 40

1         there would be -- operating plan was submitted.

2               There was -- You know, what about

3         compatibility?  That's why the compatibility

4         analysis -- that is part of your package.

5         That's why we had that.  Compatibility analysis.

6         We got that.

7               We went through the process with all of

8         the staff members at the DRC.  Joe Quinn

9         testified from fire safety.  Pointed out there

10         was some minor issues, including some signage

11         and the need to have some fire -- fire

12         extinguishers.  No problem there.

13               Rosa Stephanel testified, and she talked

14         about the need for stormwater ponds, if you had

15         any impervious surfaces that were going to be

16         out there.  And in that regard, the only

17         requirement for stormwater would be is if there

18         were a requirement for a paved access road.

19               We weren't proposing a paved access road.

20         We get down there fine with the dirt road.  The

21         service -- the only actual truck that actually

22         has to go down there, large truck, is the truck

23         that services the porta-potties, and it's been

24         going down there for years.  Every week it goes

25         down there.  It has no problem.

41



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 41

1               And we submitted a letter from the

2         Containers, Inc. that we pay every month for

3         them to service the porta-potties that stated

4         that.  We get down there fine.

5               And as I mentioned, Mr. Williams testified

6         and he said the analysis compatibility and

7         locational criteria needed to be submitted,

8         which we did.  And we met that.

9               So the final thing was Mr. Jason Waters

10         who testified -- and he was with the county

11         access management.  And he opined at the very --

12         at the DRC that an access -- a paved -- no.  An

13         improved access road would be required to be

14         built from Massachusetts all the way back to the

15         porta-potties.

16               We said, "Well, why?  Because we don't

17         need a road.  And the cost of paving a road back

18         there is prohibitive because we don't have any

19         money, and we won't be able to meet that

20         criteria."

21               And so this was -- we had gone back and

22         forth over the summer.  We thought we had

23         actually reached an agreement with the county by

24         which they said, "Okay.  Well, if you'll just

25         improve the apron because we don't want to bust

42



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 42

1         up Massachusetts when you pull over -- off on

2         Massachusetts, which is actually in the county

3         right-of-way.

4               And actually, the bigger trucks -- the

5         trucks that pull off and on there are, you know,

6         both -- as I said, the sheriff's car that parks

7         there in the park area, and -- and any ECUA

8         trucks that pick up the garbage because, of

9         course, we have garbage collection.

10               But in any event, we said, "Yeah.

11         Absolutely.  We'll make an apron," you know,

12         like you do with a driveway coming onto a road.

13         But really, we don't need the road all the way

14         back there.

15               But at the DRC, Mr. Walters, Jason, said,

16         "No.  Per our design standard manual, 2.2, we

17         believe a road is required.  Road's required."

18               And I cross-examined him.  And I -- I

19         appreciated his candor.  And in any event, he

20         said, "It's required."  And so at the DRC we

21         said, "You know, okay.  I mean, you know, you're

22         the one to tell us what are the requirements."

23               We asked -- we said, "Well, issue the

24         permit with the condition that we have to build

25         a road," and then -- and the point being is

43



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 43

1         that -- because, as you know, we're not

2         operating -- we're not doing this process in a

3         vacuum; right?

4               We have already had the code enforcement

5         magistrate hearing, at which point we went to

6         the code and magistrate this time, and we said,

7         "We're -- Absolutely.  I mean, we do not have

8         county permission to do this use.  We don't have

9         that permit.  If a permit is required, we don't

10         have it."

11               And the magistrate said, "Well, what are

12         you doing about that?"

13               And I said, "You know, well, we've been

14         working with the county for years to try to get

15         that.  And we've had the application already

16         submitted, and we're going through the process."

17               And the magistrate said, "Okay.  Well,

18         that's what I would require you to do anyway, to

19         go get it.  And so keep working.  Get the

20         process.  And if you get the permit, great.

21         This is all over.  And you pay the $600 that,

22         you know, cost to do the hearing.  And if you

23         don't get it, then -- and all your appeals run

24         out, well, then, you know, 90 days after that,

25         you're just going to have to get off."

44



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 44

1               And so that's where we are.  I mean,

2         that's the process we are.  We went to the DRC.

3         They said "No."  We're appealing to you.

4               Now, to the issue of the appeal.  Why are

5         we appealing?  Well, we're appealing to you

6         because, one, we want permission to do what

7         we're doing.  That's the main thing.

8               Two, what are the reasons, the legal

9         reasons we're appealing?  Well, we believe

10         because the county hadn't -- that the staff

11         should have, under the criteria, issued the

12         permit, because, as you know, for a permit to

13         issue, well, the applicant simply must meet the

14         objective criteria laid out in the Land

15         Development Code.

16               The objective criteria in the Land

17         Development Code for residential use are very

18         easy.  I mean, that's not -- it is not a

19         difficult process.

20               We met and went through every objective

21         criteria that the county asked us to do:  Made

22         the application, submitted the information,

23         provided the site plan.  In fact, a minor site

24         plan, as you know -- you've probably seen some

25         on appeal -- I mean, all you have to do is

45



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 45

1         actually really just do a kind of a neat sketch

2         on a notebook paper.

3               I mean, you don't have to go through all

4         this process for -- Again, this is a minor site

5         plan.  We're not asking to build anything, and

6         no engineering.

7               But we went through that process:

8         Engineering drawings, legal surveys, wetlands

9         evaluation.  We did a -- Wetlands Sciences did a

10         pull-up wetlands evaluation, a protective tree

11         protection.  We went through all of those -- all

12         of those points.

13               And we submitted all of that information.

14         And in the end, it came down to, we think, but

15         that's what I'm hoping we'll get some clarity

16         today, we think that it was down to the DSM 2.2

17         on the road.

18               And yet we said, "Okay, Jason.  You say a

19         road's required.  Well, then issue the permit

20         conditioned on us building the road."

21               I mean, staff issues permits with

22         conditions all of the time.  Conditional permits

23         are issued all the time.  I mean, I dare say no

24         permit gets issued or very few permits get

25         issued without some condition.  So we simply

46



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 46

1         asked them to do that.

2               And then, of course, obviously that would

3         allow us to, one, continue; two, get out from

4         under the code enforcement magistrate's

5         situation; and also then go raise money, so

6         potentially build the road.  I mean, you know --

7         and we'd have that time.  As you know, when a

8         permit's issued, you have a certain amount of

9         time to build it.  So that was the plan.  That's

10         what we would do.

11               In fact, after the hearing, Mike received

12         several calls from folks that go, "I got

13         gravel."  I mean, maybe we can actually do this.

14         Maybe we can pull it off.  It will be amazing.

15               But we said, "Listen, just issue it so we

16         can get moving and we can do it."

17               But the county said -- and Mr. Jones is

18         here.  He will be able to testify to that.  But

19         he said no because it wasn't on your site plan.

20         We can't approve it.

21               Well, again, members of the board, we

22         didn't want to build a road.  You know, the

23         road, if we were required to build it, it would

24         be built where the dirt road is.  There isn't

25         any other place to build it.  There's no other

47



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 47

1         way to get around.

2               We don't own the property to the west.

3         There's water to the east.  And the road's where

4         the road -- the only place a road can be.

5               So, you know, but for the fact that that

6         says "dirt road," as opposed to gravel road or

7         asphalt road, or whatever else, the road is on

8         the site plan.  It's right there before you.  So

9         that's where it would have to be.

10               In any event, if the county wanted it

11         somewhere else, issue the permit and say, "Build

12         the road -- you know, conditioned on the

13         building of a road, you know, a permanent road

14         in some other fashion."

15               So that's where we are.  We believe under

16         the standard that you have here that -- and

17         permit to be issued, the applicant must have met

18         the objective criteria of the Land Development

19         Code for the issuance of a permit.

20               We believe we met that.  We believe, then

21         also, under the Irving standard of the Supreme

22         Court, that once we've met that burden, it is

23         incumbent upon staff and/or those who oppose the

24         issuing of the permit to prove that, in fact,

25         the issuance of the permit would be adverse to

48



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 48

1         the public.  Adverse to the public.  And that's

2         a very detailed description, and we will go over

3         that in summary.

4               But in any event, there has been no

5         indication -- then the best indication of the

6         fact that it's not adverse is we've been doing

7         it for four years.  We've been out there.  We

8         are peaceably coexisting with the neighbors.

9               Now, I know because I have been at every

10         hearing and I have -- there are diligent, good,

11         hardworking citizens who live in the Mayfair

12         neighborhood who oppose a homeless camp next to

13         their residential neighborhood.  I get that.  I

14         understand the argument.  I understand the

15         concern, and I understand their frustrations

16         with the fact that this process has taken a long

17         time.

18               But I tell you, board members, there is no

19         other group, no other homeless shelter camp

20         process that's been doing as hard a work as

21         Sean's Outpost has been and has gone through the

22         county approval process more diligently than

23         this group.

24               We have been re -- turning every possible

25         way of moving this process forward.  And if it

49



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 49

1         is that we cannot have a piece of property in

2         Escambia County in which an owner can say to an

3         individual, "Hey, you can stay on my piece of

4         property," and the county says, "No, you can't,"

5         then we are in a bad situation as far as the

6         county goes.

7               Now, I acknowledge and understand that the

8         county staff has indicated and will say it's not

9         about the status of the people who are on the

10         property.  It's not that we're opposed to

11         homeless people.  We're not opposed to homeless

12         people.  You just have to follow the code.

13               Well, members of the board, we believe we

14         have in every way fulfilled the objective

15         criteria presented throughout this process to

16         have and issue -- to have the county, the staff,

17         issue us a permit.

18               And if that permit must have conditions

19         based on criteria which they believe to be

20         controlling, with all due respect, they should

21         issue it in that regard.  They should issue it

22         conditioned on whatever those conditions and

23         requirements are.

24               They ought not just say "permit denied,"

25         and say "because you didn't put it on the site

50



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 50

1         plan," because again, this has been a fluid

2         process.  This has been a fluid process.

3               This site plan hadn't looked -- didn't

4         look this way when we first submitted it.  It

5         went through several iterations.  I drew it with

6         pdf for a while, and then I would move the boxes

7         around, and then I would try to -- and then we'd

8         move the trees around.  And then finally we got

9         a real engineer who did it.  And we finally got

10         the whole thing.  And we submitted it.  And we

11         believe we've met it.

12               So we're here for you, as a board, a

13         citizen-appointed board in this county, to look

14         at this and say, "Did they meet the objective

15         criteria for issuance of a permit?"

16               And if that's -- if a road is required,

17         then with conditions.  I mean, we would love for

18         you to issue the permit without the condition

19         because building a road's going to be expensive,

20         not necessary, invasive, mess up the -- but if

21         that's what it takes, issue the permit with

22         condition of the road.  Issue the permit.

23               Because we believe we've met that

24         criteria.  We believe we've met our burden.  And

25         then we believe now that the burden shifts to

51



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 51

1         the county and those opposed to prove that in

2         fact the issuance of this permit would be

3         adverse to the public.

4               I would like to -- Mr. Chairman, that

5         would be concluding my statement and background.

6         I would like to have the opportunity to have

7         staff present their case, and then have an

8         opportunity to rebut, and then would reserve

9         some time for closing.

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That would be the

11         standard operating.

12               And excellent presentation, Mr. Dunaway.

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  Thank you, sir.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Board, any questions of

15         the applicants at this time?

16               MR. STROMQUIST:  I'm going to question.

17         The access that you have now coming in, the

18         picture that we saw of it was dirt, a dirt road

19         access.  How far does that dirt road access go?

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  It's all dirt, sir.

21               MR. STROMQUIST:  But does it go all the

22         way through the camp?

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.

24               If you're -- and if --

25               MR. STROMQUIST:  Well, looking at it on

52



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 52

1         this diagram, comes in and curves and then goes

2         down . . .

3               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

4               MR. STROMQUIST:  . . . to the bottom of

5         the property?

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

7               MR. STROMQUIST:  That is all dirt road

8         access?

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.

10               MR. STROMQUIST:  And it is there.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh, yes, sir.  Yes, sir.

12         There was -- there is a -- yes, sir.  And I will

13         tell you that as you come around this corner and

14         this -- right in here, it literally -- it really

15         kind of peters out here.

16               This is kind of a plane of grass because

17         there's -- anyone that comes down, there's

18         only -- then the only -- the only access, really

19         truck that goes here, this is where the

20         portalets are, if you're following me.

21               You see?  These are the three portalets.

22         And then the hand-washing station.  This is

23         where they are.  And so the truck, you know,

24         comes there, and he services the portalets.

25               And so, yes.  And again, I don't want to

53



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 53

1         mischaracterize this road.  I grew up on a farm,

2         and we call them turn rows, but a pig trail,

3         turn row, dirt road, tracks for two vehicles.  I

4         mean, the track for a vehicle, you know, either

5         side, two tread going through the -- going

6         through the woods.

7               This is a -- if you can't tell from the --

8         from the aerial, this is a heavily wooded,

9         beautiful heritage oaks in this area.  Some of

10         the prettiest trees, I think, probably in

11         Escambia County.

12               MS. RIGBY:  I've got a question.

13         Actually, I've got two questions.  First, we'll

14         stick with the road for a minute.  When the

15         county indicated that they needed you to build a

16         road to meet the criteria, was there any

17         specificity as to how the road's to be built?

18         How wide the road is?  What material is to be

19         used?  Just you need a road?

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  In fairness to staff, I

21         think they would probably say, you know, we rely

22         on the applicants to tell us about what they

23         want to do and build.

24               When we -- because we weren't trying to

25         build a road, we hadn't researched roads.  But

54



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 54

1         they did indicate that it didn't have to be

2         paved.  It could be rock and/or gravel.

3               MS. RIGBY:  Right.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  And I'm fairly confident

5         that the design standard manual will indicate,

6         you know, what are the criteria and what are the

7         standards for building a road.  I can't

8         articulate those.

9               What we were told is -- and I think that I

10         can quickly turn to it, but that . . .  Okay.

11         All right.  I can see -- I have staff reviewed

12         comments.  I was going to pull out the staff

13         review, but here on the access manual . . .

14               In the earlier comments, there was no road

15         required.  The road became a late-coming -- a

16         late requirement as we got closer to . . .

17               So what Mr. Holmer's has -- what Mr.

18         Holmer's has is the standard DSM 2.2, but what I

19         was going to say to you, I think it was

20         actually -- but I don't -- if the staff

21         entered -- do you have the staff comments that

22         would have been the last one which would have

23         had . . .

24               MR. HOLMER:  The last access the one's I

25         just handed you.

55



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 55

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh, that was --

2               MR. HOLMER:  E-mailed to the engineer.

3         That was Mr. Walter's final comments concerning

4         access.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  And so I'm quoting

6         for you -- this was Mr. Walters.  He says, "An

7         all-weather surface will be required from the

8         south right-of-way on Massachusetts to the

9         proposed location of the portable toilets."

10               And then he also -- I actually, quite

11         frankly, hadn't realized this.  He also says,

12         "Construct a five-foot concrete sidewalk along

13         Massachusetts."  I don't remember that.

14               But -- I didn't know that, but in any

15         event, it was -- we understood it to be an

16         all-weather.  It's not in the land -- I mean --

17         well, it's in the design standard manual, but I

18         never found it in the Land Development Code, but

19         I'll let staff work on that.

20               MS. RIGBY:  And not -- not knowing the

21         particulars as far as the width of the road or

22         what have you, you agreed to putting a road in.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  I guess the simple answer to

24         that is yes.  You know, it -- it -- it's a

25         challenge that we'll have to overcome, but to

56



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 56

1         not say yes would be -- I mean, we'd be over.

2         And we don't want to be -- we don't want it to

3         be over.

4               We want to do whatever we can to make this

5         work.  If it -- if it is that absolutely a road

6         is required, you know, and they say -- they say

7         it is now.  Again, I want to point out that it

8         wasn't required when we first started this

9         process.  April comments from staff didn't

10         require a road.  It only -- we only had to

11         require -- they started requiring the road very

12         late in this process.

13               MS. RIGBY:  And by "requiring the road,"

14         it does not further require other things, such

15         as retention ponds or --

16               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.

17               MS. RIGBY:  -- striping or --

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.

19               MS. RIGBY:  -- or --

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  As I indicated, Ms. Rosa

21         stated that -- and again this is why the road

22         was important and critical for us, you know, not

23         to have to do it, because if you put a pervious

24         surface on the property -- on the property, then

25         you have to account for stormwater runoff.

57



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 57

1               Of course, right now you have a dirt road.

2         There's no stormwater.  Presumably gravel would

3         be . . .  But what Ms. Rosa testified to was

4         that if a road is required -- and she did not

5         opine whether it was or not, but that if it were

6         required, there would be stormwater retention

7         and stormwater work that would have to be done,

8         again, something that is expense, engineering,

9         and further complicates the process.

10               And again, as I pointed out, road wasn't

11         requested.  I don't think we need a road.  We're

12         not doing anything other than what we're doing,

13         having folks who are down there.

14               The only truck that has to get down there

15         is the portalet truck.  Containers, Inc. has

16         already submitted a letter that says, "We don't

17         need a gravel road to get down there.  We're

18         doing fine.  We're doing fine."

19               MS. RIGBY:  And there was no discussion

20         from, like, the fire department or the police

21         department or emergency.

22               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Joe Quinn testified.  He

23         was fire safety.  And in his comments, the road

24         was not premised on the requirement of fire

25         safety, so Mr. Quinn gave us requirements for

58



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 58

1         what was needed.  As I indicated, some signage,

2         some fire extinguishers, those kinds of fire

3         safety.

4               But he did not indicate on testimony with

5         the DRC that it was him who was requiring the

6         road.  Mr. -- Jason testified that it was the

7         planning director who had directed the road.

8               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Per the Land Development

10         Code.

11               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  Moving off the road for

12         just a minute, in order to understand the use of

13         the property, you had put together a detailed

14         operating manual.

15               Can you give us kind of a summary as to

16         how this operates, how . . . how does one -- how

17         are they allowed to live there?  Is there a --

18         certain constraints that you can live there if

19         you do this, that and the other, or you can live

20         there so long, or you have to report in so we

21         know that you're there, or . . . Can you kind of

22         give us a summary as to how this operation

23         works?

24               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  Absolutely.  Be

25         happy to do so.  And, in fact, would like it,

59



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 59

1         with permission, to provide the clerk . . . So

2         what I've handed to the clerk to be admitted

3         into evidence, and without objection, I'd like

4         that to be part of it, is the operating manual

5         for the Sitocia Forest and how the process

6         works.  And this was submitted to staff.

7               But if I may, if I could have Mr. Kimbrel

8         sworn and have him respond to your question,

9         he's in a better position to do that because

10         he's the one that they call, so if you'll swear

11         Mr. Kimbrel.

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Kimbrel, if you'll

13         step to the mic and be sworn.

14                          - - -

15                     MICHAEL KIMBREL

16         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

17         testified as follows:

18                          - - -

19               THE CHAIRPERSON:  For the record, state

20         your name and address.

21               MR. KIMBREL:  My name is Michael Kimbrel,

22         and I reside at 212 Frisco Road.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  All right.

24         If you would synopsize the operating procedures

25         for the area.

60



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 60

1               MR. KIMBREL:  Okay.  So anyone wishing to

2         reside on our property, we have an interview

3         process that they go through with me.  And I

4         find out a little bit of their background.

5               I do a -- you know, a criminal background

6         check on them.  And some of the criteria I look

7         for is people over the age of 50, women, members

8         of the LGBT community, and people that are

9         physically disabled.

10               Those four segments tend to be the most

11         underserviced in our community.  And since

12         I've -- you know, we self-regulate at 15

13         residents currently, we are able to -- we choose

14         to assist those in most need.

15               And then once they get through the

16         interview process, and we find them a spot to

17         set up a campsite out at the property, they have

18         30 days of a trial period because there is a

19         potential that you can get past my interview and

20         then start acting a fool out at the property or

21         not get along with the other residents.

22               We have a handful of rules.  The basic

23         rules are to keep your area clean.  Since we

24         provide portalets and garbage pickup, there's no

25         reason for there to be garbage laying around, so

61



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 61

1         we do not tolerate that.  There's absolutely no

2         violence.  There's no drugs.  All of those are

3         grounds for immediate termination off of the

4         property.

5               We do allow drinking, but we have a

6         no-belligerency policy, so, you know, if someone

7         has a couple of beers when they get back to the

8         camp, that's not a problem.  But if they get

9         drunk and start acting up and causing problems

10         out there, they will be asked to leave.

11               So we ask that they, you know, respect one

12         another.  We ask that if there's any issues,

13         that they try to resolve them themselves, but if

14         it cannot be resolved, I mediate the -- I come

15         out and mediate the situation.  Then . . .  I

16         mean, that basically sums -- sums it up.  Do you

17         have any other . . .

18               MS. RIGBY:  No.  Whenever -- whenever they

19         choose to leave, do they tell you that they're

20         gone or do they come and go sporadically or once

21         there, do they stay a while?  I mean . . .

22               MR. KIMBREL:  Yes to all of the above.  So

23         it varies.  People experiencing homelessness all

24         experience it for different reasons.  And what

25         it takes to get them out of homelessness is

62



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 62

1         also -- requires different amounts of time.

2               So we don't put a set time limit on

3         people, but we do -- we are constantly

4         encouraging them to work on getting out of the

5         situation that they're in.  Permanency is not

6         what we look for.

7               But we have had people that have waited

8         over a year to get their Social Security

9         benefits so they can get into housing.  And

10         sometimes you have to, you know, apply for a

11         birth certificate to then apply for Social

12         Security to then get a Florida ID before you can

13         get a job.  And so sometimes there's a lot of

14         hoops to jump through before you can get

15         yourself off the streets.

16               We've also had people that have stayed out

17         there a week and gotten back on their feet

18         because they just needed a temporary respite.

19               MS. RIGBY:  Right.

20               MR. KIMBREL:  So . . .  And then I've had

21         people that have left and stayed in contact with

22         me, so I get to get follow-ups on how they're

23         doing.  And then I've had people that have left

24         in the middle of the night without telling me

25         and I've never heard from them again, so, I

63



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 63

1         mean -- so that's why I say yes to all of the

2         above.

3               MS. RIGBY:  And then do y'all assist them

4         with getting back on their feet or do you give

5         them some direction?  You know, go talk to these

6         people or go see these people, as far as

7         assisting them?

8               MR. KIMBREL:  Yes.  Yes, ma'am.

9               So we -- we depend greatly on other

10         organizations that focus on assisting in certain

11         areas.  So if someone's needing Social Security

12         benefits, we help point them in the direction of

13         who they need to go talk to and -- and tell them

14         what they need, so that's part of the interview

15         process that I have, is assessing what their

16         needs are, and -- you know, and then point them

17         in the directions.

18               I sometimes help out with giving people

19         rides to doctors' appointments or, you know,

20         meetings with attorneys.  You know, whatever it

21         is their need is, I try to help facilitate that

22         for them.

23               But there's a fine line between assistance

24         and enablement, so, like, we try to keep a good

25         balance there of -- of not enabling people to,

64



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 64

1         you know . . . to get -- get lazy with it.

2         Like, we -- we want them to continue motivation.

3         We want them to be empowered to get themselves

4         out of homelessness, not have me get them out of

5         homelessness.

6               MS. RIGBY:  Right.  And apparently you've

7         been, if you will, manager of the site for a

8         couple of years?

9               MR. KIMBREL:  Since its inception.

10               MS. RIGBY:  Since its inception.  Okay.

11               MR. KIMBREL:  Yes, ma'am.

12               MS. RIGBY:  And . . .  I guess that's all.

13         That's all my questions right now.  Thank you.

14               MR. KIMBREL:  You're very welcome.

15               MS. GUND:  I've got a question.  So the

16         little rectangular piece that's jutting out that

17         you don't own, you've got permission to build a

18         road through there?

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  We have legal

20         access across and through that property in the

21         deed, so we have an easement over that entire

22         strip from the -- if you were to square it off

23         at the -- you know, right there.

24               If you were to square off here, all that

25         whole strip, we have an easement over that

65



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 65

1         entire strip, so we just simply -- the road is

2         where it is because it's the first turn past --

3         there's a -- there was an old fence.  Most of

4         the fence is still there.  It's kind of fenced

5         off.  But it's heavily bambooed and heavily

6         vegetated.  But, yes, we have -- we have access

7         over that.

8               Now, the property owner is -- has cleared

9         some of that strip because, you know, it's --

10         again, it's a nice wooded area, and that strip

11         takes you down to the water, the literal water,

12         not just the -- you can see where the wetland

13         marsh is at the very end of it, so.  Fishing

14         path.

15               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other questions of

16         the applicant?

17               MR. CASEY:  I'm just curious.  Does the

18         services that are provided, does that require a

19         business license?

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  You're directing it to

21         counsel?

22               MR. CASEY:  To whoever.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Kimbrel, does it

24         require any licensing, I believe, is the

25         question?

66



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 66

1               MR. KIMBREL:  Not -- not to my knowledge.

2         I don't believe so.  And . . .  I guess I need

3         to be mic'd.

4               Not to my knowledge.  I believe the reason

5         it doesn't require licensing is because there's

6         no commerce taking place.  I'm not charging any

7         of the residents to stay there, so because

8         there -- I'm not having them work for their stay

9         or pay me any money.  There's no business

10         transaction.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  And Mr. Casey, if I could

12         clarify, was the question to the services of

13         providing rides and directing to Social Security

14         or was it directed to the issue the operating of

15         the camp?

16               MR. CASEY:  Just in general.

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  And that was --

18         goes to the issue of what I was saying, that we

19         went through the licensing process through the

20         State of Florida.  And that was the letter,

21         again, that we got that indicated that a license

22         was not required for that, that we were doing.

23               And, in fact, that's exactly what the --

24         what the letter says.  And if I could -- and I

25         made copies.  I'll provide a copy.  Of course,

67



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 67

1         the staff has a copy of that.

2               But Mr. Chairman, with your permission,

3         I'll provide -- this is the letter that we

4         received.  And I have a copy for Mr. Casey.

5               MR. CASEY:  Thank you, sir.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  And that is the letter about

7         the license that -- permission that the State of

8         Florida says.  And the indication was from the

9         Florida Department of Health, is that we did not

10         need a license.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  Is that it,

12         Jesse?

13               MR. CASEY:  Yes, sir.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Are you okay?

15               Any other questions from the board?  Any

16         question from staff of the applicant?

17               I'm sorry, Fred.

18               MR. GANT:  Procedure -- procedurally, can

19         we -- can we call major hearsay -- hearsay at an

20         informal -- informal hearing -- hearsay accepted

21         in these proceedings?

22               MS. HUAL:  It is at their discretion.  If

23         you wish to entertain the testimony and how you

24         want to deal with it, whether you want to accept

25         it as evidence is up to you.  And you'll judge

68



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 68

1         their credibility.

2               MR. GANT:  Thank you.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions of

4         the applicant at this point?

5               MR. HOLMER:  No.  I was just going to

6         proceed with staff's opening.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  If you'd like to make

8         your presentation, please.

9               MR. HOLMER:  Sure.

10               MR. ROBINSON:  Even though I'm abstaining

11         from the vote, can I ask questions?  I have a

12         couple of questions.

13               MS. HUAL:  You may participate.  However,

14         you should disclose your conflict.

15               MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.  My conflict here,

16         why I'm not -- or why I will be abstaining has

17         to do with where I work.

18               We potentially have a relationship with

19         Sean's Outpost, so I have to abstain from voting

20         for that reason.

21               With regards to the road and cutting

22         through the easement, paving that road, will

23         that cause -- is that something that is going to

24         cause -- I mean, obviously it's an undue

25         hardship, paving the entire road.

69



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 69

1               But cutting through that other person's

2         property, is that something that's going to be

3         able to be done or does that open up a whole new

4         permitting and requesting and hearing process

5         for you?

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Robinson, in answer to

7         your question, I don't know what the engineering

8         difficulties will be.  There will be engineering

9         challenges.

10               As you can see, that -- you know, that

11         road is running alongside that -- close to that

12         wetland line, so I don't know the engineering.

13         But I can address the legal issues, and that is,

14         we legally have permission across that entire

15         strip for access, for use.

16               We couldn't -- we couldn't -- we couldn't

17         do anything that would infringe on the use and

18         enjoyment of the strip for its property owner.

19         We do not own the fee, but it is burdened by an

20         access, by -- by an easement, which is the

21         entire -- that entire strip.

22               MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  So we legally can build a

24         road over it.  We're legally using it now, and

25         it wouldn't -- it would require coordination,

70



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 70

1         but it would not require another, I would hope,

2         lawsuit.

3               MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  All right.  Staff's

5         presentation, please.

6               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  Can we

7         swear in Mr. Jones, please.

8                          - - -

9                       HORACE JONES

10         upon being duly affirmed, was examined and

11         testified as follows:

12                          - - -

13               MR. HOLMER:  All right.  Andrew Holmer,

14         Development Services Department.

15               So we're here today with an administrative

16         appeal.  It's a unique thing that comes to this

17         board.  Doesn't happen very often.

18               The standards that need to be met are

19         different from those that you see every month

20         with a variance or conditional use.

21               Something else I need to -- unusual.  You

22         know, your normal variance case, you basically

23         have two sides.  You have the county and you

24         have the applicant.

25               An appeal like this is unusual, in that

71



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 71

1         you essentially have three sides, if I can try

2         to make sense of that.  We have an applicant.

3         We have an applicant that is seeking to find a

4         way to help an underserved part of our

5         community.  And he's trying to do it in a way

6         that he feels will provide the most help without

7         providing harm to the neighboring properties.

8               Yes, the state is -- they license

9         campgrounds.  Okay.  Our Land Development Code

10         also has criteria for campgrounds.  This

11         property is zoned HCL, heavy commercial, light

12         industrial.

13               It's an allowed use.  Campgrounds are an

14         allowed use.  But with any change of use, you

15         need to go through DRC.  And I'll go into that

16         process.

17               The other side here is the neighbors.  And

18         we have quite a few who have shown up.  Excuse

19         me.  I'm assuming a number of these are the

20         neighbors.

21               Look:  They're in a position of having no

22         guarantees that this camp will have no adverse

23         impact on their property, their way of life,

24         property values.  I mean, for most folks, your

25         home is your biggest investment.  That's --

72



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 72

1         There's some strong emotions involved on that

2         side.

3               Same with the applicant.  Here's -- he

4         wants to do -- to help, so obviously there's

5         emotion on that side as well.

6               But the third side in this case is the

7         county.  We're the reviewing agency.  Okay.  We

8         issue permits for a change of use.  We issue

9         permits based on a development order.

10               We, the county staff, in our review we

11         have to distance ourselves from any sort of

12         emotional appeal.  You know, we have to be the

13         black and white, rather like our Land

14         Development Code.

15               As I tell this board all the time, our

16         Land Development Code is black and white.

17         There's no shade of gray for the staff.  It

18         either meets the requirements or it doesn't.

19               We have a -- Mr. Robinson, you had

20         mentioned in your comments the paving being an

21         undue hardship.  We have -- we have kind of a

22         philosophy here we follow at the county, where

23         there's one set of rules that applies to

24         everyone every time.  Black and white.  Doesn't

25         mean yes or no.

73



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 73

1               Does everyone have to go through this?

2         You know, everybody goes through this, the same

3         requirements.  And the requirements in this, our

4         code does give us conditions that have to be

5         followed.

6               And they're in your package.  Let me pull

7         that package.  So we have -- we have a section

8         from the code in here.  And it goes through

9         those specific requirements, if you will go to

10         the first couple pages there.  Of the -- You

11         know, what we've got them on there, if you can

12         go to the next -- come on down.  Come on down.

13         Up, up, up.

14               Compliance review.  Okay.  This is what's

15         in your package.  This is what -- this is the

16         code that was taken -- the section that was

17         taken out of the code that refers to

18         administrative appeals.

19               So with a variance, you know, you have

20         your criteria based on unique physical hardship

21         on the land, et cetera.

22               So for this one, as it says there,

23         straight from the code, BOA shall conduct this

24         quasi-judicial public hearing to consider the

25         appeal.

74



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 74

1               Applicant has the burden of presenting

2         competent substantial evidence to you that

3         establishes each of the following conditions.

4               First one being, arbitrary or capricious.

5         At previous hearings, I gave you the state

6         definition.  I'll do that again, if you'll go to

7         the next slide.

8               Essentially, with their needing to prove

9         on this case is that the staff's denial -- the

10         staff decision to deny was either arbitrary or

11         capricious, essentially saying that there was

12         no -- no logic behind it, there was no -- no

13         basis in the code for our -- the denial.

14               If you'll scroll down.  Next one being

15         Land Development Code noncompliance.  And once

16         again, the burden is on the applicant.  You

17         know, the county did what it did.  They're

18         appealing the decision of the county.

19               So essentially, was the -- was the county

20         appropriate in their decision?  What -- did it

21         follow the LDC?  Is there an adverse impact to

22         this applicant by the way of the county

23         following the LDC, like we do for everyone else?

24         Look:  Our process is very simple.  You come for

25         your development review.  You meet the code.

75



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 75

1         Development order's issued.  You proceed.

2               Protected interest.  Again, all interests

3         are protected the same, whether comp plan, LDC.

4         Individual property owners, we use the same

5         standards for all every time.

6               Greater impact.  This last one -- it kind

7         of filters into situations where we've had --

8         the county approved the development order, and a

9         neighbor or someone will come up to object to

10         the approval.

11               It keeps bringing us back to the same

12         thing, one set of rules, and the black and white

13         reality of if a project comes through

14         development review, it meets all the

15         requirements, hey, we issue the development

16         order.  If it doesn't meet all the requirements,

17         it results in a denial.

18               Now, you know, as I said, staff is outside

19         the emotional realm on this.  The denial is not

20         based on the idea.  It's based on the submitted

21         plan.  It wasn't denied by the staff saying,

22         "Well, this could meet the code," or the

23         applicant saying, "Look:  Well, we could do

24         this."

25               It's what was done.  Did that submission

76



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 76

1         meet the code as it was submitted?  Yes or no.

2         You know, the idea of a campground, yes, we --

3         we're fitting this there.

4               It's not a residential use.  The way our

5         code defines a residential use, it falls under

6         campground.  Therefore, it's reviewed that way.

7               Is there an option?  Mr. Dunaway brought

8         up the idea of conditional conditions added to

9         approvals.  You do see conditions added to

10         approvals quite often.  You do on a development

11         order.

12               But when you see a condition for approval,

13         it's along the lines of "wetlands to remain

14         undisturbed."  For whatever reason, this site,

15         your special condition, you're limited to X

16         amount of signage; you are required to have

17         certain hours or something.

18               It's not a condition -- something that

19         would need to be on the face of the site plan.

20         The all-weather surface.  And the county looks

21         at an all-weather surface as saying, "Hey, it's

22         a hard-driving surface."  Okay.  It's an

23         improved surface.

24               It's not just dirt: asphalt, concrete,

25         gravel, shell.  It's something designed to

77



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 77

1         ensure that adequate runoff is taken care of

2         through stormwater provision under normal

3         rainfall.  You know, it's not going to erode

4         away without -- you know, it's the kind of

5         surface that's not going to deteriorate under

6         your average rainfall, like a dirt road would.

7               The problem we on the staff side would

8         have making something like that a special

9         condition, where the development order would

10         say, "Okay.  It's approved, with the condition

11         that you then come back and make this an

12         all-weather surface."  We can't do that.

13               An all-weather surface brings in at that

14         point runoff.  When you get runoff, now we're

15         going into the stormwater issues.  There has to

16         be a separate technical review on that.

17               The plan submitted on the first page of

18         the plan, there are no calculations at all for

19         stormwater runoff.

20               The DRC can't approve a plan saying,

21         "Well, eventually you're going to put something

22         on there.  It's going to cause stormwater.  We

23         don't know how much, but we're going to sign off

24         anyway."  The county cannot do that.

25               Something else that comes in.  Once you

78



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 78

1         start looking in that direction . . . just do

2         the regular site plan, if you would.

3               Mr. Walter's comments did reflect that,

4         Okay.  If . . . you know, he did mention the

5         idea that an all-weather surface, the width of

6         it may be reduced to 16 feet.  That was approved

7         through -- by our fire safety folks.  They

8         wanted to make sure they could get in there.  If

9         it's an all-weather surface, they wanted 16

10         feet.

11               There is a fire hydrant at a nearby

12         corner, so they weren't worried about having to

13         get water.  They knew they had the hydrant.  But

14         the idea of going -- as a condition, an

15         all-weather surface besides stormwater, it kicks

16         in some other things.

17               Mr. Walter's last comment on there was to

18         please on the site plan delineate the area of

19         the access easement.  It's right here on the

20         deed for Sean's Outpost.  And it delineates that

21         area, if you would, that Mr. Dunaway was

22         referring to.

23               I plat out the legal description.  That's

24         it.  Okay.  That is that 25-foot access easement

25         granted to the Sean's Outpost property.  They

79



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 79

1         have the right to access that.  They have the

2         right to cross it.

3               That needs to be shown on our development

4         record plan.  It was not.  We cannot grant a

5         development order saying, "Well, sure.

6         Everything's good."  You know, anybody else

7         would tell them to follow the procedure and

8         label that, but "we're not going to do that in

9         this case."

10               We don't do that.  One set of rules for

11         everybody every time.  The easement?  There may

12         be issues there with paving that.  The deed for

13         the Sean's Outpost property clearly says

14         "permanent access easement."  Doesn't say

15         anything about an all-weather surface.

16               The county would have issues at that point

17         of saying, "Well, you have an easement.  You

18         have the right to cross.  We're going to want

19         you to develop on someone else's property."  The

20         other folks own the piece of property.

21               The county cannot say to an owner, "Well,

22         you have an easement across someone's property.

23         We're going to demand you develop that

24         property." We have to have -- the other folks

25         have to sign off on that being done.  So these

80



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 80

1         are other issues that start kicking in when we

2         start looking at an all-weather surface.

3               You know, other things on the plan.  At

4         the DRC meeting, all the focus was on the

5         roadway and the fact that it wasn't shown on the

6         plan.

7               There's other things that weren't shown on

8         the plan that had been discussed through the

9         various times of the submittal.  Buffering

10         requirements.  Heavy commercial, light

11         industrial.  We require a buffer between that

12         and residential uses.

13               On the plan, it's shown as a 10-foot

14         buffer.  Just says, "10-foot buffer."

15               Land Development Code calls for a 20-foot

16         buffer, with a Schedule C planting.  That's a

17         specific delineation of, say, for every hundred

18         feet you need to put this number, this type of

19         tree, this type of bush, et cetera.  It's very

20         specific.  We require these things to be on a

21         plan for everybody.

22               On here it's just shown as 10 foot.

23         There's a note on there that says to look at

24         page C-3 for the buffer requirements.  Page C-3

25         of the plan shows the driveway at Massachusetts.

81



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 81

1         It shows the requirements for that.

2               And it's got two sketches off to the side

3         showing the requirements for planting -- for

4         planting a bush or for planting a tree, not a --

5         okay -- like we require with everyone else, a

6         full listing:  We're going to use Schedule C.

7         Here's what it entails.

8               We ask everyone to put these things on a

9         site plan.  It's not -- we're not calling out on

10         one project.  We go this way with everything.

11               You know, our . . . our staff, the

12         county -- our point here is pretty basic.  If a

13         project comes in and meets the requirements,

14         we're going to approve it.  If it doesn't, it's

15         going to be denied.

16               The conditions that we're allowed to

17         approve with conditions are not going to be

18         things that kick in other technical reviews

19         because we have no certainty on that.

20               We have no certainty that if the

21         all-weather surface, when that goes in, is the

22         stormwater -- what are the calculations?  We

23         don't know.  Our engineer hasn't gone through

24         that.  We don't have anything given to us to

25         move with that.

82



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 82

1               Is that going to affect the wetland area?

2         Is there additional environmental review?  We

3         don't know.  There is a lot of uncertainty

4         there.  We cannot approve a development order

5         with that level of uncertainty, not with

6         something that is required to be shown on the

7         plan.  It keeps coming back to one rule, one

8         rule for everybody.

9               So the applicant is seeking to overturn

10         that denial.  This board -- this board has some

11         powers when it comes to administrative appeal.

12         This board has the power of essentially the

13         official that approved or denied the plan that's

14         out there.

15               Part of that, though, is the idea that

16         while you have the power to overturn, this board

17         does not have the power to come through and

18         say -- in fact, I'll read it here from the code.

19               "The BOA shall have the same authority and

20         responsibility to change a decision found to be

21         in error as is given by the LDC to the official

22         who made the decision, but no more.

23               "The board may act only to the extent

24         supported by the established record of evidence

25         and only as necessary to maintain compliance

83



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 83

1         with the LDC and Comprehensive Plan.  The board

2         can not offer opinions or interpretations

3         generally.

4               "The authority of the board to act as the

5         official does not -- does not -- include any

6         authority to diminish or otherwise change the

7         application of any -- any -- technical design

8         standard or specification established or

9         referenced in the LDC."

10               You have the power of the person signing

11         the development order.  You do not have the

12         power to say, "Hey, let's just go ahead.  Let's

13         approve it as is," because we don't know what

14         the technical specifications are.

15               Y'all are a varied group.  You have a

16         varied amount of experience.  You do not have

17         the power of our stormwater engineer to review

18         something that there's no calculations for.

19               So what we're asking, the county, is we're

20         asking you to look at this in sort of a

21         dispassionate sort of way.  Black and white.

22         Did it meet the code?  Yes or no.  Was the

23         county decision to deny correct or not?

24               The denial is based on deficiencies in the

25         submitted plan, the sort of deficiencies that

84



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 84

1         would have resulted in a denial for any other

2         project that came through developer review.

3               It comes down to:  Hey, could this meet?

4         But what was submitted that day?  Did it meet

5         it?  Yes or no.  And that -- that's the county's

6         stand on this.

7               We don't have a lot of leeway here.

8         There's no gray area for the staff.  What was

9         submitted that day, the decision was made.  Did

10         it meet the code?  Yes or no.  It did not.  It

11         was denied.

12               That's the staff's opening.

13               We'll move on from there, if you have

14         questions.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  I've got a couple of

16         questions for you.

17               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

18               MR. STROMQUIST:  When I'm looking at this

19         whole project, are you telling us that we as the

20         board could not say the initial submission

21         without a paved road is approvable or do we have

22         to include a condition of a paved road into

23         anything that we would yea or nay?

24               MR. HOLMER:  You can only act to the

25         extent for compliance with the LDC.

85



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 85

1               MR. STROMQUIST:  What I'm saying is,

2         initially they put in an application that didn't

3         have a paved road; right?

4               MR. HOLMER:  There were multiple site plan

5         submittals.  Let me -- You know what I should

6         do?  I should tell how the DRC works.  I'm

7         sorry.

8               Development Review Committee.  Here's how

9         this works:  Someone turns in a site plan.  It

10         gets reviewed by the various disciplines that

11         look at a site plan for approval.

12               Yes, you have planning.  You have access,

13         fire department, stormwater, environmental,

14         health department.  Anybody that needs to review

15         it does so.

16               When those reviewers look at it, they

17         generate a list of comments.  They say, "Here's

18         what the LDC says about what you want to do.

19         Please show this.  Please provide this," et

20         cetera, et cetera, on your drawing.

21               The first submittal usually doesn't have

22         everything on it, and it didn't in this case.

23               The second plan submitted didn't have

24         everything on it.  In fact, it didn't have some

25         of the things that were first requested.

86



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 86

1               The third submittal.  They're coming in

2         for their final.  They want to get their

3         development order.  That's the end game here of

4         development review is, you turn in your plan

5         that meets all those conditions that were

6         requested.  You get a development order that

7         allows you to pull permits, and move on.

8               The final submittal was missing a number

9         of these things that had been mentioned all

10         along.  Some of them, sure, it may sound petty.

11         You know, hatching the easement or describe --

12         you know, labeling that buffer, giving us on the

13         sheet exactly what the plan schedule is for that

14         20-foot buffer, not 10.  Those may seem like

15         nitpicky things compared to the idea of the road

16         and everything that it would kick in.

17               We require those of everyone, though.  We

18         ask the same of every single applicant.  Those

19         things were not shown on the site plan.  That

20         gets us to this point.

21               It's:  Did the plan that comes in that --

22         came in meet the requirements of the LDC?

23               This board is being asked:  Does this --

24         did the denial, was it based in fact on the

25         code?

87



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 87

1               Here's what the reviewer said.  Here's

2         their -- they give their references to the code

3         sections.  Were those things on there?  No.  A

4         number of these weren't.  That's what this board

5         is left with.  Did it meet it?  Yes or no.

6               MR. STROMQUIST:  And I guess my question:

7         You talk about stormwater runoff, but there

8         wouldn't be a problem unless you put a paved

9         road in there.

10               So at current conditions, the way they're

11         using this, there is no stormwater runoff

12         problem?

13               MR. HOLMER:  There might be.  We don't

14         know.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  But there hasn't been one

16         indicated is what I'm getting at.

17               MR. HOLMER:  Once again, we don't know.

18         The reviewer mentioned, you know, in his

19         comments the all-weather surface for the trucks

20         going in and out to access the portalets.

21               MR. STROMQUIST:  They do that now; right?

22               MR. HOLMER:  Yes.  Yes.  But to come in

23         for -- to come in through development review,

24         once again, it's not could it meet it or is

25         what's currently going on there.

88



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 88

1               They're requesting a change of use.  If

2         you're requesting a change of use, you're going

3         from what you're doing to what is approved by

4         the Land Development Code.

5               If the code is requiring you to meet a

6         certain condition, like in this case an

7         all-weather surface, that's what we're dealing

8         with.  Yes, the all-weather surface then kicks

9         in all these other reviews.

10               Once again, those -- there's no stormwater

11         calculation.  The road is labeled as a dirt

12         road.  What's required and what was provided

13         that they needed to require is not on the plan.

14         That's why it was denied.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  So you're telling me that

16         no matter what our decision is, this still has

17         got more hoops to jump through?

18               MR. HOLMER:  The hoops were not all jumped

19         through at the time that this was presented for

20         development order approval.  Because the hoops

21         were not jumped through, it was denied.

22               This board can overturn a denial of any

23         official action that falls under your --

24               MR. STROMQUIST:  Right.

25               MR. HOLMER:  Requirements.  But the

89



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 89

1         section is telling you you cannot overturn some

2         sort of technical specification.

3               You cannot say, "Well, we don't think this

4         should follow the code."

5               It's down to, really, an appeal.  It's

6         not:  Let's argue about these performance

7         standards.  It comes down to:  Was the county's

8         denial arbitrary and capricious, really?

9         That's -- that's really what it comes down to at

10         the end of the day.

11               Was the denial just pulled out of thin air

12         or does that denial -- did that denial have

13         basis in the Land Development Code?  That's

14         really what we're talking about today, not the

15         two emotional sides.

16               I mean, I understand that, but we have no

17         option to go there.  We don't want to go there.

18         It's not our business, the emotional side of

19         things.  We're black and white.  Did it meet it?

20         Yes or no.

21               Board, here's what's being appealed.

22         Based on the code, was the decision just

23         arbitrary?  Because if it was, sure, it could be

24         overturned easily.  But it was not.  It was

25         based on the code.  We don't -- the staff does

90



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 90

1         not have wiggle room to make judgment calls on

2         this.  It's black and white.

3               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  I want to say

4         something.  I've been -- I've done construction

5         plans, been a land developer 15 years.  I've

6         been through the DRC process.  It is a tedious

7         process.

8               My concern right now is that I don't think

9         that the board is getting the full understanding

10         of the DRC process.  And it may be that y'all

11         can help us clarify this.

12               When you submit a site plan, which

13         whenever I submitted one, it was usually for a

14         subdivision, regular subdivision.  Had roads,

15         had stormwater.  We had footprints of houses,

16         covenants, all that kind of stuff.

17               And the first submittal -- we would have a

18         preapplication.  The first submittal, we would

19         get a lot of comments back, and they were

20         standard comments that everybody gets.

21               And as -- as we submit or we discuss or we

22         adjust the comments based on our subdivision, we

23         work with the county saying, "Well, you know,

24         you said 10 feet.  Could we have 7 feet, or the

25         stormwater you wanted here, can we put it more

91



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 91

1         to the north or to the south?" We are in

2         constant conversation with the staff and their

3         different departments, if you will.

4               And then we get to the final.  And we

5         label everything that they wanted us to label.

6         And sometimes we bend over backwards, that some

7         of the items are what I would consider

8         rudimentary.

9               It sounds to me like maybe what was in the

10         beginning in the first plan switched to what it

11         is today, what was submitted in the final, as

12         far -- as I don't know if it's use.  I don't

13         know if it's -- what you call it.  Not a

14         residential area but now a campground.

15         Therefore, it's reviewed differently.

16               What I would like to know is -- because

17         this road, did it come in the last minute

18         saying, "Oh, by the way, we need a road"?  Was

19         it in the beginning?  Was it discussed in the

20         beginning, which is where it should have been,

21         that this will need to be an all-weather road,

22         and you will need to show it as a all-weather

23         surface that needs to be 16 feet wide, so forth,

24         and so on?

25               We have engineering plans from -- I think

92



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 92

1         it's Landmark, well-known engineering survey

2         firm in the area.  This isn't done on a piece of

3         paper.  This is done by, I'm assuming, an

4         engineer and survey work who had probably gone

5         through the DRC process before.  So this isn't

6         something that -- wasn't just drawn on a piece

7         of paper.

8               It was probably given to these engineers,

9         and they probably went step by step because it's

10         time-consuming and it's tedious, and it can get

11         very expensive.

12               I guess what we need to know is, what were

13         the beginning comments?  What changed?  When did

14         the road come into play?  When was it an

15         all-weather surface that was 16 feet wide?  When

16         did that come into play?

17               MR. JONES:  That came into play -- Horace

18         Jones, Director for Development.

19               The chronological order is -- and Mr.

20         Dunaway stated -- is very, very long.  It's been

21         a very, very lengthy process.

22               If my memory serves me correctly now, Mr.

23         Will Dunaway -- they were aware of this

24         all-weather surface requirement earlier in the

25         stages, and I think he can state that.

93



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 93

1               MS. RIGBY:  For the application process,

2         or review?

3               MR. JONES:  During -- during our

4         initial -- during our initial going back and

5         forth with the reviews.  And they were aware of

6         the issue, going back and forth with that issue.

7         Before we got to this point, we were -- they

8         were aware of it.

9               Now -- now, there was some -- there was

10         some going back and forth trying to -- trying to

11         expert -- we were trying to help them out

12         because of the financial concerns, but the code

13         still spoke so heavily.

14               The requirements of the Land Development

15         Code must be met.  During all of this process,

16         there was a special magistrate hearing in the

17         middle of this process.

18               And Mr. Will Dunaway can attest to that.

19         And at that special magistrate hearing, the

20         direction was with staff to furnish them all of

21         the necessary comments again.  And they'll be

22         working -- and we did that.

23               As a matter of fact, we sent the comments

24         to Mr. Dunaway again.  And to -- and at the time

25         that they submitted, they were given a certain

94



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 94

1         date to -- to submit to try to bring closure to

2         this to the special magistrate.  I don't know if

3         you got a copy of that, but stated that we need

4         to bring closure to this with the DRC process.

5         So . . . and that helped us all.

6               So when that special magistrate order was

7         made -- to try to get those comments to Mr.

8         Dunaway and his client.  That was submitted -- I

9         believe I'm saying this correctly.  I think the

10         record shows it was Mark Spitznagle, Landmark.

11               Staff again -- they determined --

12         submitted the comments to him because in the

13         letter that Mr. Will Dunaway submitted, the day

14         he submitted the plan stated that.  Mr. -- On

15         the letter, that Mr. Mark Spitznagle -- can we

16         see all of the comments?

17               And we did.  And we submitted that.  So

18         during the initial stage -- like you said, it

19         was pre-op.  But during the initial stage, it

20         takes -- we go back and forth, back and forth to

21         try to make sure we get the Land Development

22         viewpoint.  And the many -- many times special

23         magistrate order, that helped us to really,

24         really direct them to get to a landing point and

25         staff to get to a landing point.

95



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 95

1               So -- so -- so they were aware of the

2         comments on all-weather surface.  They were

3         aware of that -- of that being -- of that -- and

4         I think Mr. -- he stated that fact, that they

5         were aware of it.

6               But the issue for them is we do not -- we

7         asked staff and Mr. -- you stated very

8         eloquently and very, very, very, very, very

9         professional that we have to separate ourselves

10         from the emotional side of it.

11               But their problem is, "Mr. Jones," he told

12         me many times -- talking about Mr. Kimbrel --

13         "We don't have the funds."  But the code does

14         not look at that.  The code looks at the

15         letter -- of what the letter of the code

16         requires.

17               And access management -- stormwater.  And

18         when they submitted those plans, there's

19         nothing -- we saw what the plans, the dirt --

20         dirt-dry was wet.  You need to try to -- let's

21         go back and forth, see if we can -- again, you

22         can try to get that worked out.

23               But the day of when it came closer and

24         closer to the BOA or to the -- to the step 28, I

25         believe that was the DRC denial, my memory.  I

96



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 96

1         think that was the submitted -- October was when

2         I think was one of them.  They still wasn't

3         there until the last minute I heard again in Mr.

4         Dunaway on -- on this particular issue.  And

5         that's why it was denied.

6               Yes, this has been a very lengthy process

7         to try to bring closure to this point.  The

8         use -- and I think Mr. -- the use has -- was

9         already basically classified an order through

10         with the help of the special magistrate, that,

11         yes, this is a commercial review.  It's not

12         residential.

13               It's not -- it's not normal.  But as he

14         stated as a matter of factly, that it's not a

15         residential use.  That use was already -- that's

16         what we require for any commercial development.

17         Requires a site plan review process.  And that's

18         why they are in this process, trying to go

19         through it.

20               And we -- we work and try to get to the

21         point where at least give the staff all the

22         information to review.  And the road was not

23         there, which, as you know, trigger stormwater.

24               And all those comments were mentioned,

25         but -- and I think he stated for the record that

97



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 97

1         we just didn't have the funds.  But we cannot

2         look at that, regardless of how much it --

3         passionate they may be about it.

4               And I think we stated this board have to

5         look at:  Was the decision to deny it, was it

6         based on requirements of the design study

7         manual, which is definitely part of the Land

8         Development Code?

9               And that's the reason why it was denied,

10         based upon those status.  Yes, very lengthy,

11         very long, but we had to get to this point for

12         closure.

13               And that is where we are at this point

14         today, from the direction of the special

15         magistrate trying to comply with that special

16         magistrate order, and trying to follow through

17         so that they'll know to bring closure to this

18         issue from the site plan review site.

19               MR. STROMQUIST:  Horace, what would happen

20         if we agree that they had to put in the

21         all-purpose road and you guys have denied their

22         permit?

23               Where do they go from here?  I mean,

24         there's a -- I don't want something that all of

25         a sudden they have no place to go and the site

98



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 98

1         closes down.

2               MR. HOLMER:  Okay.  There's two avenues:

3         One, as with any decision of this board, there's

4         30 days to appeal that to Circuit Court.

5               Two, they have indicated, "Hey, we could

6         meet these requirements."

7               Okay.  If you can meet the requirements,

8         turn in a plan showing that, and then we'll go

9         to the DO stage.  I do not have the -- all the

10         information from the special magistrate's last

11         ruling.  I'm not sure . . .  There was something

12         about time kicking in, but I wasn't the person

13         arguing that case.

14               I don't have the magistrate's ruling, so

15         there may be some things there that need to be

16         followed in that direction.  I believe Mr.

17         Dunaway can address that part.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Sure.

19               MR. HOLMER:  If someone turns in a

20         development order, it doesn't meet the

21         requirements, it gets denied.  That doesn't mean

22         they can't resubmit meeting the requirements.

23               MR. JONES:  And I would add to that, and

24         even if they did, the requirement's still going

25         to be the same.  It's still -- See, that's the

99



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 99

1         thing also, too.  Once you start -- you know,

2         once you start looking at road access, whether

3         it's gravel, dirt -- it cannot be dirt.  It got

4         to be semi-impervious surface, whatever the

5         requirements is in whatever it is.

6               Definitely stormwater.  And then -- and it

7         could -- has the potential of triggering another

8         fire review by fire safety to make sure that

9         whatever that surface is -- this is my

10         understanding, that whatever that surface

11         material is, got to be able to withstand a

12         truck.

13               I'm not the expert.  I know Mr. Will is

14         going to say there's a possibility.  So

15         whatever -- if they -- if there's a decision by

16         this board to remand it back, I don't know if

17         I -- I don't know if that's possible.

18               They're requiring -- the code still going

19         to stand as it stands.  And it may require

20         engineering plans from a -- to do all the

21         stormwater calculations, but that's a fairly

22         lengthy road, as you can see.

23               So -- so -- so -- so -- and that's what --

24         that's why it was denied, based upon -- if -- if

25         there is -- if -- if they feel like that with

100



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 100

1         the whole process was flawed, the courts can

2         decide that, whether or not there was some

3         discrepancy in the Land Development Code.  The

4         courts can -- can -- can -- can -- can -- can

5         work on what else will we need to do -- what we

6         need to do from that point.

7               But the -- the -- the requirements of the

8         Land Development Code still going to speak for

9         itself, even though it may be remanded back, if

10         that's the decision.

11               We still going to -- we still going to

12         have -- meet the same standard.  And it may

13         trigger other reviews.  We just cannot say at

14         that point -- at this point.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  What's the time frame?

16         Say they resubmit it with what you're asking

17         for.  In the meantime, we don't have somebody

18         coming in and kicking everybody out.  I mean,

19         what's going on?

20               MR. HOLMER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Stromquist,

21         but that is where the other side of the house,

22         not the planning development side of the house.

23         That's for the code enforcement side and special

24         magistrate come in.

25               Once again, not having a copy of that

101



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 101

1         ruling, I'd kind of defer that to Mr. Dunaway,

2         if he would like to address how that would

3         factor in.

4               MR. STROMQUIST:  I mean, is it 90-day time

5         frame?  Is it six months?

6               MR. HOLMER:  We -- we don't have one.  Oh,

7         oh.  I think I know where you're going.  If

8         someone's denied a variance, they can't come

9         back for 180 days.  This isn't like that.

10               MR. STROMQUIST:  That's why I wanted to

11         make sure we weren't putting them in limbo for

12         six months.

13               MR. HOLMER:  This doesn't have the same

14         requirement, but I know there was something in

15         that magistrate's ruling that we know is going

16         to play a part.  I just -- I just wasn't a part

17         of that.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, may I -- may I

19         address and respond to Ms. Rigby's question?

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Absolutely.

21               MR. JONES:  For the special magistrate, I

22         have a copy of the order -- of the signed order.

23         If you want to submit that in evidence, I do

24         have a copy of the signed special magistrate

25         order.

102



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 102

1               And -- and -- and I am not -- I am not no

2         lawyer, but I think it's -- it gives three

3         statements on page six, if you want to . . .

4         Mr. Dunaway, which is part of the packet.  I

5         would like to submit -- if possible, I would

6         like to submit a copy of the signed order from

7         Mr. Robert Beasley, special magistrate.

8               (Mr. Robinson left the hearing.)

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, for the

10         record, that's dated 10 August 2016.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.

12               MR. DUNAWAY:  A seven-page document.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We need a motion from

14         the board to accept this.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  Make a motion to accept

16         the document.

17               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Got a motion from Bill.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  No objection.

19               MS. GUND:  Second.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a second.

21               Those in favor, signify by raising your

22         right hand.

23               (All board members hands raised.)

24               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Passes unanimously.

25               Let the minutes reflect that Mark

103



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 103

1         Robinson, board member, was excused to depart.

2               We maintain a quorum.

3               MR. HOLMER:  And we're going to label this

4         as -- we'll call it Staff Exhibit 1, for

5         purposes of adding it.

6               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That's fine.

7               MR. GANT:  Question, Mr. Chairman.

8         Essentially, are we allowed to supplement the

9         record?  Can we submit an exhibit?  Can our

10         staff do that?  The plaintiff?  Or does it --

11         that procedure -- showing that -- submit the

12         exhibit into evidence?

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I think the motion

14         covered that.

15               MR. GANT:  Okay.

16               MR. JONES:  But I -- I want to -- I want

17         to clarify for the record, to preserve the

18         record, the order was October -- August.

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  August 10th.

20               MR. JONES:  August 10, 2016.  That's

21         the -- and there was an amended order with some

22         changes, minor changes -- minor submissions.

23         That was September 7, 2016.  So I would like to

24         submit both of these orders, both the special

25         magistrate order and the amended order, as is

104



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 104

1         evidenced in the record.

2               MR. GANT:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Dunaway

3         being -- as submitted is correct.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  No objection.  Thank you,

5         Mr. Chairman record.

6               MR. GANT:  Reflect that also.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, may I

9         address --

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Ms. Rigby really did cut

12         through the three years of my life very

13         succinctly in that process.

14               If we were developing a subdivision, we'd

15         be done, you know, except for the fact that, you

16         know, I'd be working for a developer that

17         doesn't have any money.

18               But beyond that, we understand that.  We

19         know how to build roads, put in infrastructure,

20         build a house at the end of it.  We know how to

21         do that.  We know what the code says on that.

22         Staff knows what the code -- what the code says

23         on that.

24               Staff does not know what the code says

25         about doing nothing.  That is, we came to them

105



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 105

1         and said, "We don't want to do anything.  We're

2         not building anything.  We're not going to do

3         anything.  It's -- it's our property."

4               We just want people -- people wander up.

5         They go through the process that Mr. Kimbrel

6         just explained to you.  We'd like to have them

7         to say, "You may stay here.  It's our property.

8         You may -- you may have a safe place to be."

9               That's what we're doing.  That's the thing

10         we were doing.  And we went through just endless

11         discussion about, well, what does that mean?  Is

12         that a land use change?  Ms. Rigby knows this.

13               We're not building anything.  If we're

14         building a building back there, we'd have to get

15         access back to it.  We know how to do that.  We

16         were trying to simply get a use.

17               Importantly -- and this is important.

18         You've already heard staff admit and say that

19         this is an allowed use.  The code allows this

20         use.  This is an allowed use on this particular

21         zoning area.

22               Now the question is, now what?  And this

23         is the concern.  And there is the process.  And

24         this is why you have pointed out we didn't

25         submit for anything.

106



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 106

1               We -- in fact, we argued for a year Ms.

2         Rigby, and Mr. Chairman, and this board -- we

3         argued for a year with the county that we don't

4         need a permit.  We're simply there.  It's our

5         property, and people are there.  What is that?

6               And I will -- I will say -- and I'm going

7         to submit this -- but this was -- Mr. Jones

8         provided this to you because I -- you know, I

9         asked him, and he'd hopefully provide it.  And

10         he signed it on July 6, 2016, the summer,

11         because by that time we were under the gun with

12         the code enforcement because we had to get

13         something going.

14               We didn't have the time that you -- you

15         know, going back and forth in some form of

16         substance, label it, and do the trees, and then

17         hashmark it.  We were done.  Magistrate said,

18         "Do it.  You got to be done."

19               But here's the document.  I'm going to

20         present the whole document, but I -- I want to

21         just read for you what gets to the point that

22         you're saying.

23               In the second paragraph, it says, "Given

24         that an application is a request to obtain

25         required county approval of a regulated land

107



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 107

1         use, your letter -- and it says "the letter."

2         He was referring to my letter.  I had actually

3         sent a letter, out of frustration to the county

4         administrator and said, "I'm not doing anything.

5         We're not trying -- we're not asking permission

6         to do anything.  What is it we're supposed to

7         do?"

8               And he said, "Your letter's assertion of a

9         request to do nothing" -- because I had said,

10         "We're not doing anything."

11               "Your assertion of a request to do nothing

12         and not develop is contrary to the submission of

13         an application to permit a regulated use."  No;

14         I know.  I agree with Mr. Jones.  It was a

15         catch-22.

16               If truly nothing is proposed, then nothing

17         requires review and approval.  But the "nothing"

18         in quotes that is proposed to be done is the

19         something that has already been done.

20               That is the doing of something prior to

21         approval does not make a subsequent request to

22         obtain approval a request to do nothing.  At a

23         minimum, such a request is to approve what has

24         been done.

25               I mean, that's what I'm trying to get

108



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 108

1         through.  That's what we're trying to say.  Is a

2         road required?  Yes.

3               If we're going to put back a -- and our

4         original fault was, we were going to build a

5         shelter down there.  It was going to be a large

6         area.  We would have a kitchen facility,

7         bathrooms, place -- we -- we were -- that was

8         going to require a road.  Everybody knew that.

9         We knew that.

10               But we don't have any money.  We ran out

11         of money.  That wasn't the process.  So we came

12         back to the county.  We said, "That isn't going

13         to work."

14               And they -- and they go, "Well . . ."  and

15         we said, "We just want to do what we're doing."

16         And you say we have to get permission, so we're

17         going to ask you for permission.

18               And they said, "Well, you got to do a site

19         plan, and you got to pay $859 to submit the site

20         plan."

21               And we said, "Well, what do we put on the

22         site plan?

23               "Well, you know, you gotta get -- you have

24         to get a survey, a wetlands survey.  You know,

25         you gotta, you know, show us where the tents are

109



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 109

1         going to be."

2               Well, the tents move.

3               "Like, give us an idea.  You know, I mean,

4         just tell us something."

5               And then finally -- finally -- and again,

6         you can go to the staff.  They're in a catch-22.

7         They said over and over to you, "Black and

8         white.  We follow the code.  Black and white.

9         We follow the code."

10               I get it.  But you're the shades of gray.

11         You're -- you've the opportunity to say --

12         because they're under the gun, because the

13         magistrate hearing -- because the county put

14         code enforcement saying, "Hey, you don't have

15         permission to be here."

16               Of course we said we didn't need to, but

17         in any event, the special magistrate said,

18         "Look, y'all got to do something.  You gotta be

19         done.  Submit the thing and make it -- get our

20         approval, don't get our approval.  Follow the

21         appeal process if you have to, but come back to

22         me at 90 days afterwards and tell me what's

23         going on."

24               That's why the process ended.  Otherwise,

25         we would be, just like you, Mr. -- we'd still be

110



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 110

1         working with staff.  And -- and again, Mr. Jones

2         is right.  We said -- they said, "You know,

3         look.  Have to build a road back there."

4               Well, we can't do it.  I mean, we can't

5         build a road.  Is that really required?"

6               "Well . . ." and we went, again, back and

7         forth.  I had hope and I still hope, because I

8         want to hear, that we're going to hear this,

9         "It's not arbitrary and capricious that we

10         require a road because if you're not -- it is

11         arbitrary and capricious to require something

12         that's not required."  So I want to get to an

13         issue of exploring that.

14               But if it is that -- if that is the case,

15         then you can condition it.  I know what Mr.

16         Holmer and Mr. Jones are saying.  They're

17         saying, "We can't because we're staff."

18               And again, I understand the position

19         they're in.  They -- they can't bear the burden

20         of signing off on the first homeless shelter in

21         Escambia County to be permitted.  I get that.

22               But you can.  The board -- this board is

23         seven.  You can tell the county, "Hey, you know

24         what?  Under the circumstances, Mr. Kimbrel's

25         explained, and the document that he submitted,

111



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 111

1         and the good work that you've done, and the fact

2         that you've been doing it for three years, and

3         it's a compatible process, and the land use

4         shows that it's an allowable use, and you're not

5         doing anything differently than you've been

6         doing for the last couple of years, absolutely,

7         we're going to check that in the block, and

8         we're going to allow that.

9               You can do that.  That's not a -- that's

10         not beyond your purview.  That's why we're here.

11         That's why there's an appeal process.

12               If it turns out that it's not, then the

13         next step is, I'm going to have to appeal it to

14         the Circuit Court, and we're going to ask a

15         judge to do exactly that.

16               And we're going to say, "Your Honor, we

17         met every objective criteria of the Land

18         Development Code."

19               And he's going to say, "What were you

20         trying to do?"

21               "Nothing."

22               "Really?"

23               And then he's going to say, "Well, why did

24         they deny it?"

25               "Because we didn't hashmark the X, the

112



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 112

1         access area, and -- and we didn't have -- we

2         didn't show an all-purpose road on the plan

3         because we didn't want to build an all-purpose

4         road."

5               And we're going to -- He's going to say --

6         then he's going to follow the criteria of urban,

7         and he's going to go, "Hmm.  Looks like you met

8         the requirements for the issuance.  Was it

9         adverse to the public?"

10               And he's going to find it's not.  He's

11         going to find that it's not because the staff

12         has already told you it's not.  They've already

13         told you that it's not about the homelessness.

14         It's not about a nuisance.  It's not about a

15         problem.  If you -- if it were, we would have

16         already heard that.

17               Then the neighbors are not -- they don't

18         want this there.  I get that.  I understand

19         NIMBY.  I understand "not in my back yard," but

20         that's -- that's different.

21               So what you've asked and what Mr. Holmer

22         has said is that we didn't meet the technical

23         requirement.

24               We did.  In fact, look at the -- Mr.

25         Holmer, where is the board's -- the DRC denial?

113



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 113

1         That's before them, right, in their package?

2         The three-page denial?  The four-page denial?

3               MR. HOLMER:  I've got -- I've got a hard

4         copy right here.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.

6               MR. HOLMER:  I'll put it up on the screen.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  We'll want to make sure that

8         that thing -- let's look at the DRC denial.

9         There's a -- it's a four-page document, and

10         the -- the first standard project conditions --

11         the first seven are just standard project

12         conditions.

13               The second are special project conditions.

14         And -- and they're -- they're listed.  And

15         that's fine.  That's -- you know, again, they're

16         always conditions.

17               It could have been -- you can tell that on

18         page three, if we get it up -- okay.  So -- so

19         this is the -- that's the standard project

20         conditions.  They're always project conditions.

21         These are the standard ones.

22               Go to page three, three of four.  Special

23         project conditions.  There are three special

24         project conditions.  You can tell that number

25         three was -- the first two are always there.

114



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 114

1               Number three was added.  Any further

2         development within the parcel boundaries will

3         require review for compliance with stormwater.

4         Okay.  That's a conditional requirement.

5               So if you find that you need a road, put

6         it as number four.  But look on page four.  Go

7         to page four, the denial.  It was not approved.

8         It was denied.

9               The development plan is denied for the

10         reasons noted below.  Well, note those below.

11         Keep scrolling down.  Exactly.  Exactly.  There

12         isn't any.

13               What's the denial?  And the denial is,

14         well, because we don't want a homeless shelter.

15         We don't want -- we don't want people living in

16         tents out on Sean's Outpost.

17               I don't know.  We've met the objective

18         criteria.  The burden shifts.

19               MR. JONES:  I -- I would like -- I would

20         like to -- I would like to -- we do understand

21         that Mr. Dunaway is applicating for his client.

22         And we're advocating for what was done for the

23         process and the LDC.

24               And again, I believe that this board --

25         Mr. Drew stated very, very, very good.  Was my

115



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 115

1         decision.  What's the Escambia County decision?

2         To deny the development order.

3               Was it arbitrary and capricious?  And I

4         still stand by it.  No, it was not.  This are

5         Land Development Code requirements that were

6         required per the Land Development Code.  Black

7         and white.  Those were not submitted.

8               And no, we cannot approve special project

9         conditions of that magnitude because of the

10         extensive review that is required with

11         stormwater, and for the road, and for access.

12               Yes, we do minor -- very, very minor

13         special project conditions, as we stated, for

14         signs, and then very, very minor, but this Land

15         Development Code of Escambia County, that's not

16         authorized me to.  Those requirements must be

17         reviewed by staff, must be on the site plan,

18         must be reviewed by staff, must be reviewed, and

19         they must meet the Land Development Code

20         before -- and we keep on saying a permit.  This

21         is a development order, which is distinct and

22         different from a permit.

23               In the special -- in the special

24         magistrate hearing -- Again, I know we're

25         arguing over whether or not that letter, which

116



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 116

1         I -- I will like to see that letter, Mr.

2         Dunaway, that -- that -- with my signature.

3               (Mr. Dunaway hands a document to Mr.

4         Jones.)

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  And I would ask -- I have

6         the original, so they can --

7               MR. JONES:  This -- this -- this is not a

8         letter from me.  This is not a signed letter.

9               Again, I would like to say -- say for the

10         record -- be noted, it was noted that it was a

11         signed letter by me.  It is not a signed letter

12         by me at all.

13               I can -- this was -- this is one of my

14         staff members who put together some things to

15         help facilitate this process.  This process.

16               And what was signed was stated that, yes,

17         we gave him -- we gave them some information,

18         information only to help them proceed with the

19         process.

20               I did not write that information.  It was

21         a staff member who I -- I trust emphatically.

22         It was based on internal -- and I guess going

23         back and forth to help you, especially with your

24         location criteria.  This can help you do this.

25               So -- so -- so that's -- and I date the

117



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 117

1         date that I gave it to him.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  And you signed it.

3               MR. JONES:  Yes.  I -- I dated it and I

4         signed it to make sure that he got this, but as

5         far as me stating that, I did not write the

6         content of that.  I did not write the content of

7         that at all.

8               It's just -- yes, I -- I gave the date --

9         I want to make sure I document that you got

10         this.  So -- so -- so -- so -- so I want to

11         clarify that for the record.

12               Now -- now -- now, during the special

13         magistrate hearing, Mr. Will, he made those same

14         remarks and comments because the use.  It shall

15         be here, whatever.

16               The special magistrate stated

17         emphatically -- and it's stated it's on page

18         four, which y'all have a copy.  I would like to

19         read it for the record, Mr. Dunaway.

20               It says, "I agree with the county that the

21         current use by Sean's Outpost constitute a

22         development activity."  So that that same

23         argument that he's been making for many, many,

24         many -- with County Attorneys' Office, with the

25         County Administrator, that -- that it would

118



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 118

1         not -- we're not doing anything.

2               According to the code, you are.  So that's

3         why we got you in this process.

4               And we had -- we had had no one, as far as

5         my staff -- we do not go in with the intention

6         of automatically saying no, unless the code says

7         completely no with the zoning.

8               But with the process, we always like to

9         give people the opportunity, but we had to bring

10         closure from the special magistrate hearing.

11         And this . . . we cannot do this.  We cannot do

12         this.

13               This board -- this process requires you to

14         make a decision.  Was the denial of the permit

15         and -- denial of the development order to -- for

16         sake of clarity, as a development order, was

17         that arbitrary?  Did I -- did we have the

18         grounds to make that denial?  And the code gave

19         us the grounds to make that denial.

20               If they make -- if -- if they want to --

21         if -- whatever their decision is, it will go

22         before a court.  It will be up to the court to

23         make those same assertions and argue that with

24         special magistrate.

25               But the special magistrate hearing is sort

119



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 119

1         of cut and dry.  That they discuss uses.  And --

2         and -- and -- and we cannot -- so are we

3         authorized the -- the -- the -- the staff to

4         make those special project conditions and

5         what's -- the Land Development Code is not

6         giving you the right to do that.  It does not

7         give them the right to do that.

8               That's why we be careful, with the

9         understanding of this board, with your duties

10         and your responsibilities, to make sure that

11         what's my -- it was a decision to deny it.  Was

12         it based upon facts or was it based upon

13         fiction?

14               The requirement is there.  It speaks for

15         itself.  And regrettably, their -- their

16         circumstances, I have -- we have to separate

17         ourselves from that issue.

18               MS. RIGBY:  So based on -- based on the

19         letter that we just saw, the denial letter, what

20         is the basis for the denial?

21               MR. JONES:  The basis for the denial,

22         which is -- which is -- Mr. Dunaway was at the

23         hearing.  And it was clear, for the record.

24         That's why I say we could verify the tape for

25         the record.  It was clear.  Mr. Dunaway was

120



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 120

1         there.

2               And the same thing that I said at that

3         meeting I'm saying again.  If you want to put up

4         for the record -- was clear that it was because

5         of the requirements of the Land Development

6         Code.  They were not met.

7               They did not meet the access requirement.

8         They did not -- what -- what -- trigger a

9         stormwater review.  None of that was shown.

10         None -- none of that was reviewed by staff.

11         None of that.

12               So, therefore, it had to be the plans that

13         they submit that my staff reviewed.  They were

14         not there.  So -- so -- so based upon my duties

15         as the -- as the planning director, I

16         recommended to the Chair at the time that this

17         development order be denied based upon those

18         facts, which they are governed.  You can hear

19         the same facts.

20               And Mr. Will Dunaway was present, and so

21         able, so eloquent today to present why it was

22         denied.  Not that he said that he doesn't know,

23         because he already made the case why it was

24         denied.  So he heard that at that meeting.

25               MS. RIGBY:  So based on this letter --

121



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 121

1               MR. JONES:  What?

2               MS. RIGBY:  Based on the denial letter it

3         says, "See below."  But there's nothing below.

4         What should have been below is a reason for the

5         access requirement and stormwater requirements

6         were not met.

7               MR. JONES:  Mm-hmm.

8               MS. RIGBY:  That's what it should say.

9         Okay.

10               Let me back up here.  Let me try to

11         understand this whole thing.  In the beginning,

12         when the DRC reviewed the project, what was the

13         DRC reviewing?

14               MR. JONES:  We was reviewing the site

15         plan.

16               MS. RIGBY:  Was it -- was it a

17         commercial --

18               MR. JONES:  It was reviewing --

19               MS. RIGBY:  -- site?  Was it a

20         residential --

21               MR. JONES:  To answer your question --

22               MS. RIGBY:  -- site?

23               MR. JONES:  -- Ms. Rigby, this was a

24         commercial activity.  We reviewed this per -- as

25         a commercial development activity that requires

122



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 122

1         site plan review, yes, ma'am.

2               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  So it was reviewed as a

3         commercial site.

4               MR. JONES:  Yes.

5               MR. HOLMER:  The property use is listed as

6         vacant commercial.  Going to a campground is a

7         change of use.  Change of use on commercial

8         sites requires development reviews.

9               MR. JONES:  Yes, it does.

10               MR. HOLMER:  The magistrate, of course,

11         kicking all of us back into this situation, we

12         had to figure out where we were going.

13               MS. RIGBY:  So it started out as

14         commercial use, but because it's a vacant site,

15         you can't have a vacant commercial use, I guess,

16         so then it went to a campground use?

17               MR. HOLMER:  That was -- the developer

18         review was the change of use of the activity on

19         that site.

20               MR. JONES:  Mm-hmm.

21               MR. HOLMER:  That hasn't changed.  The

22         development order was denied.  It remains vacant

23         commercial.  To change that to anything else

24         does require the DRC, along with the order we

25         got from the magistrate that put all of us into

123



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 123

1         the DRC position.

2               MS. RIGBY:  So was it reviewed as a

3         campground or was it reviewed as a commercial

4         vacant land?

5               MR. HOLMER:  All right.  It was reviewed

6         as a vacant commercial site going to campground.

7               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.

8               MR. HOLMER:  That's the use change.

9               MS. RIGBY:  Going to a campground.

10               MR. HOLMER:  Yes.

11               MS. RIGBY:  So those performance standards

12         or design standards were then in a campground

13         standard, if you will.

14               MR. HOLMER:  If you will, yes.  There's --

15         there's -- there's generic, you know, change of

16         use, commercial piece of property.  There's

17         generic ones that go along with that.

18               And I know we're -- everybody's gotten

19         wrapped up in the idea of the roadway.  I

20         understand that.  That would kick in these other

21         reviews.  Let's not overlook the fact -- I mean,

22         it got overlooked in all the discussion at the

23         DRC.

24               There are other deficiencies in this site

25         plan that would have ended in a denial for any

124



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 124

1         other plan.  It's not just that road.  You know,

2         standards and things required on the plan that

3         would hold everybody to . . .

4               MR. JONES:  Yes.

5               MR. HOLMER:  . . . simply weren't done.

6               MS. RIGBY:  But the denial said "see

7         below," and there was nothing below.  That

8         concerns me, that if you can't tell me why I was

9         denied, then I can't tell you how to fix it.

10               MR. JONES:  I understand -- I -- I

11         understand --  I understand what you're saying,

12         but -- but as I stated before, Mr. Will Dunaway,

13         he was present at the meeting wholeheartedly --

14         there's -- there's a record, and he -- and he --

15         that's why we're here today.

16               After -- after that happened, that same

17         meeting, the same meeting is what -- he want --

18         "I want to file -- I want to file for the

19         appeal."

20               We went back and forth on.  We went back

21         and forth on whether he should have to pay the

22         funds.  And we made the decision, well, he got

23         to pay for the appeal.

24               So -- so the issue for the denial, yes,

25         Mr. -- Mr. Jewel [sic] is absolutely correct.

125



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 125

1         There were other issues that were -- that --

2         that are germane to the site plan that were not

3         present.  That were not present.

4               MS. RIGBY:  But you're --

5               MR. JONES:  The primary -- the primary

6         issue that was present that was presented at

7         that site plan review hearing -- Mr. Will

8         Dunaway was present.  And I know -- I know this

9         young lady -- maybe there was something that we

10         may not have done by putting that before him,

11         but that's why we're here today.

12               It was denied primarily for the focus if

13         there was a oversight on someone's part.  That's

14         why we are here today.  It was done primarily --

15         that's why we're here, for the appeal for the

16         issuance of the -- because of those requirements

17         had not been met.  And if he comes back and

18         still cannot meet them, it will still be the

19         same thing.

20               MS. RIGBY:  I guess -- I guess my concern

21         as a board member is, we are here today to say

22         whether or not the denial was arbitrary or

23         capricious.

24               I can't tell you because I don't have the

25         facts as to what, in fact, or why, in fact, it

126



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 126

1         was denied.  And that's what I can't wrap my

2         hands around.  I don't have -- I don't have

3         punch lists.  I don't have the -- you know, the

4         review of the DRC to say, "Okay.  This was

5         required.  You didn't do this."

6               I mean, we talked about roads, sort of.

7         We talked about the four corners, sort of, but I

8         don't have any -- something concrete that says,

9         you know, the denial was based on A, B, C and D,

10         and Mr. Applicant will not do A, B, C and D.

11         And obviously, then, yes, I can understand it.

12         It was denied.  And the applicant doesn't want

13         to do it.  Do you see what I'm saying?

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I agree 100 percent.

15               Let me ask counselor a question.  Based on

16         what Ms. Rigby just said -- and we know that

17         this is -- this is tough for this board to make

18         a decision.

19               If we remand this back to staff and charge

20         them with the task of gathering with the

21         applicant, what is the consequence of that?  And

22         if there is a consequence, why can't we do that?

23               MS. HUAL:  I'm not sure I know what you

24         mean by "consequence."  Yes, you have the

25         authority to approve or disapprove or modify the

127



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 127

1         decision of staff, and that could include a

2         remand with instruction, so . . .

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That answers my

4         question.

5               We have a couple of other speakers.

6               MR. GANT:  I have a question.  How -- To

7         the attorney:  How are we tied to our -- how do

8         we consider the order to bring order from the

9         DRC in terms of our -- the order eventually and

10         went against the staff presentation and -- and

11         the like?

12               Is there any kind of process you must

13         consider, or does one trump the other?  I'm just

14         trying to determine is -- the overall fact to

15         the board today, staff comments, the DRC order,

16         Dunaway presentation.

17               MS. HUAL:  Again, it's in your discretion

18         to weigh the evidence as presented.  It's all

19         considered evidence.

20               MR. GANT:  Did you -- so -- so the -- so

21         the DRC is not -- not the -- the only thing.  We

22         need to consider everything else.

23               MS. HUAL:  No.

24               MR. GANT:  Okay.  You want to instruct us

25         on the -- we're not struck -- we're not stuck on

128



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 128

1         the one document.

2               MS. HUAL:  No.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  There will be a chance

4         to ask further questions for the staff from the

5         board, from the applicant.

6               I'd like to call on a speaker.  I believe

7         it's Richard Grimes.  And if you'll step to the

8         podium, sir, and give your name and address and

9         be sworn in.

10                          - - -

11                RICHARD PIERCE GRIMES, III

12         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

13         testified as follows:

14                          - - -

15               MR. GRIMES:  Richard Pierce Grimes, III,

16         254 Fennel Street, Pensacola, Florida 32505.

17               If you can pull the map up, you'll see the

18         house that says "Grimes."  That's my house.

19               All the property that was purchased from

20         ECUA, half of it belongs to me, half of it

21         belongs to my son-in-law's father.  He lives one

22         house down from me.

23               Yeah, we purchased that property to keep

24         them from coming any closer.  I've heard all

25         this about them.  Them.  Them.

129



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 129

1               What about us?  What about the people that

2         live in the neighborhood that are here to

3         support me?  What about our rights?

4               They burn constantly.  How would you like

5         to open the windows at your house every night

6         and have it filled with smoke and fire?

7               The portajohns are two feet off the

8         privacy fence that they put up.  Mr. Dunaway

9         said they put up for the neighborhood.

10               No.  They put it up because code

11         enforcement was allowed to come on the ECUA

12         property and take pictures.  They put the

13         privacy fence up so they couldn't take pictures

14         no more.

15               What about the property where there is no

16         privacy fence around on Cleo, where all those

17         people see this?  There's nothing blocking it

18         from their houses.  What about, you know, you

19         see everybody -- borrow pits?

20               The residents have something to say about

21         a borrow pit being put in their neighborhood.

22         When they wanted to put probation and parole

23         downtown in the Coca-Cola building, they didn't

24         want it there because of the undue foot traffic.

25               Well, what about the undue foot traffic in

130



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 130

1         our neighborhood?  Yes, I'm not saying all these

2         people are bad or mean or going to do anything

3         damaging.  It's only going to take one.

4               I have a seven-year-old son.  When this

5         all started, I had him and two of my grandsons

6         in the back yard look out the window.  There's

7         two men sitting on the ground at the fence with

8         a puppy talking to my children.

9               Now, they deny that.  They say that other

10         people were out there and present, and that I'm

11         telling a lie.  But I know what I saw.  I know

12         what I read in the newspaper.

13               Mr. Dunaway, the very first meeting three

14         years ago, they knew they had to have a road in

15         there that supported a 44-ton fire truck.  It's

16         in the Pensacola News Journal.  It's not -- I'm

17         not just talking off my head.  So they knew all

18         this three years ago.

19               They said these people are here

20         temporarily.  There's two been back there.

21         One's been back there almost two years.  Another

22         one's been back there a year and a half.  How is

23         that temporary?

24               Some of those structures -- and I call

25         them structures -- they're tied between trees

131



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 131

1         and Gulf Power -- are as big as my -- almost as

2         big as my house.  Come on.

3               So we do not -- the neighborhood should

4         have the right.  We do not need this in the

5         neighborhood.  And yes, this will be the first

6         homeless campground permitted anywhere in the

7         United States.

8               If this gets permitted here, y'all could

9         wind up having them behind your house because

10         you set a precedent at that point.

11               VOICE IN THE AUDIENCE:  That's right.

12               MR. GRIMES:  They brought in -- When Mr.

13         King started all this, he put in the newspaper

14         that he did us a favor:  He bought land in a

15         blighted neighborhood.  I don't consider my

16         neighborhood blighted.  But he did us a favor.

17               I've had one Realtor tell me that we could

18         expect a 10 to 25 percent drop in our property

19         values over the next two years if this gets

20         permitted.

21               But another one says, "Oh, it's

22         commercial.  You can expect your property value

23         to go up."

24               When you look out my kitchen window and

25         see the top of three portajohns and all these

132



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 132

1         tents, I really don't see my property value

2         going up any time soon.

3               So I'm here to request that you deny this,

4         that you stand behind the county and deny this.

5         You know, it's one thing to want to help people,

6         but you can't destroy somebody else at the exact

7         same time.

8               This doesn't need to be in a residential

9         area.  If this was a KOA or a Good Sam's, I'd

10         still be standing right here fighting it, so it

11         has nothing -- it has to do with the use, not

12         the people that are using it.  And that's --

13         that's really all I have to say.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  Board, any

15         questions of the speaker?

16               MS. GUND:  I do.  So you purchased the

17         rectangular property?

18               MR. GRIMES:  No.  You see where it's

19         L-shaped there?

20               MS. GUND:  Mm-hmm.

21               MR. GRIMES:  On the -- be the south end

22         where Gulf Power is?  That easement -- there's

23         an easement on the south end there that belongs

24         to Escambia County.  It's going -- it's a

25         permanent easement.  The sewer line runs through

133



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 133

1         there and all.

2               From that point, 272 feet is my property.

3         From that point on over belongs to my

4         son-in-law's father, Mr. Biles.  And he had to

5         leave.  He had a doctor's appointment.  He was

6         here, and he had to leave.  So that's -- Yeah.

7               MS. GUND:  That other one.

8               MR. GRIMES:  No.  That's my son-in-law's.

9         That belongs to Mr. Biles.  They knew that.

10         They had it on one of their site plans, labeled

11         it in our names, but for some reason it's not on

12         this site plan.  Labeled it that way.

13               They tried to use it as a buffer.  They

14         had it labeled as a buffer on one of their site

15         plans.  No one -- It didn't belong to them then,

16         but, you know, they listed it as a buffer.

17               MS. GUND:  So that is this rectangular

18         piece.

19               MR. GRIMES:  That's me right there, yes,

20         ma'am.

21               MS. GUND:  Okay.  Parcel of land, but you

22         don't own that other rectangular piece?

23               MR. GRIMES:  No.  That belongs to Tony

24         Biles, my son-in-law's father.  So it's in the

25         family.

134



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 134

1               MS. GUND:  He agreed that they can build a

2         road across it.

3               MR. GRIMES:  Not a road.  We bought it,

4         and we -- we were under the impression they had

5         the right to cross it.  I don't know . . .

6         nobody said they that could go in there and

7         build any of that.  We were told they couldn't

8         build anything on it or, you know, occupy it in

9         any way, shape or form.  They just had the

10         ability to cross over it, is what ECUA informed

11         us when we bought the property.

12               MS. GUND:  Thank you.

13               MR. GRIMES:  Okay.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other questions?

15         Staff, do you have questions?

16               MS. HUAL:  Board members, I just wanted to

17         caution you to follow up on your questions.

18         Your decision, whatever it may be, must be

19         supported by competent, substantial evidence.

20               So as you hear the testimony of lay

21         witnesses, their testimony should be limited

22         strictly to facts of which they have personal

23         knowledge, unless you wish to qualify an

24         individual as an expert.  Any other testimony is

25         considered pure speculation.

135



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 135

1               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Correct.

2               MS. HUAL:  So . . .  May I ask the

3         witness --

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

5               MS. HUAL:  And, yes, please refrain from

6         making assertions about property values unless

7         you're qualified as an expert on that.  I've got

8         in the PowerPoint -- could you switch to that?

9         This -- all the way.  All the way down to the

10         very last one.

11               Mr. Grimes, I'm going to show you -- it's

12         not in that one.  Okay.  Never mind.  Go back to

13         the second one, if you would, please.

14               On that site plan -- on that site plan,

15         the long parcel on the west side that we're

16         talking about, on the site plan it's shown as a

17         single parcel of land running all the way from

18         the easement that's at the south end all the way

19         up through to the top and including the leg, so

20         to speak, that has the easement across it, on

21         the site plan that's all shown as ECUA parcel of

22         land that has one property reference number, you

23         purchased this property.  It's no longer ECUA

24         property; is that correct?

25               MR. GRIMES:  Hadn't been for two years.

136



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 136

1               MS. HUAL:  Okay.  The lower half of it

2         belongs to you.

3               MR. GRIMES:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

4               MS. HUAL:  The upper half to the Biles.

5               MR. GRIMES:  Mm-hmm.

6               MS. HUAL:  Okay.  And you've already

7         testified they're not here to -- they're not

8         going to ask any questions about that.

9               MR. GRIMES:  Right.  Right.

10               MS. HUAL:  That is important for the

11         staff, this issue of ownership.  You know.

12               MR. GRIMES:  Okay.  I --

13               MS. HUAL:  The county --

14               MR. GRIMES:  Can I walk up there?

15               MS. HUAL:  Sure.  Sure.  I will have to

16         show it with the mouse, but --

17               MR. GRIMES:  Right here, if you take this

18         line right here and you draw it across,

19         everything this way is legally registered in my

20         name and deeded to me.  Everything that way

21         belongs to Mr. Biles.

22               MS. HUAL:  Okay.

23               MR. GRIMES:  And it's legally deeded on

24         the county -- if you went to the county plan,

25         you'd see the division.

137



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 137

1               MS. HUAL:  It's like Sean's Outpost has on

2         their easement, the right to cross that.

3               MR. GRIMES:  To cross it, yes.

4               MS. HUAL:  Thank you.

5               Just wanted to -- the county has an issue

6         here, once again, with any site plan, treating

7         this as we would anyone else.  If we're

8         approving a site plan that does involve someone

9         else's property, this involves -- yes, there's

10         an easement across it, but the ownership is in

11         the Biles.  It's not ECUA.  We want our plan to

12         be accurate.  We want the plan to reflect that

13         there's an easement across that, and the

14         ownership.

15               MR. GRIMES:  Sure.

16               MS. HUAL:  Parcel numbers change when it's

17         submitted.  We need to have that reflected on

18         the plan.  We ask that of anyone.  That's one of

19         those things that was not shown on this, the

20         requirement for that easement to be -- same sort

21         of -- I know it sounds nitpicky, but if we're

22         involving someone else's property they own, we

23         have requirements that we expect to be shown on

24         the plan.  Thank you.

25               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

138



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 138

1               Any questions?  Counselor.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  I actually thought Mr.

3         Holmer was asking him a question.  Was he making

4         argument?  I wasn't sure.

5               MR. HOLMER:  I asked a question and

6         explained why.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  Understood.

8               Before I did cross-examine, I appreciate

9         the board attorney clarifying that.  And I would

10         just make that as a standard objection, that is,

11         that nonexpert testimony be not considered.

12         This is a lay witness, so that testimony

13         regarding these other issues would be ignored.

14                          - - -

15                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

16                          - - -

17 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

18        Q.     Mr. Grimes, you have complained to the

19 Board of County Commissioners about the use of the

20 property by Sean's Outpost, have you not?

21        A.     Yes.

22        Q.     How many times have you appeared before

23 the Board of County Commissioners to complain about this

24 use?

25        A.     I believe I spoke twice.

139



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 139

1        Q.     And you've been -- you were present at the

2 DRC to object at that board; is that correct?

3        A.     I've been to every DRC county -- you know,

4 every meeting about this, yes.

5        Q.     Including every special magistrate

6 meeting?

7        A.     Yes.

8        Q.     Every opportunity you've been here to

9 object to this use by Sean's Outpost; correct?

10        A.     Yes.

11        Q.     And you would consider that their use of

12 the property to be, from your standpoint, a problem?

13        A.     Yes.

14        Q.     And were you the one that helped in

15 getting the word out to area neighbors about this issue?

16        A.     Yes, sir.  I was the number one person.  I

17 mean, I'm at ground zero, yes.

18        Q.     Right.  Your property actually abuts to

19 the west; correct?

20        A.     Yes.

21        Q.     And you have a house that is in lot six

22 that's labeled on --

23        A.     Yes.

24        Q.     That's where you reside.

25        A.     That's my homestead, yes.

140



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 140

1        Q.     And then all the ways behind you was the

2 ECUA property before you and your son-in-law's father,

3 who is Mr. Biles, is one lot north of you?

4        A.     Yes.

5        Q.     And y'all bought it at auction.

6        A.     Right.

7        Q.     And y'all own the property.

8               You knew that its prior use, right -- you

9 were familiar with its prior use?

10        A.     Yes.  It was a gentleman to be -- I hope

11 this is admissible.  Freckles the Clown originally owned

12 it.  When he passed away, his son lived on it on two

13 trailers.  And they grew some trees and stuff back

14 there.  They had a little greenhouse at one time.

15               I know that -- for a fact that the county

16 during one hurricane, he allowed them to dump a lot of

17 debris on there.  The county went in there and had them

18 cleared up, and put -- he lost the property to back

19 taxes, and then they bought it from the gentleman that

20 bought it on the back taxes.

21        Q.     So the prior use was a residential use in

22 a temporary structure, and then it had code violations

23 because it was used for dumping; is that correct?

24        A.     No.  I believe it -- they had two trailers

25 on it that he lived in, but it was more commercial, used

141



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 141

1 for, you know, flower -- I don't know what the word for

2 it -- landscaping business, something like that, yes.

3               MR. DUNAWAY:  I have no further questions.

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Board have any questions

5         of the speaker?

6               Thank you, sir.

7               MR. GRIMES:  Thank you.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Ivan -- Alvin Kelly.

9               MS. KELLY:  Should be Catherine Kelly.  My

10         husband's not going to speak.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That will be fine.

12         State your name and address and be sworn in.

13               MS. KELLY:  I'm Catherine B. Kelly.  I

14         reside at 4335 Bridgedale Road, which is three

15         blocks west.

16                          - - -

17                    CATHERINE B. KELLY

18         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

19         testified as follows:

20                          - - -

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Go ahead.

22               MS. KELLY:  As I stated, I reside -- my

23         husband and I reside three blocks west of the

24         Sean's Outpost.  We resided there for 37 years.

25               And since Sean's Outpost has been there

142



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 142

1         for the last three years, they have been allowed

2         to cut trees, burn wood, leaves, and other

3         trees.

4               If I cut a tree in my yard, I have to get

5         permission to do it, to cut it down.  Now, there

6         is a no-burn ordinance that has been constantly

7         ignored.

8               And Sean's Outpost for the last three

9         years, since they've been allowed to cut and

10         burn constantly, almost daily, I have not been

11         able to enjoy sitting on my front porch because

12         of the smoke in the air.  It's very difficult

13         for me to breathe because I have asthma, and

14         it's a health issue for me.

15               There is also a safety issue for me

16         because there are a lot of strange people coming

17         through the neighborhood and Sean's post has

18         been three blocks away from our home.

19               Sean's Outpost is illegally on this site

20         because we do -- they do not have access to come

21         in there because of the burning that they do.

22         The trucks -- the fire trucks can't go in and

23         out of there.

24               And I know all of you have viewed and

25         looked at the local news and the national news

143



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 143

1         as to what happened in Tennessee last week.  The

2         possibility exists that the same thing can

3         happen to our neighborhood.

4               I can't burn leaves in my yard.  Why

5         should they be able to do all the burning that

6         they do on their property?  There shouldn't be a

7         double standard.

8               And for safety reasons, I am requesting

9         this board to deny them access to -- well, I

10         can't -- you can't deny them access to their

11         property, but to please side against them being

12         on this property and doing the things that they

13         are doing, for my personal reasons, and as well

14         as a lot of other people that live in the

15         neighborhood that are here and present today.

16               And I'm just asking you to consider my

17         objection because of health reasons, safety

18         reasons.

19               The trucks -- fire trucks can't go in

20         there.  They say they have fire extinguishers.

21         Fire extinguishers they don't always stop.

22         There's eight -- eight acres out there.  And

23         they have been allowed to cut and burn.  And I

24         don't think it's right.

25               If I burn leaves in my yard, Code

144



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 144

1         Enforcement will do something about it.  And I

2         don't think it's right that they are allowed

3         because the air should be for everyone.  And

4         they allowing me not to enjoy my personal

5         property because of the smoke in the air.

6         Please consider my objections.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.

8               Board, any questions of Mrs. Kelly?

9               (No response.)

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff?

11               (No response.)

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Dunaway.

13                          - - -

14                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

15                          - - -

16 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

17        Q.     Ms. Kelly, if I'm not mistaken, this is

18 the first time that you've voiced an objection to this

19 process in an open public hearing; is that correct?

20        A.     Yes, open public.

21        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

22        A.     But I have talked to Mr. Kimbrel

23 personally . . .

24        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

25        A.     . . . down at the county commissioners'

145



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 145

1 meeting.

2        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  We appreciate that.

3        A.     And I expressed my concern.

4        Q.     Your concern.  Yes, ma'am.  We appreciate

5 that.

6               With regard to the allegations of cutting

7 and burning, were you familiar with the -- aware of the

8 fact that the county code enforcement apparatus has

9 been -- well, I don't think it to be wrong to say

10 "vigilant" over the Sean's Outpost for the last several

11 years?  Were you aware that code enforcement --

12        A.     I have -- I don't know what the Code

13 Enforcement's have done.

14        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

15        A.     But when I smell the smoke, I get in my

16 car and go and look and see that the smoke -- it goes up

17 in the air, in the atmosphere.

18        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

19        A.     And it spreads all the way over three

20 blocks from there.  And I'm sure it extends further.

21        Q.     And you've made that complaint to Code

22 Enforcement?

23        A.     I have called.

24        Q.     To Code Enforcement?

25        A.     I have called.

146



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 146

1        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  Yes, ma'am.

2               With regard to the illegal cutting, have

3 you seen trees being felled on the property?

4        A.     No, I have not seen any trees being

5 felled, but I can see smoke.

6        Q.     Yes.

7        A.     And it's coming from someplace.

8        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

9        A.     Sand don't burn.

10        Q.     And you were talking about the cutting of

11 trees, specifically is what I was referring to.

12        A.     Whatever is on their property that they

13 are getting rid of, they have been burning it.

14        Q.     And you've seen trees being cut?

15        A.     I've seen the smoke.  And you can look

16 straight through there and see that it's clearer than

17 what it was.

18        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

19        A.     Over the years.  I've stayed here at my --

20 at our address for 37 years.

21        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  Yes, ma'am.

22        A.     And I never been able to look through that

23 property and see through there.  The water that's down

24 in the drainage, I've never been able to see that.

25        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  And you live to the west;

147



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 147

1 correct?

2        A.     Yes, I do.

3        Q.     So between you and Sean's Outpost is Mr.

4 Grimes' and Mr. Biles' property.

5        A.     Yes, it is.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  No further

7         questions.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other questions from

9         the board?

10               (No response.)

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much.

12               MS. KELLY:  Thank you.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, would you like to

14         make a closing statement?

15               MR. HOLMER:  I'll be happy to speak.

16               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, just a point

17         of procedure.  I would request an opportunity to

18         have rebuttal.

19               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  I'd like to call Mr.

21         Kimbrel.  I'd call Mr. Kimbrel.

22                          - - -

23                     MICHAEL KIMBREL

24         having been previously duly sworn, was examined

25         and testified further as follows:

148



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 148

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, may I ask the

2         questions from here to facilitate that process?

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

4                          - - -

5                    DIRECT EXAMINATION

6                          - - -

7 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

8        Q.     Mr. Kimbrel, earlier, in questions of one

9 of the board members you provided some background and

10 details of the operation of the facility out there.

11               What I'd like to now ask you some

12 questions about, the actually -- the actual permitting

13 process that got us here, and --

14               MS. HUAL:  Would you mind using the

15         microphone?

16               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh.  Well, I regret that it

17         appears that the battery -- maybe I've got --

18         maybe it will.  Does that work?

19 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

20        Q.     So Mr. Kimbrel, you've been involved in

21 this process from its origination; is that correct?

22        A.     Yes, sir, that is correct.

23        Q.     And Sean's Outpost purchased this

24 property.  And what were your plans initially for the

25 property?

149



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 149

1        A.     Our plans initially were to build a

2 bathhouse with shower facilities and restrooms, a

3 washroom for laundry purposes, as well as having a

4 series of tiny homes that people would graduate up to

5 from initially a campground area to a graduation into

6 tiny homes.

7        Q.     And you knew and understood that that

8 process would have required an access road; correct?

9        A.     Yes, sir.

10        Q.     And then, when we first started going

11 through the process with the county, when all of those

12 kind of larger plans went by the wayside, what was the

13 process by which we got to where we finally decided that

14 it looks like we're going to have to make an application

15 simply to do what we're doing?  What was that process

16 when we finally made that decision?

17        A.     Not quite sure if I understand your

18 question.

19               So basically, we -- from the initial

20 plans, massively changed once we were outbid for the

21 ECUA property.  And then from that, we started bit --

22 our main source of funding ended up . . .

23        Q.     Donations that were coming in?

24        A.     Yeah, yeah.  Donations started drying up,

25 and so we didn't have the funding that we initially had

150



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 150

1 thought that we were going to have.  And so it -- the

2 process slowly started getting whittled down to what

3 you're currently seeing on the screen today.

4        Q.     And just to clarify, what you're currently

5 seeing on the screen is essentially what is the present

6 operation, with just a few more tent sites; is that

7 correct?

8        A.     Yes, sir, that is correct.

9        Q.     And that is the current operation, is

10 simply people with permission can pitch a tent and go

11 through the process as is outlined in the . . .

12        A.     Yes, sir, that is correct.

13        Q.     What trees and clearing have you done on

14 the properties illegally?

15        A.     None.

16        Q.     Has there been any other commercial

17 activity or any other unpermitted activity out there,

18 other than what -- the idea that people are just

19 referring there?

20        A.     No, sir.

21        Q.     So you heard Ms. Kelly just state that the

22 area is cleared.  That area that was -- is the strip,

23 that area has been cleared, hasn't it, that you cross

24 over that's owned by Mr. Biles?

25        A.     Yes, sir, that -- that -- that area has

151



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 151

1 been cleared, minus -- minus the trees.

2        Q.     Who cleared that?

3        A.     I believe Mr. Biles did.

4        Q.     Because he owns that property; right?

5        A.     Yes, sir.

6        Q.     Okay.  What area of Sean's Outpost has

7 been cleared?

8        A.     Other than, like, basic landscape

9 maintenancing [sic] --

10        Q.     So y'all removed all --

11        A.     Weeds.

12        Q.     -- of the junk that you found out there.

13        A.     Yes, sir.

14        Q.     And what was that?  What did you find out

15 on the property?

16        A.     Out on the property when we first

17 initially bought the property, it ranged from -- there

18 was a series of flower pots to a jet ski, huge piles of

19 rubble from -- which looks like construction debris.

20 There was some playground equipment.  It -- it -- it

21 basically looked like a dump site.

22        Q.     And what improvements did y'all make in

23 that?

24        A.     We -- we removed all of the debris.

25 The -- some of the construction debris, like huge pieces

152



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 152

1 of concrete we used to outline trails and what is called

2 the road or the dirt path, the dirt road.

3               And even Code Enforcement commended us on

4 a good job of cleaning it up and a good use of the

5 construction debris that had been on property.

6        Q.     Explain to the board the process that

7 you're working with, the State Department of Health and

8 local health officials and those inspection processes

9 that were occurring on the site.

10        A.     So we initiated weekly inspections with

11 the Escambia County Health Department at a fee of $50

12 per inspection.

13               And they would come out once a week

14 basically unannounced.  They would call me 30 minutes

15 ahead of time, saying, "We're on our way out there."

16               And I would -- sometimes was able to meet

17 them; sometimes was unable to, to escort them through

18 the property.  And they would walk around, if I was with

19 them, point out, you know, this is going to be a

20 problem.  This isn't a problem.

21               These are things you want to look for that

22 are going to be health violations.  And these are things

23 that we look for when, you know, we're inspecting

24 trailer parks or RV campgrounds.

25               And in some cases, if things that they had

153



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 153

1 pointed out to me existed during one of the inspections,

2 they would note it in the inspection, and then it had to

3 be corrected by the next inspection, so when they'd come

4 back out, they would notate that it -- you know, the

5 previous violation was corrected.

6               And over time, they started requesting

7 that we do less and less inspections.  If I'm correct,

8 they currently do one inspection a year for most

9 permitted facilities.

10               And so, after, I believe it was, six to

11 eight months of weekly inspections, we dropped bimonthly

12 to eventually monthly, to where now they -- they do not

13 come out and inspect.  And I believe that they've even

14 stated that our campground is cleaner than some of the

15 RV parks that they inspect.

16        Q.     So what, if any, adverse issues are going

17 on out there, from a neighborhood perspective?  You've

18 heard Mr. Grimes, and you've heard Ms. Kelly testify.

19 What is your response to that?

20        A.     So some of the concerns that they have

21 I -- I share.  I personally would like to see less

22 burning going on, but our rule out there is that they

23 can only burn for one of two reasons:  And that's either

24 to cook or to stay warm, which is also permitted in the

25 county code.

154



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 154

1        Q.     And you've gone through that process and

2 know that those are two exceptions to the open-burning

3 rule; correct?

4        A.     Correct.  And -- and they -- they are well

5 aware that they are not allowed to cut down any trees or

6 anything on the property, so they either pick up dead

7 growth off of the ground or there have been people from

8 the neighborhood and the surrounding Escambia County

9 area that has brought in firewood on their own accord.

10               I haven't asked -- I have never requested

11 firewood to come in, which people have just brought in

12 firewood, knowing that they would need something to stay

13 warm with.  If we had the finances, we would probably

14 lean towards propane.

15        Q.     And, in fact, you provided through the

16 winter months, at the county's request, propane heaters;

17 correct?

18        A.     Yes, sir.  And -- and we still have them.

19 And when we have the propane, we use that in lieu of

20 burning.

21        Q.     Michael, what other aspects -- what other

22 efforts have you and Sean's Outpost taken with regards

23 to any type of problems or concerns that have come up

24 and been brought to your attention?  I mean, have they

25 been quickly rectified?

155



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 155

1        A.     Yes, sir.

2        Q.     And give us an example of a situation that

3 was -- you know, that came up, came to your attention

4 and was rectified.

5        A.     I'm actually drawing a blank right now,

6 but let's see.

7        Q.     Well, Mr. Biles -- earlier there was

8 testimony that you put in -- Mr. Grimes testified that

9 you put in the fence to keep the Code Enforcement from

10 taking pictures.  Is that why you installed the fence?

11        A.     No, sir.

12        Q.     Why -- why did you install the fence?

13        A.     Mr. Grimes had no problem sharing with us

14 that he was not too happy about what we were doing.  And

15 we were trying to be respectful neighbors because

16 working in homelessness, we are -- we are very much

17 aware that homelessness is very much frowned upon.

18 It's -- in -- in some cases even vilified by -- the view

19 of homelessness is that it's all criminals and drug

20 addicts.

21               And so we -- we understand that that's --

22 that that's the view, so out of respect, we wanted to

23 put up a privacy fence.  And we -- we share all concerns

24 with the criminal element in homelessness.  We recognize

25 that there is a criminal element in homelessness.  And

156



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 156

1 those people are not welcome on our property.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  No further questions.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

4               MR. KIMBREL:  Thank you.

5               MR. JOLLY:  I'm sorry.  May I speak?

6               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Did you sign up?

7               MR. JOLLY:  No, sir, I didn't.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We'll get your

9         signature.

10               MR. JOLLY:  Didn't know I was supposed to.

11               MR. JONES:  Once he signs the form, can he

12         speak because time is --

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Come forward, sir.  And

14         if you'll be kind enough to state your name and

15         address and be sworn in.

16               MR. JOLLY:  My name's Louis Jolly.  I live

17         at 1418 Cleo Drive.

18                          - - -

19                       LOUIS JOLLY

20         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

21         testified as follows:

22                          - - -

23               MR. JOLLY:  I been living at that place

24         in -- on Cleo Drive for a long time.  And I'm 82

25         years old.  As far as those people talking about

157



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 157

1         cutting down trees, I've seen them cut the trees

2         down.

3               I've cleared the -- be clearing the bushes

4         in there.  My fence is my back yard, and the

5         tents the people live in, they probably as far

6         as from here to that window there is how close

7         they are to my property.

8               And every morning when I get up and step

9         out my back door, I'm on notice.  I don't know

10         who's back there or who's not back there.

11         People coming and going all the time, but I'm

12         concerned about my safety, my wife's safety, and

13         my neighbors' safety.

14               So as far as smoking and setting those

15         porta-johns go, they smell pretty ripe sometime,

16         so when I get ready to sell my property, when

17         you show your property to somebody, and they

18         say, "Well, what's all that blue stuff?  What's

19         all that back there?"

20               I said, "Well, them's the homeless people

21         live back there.  You can get that put in the

22         house.  When you buy the house, you can get that

23         for free."

24               So I just wanted to say that very -- I'm

25         82 years old, and we're concerned for our safety

158



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 158

1         as well.  Thank you.

2               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Just a moment.

3               Board, any questions?

4               (No response.)

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions?

6               Counselor.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Nothing.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

9               State your name and address.

10               MS. JOLLY:  My name is Helen Jolly.  I'm

11         Jack Louis Jolly's wife.

12                          - - -

13                       HELEN JOLLY

14         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

15         testified as follows:

16                          - - -

17               MS. JOLLY:  I live at 1418 Cleo Drive.

18         Our house is right adjacent to the tents.  The

19         tents are as close from one end of your podium

20         to the other end.  That's how close we are.

21               We can look out our kitchen window and see

22         the people walking around.  There's probably

23         four to five tents back there.  They're large,

24         very large.  They have two or three vehicles out

25         there.

159



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 159

1               They turn their vehicles when they drive

2         in.  They are -- their lights shine, you know,

3         right on our back door, which comes out the

4         side.

5               And in discussing how thin or thick the

6         woods are, when we moved here, we chose not to

7         have a privacy fence because we do like to see

8         the woods.

9               So when Mr. Freckles died, and then when

10         his nephew moved out, there was no more woods

11         down -- there were no more -- they both lived in

12         a trailer, and they took the trailer -- the

13         nephew took the trailer with him.

14               And so naturally, the woods are thinner

15         now because we can see these people.  We hear

16         them.  If they're fussing and fighting, we hear

17         that.

18               We found a dog in our back yard that did

19         not climb the fence.  It was a very sick dog.

20         And there's no one -- there's only one lady

21         living on our left side, and she has dogs in her

22         house that lives in her house, so she's an

23         animal lover, but the dog was very sick.  And my

24         husband fed him.  And he finally left -- and the

25         next day, and we didn't see him anymore.

160



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 160

1               My husband let him outside the fence

2         because he could not climb the fence.  He had a

3         large growth on the very back of his back, and

4         he was very mangy.  And he was -- he was so weak

5         he could hardly walk.

6               And as far as the tree cutting, there was

7         a big -- big large tree, maybe about 11 inches

8         in diameter on the right side -- on their side

9         of the fence.

10               And when we -- my husband and I both walk

11         because he had an illness.  And so our yard is

12         very large, and we walk in our yard.  And when

13         he -- when he -- when we walk, we walk down that

14         side.

15               And one morning the tree was down.  It had

16         been cut to a -- maybe about three feet from the

17         bottom.  And it was laying down.  So they had

18         cut the tree overnight because we're in our back

19         yard every day.  But we don't stay there because

20         we don't feel comfortable.

21               And there is burning, like Ms. Kelly said.

22         She may live three blocks over but we live

23         adjacent to them.  And there is burning a lot.

24               And we did notify code to begin with, but

25         then, you know, we realized that well, code

161



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 161

1         couldn't go to -- they couldn't always -- they

2         couldn't go inside the property, so we stopped

3         contacting them.

4               But we, too, have allergies.  And we can't

5         breathe good, so we have to stay inside.  And

6         when they -- when they moved in this property,

7         they kept it very quiet what they were doing.

8               And, in fact, my husband was walking.  And

9         he asked Mr. King when he came down the alley

10         behind our house, which belongs to the county,

11         and then Mr. Grimes bought the property that's

12         behind them and adjacent to us as well.  He

13         bought that property.

14               But Mr. King was coming down the alley

15         behind our fence.  And my husband introduced

16         himself to him and asked him if they were

17         building.

18               And he mumbled and kept walking.  He

19         didn't say anything, so we didn't know anything.

20         We watched because we saw the toolshed that they

21         had out there that they were using to mow and do

22         different things with.  And we observed that.

23               But, yes, we can take pictures from our

24         back yard.  We don't have to climb on anything.

25         And if any of you would like to come out to our

162



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 162

1         house, you're very welcome.  We would welcome to

2         take you back there and show you exactly.

3               And those tents go all the way down from

4         their privacy fence on the left or to the west

5         all the way to the east, as far as their

6         property, I suppose.

7               Thank you.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Jolly.

9               Any questions of Mrs. Jolly?

10               (No response.)

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions?

12               (No response.)

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Counselor, any

14         questions?

15               (No response.)

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, Mrs. Jolly.

17               MS. JOLLY:  You're welcome.

18               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We will ask for closing

19         statements at this time, beginning with the

20         staff and ending with the applicant.

21               MR. HOLMER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

22               I'd like to bring us back.  We've gotten

23         some testimony here.  Once again, there's been

24         testimony that's got a lot of emotion attached

25         to it.  There's been testimony about the use of

163



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 163

1         the property.

2               We're not here today to determine the use

3         on the property.  We're here today to discuss

4         the denial of the development order.

5               The person serving as chairman that day?

6         Should they have written in that entire -- the

7         whole list?  Sure, they could have.  Would it

8         have changed the denial?  No.  Those

9         deficiencies were still there, the deficiencies

10         that resulted in the denial.

11               Y'all made mention of -- some board

12         members made mention of remanding again.  We're

13         not here with a conditional use, where this

14         board determines if a use is appropriate or not.

15               In that case, sure.  You could say, "Hey

16         listen.  There's -- there's some outstanding

17         issues here.  Why don't you go back?  Why don't

18         you go back and see if you can resolve those and

19         then we'll talk about it?"

20               You're not determining use.  We're

21         determining that development order:  Was the

22         denial backed up by facts in the code or was it

23         not?  It's -- it's -- it's -- I mean, I hate to

24         keep saying this.  It's that simple.

25               It's not feelings.  It's not could it meet

164



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 164

1         it.  It's did it.  Did it meet it that day?  Was

2         the decision right?

3               Could they go back?  Sure.  They could go

4         back.  Could they meet the conditions?  Hey,

5         that's -- that's what the county was asking for

6         in the first place.  That's not what we're here

7         today to talk about.

8               We're here today because the applicant has

9         come and said, "This denial was incorrect.  It

10         was denied incorrectly.  There was not a basis

11         for the denial."

12               Appeals are a different animal before this

13         board.  It's not a matter of coming in and

14         saying, "Here, have a second bite at the apple."

15         That would be great.  That's fine.  You know, we

16         want everyone to come into compliance.

17               We say all the time, especially Mr. Jones

18         says all the time about granting or finding a

19         way, giving someone a path to compliance.

20               So there is a path to compliance.  It's

21         meeting the requirements of the LDC.  That's not

22         what we're here about today.  What we're here

23         about today:  Was that denial factually based?

24         Yes or no.

25               This board, when it comes to an appeal --

165



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 165

1         So if you scroll down, please.  These are the

2         pages from the Land Development Code dealing

3         with administrative appeals.

4               Please go down.  So here we have final

5         determination.  It's laying out that you're

6         going to need -- if you do a finding one way or

7         the other, here's what your finding is.

8               You're going to have to state how the

9         decision of the administrative official was

10         arbitrary or capricious.  If that's not proven,

11         then you would need to affirm the denial.

12               And below that, if you would just scroll

13         down, board authority.  Let's face it:  I'm a

14         geek about these development standard things.  I

15         truly think this board's authority is not to say

16         something is some technical standard that can be

17         waived or it's okay to move ahead without,

18         because there is -- there is a further technical

19         review called for.

20               If we want to talk about the roadway and

21         going to some sort of impervious use or

22         semi-impervious use surface, there's a ratio for

23         each one of those as to the stormwater that

24         comes off of it.  That's how stormwater

25         calculations are based.

166



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 166

1               We don't have any calculations.  There

2         were none of those on the site plan.  The

3         request is in there:  "Hey, we want to see this

4         all-weather surface," but there's no

5         calculations.

6               The things -- the deficiencies missing on

7         the plan, they're there.  We're -- we don't get

8         to look at it.  And I keep saying this.  I'm

9         sorry.  We don't get to look at this as, "Wow,

10         is this an appropriate use or not?"

11               This isn't the avenue for that.  This

12         isn't what the DRC is doing.  The DRC is doing:

13         Does the plan meet this?  Yes or no.  The denial

14         was based on deficiencies on the plan.

15               Like I said, three sides.  We're right in

16         the middle.  Okay.  We don't necessarily want to

17         be in the middle.  That's where we are.

18               The magistrate was quite clear, explaining

19         to the applicant and to the county, "Hey, go

20         through the DRC.  Bring this to a resolution."

21               The application -- the site plan submitted

22         for that resolution in October had multiple

23         deficiencies that would have resulted in a

24         denial for any use.  You could have brought in a

25         grocery store, and with all those deficiencies,

167



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 167

1         it still would have been denied for a grocery

2         store.  The use isn't factoring into the staff's

3         decision.

4               The county does not -- the county

5         disagrees with the idea that the denial was

6         arbitrary and capricious.

7               We've outlined areas of the code where the

8         facts are.  We've explained that the denial was

9         based on those deficiencies.  Those are facts.

10         Those are facts.  That was not arbitrary.  We're

11         not talking about somebody not liking a use.

12         That's capricious.  We didn't go there.  Staff

13         did not go there.

14               The staff went letter of the law.  And

15         really, at the end of the day, that's what this

16         is about, was it -- was it arbitrary and

17         capricious, the denial?  County says no, it's

18         not.  The burden should be, if the applicant

19         wants to overturn that, they need to prove that

20         it is.  Thank you.

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

22               Board, any questions of staff?

23               (No response.)

24               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Counselor, before your

25         summary, would you like to ask staff any

168



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 168

1         questions?

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I believe -- I

3         believe we've covered all that.  I'd be happy to

4         move right into closing.

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, sir.  Remember

6         your mic.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and

8         members of the board.  And we do appreciate the

9         time and effort that you spent, along with the

10         public who are here who have been through this

11         process, again, many times.

12               And you are the appeal board.  You're the

13         board that acts in the shoes of the planning

14         director, and you get to make the decision that

15         the planning director can make.

16               The standards here are very clear.  The

17         Irving standards of the Supreme Court give it

18         those -- those standards.  That is, did the

19         applicant show substantial compliance with the

20         objective requirements of the Land Development

21         Code for the applicant use that it was

22         requesting?  What it was requesting here in this

23         case.

24               If it did, then the burden shifts to the

25         staff to prove that the issuance of that permit

169



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 169

1         would be adverse -- in fact, adverse to the

2         public.

3               General ideas of, "I don't like it, not in

4         my back yard," Supreme Court has already

5         indicated that that kind of lay testimony does

6         not rise to the level of an adverse use.

7               We've met those objective criteria.  The

8         staff failed to meet its burden in showing that

9         it's adverse.  This board ought to approve the

10         permit.

11               And let us get to that point.  What is it

12         that you would be approving?  Because Mr. Holmer

13         said this is not about the use of the property,

14         and any quotes from the special magistrate as to

15         what we were going through.

16               And let me be clear, because Mr. Jones

17         brought this up:  The applicant, Sean's Outpost,

18         did not -- we weren't -- we are not fighting

19         currently today the fact that we had to make a

20         development review submittal.  We gave in to

21         that.  We gave up on that fight.  We lost.

22               We filed the application for the

23         development permit.  We paid the fee, $859.

24         We're here.  We know that we are going through

25         some process of approval.

170



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 170

1               The question -- and I think Ms. Rigby

2         pointed this out in her discussion with the

3         staff.  And I think the staff's articulation

4         back to you shows very clearly the tension and

5         the problems that we're having.

6               We're not talking about a subdivision.  We

7         know what a subdivision is.  We're not talking

8         about a KOA campground, which I think Mr. Grimes

9         stated eloquently his position on that.

10               It doesn't matter whether it's going to be

11         a homeless camp or a KOA campground.  Mr. Grimes

12         is going to be opposed to somebody doing

13         something to make this property behind him not

14         vacant.

15               It's commercial property.  It's currently

16         vacant.  We wanted to use the use that we're

17         doing now.  The magistrate addresses that in

18         page two of the original order.

19               And he says -- and he goes, "The county

20         position is that the change of use from vacant

21         to the existing use is a, quote, 'development',

22         pursuant to the Land Development Code."

23               I get that.  Mr. Holmer pointed it out.

24         He said, "That's why we had to file the

25         application."  We agreed.  We did so.

171



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 171

1               And so what is it that we were doing?

2         Just that.  Just that.  We want that use to be

3         approved.  And we know that that use is approved

4         because the code says it's approved, and the

5         staff has already testified earlier they told

6         you this is an allowable use.

7               So what, then, is it that needed to be

8         approved?  And it gets to the point of where

9         we -- of where we are.  The code -- look at the

10         provisions.  And Mr. Holmer had them up there.

11               It says here, "The specific provisions

12         identified in the appeal application are

13         applicable.  Make sure that these are applicable

14         to the decision."

15               Well, look in your package.  Look at my

16         letter of October the 27th.  You have that

17         package before you.  I state that at the DRC,

18         the issue is narrowed to the county claim that

19         the design standard manual, DSM, Section 2.2

20         required the construction of an all-weather

21         access road.

22               And you heard Mr. Jones testify in

23         response to Ms. Rigby's question.  What is it?

24         Because the development order doesn't say.  Just

25         says, "Denied.  See below."  Nothing there.

172



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 172

1               And he said it's the access road and the

2         stormwater that would be associated with it.

3         But we know from the testimony that stormwater

4         is not required if there's no access road

5         required.

6               So the question is:  Is there an access

7         road?  Is that required?  Staff said DSM 2.2

8         requires that.  We didn't hear any testimony or

9         evidence submitted to that today.

10               But in any event, we -- the applicant said

11         to the DRC:  "Okay.  Issue the permit contingent

12         upon the access road.  Make it a condition."

13               Staff says, "We can't do that because it

14         wasn't on the application.  We can't add to it."

15         But you see, you've got -- you've got special

16         conditions all the time.  Go back and do the

17         stormwater -- the flood plain analysis.  And all

18         kinds of conditions that are put on there.

19               We don't think this road's necessary.  And

20         the reason, again -- and point this out --

21         because we're not doing anything.  We're not

22         developing anything.

23               We're simply asking for what is the use.

24         And that's what the magistrate said.  The

25         change -- the existing use is vacant.  We know

173



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 173

1         that.

2               What is the use now?  Well, people are

3         there.  There went the battery.  They're using

4         it.  It's a residential use.  We know that the

5         use is allowed under the code.  The question is:

6         How do you get to a point in which you, the

7         county, can approve?

8               MR. JONES:  Probably need to get to the

9         mic.  Be able to hear you and record it.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  How do we get to a position

11         in which the county . . .

12               (Microphone stand collapses.)

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  Because it's happened

14         before.

15               MR. HOLMER:  I got it.  It happened to you

16         the last time.

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I'm just going

18         to hold it so it doesn't drop through.

19               MR. HOLMER:  There you go.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  So that's the whole point.

21         What is it that we're doing?  It's the use.  It

22         was vacant.  You know that there was a

23         trailer -- two trailers on there.  Hauled the

24         trailers off.  It was used as a dump, so we're

25         using it for residential use and temporary

174



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 174

1         shelters, so that's -- that is the issue that's

2         before you.  That's the clear matter that is

3         before you on this case.

4               We believe that you, based on the fact

5         that you've seen, can overturn staff and issue

6         the denial -- and issue the permit.

7               If you feel uncomfortable with that, then

8         we are asking, just as we asked the DRC, then

9         overturn staff's condition, issue the permit and

10         condition it on the implementation or the

11         building of an all-weather road.

12               Again, I point out that we're not doing

13         anything.  There's no -- the only reason the

14         road it said was there was for the

15         porta-potties.  Of course, you know, that's --

16         we're past that point.  If you want to make it a

17         condition, then do so.  You have that authority.

18               The staff said that it's black and white

19         and there are no shades of gray, but if this

20         were the case, there wouldn't be an appeal

21         process.  You act as the planning director.

22         Planning director has a lot of discretion in the

23         review and interpretation of the Land

24         Development Code.

25               As has already been stated, this is a use

175



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 175

1         that has never been permitted in Escambia

2         County.  I get that.  It's a difficult decision.

3         It's one that the staff needed your support.  It

4         needed a board of citizen-appointed persons who

5         can say to the county and to the -- our citizens

6         that, "You know what?  This is an allowable

7         use."

8               People are living in Escambia County in a

9         tent all the time.  We ought to give them a

10         place that is permissible, and this landowner is

11         doing so.  It's a commercial zoned property,

12         heavy commercial, light industrial.  We didn't

13         even go into all the details as to what could be

14         permitted in this type of location in this type

15         of area.

16               The densities for this property, of which

17         there are currently 15 dwellings, people who are

18         dwelling on this eight acres, the densities in

19         here well exceed hundreds, the number of people

20         who could be permittable living in this area,

21         neighbors to the Mayfair Subdivision.

22               We get it that it's an unpopular use.  We

23         get it that people are justifiably -- are

24         regrettably concerned about the people who don't

25         have permanent housing, but as you stated -- as

176



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 176

1         you've heard from the director, and as you see

2         from the detailed analysis and the detailed

3         operations manual, this is a well-run process.

4               Code Enforcement is -- I promise you that

5         the county is well aware of 1999 Massachusetts.

6         Code Enforcement knows where we are.  If there

7         were issues regarding nuisance or any type

8         thing, they would be written up.  We would be

9         written up.  Those have not come before you.

10               There's not been the clearing that was

11         talked about, trees.  There's not been any

12         adverse use of the property.  In fact, the only

13         competent substantial evidence before you is

14         that the property has been greatly improved.

15         It's been greatly improved from its previous

16         use.  That use is for the housing of persons who

17         don't have permanent housing in Escambia County,

18         and that is the use that Sean's Outpost requests

19         that you allow to continue.

20               We allow -- we request that it be granting

21         of the permit without the road, but if you

22         believe that that is, in fact, a DSM 2.2

23         requirement, then condition that on the issuance

24         of the permit and give us the permit.  Thank

25         you.

177



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 177

1               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

2               Board, any questions of the applicant?

3               (No response.)

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions of

5         the applicant?

6               (No response.)

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  The Chair will now

8         entertain a motion regarding this item.  In your

9         motion, please state whether or not you adopt

10         staff's findings of fact.

11               If for any reason you do not accept

12         staff's finding of fact, please go through the

13         criteria and address each one specifically as

14         why you do not concur with staff's findings.

15               Do we have a motion?

16               MS. RIGBY:  I thought we didn't have a

17         staff's finding of fact per se on an appeal.

18               MR. HOLMER:  There's not.  That

19         boilerplate language . . . Sorry.  That's

20         boilerplate language because most cases that

21         come before us -- Once again this is a different

22         case.  Y'all are deciding to overturn the denial

23         or, you know, agree with the denial is basically

24         what's . . .

25               MS. RIGBY:  In overturning the denial, we

178



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 178

1         don't -- do we therefore -- we don't therefore

2         accept the development order; correct?  Because

3         then that would be acting as a development

4         review specialist.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Which you are.  I mean, just

6         for clarification.  The code -- Land Development

7         Code says that you in the appeal have all of the

8         authority as the planning director for the

9         county.  You are now the planning director for

10         the county.

11               MR. HOLMER:  And it's the highlighted

12         portion right there in front of you.

13               Also remind you about the technical

14         specifications to exempt any development from

15         required review or approval by the authority.

16         You know, you can't change technical standards

17         or the application therefor.  You are deciding

18         was the -- was the denial good or bad,

19         essentially.

20               MS. HUAL:  If you could just scroll up to

21         the . . . board finding right there.

22               MR. HOLMER:  There you go.

23               MS. HUAL:  So in essence, if you decide

24         that the appeal -- decision was an error, in

25         which case you may wish to reverse it or modify

179



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 179

1         it, or you may find -- affirm that decision.

2         Those are the options.  And the decision was to

3         deny the development order.

4               MR. HOLMER:  Correct.

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  So bottom line:  We

6         either accept or deny.

7               MS. HUAL:  Affirm.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Affirm or deny.  Affirm

9         or deny.

10               MR. CASEY:  Mr. Chairman, I have a

11         question.

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  You may affirm in

13         whole or in part.  And by that I mean modify it.

14         Okay.

15               MR. DUNAWAY:  Deny and or remand -- well,

16         in that case, yes.

17               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Or remand it.

18               MS. HUAL:  Well, if you're not affirming,

19         meaning you're reversing in whole or in part and

20         you add modification with an instruction, then

21         that would entail remanding.

22               MR. JONES:  And -- and -- and attorney, I

23         would suggest that if that is the decision, I

24         want specific and -- specifics on what this

25         board is directing.  If that's the case, I'm

180



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 180

1         going to be asking to request so that they'll

2         know . . . we'll know on what we are looking for

3         if there is a remand, based upon the Land

4         Development Code.

5               MR. GANT:  Let me see the rest of

6         Paragraph B in its totality.  I can't see it.

7               Thank you.

8               MR. CASEY:  Mr. Chair, my question is, I

9         guess just being straight, without trying to

10         search for the wording, is in the case of

11         accepting staff's finding of denial, where does

12         the applicant go from here?

13               Can he go back and do the re-ap to

14         complete the requirements?  I'm not sure if

15         that's something that staff could answer or the

16         applicant could answer.

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  I'd be happy to answer for

18         Mr. Casey, subject to the staff's . . .

19               MR. JONES:  Go ahead -- comments.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  The Land Development Code

21         provides for the opportunity to appeal the Board

22         of Adjustment's decisions to a Circuit Court.

23         Circuit Court then would rule as to the legality

24         of the action here.

25               So that would -- that would be the next

181



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 181

1         step if the board affirmed, essentially, the

2         staff denial.

3               MS. HUAL:  I think Mr. Casey's question

4         was whether or not the applicant would have the

5         opportunity to go back to the DRC and meet the

6         stated requirements that were deficient --

7               MR. CASEY:  Correct.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  Under the current --

9               MS. HUAL:  -- on the first go-round.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  -- procedural requirements

11         that are before us that were set by special

12         magistrate Beasley in the order that you were --

13         submitted and that you have, the options that

14         the special magistrate gave the applicant were:

15         Obtain the permit or cease the activity within

16         90 days of final appeal.

17               So we know in that circumstance that under

18         the current Land Development Code, an appeal of

19         a staff decision is not the same as a

20         conditional use, so there's no 90-day or 180-day

21         cooling-off period.

22               We could resubmit, but we started this

23         process over a year ago the first time, so we

24         would be -- we only have 30 days to appeal, so

25         the appeal process to the Circuit Court is much

182



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 182

1         faster than we know that we could ever get any

2         action at the county level.  Otherwise, we would

3         trigger the special magistrate's requirement

4         that we vacate the use.

5               MS. HUAL:  When did the clock start on the

6         90 days?

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  The clock starts on the 90

8         days when final appeal is rendered.

9               MS. HUAL:  Okay.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  So I couldn't afford not to

11         do that because I won't have time in the 30 days

12         to get something resolved to meet the

13         magistrate's order, so that's why I say the

14         practical consequence of that would be an appeal

15         to Circuit Court, of which we would do.

16               We would much prefer that if you had

17         some -- if you had some concern about that, that

18         you remand because a remand back from this board

19         would keep us out of the jurisdiction of the

20         special magistrate and would be able to allow

21         that process to continue under the -- under your

22         guidance.  You are the planning director now.

23               MR. JONES:  I would like to add -- Thank

24         you, Mr. Dunaway, for that legal -- and Madam

25         Attorney, that, again -- just -- just for

183



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 183

1         clarification, don't know what you're going to

2         decide but -- if determine that if you continue

3         to come back, with the understanding that it

4         still must meet the requirements.

5               And we do need to -- and I will suggest

6         that we give it a timeline, a reasonable

7         timeline.  This has been going on for quite a

8         while.

9               We -- we -- because I know that they want

10         closure.  We got to get closure to the

11         community.  We got to give closure for ourself.

12         This has been going on a good length of time.

13               So -- so -- so -- so those conditions

14         of -- we're discussing, but that's the case with

15         the attorneys, we can be specific -- specific on

16         what we're looking at and what staff is required

17         to do and what they expect per the Land

18         Development Code, if that is the case.

19               MR. HOLMER:  I just want to point out:  A

20         remand, going back, getting a second bite of the

21         apple, seeing could it meet it, that doesn't

22         address the question before you today.

23               MR. JONES:  Absolutely.  Thank you.

24               MR. HOLMER:  The question before you today

25         is, was that denial arbitrary, capricious?

184



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 184

1         Really, it all boils down to that.  It's not

2         could they go back and get another chance and

3         make it?  Hey, we don't know.  At the heart of

4         the matter, we need some sort of finding from

5         this board on the issue of the day.

6               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  But what I'm seeing,

7         you're asking me -- asking us was the denial

8         arbitrary and capricious?  But all we know is

9         that it was denied because it didn't meet some

10         standards.  What are those standards?

11               MR. HOLMER:  I went through that.  I

12         discussed those, which we talked about.  Yes, we

13         talked about the roadway and what that could

14         trip.  I discussed the buffering requirements

15         that weren't met.  I discussed the labeling.

16               MS. RIGBY:  But you said there was other

17         things.  If we had a list of -- and -- and I

18         guess that's what I'm looking for.  I'm used to

19         seeing it, is that we denied you -- we denied

20         you, Mr. Applicant, because of this list.

21               MR. DUNAWAY:  "See below."

22               MS. RIGBY:  And the applicant can say,

23         "Yeah.  I better do that."

24               Then, yes, you denied it and it was -- it

25         was a fair denial because the applicant is not

185



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 185

1         going to do it.

2               The applicant has stated that you want a

3         road.  To me, it seems like this road came last,

4         but I don't know because I don't have

5         documentation that says when the road came into

6         play or -- What I think happened here -- and I'm

7         basing on just the information given -- is that

8         this at first was a square peg that was going to

9         fit in a square hole, and everybody on the board

10         knew what was going on.

11               That square peg rounded because they

12         decided they couldn't afford to do the bathhouse

13         or -- or the structure, so the square peg became

14         round.  But we've still got this square hole.

15         Okay?

16               So now we have to somehow figure out how

17         this square -- this round peg can fit into the

18         square hole.  And through that process, there

19         has been many variations of comments that, okay,

20         well, since you're not doing this anymore, the

21         bathhouse, the permanent structures, you're now

22         doing this, now these are your criteria to fall

23         under.

24               Like he said, we're doing nothing.  What

25         do you want us to do if we're doing nothing?

186



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 186

1         This is an animal all in and of itself.  This

2         probably is not in the LDC, as far as

3         performance standards, as far as criteria, to a

4         certain degree.  I don't know.

5               I would -- in my mind, I would think that

6         they would be looking at this as a campground,

7         and what are the criteria, the conformity of a

8         campground, and do they meet them.

9               They meet the standards A through G but

10         they don't meet standard S, Q, L and M.  I

11         can -- I can -- I can -- I can say, "Yes, your

12         denial was correct."  But not knowing specifics,

13         in general that is arbitrary.

14               MR. HOLMER:  You've talked about doing

15         subdivisions.  Different animal.  Fully

16         understand that.  You're going through that

17         process.

18               When you get to the stage for a

19         development order, let's say your preliminary

20         plat.  As to those comments, one of the things

21         you get and you get signed off is from each

22         reviewer signing that disposition sheet saying,

23         "Hey, everything's done."

24               MS. RIGBY:  Mm-hmm.

25               MR. HOLMER:  We move forward.  Because

187



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 187

1         that's your thing, saying, "Hey, I met all their

2         conditions."

3               MS. RIGBY:  Right.

4               MR. HOLMER:  We don't have that.  It

5         didn't meet all the conditions before going to

6         the sign-off stage.  Once again --

7               MS. RIGBY:  Why did it go to final if it

8         didn't meet that step?

9               MR. JONES:  Because -- I would like to --

10         to submit this for -- in evidence.  The

11         evidence -- And I know that Mr. Rigby -- I mean

12         Mr. Dunaway definitely has this.

13               There was a letter forwarded to him by

14         order of the special magistrate stating that we

15         had to send a copy of these comments to Mr.

16         Dunaway, the comments that are -- that are right

17         here -- he got a copy -- stating on what he got

18         to do for the September 28th site plan review

19         meeting.  These comments right here.

20               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.

21               MR. GANT:  Read those comments.

22               MR. JONES:  Yes.  Yes, yes, yes.

23               For the record -- for the record -- I'm

24         quite certain that Mr. Dunaway has this letter.

25         Certain.

188



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 188

1               We need -- it says, one of the comments --

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, the only -- if

3         I could, the only reason I would object to this

4         is because the appeal that we're doing is coming

5         from DRC.  We're coming from a denial at DRC.

6               As Ms. Rigby knows, at DRC, lots of things

7         get resolved one way or the other.  Out of

8         DRC -- and I refer back to your standards for --

9         and that is, the specific LDC provision

10         identified in the appeal application, are they

11         appropriate?

12               The appeal application made clear, and

13         it's part of your record -- the appeal

14         application and the county -- the staff didn't

15         object to that.  They didn't -- and then they

16         didn't present any evidence contrary to that.

17               But the appeal -- and look at my letter of

18         October the 27th.  That's my appeal.  That's my

19         letter to you as the board, my appeal.

20               And it says, "At the DRC, the issue was

21         narrowed to the county claiming that the design

22         standard, DSM 2.2, required an all-weather

23         road."

24               And again, the testimony during the

25         hearing -- now we're in argument -- but the

189



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 189

1         testimony during the hearing was from Mr. Jones

2         this was narrowed to the road, the all-access

3         road.

4               And the reason it was is because the

5         county knew that the road would kill the

6         project.  It knew that, because I had been up

7         front with that since way back before.

8               I can't build a road if I don't have any

9         money.  I can't build a road, so is there a way

10         we can work through this process without the

11         road?

12               And -- and there was a time -- but at the

13         end, it turns out that, no, you can't.  And so

14         we said, "Well, condition the permit -- issue

15         the permit conditioned on the road."

16               But what's before you is an appeal of the

17         DRC, not appeal of staff's random comments

18         because I -- you know, we've got April comments.

19         We've got all kinds of comments out there.

20               But as you know, Ms. Rigby, it's what was

21         the denial at DRC.  And the DRC was narrowed to

22         the issue of the all-weather road, so we

23         believed that we were appealing the denial of

24         the staff based on an all-weather road.  That's

25         what we -- that's what we thought.

190



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 190

1               That's why we paid the $682.60 to make

2         this appeal, so we could bring it to you and

3         say, "One, we don't think the road is necessary

4         and we don't think the staff has proved it.  And

5         we didn't think they proved then.  We don't

6         think they proved it tonight -- I mean today."

7               But if it is, as we said at DRC, clearly

8         to the DRC, well, then, issue the permit

9         conditioned on it because everything else we've

10         done.  And that's what we appealed.  That's what

11         the third paragraph is, so that's what your

12         provision -- specific LDC provision.  Identify

13         in the appeal application, are they appropriate

14         to the decision, and was the decision not in

15         compliance with those provisions?

16               We think we've met all those objective

17         criteria, and the burden would shift under the

18         Irving standard.

19               So I would object to Mr. Jones now in

20         argument, after the hearing is closed and the

21         board is discussing, to introduce comments which

22         I acknowledge we received.  Absolutely.  We

23         received a bunch of comments throughout the

24         years, but we narrowed these issues down at DRC

25         to the 2.2 DSM, was an all-weather road

191



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 191

1         required?  That's what we appealed.

2               MR. JONES:  Now, in response to answering

3         the question -- there was a question asked

4         regarding -- because I think -- I think it's

5         perfectly clear that they stated that they did

6         not want to do, which is the primary -- one of

7         the primary concerns, which is probably most

8         costly for them.  That's not my issue.  That's

9         not my issue, the cost.

10               I think it was stated emphatically by Mr.

11         Stromquist that -- that they are aware of the

12         comments, but they did not meet the requirements

13         of complying on the site plan, to give us the

14         opportunity to review for stormwater for the

15         road in any other comments that that may trigger

16         this.

17               They acknowledge the fact that they

18         received the comments.  He just acknowledged the

19         fact that he got them.  He just acknowledged the

20         fact that they know that they can do it, but "we

21         really don't want to do it."

22               So I think -- and I think at this point,

23         the testimony is quite clear from Mr. Drew and

24         Mr. Dunaway of what the primary issues are

25         from -- from the comments that they received,

192



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 192

1         and they acknowledged those things.

2               So and if you -- and again, that's why I

3         say, we have those.  If you want to see them, we

4         can submit them right now.

5               But it has been acknowledged that they

6         have them.  We know why we're here.  Because we

7         just cannot and don't want to meet the

8         condition.  That's his -- his assertion, board,

9         his assertion that due to this condition, we

10         cannot -- our code does not allow for this

11         because other things that stated that -- that

12         this triggered this -- this triggered this.

13               It's in here.  They were aware of things

14         so we were -- but through that, Mr. Rigby -- Mr.

15         Dunaway already gave his closing remarks.

16               I'm just responding to the comments that

17         Ms. Rigby is stating to readdress that fact, not

18         to rehash this all over again.

19               And what he said by him was said by Mr.

20         Drew, too, for me.

21               MR. HOLMER:  The conditions . . . there

22         are conditions.  They're small things.  They

23         don't trigger other things.

24               The reason that the county approves a

25         development order, we want everything on that

193



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 193

1         site plan.  It's real simple.  We have

2         inspectors who go out to make sure everything

3         was done according to the plan on that piece of

4         paper.

5               If we were to conditionally approve

6         something, a road, we don't know how much

7         impervious surface.  We don't know how much

8         runoff.  We don't know how the stormwater is

9         going to be handled.

10               If the county approves the site plan

11         without all that -- without that stuff on there,

12         what happens when the complaints roll in?

13               MR. JONES:  Absolutely.

14               MR. HOLMER:  Well, I think they're causing

15         problems for me downstream.  Our inspector goes

16         out with a set of plans.  It's not on the plans.

17         It's, "Well, we're going to do this."  Where's

18         the calculations?

19               We're in a position if it's not on that

20         plan and we need it on that plan, we have to

21         stop it at that point.  There's a reason why

22         everything needs to be drawn on that plan.

23               And years down the road, someone could

24         have an issue.  "Was it drawn on the plan?"

25               "No, it wasn't drawn on the plan.  It was

194



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 194

1         just going to be worked out later."

2               Mr. Jones is correct.  We simply don't

3         have that leeway.  We're not doing that.  I'm

4         sorry.

5               MR. CASEY:  Mr. Chair, if I may say, you

6         know, what we're here to decide, if the process

7         was done correct.

8               And listening to everything, taking out

9         the emotions, I'm hearing that's -- and I'm

10         convinced that staff is saying that two

11         requirements weren't met.  And the applicant is

12         also understanding that the requirements weren't

13         met.

14               So that being said, you know, I'm

15         convinced that the process -- the justification

16         for staff to deny it, I'm in a position that --

17         I don't take it real light -- if all the

18         discussion's been taken care of, to move that we

19         accept the recommendation of staff's denial.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  We have a motion

21         to accept staff's finding of fact.

22               Do we have a second?

23               MS. GUND:  Well, I too believe that you

24         weren't doing nothing.  You were doing something

25         with the property, and going through the process

195



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 195

1         of the county.  And the county was in it for a

2         lot of years.  I mean, they know the process and

3         that the process was not followed, so I second.

4         I agree with Mr. Casey, and I second that

5         motion.

6               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a motion and we

7         have a second.  Second by Judy.  Motion by Mr.

8         Casey.

9               Discussion.

10               MS. HUAL:  Just to clarify, the motion is

11         to affirm the decision.

12               MR. CASEY:  Yes, the denial.

13               MS. HUAL:  Okay.

14               MR. CASEY:  Correct.

15               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Discussion?

16               (No response.)

17               THE CHAIRPERSON:  All those in favor,

18         signify by raising your right hand.

19               (Three hands raised.)

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Oh, boy.

21               Those opposed, likewise?

22               (Three hands raised.)

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  It's a tie vote, so the

24         staff's findings are accepted.  Okay.

25               MR. DUNAWAY:  Ms. Hual, may I ask a

196



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 196

1         procedural question?

2               MS. HUAL:  Yes.

3               MR. DUNAWAY:  Given the fact that we have

4         a three-three vote, and knowing that I have to

5         appeal that process, the motion was to accept

6         staff's findings of fact, which we know there

7         are no findings of fact.

8               MS. HUAL:  Which I asked for the

9         clarification.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  Then Ms. Gund stated the

11         process was not followed.

12               MS. GUND:  I'm sorry.

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  I would request --

14               MS. GUND:  The process was followed.  I'm

15         sorry.  I meant to say that the process -- the

16         county has a process, and it was followed.  It

17         was -- well, how do I put that?  I guess it was

18         not followed by you guys.

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  That's -- that's -- yeah,

20         that's what I heard -- I heard you say, that

21         Sean's Outpost did not follow the process.  And

22         so I don't know what to appeal.

23               MR. GANT:  I think the -- the vote was to

24         affirm the staff's -- approve -- approve the

25         staff's decision -- findings and decision, so I

197



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 197

1         think that's -- is that correct?

2               MS. HUAL:  That was what I understood.

3         And that was why I made a point of clarifying,

4         to be sure that that was, in fact, Mr. Casey's

5         motion.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  I just -- And I

7         understood that.  It's just that there were no

8         findings of fact.

9               MS. HUAL:  No.  I think it was to affirm

10         the decision.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.

12               MS. HUAL:  Is that true, Mr. Casey?

13               MR. CASEY:  Yes, absolutely.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other business?

15               (No response.)

16               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, ma'am.  We do have a

17         variance case on the 21st at 8:30 a.m.

18               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Without objection, we

19         stand adjourned.

20               (Hearing concluded at 12:31 p.m.)

21

22

23

24

25

198



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 198

1

2

3                 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

4

5

6 STATE OF FLORIDA     )

                     )

7 COUNTY OF ESCAMBIA   )

8

9        I, DAVID A. DEIK, CP, CPE, Professional Court

10 Reporter, certify that I was authorized to and did

11 stenographically report the foregoing Board of

12 Adjustment proceedings; and that the transcript is a

13 true record of the proceedings contained herein.

14        I further certify that I am not a relative,

15 employee, attorney, or counsel to any of the parties,

16 nor am I a relative or employee of any of the parties'

17 attorney or counsel connected with the action, nor am I

18 financially interested in the action.

19

20

21

22

23              _____________________________

             DAVID A. DEIK, CP, CPE

24              Professional Court Reporter

25

199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 1

          ESCAMBIA COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

                    SPECIAL MEETING

                         - - -

CASE NO.:          AP-2016-01

ADDRESS:           1999 Massachusetts Avenue

REQUESTED APPEAL:  Appeal of the Development Review

                   Committee denial of project

                   #PSP160400044, Sean's Outpost

REQUESTED BY:      William J. Dunaway, Agent for

                   Sean's Outpost, Inc.

________________________________________________________

             Proceedings held in the above-styled cause

before the Escambia County Board of Adjustment on the

7th day of December 2016, commencing at 8:30 a.m., at

Escambia County Central Office Complex, 3363 West Park

Place, Room 104, Pensacola, Florida, reported by David

A. Deik, CP, CPE, Professional Reporter.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 2

1                       APPEARANCES
2

       BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEMBERS:
3

       AUBY SMITH, Chairman
4

       KRISTEN HUAL, ESQ., County Attorney
5

       JESSE CASEY
6

       FREDERICK GANT
7

       JUDY GUND
8

       MARK ROBINSON
9

       BILL STROMQUIST
10

       JENNIFER RIGBY
11
12        BOARD STAFF PRESENT:
13        Horace Jones, Department Director

       Andrew D. Holmer, Development Services Manager
14

       Debbie Lockhart, Administrative Assistant
15        Development Services, Planning Division
16

       FOR APPELLANT SEAN'S OUTPOST:
17

       CLARK PARTINGTON
18        BY:  WILLIAM J. DUNAWAY, ESQUIRE

       125 West Romana Street
19        Pensacola, Florida 32502
20
21
22
23
24
25



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 3

1                   INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS

2

DESCRIPTION                                       PAGE

3

4 PROCEEDINGS.........................................4

5 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER...........................198

6                          - - -

7                    INDEX OF WITNESSES

8

NAME                                              PAGE

9

10 MICHAEL KIMBREL....................................59

11

RICHARD PIERCE GRIMES, III........................128

12   Cross-Examination by Mr. Dunaway................138

13

CATHERINE B. KELLY................................141

14   Cross-Examination by Mr. Dunaway................144

15

MICHAEL KIMBREL  (recalled)

16   Direct Examination by Mr. Dunaway...............148

17

LOUIS JOLLY.......................................156

18

19 HELEN JOLLY.......................................158

20

21

22

23

24

25



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 4

1                  P R O C E E D I N G S

2               (Board staff members were duly sworn.)

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Members of the Board,

4         copies of staff resumes have previously been

5         provided and remain on file for reference.

6               The Board has previously recognized staff

7         as expert witnesses.  Does anyone have any

8         questions regarding their qualifications and

9         abilities to offer expert testimony?

10               (No response.)

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Seeing none, the Board

12         of Adjustment meeting package for December 7,

13         2016, with development service staff findings of

14         fact has previously been provided to the board

15         members.

16               The Chair will entertain a motion to

17         accept the BOA meeting package into evidence.

18         Do we have a motion?

19               MR. STROMQUIST:  So moved.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a motion by

21         Bill.

22               MS. GUND:  Second.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a second by

24         Judy.

25               Those in favor, signify by raising your



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 5

1         right hand?

2               (All board members raised their hand,

3         Mr. Gant not present.)

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Passing unanimously.

5               Do we have proof of publication?

6               MS. LOCKHART:  Yes, sir, we do.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Did the publication meet

8         all legal requirements?

9               MS. LOCKHART:  Yes, it did.

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  The Chair will now

11         entertain a motion to waive the reading of the

12         legal advertisement.  Do we have a motion?

13               MR. STROMQUIST:  So moved.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Motion by Bill.

15               MS. GUND:  Second.

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Second by Judy.

17               Those in favor, signify by raising your

18         right hand.

19               (All board members raised their hand,

20         Mr. Gant not present.)

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Passes unanimously.

22               MS. GUND:  The Board of Adjustment, the

23         BOA, hears administrative appeals, variances and

24         conditional use requests.  These hearings are

25         quasi-judicial in nature.  Quasi-judicial



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 6

1         hearings are like evidentiary hearings in a

2         court of law but less formal.

3               All public testimony will be taken under

4         oath, and anyone testifying before the BOA may

5         be subject to cross-examination.

6               All documents and exhibits that the BOA

7         considers are entered into evidence and made

8         part of the record.

9               (Mr. Gant entered the hearing room.)

10               MS. GUND:  The giving of opinion testimony

11         will be limited to experts, and closing

12         arguments will be limited to the evidence in the

13         record.

14               After hearing the testimony and arguments

15         for and against the proposed action and before

16         making its decision, the BOA will consider the

17         relevant testimony, exhibits entered into

18         evidence and the applicable law.

19               Because the decision of the BOA relating

20         to variances, conditional uses and extension of

21         the Development Code order for site plans are

22         final, unless overturned by a court of competent

23         jurisdiction, the county may issue development

24         orders and permits for properties in accordance

25         with the decision of the BOA.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 7

1               However, if an applicant requests the

2         issuance of any such order or permit and such

3         order or permit is issued, the applicant and not

4         the county shall bear any risk that such

5         decision may be set aside, the development order

6         or permit may be revoked, or the development may

7         be otherwise enjoined by the reviewing court.

8               Any application for relief from the

9         decision of the BOA's said action for any

10         aggrieved party, as defined by state law, may be

11         reviewed by petition and by filing an

12         appropriate pleading in a court of competent

13         jurisdiction within 30 days of the BOA decision.

14         The date of the BOA decision shall be the date

15         the BOA voted at the conclusion of the hearing.

16               Whenever the BOA denies an application, no

17         new application for identical action on the same

18         parcel shall be accepted for consideration

19         within a period of 180 days of the BOA decision.

20               Any person aggrieved by a decision of the

21         BOA relating to an appeal of an administrative

22         decision may within 15 days thereafter apply to

23         the Circuit Court for review.

24               Each individual who wishes to address the

25         board regarding a particular issue must complete



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 8

1         a request-to-speak form and submit it to the

2         clerk.  These forms are located on the back of

3         the table of the commission chambers.  You will

4         not be allowed to speak until we receive one of

5         these completed request-to-speak forms.  We must

6         have these completed forms for public record.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  They're in the back.

8         They've turned green today, but they're in the

9         back.

10               All written or oral communications at the

11         time of this hearing with members of the Board

12         of Adjustment regarding matters under review

13         today are considered ex parte communications.

14               Ex parte communications are presumed

15         prejudicial under Florida law and must be

16         disclosed as provided in Board of County

17         Commission Resolution 96-13 before a decision by

18         this board or any administrative appeal variance

19         or conditional use request.

20               The Chair will ask as each case is heard

21         that any board member who has been involved in

22         any ex parte communication regarding the

23         respective issue to please identify themselves

24         and describe the communication.

25               The case we're addressing today is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 9

1         AP-2016-01, 1999 Massachusetts Avenue.

2               Board members, has there been any ex parte

3         communication regarding this case?

4               (No response.)

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Seeing none, would like

6         for the minutes to reflect that we have a

7         seventh member present today, so we have seven

8         board members present.

9               Does any board member intend to refrain

10         from voting due to a voting conflict of

11         interest?

12               MR. ROBINSON:  I do.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have one.  The new

14         board member, Mark, will abstain from voting.

15         So that will give us six voting present.

16               Does anyone have knowledge or information

17         obtained from a site visit or other sources?

18               It should be noted that the Chair visited

19         the site.

20               Would the individuals who are a party to

21         this item please come to the podium, identify

22         yourself, and by stating your name and address

23         for the record, be sworn in by the clerk.

24               MR. DUNAWAY:  My name is Will Dunaway,

25         with the law firm of Clark Partington.  I



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 10

1         represent the applicant, Sean's Outpost.

2               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  You will not have

3         to be sworn, as an attorney.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  The applicant does intend to

5         present witnesses and would present our

6         applicant rep, who will be Michael Kimbrel.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  All right, sir.  You've

8         been provided with a copy of staff's findings of

9         fact.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  We have been provided with a

11         copy of staff's findings.  There were no facts,

12         but we anticipate that that was what was part of

13         your board package that you just admitted into

14         evidence.

15               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Correct.

16               Would you like to go ahead and make a

17         presentation, or . . .

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, if you like, I

19         could run through the PowerPoint, just to get

20         everybody acquainted.

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Is that okay with you,

22         Counsel?

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, that will

24         be -- I'm not sure if the mic's working, but in

25         any event, if anyone can hear, that would be



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 11

1         fine.

2               Two procedural points:  I would note that,

3         again, Mr. Kimbrel has not yet been sworn but

4         can be sworn prior to him being called as a

5         witness.  And I would assume the same thing

6         would be for Mr. Jones, who was not present when

7         staff was sworn.

8               I would like to inquire, if I could, Mr.

9         Chairman.  On a matter of voir dire, there was

10         an indication that the Chairman had visited the

11         site.  I'd like to inquire as to when that was

12         and in whose presence.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That was . . .  Let's

14         see.  What's today?  Today is . . .

15               MR. DUNAWAY:  December the 7th.

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Wednesday, December 7th.

17         That would have been Saturday.  And I was alone.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.  And

19         that was the site at 1999 Massachusetts.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Correct.

21               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

22               And were you able to fully visit the

23         entire site, the whole eight acres?

24               THE CHAIRPERSON:  No, I was not.  I didn't

25         transgress anywhere that there was a posted



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 12

1         sign.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  The posted sign that was on

3         the neighbor's property where the chain was?

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  So you just

6         simply observed it from Massachusetts?

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  The public right-of-way?

9               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

11               And at that time, did you see that there

12         was the posted -- or the sign that staff had

13         posted announcing tonight's -- today's meeting?

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

15               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  And a mailbox?

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I didn't notice a

17         mailbox.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

19               THE CHAIRPERSON:  But I did see the sign.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  And I

21         don't have any further voir dire.

22               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Sure.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Nor any challenge.  Thank

24         you.

25               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Sure.  Okay, sir.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 13

1               MR. HOLMER:  All right, sir.  We'll just

2         go through the maps here.  This is, once again,

3         Appeal Case 2016-01.

4               This is our location map.  This is our

5         500-foot radius map, showing zoning on site.

6         Heavy commercial, light industrial.  Our future

7         land use on site is mixed-use urban.

8               This is the 2013 aerial map of the site.

9         This is a map indicating the national wetlands

10         inventory layer showing wetlands on site.

11               This is a map of the 2500 foot mailing

12         radius the postcards were sent out to.  This is

13         the public hearing sign.  Original posting, it

14         fell over in the weather.  It's telling when --

15         it's tied to the street sign to hold it up.

16               This is just a photo of the site entrance.

17         And this is another photo looking east on

18         Massachusetts showing the sign, and that's the

19         mailbox that was being referred to.

20               And this is the site plan.  This is the

21         one that was involved with the denial.  This is

22         one that was submitted with a September date

23         that I circled in red.  And I have all these --

24         we can zoom in on on the pdf.

25               And Mr. Dunaway is correct.  With an



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 14

1         appeal, we don't go ahead and do findings ahead

2         of time.  We just basically do a background of

3         the case and the criteria.

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Is that okay with you,

5         Counselor, if we let staff proceed with the --

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh, yes, sir.  Absolutely.

7         We prefer that.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Generally we just go

9         ahead with applicant's opening and then --

10               MR. HOLMER:  Okay.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  And go from there.

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Would you like to make

13         an opening statement, then, or your client?

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  No; we'd take

15         that opportunity, if we could.

16               If I may ask a note of procedure, Mr.

17         Chairman, does this end the staff's presentation

18         of the evidence on this matter, or would they --

19         I mean, do they want to go after we go and call

20         witnesses?  How would the board prefer?  Because

21         I want to do it the way you --

22               MR. HOLMER:  I mean, it's a quasi-judicial

23         hearing.  It's not as formal.  We can follow the

24         usual plaintiff/defendant, et cetera.

25               THE CHAIRPERSON:  The usual procedure is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 15

1         for y'all to make your -- make your

2         presentation, and then followed by staff's

3         findings, and then there will be discussion and

4         questions.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Perfectly

6         acceptable.

7               If I could, though, before I start with my

8         presentation, because we were provided with the

9         package that is publicly available, but that

10         package is different than just the view of the

11         slides, so I would be happy -- I would be -- it

12         would be helpful for me to understand what that

13         was that was included in the evidence that you

14         accepted, the staff report.  And would that be

15         different from that that was provided on the

16         link that's publicly available?

17               MR. HOLMER:  Right.  The PowerPoint is

18         just a cleaned-up version.  There are some

19         documents in there that I was going to show the

20         board and zoom in on the criteria.

21               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

22               MR. HOLMER:  That they're going to need.

23         I have the package.  Sorry.  The mouse doesn't

24         work so good on this.

25               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I only asked



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 16

1         this so that I can understand what my -- how to

2         tailor my presentation.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Sure.

4               MR. HOLMER:  Here we go.  This will be the

5         link.  The web page.  Once again, there are the

6         maps.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

8               MR. HOLMER:  Zoom in.  There's the letter.

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  Good.  And so that's

10         part of the package.

11               MR. HOLMER:  Oh, yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.

12         Absolutely.

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  Just making sure.

14               MR. HOLMER:  Here.  Let's go through --

15         would you like to -- do you want to go through

16         the whole thing?

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  If we could, yeah, what the

18         board was presented as a package.

19               MR. HOLMER:  Absolutely.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  So we know what's in

21         evidence already.

22               MR. HOLMER:  Okay.  So we have the letter

23         from Mr. Dunaway.  We have the proof of

24         ownership.  Articles of incorporation.  We have

25         the deed.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 17

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  So we do have the

2         compatibility and locational criteria analysis.

3               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.

5               The traffic report.

6               MR. HOLMER:  Traffic report.

7               This is the receipt.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.  This was the payment

9         of the $682.60 appeal fee.

10               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Following the $859

12         application fee.

13               MR. HOLMER:  Oh, the DRC, yeah.

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

15               MR. HOLMER:  This isn't the best version

16         of Adobe to work with.  Do you want to . . .

17         Okay.  This is -- what we're working with here

18         is the site plan that was submitted.  It's going

19         to be a little bit difficult to see on

20         eight-and-a-half by eleven paper.  That's what I

21         said:  We've got the digital version we can work

22         through.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

24               MR. HOLMER:  And this has all the pages,

25         the plan.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 18

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  So just for clarity, those

2         pages are the scanned versions of the full-size

3         plan that we submitted to the staff as part of

4         the Landmark Engineering site plan.

5               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  All right.

7               MR. HOLMER:  Those are the ones that are

8         on the county files, once again the September --

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Right.

10               MR. HOLMER:  -- plan.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  With the notes and the

12         information there.

13               MR. HOLMER:  Yes.

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  So that -- and that's

15         everything?

16               MR. HOLMER:  That should be the last page.

17         It is.  Yeah.  The last document is going to be

18         the page after this, which is going to be . . .

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  That's fine.  This

20         is --

21               MR. HOLMER:  C-1, I think.

22               MR. DUNAWAY:  This would be a good

23         place -- if we could keep this on the screen

24         with this as the -- with the site plan that

25         we've drawn up, that's -- no.  That other one.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 19

1               MR. HOLMER:  The next one?

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yeah, the next one.  It

3         should have . . .

4               MR. HOLMER:  Computer's running a little

5         slow.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yeah.  Understood.

7               It's actually the first one.  I mean,

8         well, that's the first one.  Then there's -- it

9         would be the one that shows the location of the

10         site.  That's okay.  It's going to be that one.

11         This is going to be the last.  I think this is

12         it.  Nope.

13               MR. HOLMER:  Oh.

14               MR. DUNAWAY:  Go up.  That's it.  That's

15         it.

16               Mr. Chairman, with your permission, may I

17         address the board from my seated position at

18         table or would you prefer that I address from

19         the podium?

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I believe if we don't

21         have you at the podium, it won't record.

22               MR. HOLMER:  He has a microphone.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Oh.  That will work.

24               MR. DUNAWAY:  And we have a court

25         reporter.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 20

1               MR. HOLMER:  Button's on the bottom.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  So we have a

3         microphone that's on.

4               So with your permission, Mr. Chairman

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Please.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

7         Mr. Chairman, as is indicated, and members of

8         the board, we're here on an appeal of the staff

9         decision of a denial of the DRC for a permit

10         essentially to have a use of this HCLI, heavy

11         commercial, light industrial property,

12         approximately a little over eight acres.

13               And the use that we are asking was simply

14         so that it be residential.  And those

15         residential are housed in temporary structures.

16               This is a homeless area.  Let's make no

17         bones about what we are and what Sean's Outpost

18         has been doing for the last three to four years.

19               Let's just start, go back to the beginning

20         of the acquisition of this property by Sean's

21         Outpost, my client.  This is an enterprising

22         group of people who came into the opportunity to

23         purchase this heavy commercial, light industrial

24         zoned area, which, as the Chairman knows, having

25         visited, and as you've seen from the aerials, is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 21

1         at the bottom of Massachusetts, the lowest

2         point, as the -- essentially, the series of

3         drainage canals that connect with old burrow

4         pits, come through that area draining out,

5         essentially, everything north from Marcus Pointe

6         all the way down.

7               So a large percentage of the property --

8         and you can see from the aerial almost half of

9         it, that is the easternmost half, is underwater.

10         I mean, it's a swamp.  It's wetlands.  And it's

11         actually active standing water.

12               And so the upland area is a smaller area.

13         Now, you have seen and you will note that from

14         your -- the aerials, that the property is an odd

15         shape.  It would have been a nice -- I don't

16         know that it's a square, but let's call it a

17         four-sided parallelogram, so it would have

18         evened up, but you see this odd thing that

19         sticks out of it.

20               This was formerly ECUA property.  There is

21         an ECUA former -- an old lift station here, that

22         as you can imagine in -- it's a low area.

23         Gravity works.  You have to move things uphill.

24         There was a lift station here.

25               That was replaced.  There's a large -- and



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 22

1         you'll see that it's transecting across the

2         property.  It's a large easement area that runs

3         across, and there's a main ECUA access to keep

4         that pipe flowing.  Yeah, Mr. Holmer's got it,

5         or whoever's operating that is showing that

6         correctly.

7               So ECUA owned that odd piece, that you see

8         that it juts out on the western side.  And

9         there's been past uses of the property, but

10         mainly there was -- there's an old pad.  There

11         were several trailers, and there were some folks

12         that -- that lived out there, but mainly the

13         purpose of it was as an ECUA.

14               From Massachusetts on that western side --

15         and you'll see this area.  And if I may, I'm

16         referring -- Y'all are not going to be able to

17         see this, but if you're talking about the

18         westernmost -- you'll look at your -- at your

19         drawing, you'll see what looks like a road.

20               That connected back.  It was a dirt road,

21         and it was the access that ECUA used off of, and

22         you could go both from Massachusetts, and you

23         could go all the way into -- and it connected to

24         what was the backside of the neighborhood there.

25               I don't know if that -- it actually comes



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 23

1         out -- I believe that to be Amazon Drive, but

2         that was a routine dirt road and -- where you

3         came and accessed it.

4               So Sitocia acquired this property, had

5         plans for development and for improvements.  And

6         in the meantime, as those plans were being

7         formulated and funds being raised, started to

8         allow people who were being run out -- who had

9         been run out, trespassed off of other areas of

10         either private property or public right-of-ways.

11               If you're not familiar with the process,

12         the last count in Escambia County was about 859

13         active persons who are living on the street.

14               Now, you probably would be surprised to

15         know that in Escambia County School District,

16         the school district indicates and counts 2,000

17         school-age children who are classified as

18         homeless.

19               Their definition of homeless is different

20         than the homeless count.  Their definition of

21         homeless is those who don't have a more

22         permanent structure.  They could be

23         couch-surfing or living with aunts or uncles or

24         friends.  But when I talk about the count that

25         the Escambia Coalition does of homeless, we're



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 24

1         talking about actual people on the street.

2               So we know in Escambia County we don't

3         have enough beds for people who do not have

4         permanent shelter.  And so, nevertheless they

5         exist.

6               You probably don't often see those camps

7         but they exist.  And when I talk about a camp,

8         I'm talking about a structure:  A tent, a tarp,

9         a lean-to, a shelter, a bridge, those kinds of

10         things that provide some temporary shelter.

11               So Sean's Outpost began to allow, when

12         they were called -- and they would get calls

13         from either the Sheriff's Department or the

14         emergency rooms or other emergency-type

15         situations, crisis shelters, and there would be

16         someone who had no place to go.

17               So Sean's Outpost had eight acres of

18         commercial -- heavy commercial, light industrial

19         zoned property.  And they said, "Well, you can

20         be here because we won't run you off.  You can

21         stay here."

22               And so over the years, and we -- Sean's

23         Outpost has been operating this for -- well,

24         certainly for the last three years.  This

25         process started, and it allowed for a central



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 25

1         location which someone could stay who would not

2         be violated.  They couldn't -- the sheriffs

3         wouldn't be rousting them because, of course,

4         they had permission to be on the property.

5               Then the question became:  Well, what is

6         the status of persons who are living on property

7         with permission in temporary structures?

8               And in 2014 the county decided, through

9         Code Enforcement, that the status was a status

10         that they would not permit, and there was a code

11         violation for temporary shelters.

12               That process went through the special

13         magistrate process.  The special magistrate

14         found that there was not a violation.  That code

15         violation was dismissed, and the process went

16         even -- and was upheld.

17               So the process -- the use of the property

18         continued its conforming way, with a shelter

19         area:  Again, tents, tarps, temporary shelters

20         for a small number of people that Sean's Outpost

21         gave permission and allowed to be there.

22               Now, this population is not static.  There

23         are people who come.  They're in crises.  They

24         spend some time at Sean's Outpost.  They find

25         other places, whether that's permanent or



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 26

1         whether they move out.

2               Some work.  Some do not work.  Some have

3         medical issues.  Some don't.  The process is a

4         fluid process.  Sean's Outpost, essentially

5         through Michael Kimbrel, who is sitting here to

6         my left, manages that.  It's an active

7         management.

8               The county has been provided, and I hope

9         that you have had -- and if you don't, at the

10         end I'll make sure that you get -- we admit into

11         evidence a detailed operating manual.  The

12         county asked for, and we provided that, a

13         detailed operating manual of how this process

14         works.  We provided that.

15               It's an active process.  The Sheriff's

16         Office knows -- they know who to contact.  They

17         know how to get in touch with Michael to respond

18         very, very quickly.

19               The Health Department early on in the

20         process with the 2014 violation was very much

21         involved in this process because, as you may not

22         know, camping . . . that is what this most

23         resembles.  It most resembles a campsite, a

24         camping area.

25               Camping in the State of Florida is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 27

1         permitted not by the county but by the State

2         Department of Health.  They issue permits for

3         camping and for RV sites.

4               As you know, an RV site is also an area

5         which has some level of improvements which

6         allows both temporary structures, in the form of

7         motor homes or pull trailers or tents.  Most RV

8         sites do have tent facilities.

9               And so this facility, as we started

10         looking at what we needed or might need to do

11         from county permission to continue, we looked at

12         the concept of camping.

13               We applied.  And when I say "we," I'm

14         talking about Sean's Outpost.  I've been

15         representing them since this started, pro bono

16         to try to help them get through this process.

17               We submitted an application for a camping

18         permit, a campsite permit to the State

19         Department of Health.  That process goes through

20         a local -- there's a local county department,

21         and then it goes on up to the state.

22               After years of evaluation back and forth,

23         meetings, discussions, trying to figure out is a

24         homeless camp camping, is camping regulated, how

25         are we going to do it, the State Department of



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 28

1         Health ultimately ruled -- and this is in a

2         letter of March 22, 2016, a copy of which I'm

3         going to submit to you in evidence, which

4         indicated -- and you'll have a copy, but I'm

5         going to just read.

6               "Your client does not need a license from

7         the Florida Department of Health to continue

8         operating as is currently occurring.  Our

9         inspections have not discovered any insanitary

10         [sic] conditions."

11               That was a concern, obviously, when you

12         have a group of people who are living outside,

13         what are the sanitary conditions, a legitimate

14         concern for both Sean's Outpost, the residents,

15         and of course the county.

16               And so as part of this process, we had

17         actually contracted and we were paying for the

18         County Health Department to date -- actually, it

19         started as weekly inspections and moved on to

20         monthly, and then they got progressively more

21         time in-between because they were coming out and

22         inspecting the property and making sure and

23         pointing out and helping us as we first started

24         up, on what the sanitary conditions were.

25               And ultimately what the stable condition



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 29

1         is and has been for many years is that there are

2         three portable pot -- portalets that you see,

3         like at parades, and those kinds of things, and

4         a washing station, a hand-washing station that

5         are there.

6               Those are serviced by Sean's Outpost,

7         weekly service, and taking care of them.

8         They're sanitary.  And that process was part of

9         that inspection with the Health Department.

10               So that, again, the letter states, "As

11         currently operated, Sean's Outpost is not

12         included in the facilities that the Florida

13         Department of Health licenses."

14               That is, they determined it was not, in

15         fact, a recreational camping.  And that became

16         an important concept.  I won't go into the whole

17         thing.  We spent a year talking and debating and

18         agonizing over what is a recreational camp.

19               Ultimately it came down to because we

20         weren't a facility, that if you drove in off the

21         street pulling a camper and paid us $14, you

22         could stay there because that's not how Sean's

23         Outpost operated, so the State Department of

24         Health said, "It's not camping, recreational

25         that we license.  What you're doing there is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 30

1         fine, and it's not something that we license."

2               So that put us back into the county

3         process.  And we had I don't know how many

4         meetings, so we had a lot of meetings with the

5         county.  And the ultimate question was:  What is

6         it?  What do you want us to do?  What -- help us

7         craft an application for the use that we are

8         doing that you can evaluate under the Land

9         Development Code and get to an ultimate position

10         of permitting.

11               And then they said to us, "Well" -- and

12         rightly so -- "Well, what do you want to do?"

13               And we said, "Just what we're doing.  And

14         we just want to keep doing what we're doing."

15               Because in the ensuing years, the ideas

16         that -- and, of course, these ideas are not --

17         are not gone, but they're not in a position --

18         Sean's Outpost is not in a position to execute

19         on it.  The ideas of building a grand, you know,

20         bathhouse with a commercial kitchen facility and

21         an enclosed area, I mean all of those are plans

22         that we would love to bring forward and go

23         through that process.

24               And that process is very well understood.

25         If you're building a building and you're going



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 31

1         to execute and put some real permanent

2         improvements on it, everybody knows how to

3         evaluate that.  The county knows how to

4         evaluate.  We know how to do it.  The engineers

5         know how to do it.

6               But that's not what the plan is.  What the

7         plan is, is simply allow the continued

8         residential use in the way that we have been

9         doing it compatibly for these last many years.

10               And the county said, "Well, you got to

11         tell us what that is because we can't evaluate a

12         concept."

13               We said, "Okay.  And we'll pay the

14         application fee, $859, and we'll write down on

15         it what it is that we want to do."  And

16         essentially it is we want to do the same thing

17         that we've been doing.

18               And they said, "Well, show us what that

19         looks like."

20               And we said, "Well, you know, there's some

21         areas out in the uplands where people reside.

22         Sometimes they reside where that -- one of those

23         boxes are, and, you know, sometimes the wind --

24         we have a storm like we just had, and, you know,

25         that blows down.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 32

1               "And so when they set it up, it's five

2         feet over to the other side or sometimes it's,

3         you know, around the corner.  But it generally

4         is an area in which someone puts up a tarp

5         and/or a tent, and they end up being a resident

6         there for a period of time."  That's what it is.

7         That's the use.  It's nothing more complicated

8         than that.

9               So then the question:  Well, how do you

10         get to it?  Well, again, as you saw, this

11         odd-shaped process, it looks like that you

12         can't, but you -- and this took another six

13         months to figure out, but finally realized that

14         you'll see that what looks like -- it's actually

15         a spike strip, but you see that strip that goes

16         off?  There was a drainage.  It's in the top

17         right corner.  You know what I'm talking about?

18         Yeah, right there.

19               So that strip -- run that up and down.

20         That connects the larger square.  That goes --

21         juts out towards Massachusetts.  Yeah.

22               So that actually is a part of the ECUA --

23         the former ECUA parcel, but Sean's Outpost, the

24         property owner of the larger parcel, has an

25         easement across that as part of its deed;



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 33

1         therefore, has access across it, on it and

2         through it for its use.

3               So what you see as labeled on your

4         document as the "dirt road," that quite

5         literally is a road that was created when Sean's

6         Outpost lost the use of the ECUA parcel.

7               And so how that came about was, after,

8         again, endless discussions and negotiations with

9         the ECUA, I finally convinced them to excess

10         that property because it is the good upland

11         property for this parcel.  It's where the

12         majority of the good high ground is in this

13         parcel.

14               ECUA wasn't really using it, and so they

15         said, "Okay, we'll excess the property."  And so

16         it went through the public process of excessing

17         property.  And at the bidding, Sean's Outpost

18         was outbid and someone else bought the property.

19               You know, there's only so much money that

20         nonprofits have.  And that process ended up

21         going -- and that property went to someone else.

22         So when that -- when that was cut off, when we

23         were not able to utilize that property -- if

24         you'll show the members, you'll see along the

25         western property line, our -- Sean's Outpost



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 34

1         property line, as part of the attempt to be, you

2         know, good neighbors here, there was a board

3         fence.  It's just inside the line.

4               It's the zeros and the tacks.  You'll see

5         that's the fence.  So there is a -- there is a

6         board fence that was installed and paid for,

7         permitted and built along that boundary that

8         separates the road, the access road, from it,

9         from the property.

10               And so from that, once we couldn't enter,

11         which was where you entered the property, was

12         about right there where that wooden gate was,

13         that's where you entered the property from the

14         former ECUA access road.

15               Once that was -- we didn't have access, as

16         the Chairman correctly pointed out, the posted

17         signs on the gate there along Massachusetts, if

18         you go back up, we had to have a new way to get

19         into the property.

20               So if you'll go up just a little bit.

21         Yeah.  Right there.  Stop.  So that's where you

22         come in.  It's about -- it's near where the

23         mailbox is.  You just come onto the property.

24               The property is -- it landlocks the

25         property that was the former ECUA.  There's no



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 35

1         access to the former ECUA property right now,

2         except that you go through someone else's

3         property.

4               So you can't access that property from

5         either Massachusetts, nor can you actually

6         really legally access it from the south, so you

7         can, of course, because Mr. Grimes, who you

8         probably will hear from a little bit later.

9         Since he is one of the property owners, he can

10         access it from his lot because he abuts it from

11         the back side.

12               But in any event, it doesn't have public

13         street access that wouldn't go through either a

14         developed lot or someone else's property, like,

15         for instance, Massachusetts through either ours,

16         or potentially the county owns a park there just

17         to the left, and I use that word loosely.

18               It's a triangle strip of property, which

19         mainly is used for a sheriff car, you know, just

20         monitoring Massachusetts, so it's not -- it's

21         not actually a developed part.

22               The point being is that, as you can see,

23         we do have access, and that is the dirt road, so

24         what we ended up starting to do is to get back

25         there and to, you know, get food and stuff.  We



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 36

1         just drive down this little dirt road.

2               And when I say "dirt road," I refer to

3         what I would call, you know, a pig trail.  I

4         mean, that's how it started.  Started as a path,

5         and then it's a dirt road.  But it crosses the

6         easement area.

7               You'll note that that easement area

8         doesn't go to -- all the way to the end of our

9         property boundary, so there is a -- you could go

10         around it, but that's underwater.  I mean,

11         that's -- that's out into -- into the water area

12         there.  Okay.

13               So that's the process, and that was the

14         background on that acquisition.  Obviously that

15         acquisition made the plans for development and

16         everything change in a big way, as did the issue

17         of money.

18               And so, again, we were back to the county.

19         And we started in earnest earlier this year, the

20         first of this year.  And the reason we started

21         in earnest is because the county issued another

22         notice of violation on a code enforcement.

23               And they said once again, essentially,

24         your use is unpermitted.  It's an unpermitted

25         use.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 37

1               And so we started meeting with them.  We

2         met with staff here at this level, all the way

3         up to the administrator level.

4               And I want to thank the staff.  We worked

5         very closely because we recognize what we were

6         doing is different.  I mean, I assure you there

7         is no permitted homeless camp in the county.  It

8         doesn't exist.

9               There's not another similarly situated

10         property that is not an RV park, a camping

11         facility.  The closest thing would be the Alfred

12         Washburn Center, but there's no residential

13         overnighting there.

14               And then, of course, the next closest,

15         which is not really comparable, but would be

16         like a Waterfront Mission, a fully developed

17         site in which there is overnight dormitories.

18               But the Waterfront Mission looks more like

19         a UWF dormitory than it does a homeless shelter

20         in the -- in the nature of what Sean's Outpost

21         is.  Sean's Outpost is actually -- would be more

22         comparable to, you know, the camps either on --

23         on the scenic bluffs or the old Trillium site

24         before that was developed and those folks were

25         run out, or along the Gullian Yard FDOT



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 38

1         right-of-ways, and endless numbers of camps that

2         I could mention to you that we don't in public

3         forums.

4               The point is that we worked very closely

5         to try to figure out what it is that we are

6         trying to do.  And we finally settled in on the

7         situation that we have and the presentation that

8         we made ultimately to the DRC.

9               And that was, we simply want to exist.  We

10         simply want you to permit the existing use.

11         We're not building anything.  We're not making

12         any alterations to the property.  We're not

13         putting in any improvements to the property,

14         that is, structural improvements.

15               It simply is property that Sean's Outpost

16         owns that Sean's Outpost has graciously given

17         permission to a handful of folks who don't have

18         other permanent locations to be, so that they

19         can exist in this county without getting run

20         off, trespassed in the middle of the night or

21         rousted out.

22               So the application.  Let's focus on that

23         and what we were looking at.  The application

24         that was submitted, and it -- Mr. Holmer, was

25         the application the April 5, 2016?  Was that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 39

1         part of the board package?  That would have been

2         my letter of April, along with the development

3         review application package.

4               Mr. Chairman, while Mr. Holmer is looking

5         for that, I'll just briefly go through.

6         Essentially what we applied for and what ended

7         up being agreed to, was we would submit a site

8         plan, a minor site plan application for

9         approval.

10               Yeah, that's the October 27th.

11               And so on April 5, 2016, we submitted that

12         application under my two-page cover letter.  And

13         the full project information form filled out was

14         attached, and all of the criteria that was

15         stated in the development review application,

16         certification process, along with site plans was

17         submitted to staff.

18               And as Mr. Holmer correctly pointed out,

19         there was a back and forth.  And you're familiar

20         with that back and forth with an applicant and

21         the staff, on trying to get a plan.

22               The staff said there was some details that

23         we needed.  That resulted in the operating

24         agreement being -- the staff was concerned

25         about.  How are you going to operate it?  And so



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 40

1         there would be -- operating plan was submitted.

2               There was -- You know, what about

3         compatibility?  That's why the compatibility

4         analysis -- that is part of your package.

5         That's why we had that.  Compatibility analysis.

6         We got that.

7               We went through the process with all of

8         the staff members at the DRC.  Joe Quinn

9         testified from fire safety.  Pointed out there

10         was some minor issues, including some signage

11         and the need to have some fire -- fire

12         extinguishers.  No problem there.

13               Rosa Stephanel testified, and she talked

14         about the need for stormwater ponds, if you had

15         any impervious surfaces that were going to be

16         out there.  And in that regard, the only

17         requirement for stormwater would be is if there

18         were a requirement for a paved access road.

19               We weren't proposing a paved access road.

20         We get down there fine with the dirt road.  The

21         service -- the only actual truck that actually

22         has to go down there, large truck, is the truck

23         that services the porta-potties, and it's been

24         going down there for years.  Every week it goes

25         down there.  It has no problem.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 41

1               And we submitted a letter from the

2         Containers, Inc. that we pay every month for

3         them to service the porta-potties that stated

4         that.  We get down there fine.

5               And as I mentioned, Mr. Williams testified

6         and he said the analysis compatibility and

7         locational criteria needed to be submitted,

8         which we did.  And we met that.

9               So the final thing was Mr. Jason Waters

10         who testified -- and he was with the county

11         access management.  And he opined at the very --

12         at the DRC that an access -- a paved -- no.  An

13         improved access road would be required to be

14         built from Massachusetts all the way back to the

15         porta-potties.

16               We said, "Well, why?  Because we don't

17         need a road.  And the cost of paving a road back

18         there is prohibitive because we don't have any

19         money, and we won't be able to meet that

20         criteria."

21               And so this was -- we had gone back and

22         forth over the summer.  We thought we had

23         actually reached an agreement with the county by

24         which they said, "Okay.  Well, if you'll just

25         improve the apron because we don't want to bust



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 42

1         up Massachusetts when you pull over -- off on

2         Massachusetts, which is actually in the county

3         right-of-way.

4               And actually, the bigger trucks -- the

5         trucks that pull off and on there are, you know,

6         both -- as I said, the sheriff's car that parks

7         there in the park area, and -- and any ECUA

8         trucks that pick up the garbage because, of

9         course, we have garbage collection.

10               But in any event, we said, "Yeah.

11         Absolutely.  We'll make an apron," you know,

12         like you do with a driveway coming onto a road.

13         But really, we don't need the road all the way

14         back there.

15               But at the DRC, Mr. Walters, Jason, said,

16         "No.  Per our design standard manual, 2.2, we

17         believe a road is required.  Road's required."

18               And I cross-examined him.  And I -- I

19         appreciated his candor.  And in any event, he

20         said, "It's required."  And so at the DRC we

21         said, "You know, okay.  I mean, you know, you're

22         the one to tell us what are the requirements."

23               We asked -- we said, "Well, issue the

24         permit with the condition that we have to build

25         a road," and then -- and the point being is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 43

1         that -- because, as you know, we're not

2         operating -- we're not doing this process in a

3         vacuum; right?

4               We have already had the code enforcement

5         magistrate hearing, at which point we went to

6         the code and magistrate this time, and we said,

7         "We're -- Absolutely.  I mean, we do not have

8         county permission to do this use.  We don't have

9         that permit.  If a permit is required, we don't

10         have it."

11               And the magistrate said, "Well, what are

12         you doing about that?"

13               And I said, "You know, well, we've been

14         working with the county for years to try to get

15         that.  And we've had the application already

16         submitted, and we're going through the process."

17               And the magistrate said, "Okay.  Well,

18         that's what I would require you to do anyway, to

19         go get it.  And so keep working.  Get the

20         process.  And if you get the permit, great.

21         This is all over.  And you pay the $600 that,

22         you know, cost to do the hearing.  And if you

23         don't get it, then -- and all your appeals run

24         out, well, then, you know, 90 days after that,

25         you're just going to have to get off."



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 44

1               And so that's where we are.  I mean,

2         that's the process we are.  We went to the DRC.

3         They said "No."  We're appealing to you.

4               Now, to the issue of the appeal.  Why are

5         we appealing?  Well, we're appealing to you

6         because, one, we want permission to do what

7         we're doing.  That's the main thing.

8               Two, what are the reasons, the legal

9         reasons we're appealing?  Well, we believe

10         because the county hadn't -- that the staff

11         should have, under the criteria, issued the

12         permit, because, as you know, for a permit to

13         issue, well, the applicant simply must meet the

14         objective criteria laid out in the Land

15         Development Code.

16               The objective criteria in the Land

17         Development Code for residential use are very

18         easy.  I mean, that's not -- it is not a

19         difficult process.

20               We met and went through every objective

21         criteria that the county asked us to do:  Made

22         the application, submitted the information,

23         provided the site plan.  In fact, a minor site

24         plan, as you know -- you've probably seen some

25         on appeal -- I mean, all you have to do is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 45

1         actually really just do a kind of a neat sketch

2         on a notebook paper.

3               I mean, you don't have to go through all

4         this process for -- Again, this is a minor site

5         plan.  We're not asking to build anything, and

6         no engineering.

7               But we went through that process:

8         Engineering drawings, legal surveys, wetlands

9         evaluation.  We did a -- Wetlands Sciences did a

10         pull-up wetlands evaluation, a protective tree

11         protection.  We went through all of those -- all

12         of those points.

13               And we submitted all of that information.

14         And in the end, it came down to, we think, but

15         that's what I'm hoping we'll get some clarity

16         today, we think that it was down to the DSM 2.2

17         on the road.

18               And yet we said, "Okay, Jason.  You say a

19         road's required.  Well, then issue the permit

20         conditioned on us building the road."

21               I mean, staff issues permits with

22         conditions all of the time.  Conditional permits

23         are issued all the time.  I mean, I dare say no

24         permit gets issued or very few permits get

25         issued without some condition.  So we simply



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 46

1         asked them to do that.

2               And then, of course, obviously that would

3         allow us to, one, continue; two, get out from

4         under the code enforcement magistrate's

5         situation; and also then go raise money, so

6         potentially build the road.  I mean, you know --

7         and we'd have that time.  As you know, when a

8         permit's issued, you have a certain amount of

9         time to build it.  So that was the plan.  That's

10         what we would do.

11               In fact, after the hearing, Mike received

12         several calls from folks that go, "I got

13         gravel."  I mean, maybe we can actually do this.

14         Maybe we can pull it off.  It will be amazing.

15               But we said, "Listen, just issue it so we

16         can get moving and we can do it."

17               But the county said -- and Mr. Jones is

18         here.  He will be able to testify to that.  But

19         he said no because it wasn't on your site plan.

20         We can't approve it.

21               Well, again, members of the board, we

22         didn't want to build a road.  You know, the

23         road, if we were required to build it, it would

24         be built where the dirt road is.  There isn't

25         any other place to build it.  There's no other



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 47

1         way to get around.

2               We don't own the property to the west.

3         There's water to the east.  And the road's where

4         the road -- the only place a road can be.

5               So, you know, but for the fact that that

6         says "dirt road," as opposed to gravel road or

7         asphalt road, or whatever else, the road is on

8         the site plan.  It's right there before you.  So

9         that's where it would have to be.

10               In any event, if the county wanted it

11         somewhere else, issue the permit and say, "Build

12         the road -- you know, conditioned on the

13         building of a road, you know, a permanent road

14         in some other fashion."

15               So that's where we are.  We believe under

16         the standard that you have here that -- and

17         permit to be issued, the applicant must have met

18         the objective criteria of the Land Development

19         Code for the issuance of a permit.

20               We believe we met that.  We believe, then

21         also, under the Irving standard of the Supreme

22         Court, that once we've met that burden, it is

23         incumbent upon staff and/or those who oppose the

24         issuing of the permit to prove that, in fact,

25         the issuance of the permit would be adverse to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 48

1         the public.  Adverse to the public.  And that's

2         a very detailed description, and we will go over

3         that in summary.

4               But in any event, there has been no

5         indication -- then the best indication of the

6         fact that it's not adverse is we've been doing

7         it for four years.  We've been out there.  We

8         are peaceably coexisting with the neighbors.

9               Now, I know because I have been at every

10         hearing and I have -- there are diligent, good,

11         hardworking citizens who live in the Mayfair

12         neighborhood who oppose a homeless camp next to

13         their residential neighborhood.  I get that.  I

14         understand the argument.  I understand the

15         concern, and I understand their frustrations

16         with the fact that this process has taken a long

17         time.

18               But I tell you, board members, there is no

19         other group, no other homeless shelter camp

20         process that's been doing as hard a work as

21         Sean's Outpost has been and has gone through the

22         county approval process more diligently than

23         this group.

24               We have been re -- turning every possible

25         way of moving this process forward.  And if it



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 49

1         is that we cannot have a piece of property in

2         Escambia County in which an owner can say to an

3         individual, "Hey, you can stay on my piece of

4         property," and the county says, "No, you can't,"

5         then we are in a bad situation as far as the

6         county goes.

7               Now, I acknowledge and understand that the

8         county staff has indicated and will say it's not

9         about the status of the people who are on the

10         property.  It's not that we're opposed to

11         homeless people.  We're not opposed to homeless

12         people.  You just have to follow the code.

13               Well, members of the board, we believe we

14         have in every way fulfilled the objective

15         criteria presented throughout this process to

16         have and issue -- to have the county, the staff,

17         issue us a permit.

18               And if that permit must have conditions

19         based on criteria which they believe to be

20         controlling, with all due respect, they should

21         issue it in that regard.  They should issue it

22         conditioned on whatever those conditions and

23         requirements are.

24               They ought not just say "permit denied,"

25         and say "because you didn't put it on the site



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 50

1         plan," because again, this has been a fluid

2         process.  This has been a fluid process.

3               This site plan hadn't looked -- didn't

4         look this way when we first submitted it.  It

5         went through several iterations.  I drew it with

6         pdf for a while, and then I would move the boxes

7         around, and then I would try to -- and then we'd

8         move the trees around.  And then finally we got

9         a real engineer who did it.  And we finally got

10         the whole thing.  And we submitted it.  And we

11         believe we've met it.

12               So we're here for you, as a board, a

13         citizen-appointed board in this county, to look

14         at this and say, "Did they meet the objective

15         criteria for issuance of a permit?"

16               And if that's -- if a road is required,

17         then with conditions.  I mean, we would love for

18         you to issue the permit without the condition

19         because building a road's going to be expensive,

20         not necessary, invasive, mess up the -- but if

21         that's what it takes, issue the permit with

22         condition of the road.  Issue the permit.

23               Because we believe we've met that

24         criteria.  We believe we've met our burden.  And

25         then we believe now that the burden shifts to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 51

1         the county and those opposed to prove that in

2         fact the issuance of this permit would be

3         adverse to the public.

4               I would like to -- Mr. Chairman, that

5         would be concluding my statement and background.

6         I would like to have the opportunity to have

7         staff present their case, and then have an

8         opportunity to rebut, and then would reserve

9         some time for closing.

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That would be the

11         standard operating.

12               And excellent presentation, Mr. Dunaway.

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  Thank you, sir.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Board, any questions of

15         the applicants at this time?

16               MR. STROMQUIST:  I'm going to question.

17         The access that you have now coming in, the

18         picture that we saw of it was dirt, a dirt road

19         access.  How far does that dirt road access go?

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  It's all dirt, sir.

21               MR. STROMQUIST:  But does it go all the

22         way through the camp?

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.

24               If you're -- and if --

25               MR. STROMQUIST:  Well, looking at it on



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 52

1         this diagram, comes in and curves and then goes

2         down . . .

3               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

4               MR. STROMQUIST:  . . . to the bottom of

5         the property?

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.

7               MR. STROMQUIST:  That is all dirt road

8         access?

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.

10               MR. STROMQUIST:  And it is there.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh, yes, sir.  Yes, sir.

12         There was -- there is a -- yes, sir.  And I will

13         tell you that as you come around this corner and

14         this -- right in here, it literally -- it really

15         kind of peters out here.

16               This is kind of a plane of grass because

17         there's -- anyone that comes down, there's

18         only -- then the only -- the only access, really

19         truck that goes here, this is where the

20         portalets are, if you're following me.

21               You see?  These are the three portalets.

22         And then the hand-washing station.  This is

23         where they are.  And so the truck, you know,

24         comes there, and he services the portalets.

25               And so, yes.  And again, I don't want to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 53

1         mischaracterize this road.  I grew up on a farm,

2         and we call them turn rows, but a pig trail,

3         turn row, dirt road, tracks for two vehicles.  I

4         mean, the track for a vehicle, you know, either

5         side, two tread going through the -- going

6         through the woods.

7               This is a -- if you can't tell from the --

8         from the aerial, this is a heavily wooded,

9         beautiful heritage oaks in this area.  Some of

10         the prettiest trees, I think, probably in

11         Escambia County.

12               MS. RIGBY:  I've got a question.

13         Actually, I've got two questions.  First, we'll

14         stick with the road for a minute.  When the

15         county indicated that they needed you to build a

16         road to meet the criteria, was there any

17         specificity as to how the road's to be built?

18         How wide the road is?  What material is to be

19         used?  Just you need a road?

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  In fairness to staff, I

21         think they would probably say, you know, we rely

22         on the applicants to tell us about what they

23         want to do and build.

24               When we -- because we weren't trying to

25         build a road, we hadn't researched roads.  But



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 54

1         they did indicate that it didn't have to be

2         paved.  It could be rock and/or gravel.

3               MS. RIGBY:  Right.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  And I'm fairly confident

5         that the design standard manual will indicate,

6         you know, what are the criteria and what are the

7         standards for building a road.  I can't

8         articulate those.

9               What we were told is -- and I think that I

10         can quickly turn to it, but that . . .  Okay.

11         All right.  I can see -- I have staff reviewed

12         comments.  I was going to pull out the staff

13         review, but here on the access manual . . .

14               In the earlier comments, there was no road

15         required.  The road became a late-coming -- a

16         late requirement as we got closer to . . .

17               So what Mr. Holmer's has -- what Mr.

18         Holmer's has is the standard DSM 2.2, but what I

19         was going to say to you, I think it was

20         actually -- but I don't -- if the staff

21         entered -- do you have the staff comments that

22         would have been the last one which would have

23         had . . .

24               MR. HOLMER:  The last access the one's I

25         just handed you.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 55

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh, that was --

2               MR. HOLMER:  E-mailed to the engineer.

3         That was Mr. Walter's final comments concerning

4         access.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  And so I'm quoting

6         for you -- this was Mr. Walters.  He says, "An

7         all-weather surface will be required from the

8         south right-of-way on Massachusetts to the

9         proposed location of the portable toilets."

10               And then he also -- I actually, quite

11         frankly, hadn't realized this.  He also says,

12         "Construct a five-foot concrete sidewalk along

13         Massachusetts."  I don't remember that.

14               But -- I didn't know that, but in any

15         event, it was -- we understood it to be an

16         all-weather.  It's not in the land -- I mean --

17         well, it's in the design standard manual, but I

18         never found it in the Land Development Code, but

19         I'll let staff work on that.

20               MS. RIGBY:  And not -- not knowing the

21         particulars as far as the width of the road or

22         what have you, you agreed to putting a road in.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  I guess the simple answer to

24         that is yes.  You know, it -- it -- it's a

25         challenge that we'll have to overcome, but to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 56

1         not say yes would be -- I mean, we'd be over.

2         And we don't want to be -- we don't want it to

3         be over.

4               We want to do whatever we can to make this

5         work.  If it -- if it is that absolutely a road

6         is required, you know, and they say -- they say

7         it is now.  Again, I want to point out that it

8         wasn't required when we first started this

9         process.  April comments from staff didn't

10         require a road.  It only -- we only had to

11         require -- they started requiring the road very

12         late in this process.

13               MS. RIGBY:  And by "requiring the road,"

14         it does not further require other things, such

15         as retention ponds or --

16               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.

17               MS. RIGBY:  -- striping or --

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.

19               MS. RIGBY:  -- or --

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  As I indicated, Ms. Rosa

21         stated that -- and again this is why the road

22         was important and critical for us, you know, not

23         to have to do it, because if you put a pervious

24         surface on the property -- on the property, then

25         you have to account for stormwater runoff.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 57

1               Of course, right now you have a dirt road.

2         There's no stormwater.  Presumably gravel would

3         be . . .  But what Ms. Rosa testified to was

4         that if a road is required -- and she did not

5         opine whether it was or not, but that if it were

6         required, there would be stormwater retention

7         and stormwater work that would have to be done,

8         again, something that is expense, engineering,

9         and further complicates the process.

10               And again, as I pointed out, road wasn't

11         requested.  I don't think we need a road.  We're

12         not doing anything other than what we're doing,

13         having folks who are down there.

14               The only truck that has to get down there

15         is the portalet truck.  Containers, Inc. has

16         already submitted a letter that says, "We don't

17         need a gravel road to get down there.  We're

18         doing fine.  We're doing fine."

19               MS. RIGBY:  And there was no discussion

20         from, like, the fire department or the police

21         department or emergency.

22               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Joe Quinn testified.  He

23         was fire safety.  And in his comments, the road

24         was not premised on the requirement of fire

25         safety, so Mr. Quinn gave us requirements for



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 58

1         what was needed.  As I indicated, some signage,

2         some fire extinguishers, those kinds of fire

3         safety.

4               But he did not indicate on testimony with

5         the DRC that it was him who was requiring the

6         road.  Mr. -- Jason testified that it was the

7         planning director who had directed the road.

8               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Per the Land Development

10         Code.

11               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  Moving off the road for

12         just a minute, in order to understand the use of

13         the property, you had put together a detailed

14         operating manual.

15               Can you give us kind of a summary as to

16         how this operates, how . . . how does one -- how

17         are they allowed to live there?  Is there a --

18         certain constraints that you can live there if

19         you do this, that and the other, or you can live

20         there so long, or you have to report in so we

21         know that you're there, or . . . Can you kind of

22         give us a summary as to how this operation

23         works?

24               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  Absolutely.  Be

25         happy to do so.  And, in fact, would like it,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 59

1         with permission, to provide the clerk . . . So

2         what I've handed to the clerk to be admitted

3         into evidence, and without objection, I'd like

4         that to be part of it, is the operating manual

5         for the Sitocia Forest and how the process

6         works.  And this was submitted to staff.

7               But if I may, if I could have Mr. Kimbrel

8         sworn and have him respond to your question,

9         he's in a better position to do that because

10         he's the one that they call, so if you'll swear

11         Mr. Kimbrel.

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Kimbrel, if you'll

13         step to the mic and be sworn.

14                          - - -

15                     MICHAEL KIMBREL

16         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

17         testified as follows:

18                          - - -

19               THE CHAIRPERSON:  For the record, state

20         your name and address.

21               MR. KIMBREL:  My name is Michael Kimbrel,

22         and I reside at 212 Frisco Road.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  All right.

24         If you would synopsize the operating procedures

25         for the area.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 60

1               MR. KIMBREL:  Okay.  So anyone wishing to

2         reside on our property, we have an interview

3         process that they go through with me.  And I

4         find out a little bit of their background.

5               I do a -- you know, a criminal background

6         check on them.  And some of the criteria I look

7         for is people over the age of 50, women, members

8         of the LGBT community, and people that are

9         physically disabled.

10               Those four segments tend to be the most

11         underserviced in our community.  And since

12         I've -- you know, we self-regulate at 15

13         residents currently, we are able to -- we choose

14         to assist those in most need.

15               And then once they get through the

16         interview process, and we find them a spot to

17         set up a campsite out at the property, they have

18         30 days of a trial period because there is a

19         potential that you can get past my interview and

20         then start acting a fool out at the property or

21         not get along with the other residents.

22               We have a handful of rules.  The basic

23         rules are to keep your area clean.  Since we

24         provide portalets and garbage pickup, there's no

25         reason for there to be garbage laying around, so



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 61

1         we do not tolerate that.  There's absolutely no

2         violence.  There's no drugs.  All of those are

3         grounds for immediate termination off of the

4         property.

5               We do allow drinking, but we have a

6         no-belligerency policy, so, you know, if someone

7         has a couple of beers when they get back to the

8         camp, that's not a problem.  But if they get

9         drunk and start acting up and causing problems

10         out there, they will be asked to leave.

11               So we ask that they, you know, respect one

12         another.  We ask that if there's any issues,

13         that they try to resolve them themselves, but if

14         it cannot be resolved, I mediate the -- I come

15         out and mediate the situation.  Then . . .  I

16         mean, that basically sums -- sums it up.  Do you

17         have any other . . .

18               MS. RIGBY:  No.  Whenever -- whenever they

19         choose to leave, do they tell you that they're

20         gone or do they come and go sporadically or once

21         there, do they stay a while?  I mean . . .

22               MR. KIMBREL:  Yes to all of the above.  So

23         it varies.  People experiencing homelessness all

24         experience it for different reasons.  And what

25         it takes to get them out of homelessness is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 62

1         also -- requires different amounts of time.

2               So we don't put a set time limit on

3         people, but we do -- we are constantly

4         encouraging them to work on getting out of the

5         situation that they're in.  Permanency is not

6         what we look for.

7               But we have had people that have waited

8         over a year to get their Social Security

9         benefits so they can get into housing.  And

10         sometimes you have to, you know, apply for a

11         birth certificate to then apply for Social

12         Security to then get a Florida ID before you can

13         get a job.  And so sometimes there's a lot of

14         hoops to jump through before you can get

15         yourself off the streets.

16               We've also had people that have stayed out

17         there a week and gotten back on their feet

18         because they just needed a temporary respite.

19               MS. RIGBY:  Right.

20               MR. KIMBREL:  So . . .  And then I've had

21         people that have left and stayed in contact with

22         me, so I get to get follow-ups on how they're

23         doing.  And then I've had people that have left

24         in the middle of the night without telling me

25         and I've never heard from them again, so, I



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 63

1         mean -- so that's why I say yes to all of the

2         above.

3               MS. RIGBY:  And then do y'all assist them

4         with getting back on their feet or do you give

5         them some direction?  You know, go talk to these

6         people or go see these people, as far as

7         assisting them?

8               MR. KIMBREL:  Yes.  Yes, ma'am.

9               So we -- we depend greatly on other

10         organizations that focus on assisting in certain

11         areas.  So if someone's needing Social Security

12         benefits, we help point them in the direction of

13         who they need to go talk to and -- and tell them

14         what they need, so that's part of the interview

15         process that I have, is assessing what their

16         needs are, and -- you know, and then point them

17         in the directions.

18               I sometimes help out with giving people

19         rides to doctors' appointments or, you know,

20         meetings with attorneys.  You know, whatever it

21         is their need is, I try to help facilitate that

22         for them.

23               But there's a fine line between assistance

24         and enablement, so, like, we try to keep a good

25         balance there of -- of not enabling people to,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 64

1         you know . . . to get -- get lazy with it.

2         Like, we -- we want them to continue motivation.

3         We want them to be empowered to get themselves

4         out of homelessness, not have me get them out of

5         homelessness.

6               MS. RIGBY:  Right.  And apparently you've

7         been, if you will, manager of the site for a

8         couple of years?

9               MR. KIMBREL:  Since its inception.

10               MS. RIGBY:  Since its inception.  Okay.

11               MR. KIMBREL:  Yes, ma'am.

12               MS. RIGBY:  And . . .  I guess that's all.

13         That's all my questions right now.  Thank you.

14               MR. KIMBREL:  You're very welcome.

15               MS. GUND:  I've got a question.  So the

16         little rectangular piece that's jutting out that

17         you don't own, you've got permission to build a

18         road through there?

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  We have legal

20         access across and through that property in the

21         deed, so we have an easement over that entire

22         strip from the -- if you were to square it off

23         at the -- you know, right there.

24               If you were to square off here, all that

25         whole strip, we have an easement over that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 65

1         entire strip, so we just simply -- the road is

2         where it is because it's the first turn past --

3         there's a -- there was an old fence.  Most of

4         the fence is still there.  It's kind of fenced

5         off.  But it's heavily bambooed and heavily

6         vegetated.  But, yes, we have -- we have access

7         over that.

8               Now, the property owner is -- has cleared

9         some of that strip because, you know, it's --

10         again, it's a nice wooded area, and that strip

11         takes you down to the water, the literal water,

12         not just the -- you can see where the wetland

13         marsh is at the very end of it, so.  Fishing

14         path.

15               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other questions of

16         the applicant?

17               MR. CASEY:  I'm just curious.  Does the

18         services that are provided, does that require a

19         business license?

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  You're directing it to

21         counsel?

22               MR. CASEY:  To whoever.

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Kimbrel, does it

24         require any licensing, I believe, is the

25         question?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 66

1               MR. KIMBREL:  Not -- not to my knowledge.

2         I don't believe so.  And . . .  I guess I need

3         to be mic'd.

4               Not to my knowledge.  I believe the reason

5         it doesn't require licensing is because there's

6         no commerce taking place.  I'm not charging any

7         of the residents to stay there, so because

8         there -- I'm not having them work for their stay

9         or pay me any money.  There's no business

10         transaction.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  And Mr. Casey, if I could

12         clarify, was the question to the services of

13         providing rides and directing to Social Security

14         or was it directed to the issue the operating of

15         the camp?

16               MR. CASEY:  Just in general.

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, sir.  And that was --

18         goes to the issue of what I was saying, that we

19         went through the licensing process through the

20         State of Florida.  And that was the letter,

21         again, that we got that indicated that a license

22         was not required for that, that we were doing.

23               And, in fact, that's exactly what the --

24         what the letter says.  And if I could -- and I

25         made copies.  I'll provide a copy.  Of course,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 67

1         the staff has a copy of that.

2               But Mr. Chairman, with your permission,

3         I'll provide -- this is the letter that we

4         received.  And I have a copy for Mr. Casey.

5               MR. CASEY:  Thank you, sir.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  And that is the letter about

7         the license that -- permission that the State of

8         Florida says.  And the indication was from the

9         Florida Department of Health, is that we did not

10         need a license.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  Is that it,

12         Jesse?

13               MR. CASEY:  Yes, sir.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Are you okay?

15               Any other questions from the board?  Any

16         question from staff of the applicant?

17               I'm sorry, Fred.

18               MR. GANT:  Procedure -- procedurally, can

19         we -- can we call major hearsay -- hearsay at an

20         informal -- informal hearing -- hearsay accepted

21         in these proceedings?

22               MS. HUAL:  It is at their discretion.  If

23         you wish to entertain the testimony and how you

24         want to deal with it, whether you want to accept

25         it as evidence is up to you.  And you'll judge



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 68

1         their credibility.

2               MR. GANT:  Thank you.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions of

4         the applicant at this point?

5               MR. HOLMER:  No.  I was just going to

6         proceed with staff's opening.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  If you'd like to make

8         your presentation, please.

9               MR. HOLMER:  Sure.

10               MR. ROBINSON:  Even though I'm abstaining

11         from the vote, can I ask questions?  I have a

12         couple of questions.

13               MS. HUAL:  You may participate.  However,

14         you should disclose your conflict.

15               MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.  My conflict here,

16         why I'm not -- or why I will be abstaining has

17         to do with where I work.

18               We potentially have a relationship with

19         Sean's Outpost, so I have to abstain from voting

20         for that reason.

21               With regards to the road and cutting

22         through the easement, paving that road, will

23         that cause -- is that something that is going to

24         cause -- I mean, obviously it's an undue

25         hardship, paving the entire road.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 69

1               But cutting through that other person's

2         property, is that something that's going to be

3         able to be done or does that open up a whole new

4         permitting and requesting and hearing process

5         for you?

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Robinson, in answer to

7         your question, I don't know what the engineering

8         difficulties will be.  There will be engineering

9         challenges.

10               As you can see, that -- you know, that

11         road is running alongside that -- close to that

12         wetland line, so I don't know the engineering.

13         But I can address the legal issues, and that is,

14         we legally have permission across that entire

15         strip for access, for use.

16               We couldn't -- we couldn't -- we couldn't

17         do anything that would infringe on the use and

18         enjoyment of the strip for its property owner.

19         We do not own the fee, but it is burdened by an

20         access, by -- by an easement, which is the

21         entire -- that entire strip.

22               MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.

23               MR. DUNAWAY:  So we legally can build a

24         road over it.  We're legally using it now, and

25         it wouldn't -- it would require coordination,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 70

1         but it would not require another, I would hope,

2         lawsuit.

3               MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  All right.  Staff's

5         presentation, please.

6               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  Can we

7         swear in Mr. Jones, please.

8                          - - -

9                       HORACE JONES

10         upon being duly affirmed, was examined and

11         testified as follows:

12                          - - -

13               MR. HOLMER:  All right.  Andrew Holmer,

14         Development Services Department.

15               So we're here today with an administrative

16         appeal.  It's a unique thing that comes to this

17         board.  Doesn't happen very often.

18               The standards that need to be met are

19         different from those that you see every month

20         with a variance or conditional use.

21               Something else I need to -- unusual.  You

22         know, your normal variance case, you basically

23         have two sides.  You have the county and you

24         have the applicant.

25               An appeal like this is unusual, in that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 71

1         you essentially have three sides, if I can try

2         to make sense of that.  We have an applicant.

3         We have an applicant that is seeking to find a

4         way to help an underserved part of our

5         community.  And he's trying to do it in a way

6         that he feels will provide the most help without

7         providing harm to the neighboring properties.

8               Yes, the state is -- they license

9         campgrounds.  Okay.  Our Land Development Code

10         also has criteria for campgrounds.  This

11         property is zoned HCL, heavy commercial, light

12         industrial.

13               It's an allowed use.  Campgrounds are an

14         allowed use.  But with any change of use, you

15         need to go through DRC.  And I'll go into that

16         process.

17               The other side here is the neighbors.  And

18         we have quite a few who have shown up.  Excuse

19         me.  I'm assuming a number of these are the

20         neighbors.

21               Look:  They're in a position of having no

22         guarantees that this camp will have no adverse

23         impact on their property, their way of life,

24         property values.  I mean, for most folks, your

25         home is your biggest investment.  That's --



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 72

1         There's some strong emotions involved on that

2         side.

3               Same with the applicant.  Here's -- he

4         wants to do -- to help, so obviously there's

5         emotion on that side as well.

6               But the third side in this case is the

7         county.  We're the reviewing agency.  Okay.  We

8         issue permits for a change of use.  We issue

9         permits based on a development order.

10               We, the county staff, in our review we

11         have to distance ourselves from any sort of

12         emotional appeal.  You know, we have to be the

13         black and white, rather like our Land

14         Development Code.

15               As I tell this board all the time, our

16         Land Development Code is black and white.

17         There's no shade of gray for the staff.  It

18         either meets the requirements or it doesn't.

19               We have a -- Mr. Robinson, you had

20         mentioned in your comments the paving being an

21         undue hardship.  We have -- we have kind of a

22         philosophy here we follow at the county, where

23         there's one set of rules that applies to

24         everyone every time.  Black and white.  Doesn't

25         mean yes or no.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 73

1               Does everyone have to go through this?

2         You know, everybody goes through this, the same

3         requirements.  And the requirements in this, our

4         code does give us conditions that have to be

5         followed.

6               And they're in your package.  Let me pull

7         that package.  So we have -- we have a section

8         from the code in here.  And it goes through

9         those specific requirements, if you will go to

10         the first couple pages there.  Of the -- You

11         know, what we've got them on there, if you can

12         go to the next -- come on down.  Come on down.

13         Up, up, up.

14               Compliance review.  Okay.  This is what's

15         in your package.  This is what -- this is the

16         code that was taken -- the section that was

17         taken out of the code that refers to

18         administrative appeals.

19               So with a variance, you know, you have

20         your criteria based on unique physical hardship

21         on the land, et cetera.

22               So for this one, as it says there,

23         straight from the code, BOA shall conduct this

24         quasi-judicial public hearing to consider the

25         appeal.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 74

1               Applicant has the burden of presenting

2         competent substantial evidence to you that

3         establishes each of the following conditions.

4               First one being, arbitrary or capricious.

5         At previous hearings, I gave you the state

6         definition.  I'll do that again, if you'll go to

7         the next slide.

8               Essentially, with their needing to prove

9         on this case is that the staff's denial -- the

10         staff decision to deny was either arbitrary or

11         capricious, essentially saying that there was

12         no -- no logic behind it, there was no -- no

13         basis in the code for our -- the denial.

14               If you'll scroll down.  Next one being

15         Land Development Code noncompliance.  And once

16         again, the burden is on the applicant.  You

17         know, the county did what it did.  They're

18         appealing the decision of the county.

19               So essentially, was the -- was the county

20         appropriate in their decision?  What -- did it

21         follow the LDC?  Is there an adverse impact to

22         this applicant by the way of the county

23         following the LDC, like we do for everyone else?

24         Look:  Our process is very simple.  You come for

25         your development review.  You meet the code.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 75

1         Development order's issued.  You proceed.

2               Protected interest.  Again, all interests

3         are protected the same, whether comp plan, LDC.

4         Individual property owners, we use the same

5         standards for all every time.

6               Greater impact.  This last one -- it kind

7         of filters into situations where we've had --

8         the county approved the development order, and a

9         neighbor or someone will come up to object to

10         the approval.

11               It keeps bringing us back to the same

12         thing, one set of rules, and the black and white

13         reality of if a project comes through

14         development review, it meets all the

15         requirements, hey, we issue the development

16         order.  If it doesn't meet all the requirements,

17         it results in a denial.

18               Now, you know, as I said, staff is outside

19         the emotional realm on this.  The denial is not

20         based on the idea.  It's based on the submitted

21         plan.  It wasn't denied by the staff saying,

22         "Well, this could meet the code," or the

23         applicant saying, "Look:  Well, we could do

24         this."

25               It's what was done.  Did that submission



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 76

1         meet the code as it was submitted?  Yes or no.

2         You know, the idea of a campground, yes, we --

3         we're fitting this there.

4               It's not a residential use.  The way our

5         code defines a residential use, it falls under

6         campground.  Therefore, it's reviewed that way.

7               Is there an option?  Mr. Dunaway brought

8         up the idea of conditional conditions added to

9         approvals.  You do see conditions added to

10         approvals quite often.  You do on a development

11         order.

12               But when you see a condition for approval,

13         it's along the lines of "wetlands to remain

14         undisturbed."  For whatever reason, this site,

15         your special condition, you're limited to X

16         amount of signage; you are required to have

17         certain hours or something.

18               It's not a condition -- something that

19         would need to be on the face of the site plan.

20         The all-weather surface.  And the county looks

21         at an all-weather surface as saying, "Hey, it's

22         a hard-driving surface."  Okay.  It's an

23         improved surface.

24               It's not just dirt: asphalt, concrete,

25         gravel, shell.  It's something designed to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 77

1         ensure that adequate runoff is taken care of

2         through stormwater provision under normal

3         rainfall.  You know, it's not going to erode

4         away without -- you know, it's the kind of

5         surface that's not going to deteriorate under

6         your average rainfall, like a dirt road would.

7               The problem we on the staff side would

8         have making something like that a special

9         condition, where the development order would

10         say, "Okay.  It's approved, with the condition

11         that you then come back and make this an

12         all-weather surface."  We can't do that.

13               An all-weather surface brings in at that

14         point runoff.  When you get runoff, now we're

15         going into the stormwater issues.  There has to

16         be a separate technical review on that.

17               The plan submitted on the first page of

18         the plan, there are no calculations at all for

19         stormwater runoff.

20               The DRC can't approve a plan saying,

21         "Well, eventually you're going to put something

22         on there.  It's going to cause stormwater.  We

23         don't know how much, but we're going to sign off

24         anyway."  The county cannot do that.

25               Something else that comes in.  Once you



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 78

1         start looking in that direction . . . just do

2         the regular site plan, if you would.

3               Mr. Walter's comments did reflect that,

4         Okay.  If . . . you know, he did mention the

5         idea that an all-weather surface, the width of

6         it may be reduced to 16 feet.  That was approved

7         through -- by our fire safety folks.  They

8         wanted to make sure they could get in there.  If

9         it's an all-weather surface, they wanted 16

10         feet.

11               There is a fire hydrant at a nearby

12         corner, so they weren't worried about having to

13         get water.  They knew they had the hydrant.  But

14         the idea of going -- as a condition, an

15         all-weather surface besides stormwater, it kicks

16         in some other things.

17               Mr. Walter's last comment on there was to

18         please on the site plan delineate the area of

19         the access easement.  It's right here on the

20         deed for Sean's Outpost.  And it delineates that

21         area, if you would, that Mr. Dunaway was

22         referring to.

23               I plat out the legal description.  That's

24         it.  Okay.  That is that 25-foot access easement

25         granted to the Sean's Outpost property.  They



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 79

1         have the right to access that.  They have the

2         right to cross it.

3               That needs to be shown on our development

4         record plan.  It was not.  We cannot grant a

5         development order saying, "Well, sure.

6         Everything's good."  You know, anybody else

7         would tell them to follow the procedure and

8         label that, but "we're not going to do that in

9         this case."

10               We don't do that.  One set of rules for

11         everybody every time.  The easement?  There may

12         be issues there with paving that.  The deed for

13         the Sean's Outpost property clearly says

14         "permanent access easement."  Doesn't say

15         anything about an all-weather surface.

16               The county would have issues at that point

17         of saying, "Well, you have an easement.  You

18         have the right to cross.  We're going to want

19         you to develop on someone else's property."  The

20         other folks own the piece of property.

21               The county cannot say to an owner, "Well,

22         you have an easement across someone's property.

23         We're going to demand you develop that

24         property." We have to have -- the other folks

25         have to sign off on that being done.  So these



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 80

1         are other issues that start kicking in when we

2         start looking at an all-weather surface.

3               You know, other things on the plan.  At

4         the DRC meeting, all the focus was on the

5         roadway and the fact that it wasn't shown on the

6         plan.

7               There's other things that weren't shown on

8         the plan that had been discussed through the

9         various times of the submittal.  Buffering

10         requirements.  Heavy commercial, light

11         industrial.  We require a buffer between that

12         and residential uses.

13               On the plan, it's shown as a 10-foot

14         buffer.  Just says, "10-foot buffer."

15               Land Development Code calls for a 20-foot

16         buffer, with a Schedule C planting.  That's a

17         specific delineation of, say, for every hundred

18         feet you need to put this number, this type of

19         tree, this type of bush, et cetera.  It's very

20         specific.  We require these things to be on a

21         plan for everybody.

22               On here it's just shown as 10 foot.

23         There's a note on there that says to look at

24         page C-3 for the buffer requirements.  Page C-3

25         of the plan shows the driveway at Massachusetts.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 81

1         It shows the requirements for that.

2               And it's got two sketches off to the side

3         showing the requirements for planting -- for

4         planting a bush or for planting a tree, not a --

5         okay -- like we require with everyone else, a

6         full listing:  We're going to use Schedule C.

7         Here's what it entails.

8               We ask everyone to put these things on a

9         site plan.  It's not -- we're not calling out on

10         one project.  We go this way with everything.

11               You know, our . . . our staff, the

12         county -- our point here is pretty basic.  If a

13         project comes in and meets the requirements,

14         we're going to approve it.  If it doesn't, it's

15         going to be denied.

16               The conditions that we're allowed to

17         approve with conditions are not going to be

18         things that kick in other technical reviews

19         because we have no certainty on that.

20               We have no certainty that if the

21         all-weather surface, when that goes in, is the

22         stormwater -- what are the calculations?  We

23         don't know.  Our engineer hasn't gone through

24         that.  We don't have anything given to us to

25         move with that.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 82

1               Is that going to affect the wetland area?

2         Is there additional environmental review?  We

3         don't know.  There is a lot of uncertainty

4         there.  We cannot approve a development order

5         with that level of uncertainty, not with

6         something that is required to be shown on the

7         plan.  It keeps coming back to one rule, one

8         rule for everybody.

9               So the applicant is seeking to overturn

10         that denial.  This board -- this board has some

11         powers when it comes to administrative appeal.

12         This board has the power of essentially the

13         official that approved or denied the plan that's

14         out there.

15               Part of that, though, is the idea that

16         while you have the power to overturn, this board

17         does not have the power to come through and

18         say -- in fact, I'll read it here from the code.

19               "The BOA shall have the same authority and

20         responsibility to change a decision found to be

21         in error as is given by the LDC to the official

22         who made the decision, but no more.

23               "The board may act only to the extent

24         supported by the established record of evidence

25         and only as necessary to maintain compliance



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 83

1         with the LDC and Comprehensive Plan.  The board

2         can not offer opinions or interpretations

3         generally.

4               "The authority of the board to act as the

5         official does not -- does not -- include any

6         authority to diminish or otherwise change the

7         application of any -- any -- technical design

8         standard or specification established or

9         referenced in the LDC."

10               You have the power of the person signing

11         the development order.  You do not have the

12         power to say, "Hey, let's just go ahead.  Let's

13         approve it as is," because we don't know what

14         the technical specifications are.

15               Y'all are a varied group.  You have a

16         varied amount of experience.  You do not have

17         the power of our stormwater engineer to review

18         something that there's no calculations for.

19               So what we're asking, the county, is we're

20         asking you to look at this in sort of a

21         dispassionate sort of way.  Black and white.

22         Did it meet the code?  Yes or no.  Was the

23         county decision to deny correct or not?

24               The denial is based on deficiencies in the

25         submitted plan, the sort of deficiencies that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 84

1         would have resulted in a denial for any other

2         project that came through developer review.

3               It comes down to:  Hey, could this meet?

4         But what was submitted that day?  Did it meet

5         it?  Yes or no.  And that -- that's the county's

6         stand on this.

7               We don't have a lot of leeway here.

8         There's no gray area for the staff.  What was

9         submitted that day, the decision was made.  Did

10         it meet the code?  Yes or no.  It did not.  It

11         was denied.

12               That's the staff's opening.

13               We'll move on from there, if you have

14         questions.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  I've got a couple of

16         questions for you.

17               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, sir.

18               MR. STROMQUIST:  When I'm looking at this

19         whole project, are you telling us that we as the

20         board could not say the initial submission

21         without a paved road is approvable or do we have

22         to include a condition of a paved road into

23         anything that we would yea or nay?

24               MR. HOLMER:  You can only act to the

25         extent for compliance with the LDC.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 85

1               MR. STROMQUIST:  What I'm saying is,

2         initially they put in an application that didn't

3         have a paved road; right?

4               MR. HOLMER:  There were multiple site plan

5         submittals.  Let me -- You know what I should

6         do?  I should tell how the DRC works.  I'm

7         sorry.

8               Development Review Committee.  Here's how

9         this works:  Someone turns in a site plan.  It

10         gets reviewed by the various disciplines that

11         look at a site plan for approval.

12               Yes, you have planning.  You have access,

13         fire department, stormwater, environmental,

14         health department.  Anybody that needs to review

15         it does so.

16               When those reviewers look at it, they

17         generate a list of comments.  They say, "Here's

18         what the LDC says about what you want to do.

19         Please show this.  Please provide this," et

20         cetera, et cetera, on your drawing.

21               The first submittal usually doesn't have

22         everything on it, and it didn't in this case.

23               The second plan submitted didn't have

24         everything on it.  In fact, it didn't have some

25         of the things that were first requested.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 86

1               The third submittal.  They're coming in

2         for their final.  They want to get their

3         development order.  That's the end game here of

4         development review is, you turn in your plan

5         that meets all those conditions that were

6         requested.  You get a development order that

7         allows you to pull permits, and move on.

8               The final submittal was missing a number

9         of these things that had been mentioned all

10         along.  Some of them, sure, it may sound petty.

11         You know, hatching the easement or describe --

12         you know, labeling that buffer, giving us on the

13         sheet exactly what the plan schedule is for that

14         20-foot buffer, not 10.  Those may seem like

15         nitpicky things compared to the idea of the road

16         and everything that it would kick in.

17               We require those of everyone, though.  We

18         ask the same of every single applicant.  Those

19         things were not shown on the site plan.  That

20         gets us to this point.

21               It's:  Did the plan that comes in that --

22         came in meet the requirements of the LDC?

23               This board is being asked:  Does this --

24         did the denial, was it based in fact on the

25         code?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 87

1               Here's what the reviewer said.  Here's

2         their -- they give their references to the code

3         sections.  Were those things on there?  No.  A

4         number of these weren't.  That's what this board

5         is left with.  Did it meet it?  Yes or no.

6               MR. STROMQUIST:  And I guess my question:

7         You talk about stormwater runoff, but there

8         wouldn't be a problem unless you put a paved

9         road in there.

10               So at current conditions, the way they're

11         using this, there is no stormwater runoff

12         problem?

13               MR. HOLMER:  There might be.  We don't

14         know.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  But there hasn't been one

16         indicated is what I'm getting at.

17               MR. HOLMER:  Once again, we don't know.

18         The reviewer mentioned, you know, in his

19         comments the all-weather surface for the trucks

20         going in and out to access the portalets.

21               MR. STROMQUIST:  They do that now; right?

22               MR. HOLMER:  Yes.  Yes.  But to come in

23         for -- to come in through development review,

24         once again, it's not could it meet it or is

25         what's currently going on there.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 88

1               They're requesting a change of use.  If

2         you're requesting a change of use, you're going

3         from what you're doing to what is approved by

4         the Land Development Code.

5               If the code is requiring you to meet a

6         certain condition, like in this case an

7         all-weather surface, that's what we're dealing

8         with.  Yes, the all-weather surface then kicks

9         in all these other reviews.

10               Once again, those -- there's no stormwater

11         calculation.  The road is labeled as a dirt

12         road.  What's required and what was provided

13         that they needed to require is not on the plan.

14         That's why it was denied.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  So you're telling me that

16         no matter what our decision is, this still has

17         got more hoops to jump through?

18               MR. HOLMER:  The hoops were not all jumped

19         through at the time that this was presented for

20         development order approval.  Because the hoops

21         were not jumped through, it was denied.

22               This board can overturn a denial of any

23         official action that falls under your --

24               MR. STROMQUIST:  Right.

25               MR. HOLMER:  Requirements.  But the



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 89

1         section is telling you you cannot overturn some

2         sort of technical specification.

3               You cannot say, "Well, we don't think this

4         should follow the code."

5               It's down to, really, an appeal.  It's

6         not:  Let's argue about these performance

7         standards.  It comes down to:  Was the county's

8         denial arbitrary and capricious, really?

9         That's -- that's really what it comes down to at

10         the end of the day.

11               Was the denial just pulled out of thin air

12         or does that denial -- did that denial have

13         basis in the Land Development Code?  That's

14         really what we're talking about today, not the

15         two emotional sides.

16               I mean, I understand that, but we have no

17         option to go there.  We don't want to go there.

18         It's not our business, the emotional side of

19         things.  We're black and white.  Did it meet it?

20         Yes or no.

21               Board, here's what's being appealed.

22         Based on the code, was the decision just

23         arbitrary?  Because if it was, sure, it could be

24         overturned easily.  But it was not.  It was

25         based on the code.  We don't -- the staff does



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 90

1         not have wiggle room to make judgment calls on

2         this.  It's black and white.

3               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  I want to say

4         something.  I've been -- I've done construction

5         plans, been a land developer 15 years.  I've

6         been through the DRC process.  It is a tedious

7         process.

8               My concern right now is that I don't think

9         that the board is getting the full understanding

10         of the DRC process.  And it may be that y'all

11         can help us clarify this.

12               When you submit a site plan, which

13         whenever I submitted one, it was usually for a

14         subdivision, regular subdivision.  Had roads,

15         had stormwater.  We had footprints of houses,

16         covenants, all that kind of stuff.

17               And the first submittal -- we would have a

18         preapplication.  The first submittal, we would

19         get a lot of comments back, and they were

20         standard comments that everybody gets.

21               And as -- as we submit or we discuss or we

22         adjust the comments based on our subdivision, we

23         work with the county saying, "Well, you know,

24         you said 10 feet.  Could we have 7 feet, or the

25         stormwater you wanted here, can we put it more



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 91

1         to the north or to the south?" We are in

2         constant conversation with the staff and their

3         different departments, if you will.

4               And then we get to the final.  And we

5         label everything that they wanted us to label.

6         And sometimes we bend over backwards, that some

7         of the items are what I would consider

8         rudimentary.

9               It sounds to me like maybe what was in the

10         beginning in the first plan switched to what it

11         is today, what was submitted in the final, as

12         far -- as I don't know if it's use.  I don't

13         know if it's -- what you call it.  Not a

14         residential area but now a campground.

15         Therefore, it's reviewed differently.

16               What I would like to know is -- because

17         this road, did it come in the last minute

18         saying, "Oh, by the way, we need a road"?  Was

19         it in the beginning?  Was it discussed in the

20         beginning, which is where it should have been,

21         that this will need to be an all-weather road,

22         and you will need to show it as a all-weather

23         surface that needs to be 16 feet wide, so forth,

24         and so on?

25               We have engineering plans from -- I think



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 92

1         it's Landmark, well-known engineering survey

2         firm in the area.  This isn't done on a piece of

3         paper.  This is done by, I'm assuming, an

4         engineer and survey work who had probably gone

5         through the DRC process before.  So this isn't

6         something that -- wasn't just drawn on a piece

7         of paper.

8               It was probably given to these engineers,

9         and they probably went step by step because it's

10         time-consuming and it's tedious, and it can get

11         very expensive.

12               I guess what we need to know is, what were

13         the beginning comments?  What changed?  When did

14         the road come into play?  When was it an

15         all-weather surface that was 16 feet wide?  When

16         did that come into play?

17               MR. JONES:  That came into play -- Horace

18         Jones, Director for Development.

19               The chronological order is -- and Mr.

20         Dunaway stated -- is very, very long.  It's been

21         a very, very lengthy process.

22               If my memory serves me correctly now, Mr.

23         Will Dunaway -- they were aware of this

24         all-weather surface requirement earlier in the

25         stages, and I think he can state that.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 93

1               MS. RIGBY:  For the application process,

2         or review?

3               MR. JONES:  During -- during our

4         initial -- during our initial going back and

5         forth with the reviews.  And they were aware of

6         the issue, going back and forth with that issue.

7         Before we got to this point, we were -- they

8         were aware of it.

9               Now -- now, there was some -- there was

10         some going back and forth trying to -- trying to

11         expert -- we were trying to help them out

12         because of the financial concerns, but the code

13         still spoke so heavily.

14               The requirements of the Land Development

15         Code must be met.  During all of this process,

16         there was a special magistrate hearing in the

17         middle of this process.

18               And Mr. Will Dunaway can attest to that.

19         And at that special magistrate hearing, the

20         direction was with staff to furnish them all of

21         the necessary comments again.  And they'll be

22         working -- and we did that.

23               As a matter of fact, we sent the comments

24         to Mr. Dunaway again.  And to -- and at the time

25         that they submitted, they were given a certain



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 94

1         date to -- to submit to try to bring closure to

2         this to the special magistrate.  I don't know if

3         you got a copy of that, but stated that we need

4         to bring closure to this with the DRC process.

5         So . . . and that helped us all.

6               So when that special magistrate order was

7         made -- to try to get those comments to Mr.

8         Dunaway and his client.  That was submitted -- I

9         believe I'm saying this correctly.  I think the

10         record shows it was Mark Spitznagle, Landmark.

11               Staff again -- they determined --

12         submitted the comments to him because in the

13         letter that Mr. Will Dunaway submitted, the day

14         he submitted the plan stated that.  Mr. -- On

15         the letter, that Mr. Mark Spitznagle -- can we

16         see all of the comments?

17               And we did.  And we submitted that.  So

18         during the initial stage -- like you said, it

19         was pre-op.  But during the initial stage, it

20         takes -- we go back and forth, back and forth to

21         try to make sure we get the Land Development

22         viewpoint.  And the many -- many times special

23         magistrate order, that helped us to really,

24         really direct them to get to a landing point and

25         staff to get to a landing point.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 95

1               So -- so -- so they were aware of the

2         comments on all-weather surface.  They were

3         aware of that -- of that being -- of that -- and

4         I think Mr. -- he stated that fact, that they

5         were aware of it.

6               But the issue for them is we do not -- we

7         asked staff and Mr. -- you stated very

8         eloquently and very, very, very, very, very

9         professional that we have to separate ourselves

10         from the emotional side of it.

11               But their problem is, "Mr. Jones," he told

12         me many times -- talking about Mr. Kimbrel --

13         "We don't have the funds."  But the code does

14         not look at that.  The code looks at the

15         letter -- of what the letter of the code

16         requires.

17               And access management -- stormwater.  And

18         when they submitted those plans, there's

19         nothing -- we saw what the plans, the dirt --

20         dirt-dry was wet.  You need to try to -- let's

21         go back and forth, see if we can -- again, you

22         can try to get that worked out.

23               But the day of when it came closer and

24         closer to the BOA or to the -- to the step 28, I

25         believe that was the DRC denial, my memory.  I



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 96

1         think that was the submitted -- October was when

2         I think was one of them.  They still wasn't

3         there until the last minute I heard again in Mr.

4         Dunaway on -- on this particular issue.  And

5         that's why it was denied.

6               Yes, this has been a very lengthy process

7         to try to bring closure to this point.  The

8         use -- and I think Mr. -- the use has -- was

9         already basically classified an order through

10         with the help of the special magistrate, that,

11         yes, this is a commercial review.  It's not

12         residential.

13               It's not -- it's not normal.  But as he

14         stated as a matter of factly, that it's not a

15         residential use.  That use was already -- that's

16         what we require for any commercial development.

17         Requires a site plan review process.  And that's

18         why they are in this process, trying to go

19         through it.

20               And we -- we work and try to get to the

21         point where at least give the staff all the

22         information to review.  And the road was not

23         there, which, as you know, trigger stormwater.

24               And all those comments were mentioned,

25         but -- and I think he stated for the record that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 97

1         we just didn't have the funds.  But we cannot

2         look at that, regardless of how much it --

3         passionate they may be about it.

4               And I think we stated this board have to

5         look at:  Was the decision to deny it, was it

6         based on requirements of the design study

7         manual, which is definitely part of the Land

8         Development Code?

9               And that's the reason why it was denied,

10         based upon those status.  Yes, very lengthy,

11         very long, but we had to get to this point for

12         closure.

13               And that is where we are at this point

14         today, from the direction of the special

15         magistrate trying to comply with that special

16         magistrate order, and trying to follow through

17         so that they'll know to bring closure to this

18         issue from the site plan review site.

19               MR. STROMQUIST:  Horace, what would happen

20         if we agree that they had to put in the

21         all-purpose road and you guys have denied their

22         permit?

23               Where do they go from here?  I mean,

24         there's a -- I don't want something that all of

25         a sudden they have no place to go and the site



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 98

1         closes down.

2               MR. HOLMER:  Okay.  There's two avenues:

3         One, as with any decision of this board, there's

4         30 days to appeal that to Circuit Court.

5               Two, they have indicated, "Hey, we could

6         meet these requirements."

7               Okay.  If you can meet the requirements,

8         turn in a plan showing that, and then we'll go

9         to the DO stage.  I do not have the -- all the

10         information from the special magistrate's last

11         ruling.  I'm not sure . . .  There was something

12         about time kicking in, but I wasn't the person

13         arguing that case.

14               I don't have the magistrate's ruling, so

15         there may be some things there that need to be

16         followed in that direction.  I believe Mr.

17         Dunaway can address that part.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Sure.

19               MR. HOLMER:  If someone turns in a

20         development order, it doesn't meet the

21         requirements, it gets denied.  That doesn't mean

22         they can't resubmit meeting the requirements.

23               MR. JONES:  And I would add to that, and

24         even if they did, the requirement's still going

25         to be the same.  It's still -- See, that's the



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 99

1         thing also, too.  Once you start -- you know,

2         once you start looking at road access, whether

3         it's gravel, dirt -- it cannot be dirt.  It got

4         to be semi-impervious surface, whatever the

5         requirements is in whatever it is.

6               Definitely stormwater.  And then -- and it

7         could -- has the potential of triggering another

8         fire review by fire safety to make sure that

9         whatever that surface is -- this is my

10         understanding, that whatever that surface

11         material is, got to be able to withstand a

12         truck.

13               I'm not the expert.  I know Mr. Will is

14         going to say there's a possibility.  So

15         whatever -- if they -- if there's a decision by

16         this board to remand it back, I don't know if

17         I -- I don't know if that's possible.

18               They're requiring -- the code still going

19         to stand as it stands.  And it may require

20         engineering plans from a -- to do all the

21         stormwater calculations, but that's a fairly

22         lengthy road, as you can see.

23               So -- so -- so -- so -- and that's what --

24         that's why it was denied, based upon -- if -- if

25         there is -- if -- if they feel like that with



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 100

1         the whole process was flawed, the courts can

2         decide that, whether or not there was some

3         discrepancy in the Land Development Code.  The

4         courts can -- can -- can -- can -- can -- can

5         work on what else will we need to do -- what we

6         need to do from that point.

7               But the -- the -- the requirements of the

8         Land Development Code still going to speak for

9         itself, even though it may be remanded back, if

10         that's the decision.

11               We still going to -- we still going to

12         have -- meet the same standard.  And it may

13         trigger other reviews.  We just cannot say at

14         that point -- at this point.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  What's the time frame?

16         Say they resubmit it with what you're asking

17         for.  In the meantime, we don't have somebody

18         coming in and kicking everybody out.  I mean,

19         what's going on?

20               MR. HOLMER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Stromquist,

21         but that is where the other side of the house,

22         not the planning development side of the house.

23         That's for the code enforcement side and special

24         magistrate come in.

25               Once again, not having a copy of that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 101

1         ruling, I'd kind of defer that to Mr. Dunaway,

2         if he would like to address how that would

3         factor in.

4               MR. STROMQUIST:  I mean, is it 90-day time

5         frame?  Is it six months?

6               MR. HOLMER:  We -- we don't have one.  Oh,

7         oh.  I think I know where you're going.  If

8         someone's denied a variance, they can't come

9         back for 180 days.  This isn't like that.

10               MR. STROMQUIST:  That's why I wanted to

11         make sure we weren't putting them in limbo for

12         six months.

13               MR. HOLMER:  This doesn't have the same

14         requirement, but I know there was something in

15         that magistrate's ruling that we know is going

16         to play a part.  I just -- I just wasn't a part

17         of that.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, may I -- may I

19         address and respond to Ms. Rigby's question?

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Absolutely.

21               MR. JONES:  For the special magistrate, I

22         have a copy of the order -- of the signed order.

23         If you want to submit that in evidence, I do

24         have a copy of the signed special magistrate

25         order.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 102

1               And -- and -- and I am not -- I am not no

2         lawyer, but I think it's -- it gives three

3         statements on page six, if you want to . . .

4         Mr. Dunaway, which is part of the packet.  I

5         would like to submit -- if possible, I would

6         like to submit a copy of the signed order from

7         Mr. Robert Beasley, special magistrate.

8               (Mr. Robinson left the hearing.)

9               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, for the

10         record, that's dated 10 August 2016.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.

12               MR. DUNAWAY:  A seven-page document.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We need a motion from

14         the board to accept this.

15               MR. STROMQUIST:  Make a motion to accept

16         the document.

17               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Got a motion from Bill.

18               MR. DUNAWAY:  No objection.

19               MS. GUND:  Second.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a second.

21               Those in favor, signify by raising your

22         right hand.

23               (All board members hands raised.)

24               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Passes unanimously.

25               Let the minutes reflect that Mark



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 103

1         Robinson, board member, was excused to depart.

2               We maintain a quorum.

3               MR. HOLMER:  And we're going to label this

4         as -- we'll call it Staff Exhibit 1, for

5         purposes of adding it.

6               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That's fine.

7               MR. GANT:  Question, Mr. Chairman.

8         Essentially, are we allowed to supplement the

9         record?  Can we submit an exhibit?  Can our

10         staff do that?  The plaintiff?  Or does it --

11         that procedure -- showing that -- submit the

12         exhibit into evidence?

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I think the motion

14         covered that.

15               MR. GANT:  Okay.

16               MR. JONES:  But I -- I want to -- I want

17         to clarify for the record, to preserve the

18         record, the order was October -- August.

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  August 10th.

20               MR. JONES:  August 10, 2016.  That's

21         the -- and there was an amended order with some

22         changes, minor changes -- minor submissions.

23         That was September 7, 2016.  So I would like to

24         submit both of these orders, both the special

25         magistrate order and the amended order, as is



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 104

1         evidenced in the record.

2               MR. GANT:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Dunaway

3         being -- as submitted is correct.

4               MR. DUNAWAY:  No objection.  Thank you,

5         Mr. Chairman record.

6               MR. GANT:  Reflect that also.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, may I

9         address --

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Ms. Rigby really did cut

12         through the three years of my life very

13         succinctly in that process.

14               If we were developing a subdivision, we'd

15         be done, you know, except for the fact that, you

16         know, I'd be working for a developer that

17         doesn't have any money.

18               But beyond that, we understand that.  We

19         know how to build roads, put in infrastructure,

20         build a house at the end of it.  We know how to

21         do that.  We know what the code says on that.

22         Staff knows what the code -- what the code says

23         on that.

24               Staff does not know what the code says

25         about doing nothing.  That is, we came to them



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 105

1         and said, "We don't want to do anything.  We're

2         not building anything.  We're not going to do

3         anything.  It's -- it's our property."

4               We just want people -- people wander up.

5         They go through the process that Mr. Kimbrel

6         just explained to you.  We'd like to have them

7         to say, "You may stay here.  It's our property.

8         You may -- you may have a safe place to be."

9               That's what we're doing.  That's the thing

10         we were doing.  And we went through just endless

11         discussion about, well, what does that mean?  Is

12         that a land use change?  Ms. Rigby knows this.

13               We're not building anything.  If we're

14         building a building back there, we'd have to get

15         access back to it.  We know how to do that.  We

16         were trying to simply get a use.

17               Importantly -- and this is important.

18         You've already heard staff admit and say that

19         this is an allowed use.  The code allows this

20         use.  This is an allowed use on this particular

21         zoning area.

22               Now the question is, now what?  And this

23         is the concern.  And there is the process.  And

24         this is why you have pointed out we didn't

25         submit for anything.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 106

1               We -- in fact, we argued for a year Ms.

2         Rigby, and Mr. Chairman, and this board -- we

3         argued for a year with the county that we don't

4         need a permit.  We're simply there.  It's our

5         property, and people are there.  What is that?

6               And I will -- I will say -- and I'm going

7         to submit this -- but this was -- Mr. Jones

8         provided this to you because I -- you know, I

9         asked him, and he'd hopefully provide it.  And

10         he signed it on July 6, 2016, the summer,

11         because by that time we were under the gun with

12         the code enforcement because we had to get

13         something going.

14               We didn't have the time that you -- you

15         know, going back and forth in some form of

16         substance, label it, and do the trees, and then

17         hashmark it.  We were done.  Magistrate said,

18         "Do it.  You got to be done."

19               But here's the document.  I'm going to

20         present the whole document, but I -- I want to

21         just read for you what gets to the point that

22         you're saying.

23               In the second paragraph, it says, "Given

24         that an application is a request to obtain

25         required county approval of a regulated land



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 107

1         use, your letter -- and it says "the letter."

2         He was referring to my letter.  I had actually

3         sent a letter, out of frustration to the county

4         administrator and said, "I'm not doing anything.

5         We're not trying -- we're not asking permission

6         to do anything.  What is it we're supposed to

7         do?"

8               And he said, "Your letter's assertion of a

9         request to do nothing" -- because I had said,

10         "We're not doing anything."

11               "Your assertion of a request to do nothing

12         and not develop is contrary to the submission of

13         an application to permit a regulated use."  No;

14         I know.  I agree with Mr. Jones.  It was a

15         catch-22.

16               If truly nothing is proposed, then nothing

17         requires review and approval.  But the "nothing"

18         in quotes that is proposed to be done is the

19         something that has already been done.

20               That is the doing of something prior to

21         approval does not make a subsequent request to

22         obtain approval a request to do nothing.  At a

23         minimum, such a request is to approve what has

24         been done.

25               I mean, that's what I'm trying to get



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 108

1         through.  That's what we're trying to say.  Is a

2         road required?  Yes.

3               If we're going to put back a -- and our

4         original fault was, we were going to build a

5         shelter down there.  It was going to be a large

6         area.  We would have a kitchen facility,

7         bathrooms, place -- we -- we were -- that was

8         going to require a road.  Everybody knew that.

9         We knew that.

10               But we don't have any money.  We ran out

11         of money.  That wasn't the process.  So we came

12         back to the county.  We said, "That isn't going

13         to work."

14               And they -- and they go, "Well . . ."  and

15         we said, "We just want to do what we're doing."

16         And you say we have to get permission, so we're

17         going to ask you for permission.

18               And they said, "Well, you got to do a site

19         plan, and you got to pay $859 to submit the site

20         plan."

21               And we said, "Well, what do we put on the

22         site plan?

23               "Well, you know, you gotta get -- you have

24         to get a survey, a wetlands survey.  You know,

25         you gotta, you know, show us where the tents are



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 109

1         going to be."

2               Well, the tents move.

3               "Like, give us an idea.  You know, I mean,

4         just tell us something."

5               And then finally -- finally -- and again,

6         you can go to the staff.  They're in a catch-22.

7         They said over and over to you, "Black and

8         white.  We follow the code.  Black and white.

9         We follow the code."

10               I get it.  But you're the shades of gray.

11         You're -- you've the opportunity to say --

12         because they're under the gun, because the

13         magistrate hearing -- because the county put

14         code enforcement saying, "Hey, you don't have

15         permission to be here."

16               Of course we said we didn't need to, but

17         in any event, the special magistrate said,

18         "Look, y'all got to do something.  You gotta be

19         done.  Submit the thing and make it -- get our

20         approval, don't get our approval.  Follow the

21         appeal process if you have to, but come back to

22         me at 90 days afterwards and tell me what's

23         going on."

24               That's why the process ended.  Otherwise,

25         we would be, just like you, Mr. -- we'd still be



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 110

1         working with staff.  And -- and again, Mr. Jones

2         is right.  We said -- they said, "You know,

3         look.  Have to build a road back there."

4               Well, we can't do it.  I mean, we can't

5         build a road.  Is that really required?"

6               "Well . . ." and we went, again, back and

7         forth.  I had hope and I still hope, because I

8         want to hear, that we're going to hear this,

9         "It's not arbitrary and capricious that we

10         require a road because if you're not -- it is

11         arbitrary and capricious to require something

12         that's not required."  So I want to get to an

13         issue of exploring that.

14               But if it is that -- if that is the case,

15         then you can condition it.  I know what Mr.

16         Holmer and Mr. Jones are saying.  They're

17         saying, "We can't because we're staff."

18               And again, I understand the position

19         they're in.  They -- they can't bear the burden

20         of signing off on the first homeless shelter in

21         Escambia County to be permitted.  I get that.

22               But you can.  The board -- this board is

23         seven.  You can tell the county, "Hey, you know

24         what?  Under the circumstances, Mr. Kimbrel's

25         explained, and the document that he submitted,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 111

1         and the good work that you've done, and the fact

2         that you've been doing it for three years, and

3         it's a compatible process, and the land use

4         shows that it's an allowable use, and you're not

5         doing anything differently than you've been

6         doing for the last couple of years, absolutely,

7         we're going to check that in the block, and

8         we're going to allow that.

9               You can do that.  That's not a -- that's

10         not beyond your purview.  That's why we're here.

11         That's why there's an appeal process.

12               If it turns out that it's not, then the

13         next step is, I'm going to have to appeal it to

14         the Circuit Court, and we're going to ask a

15         judge to do exactly that.

16               And we're going to say, "Your Honor, we

17         met every objective criteria of the Land

18         Development Code."

19               And he's going to say, "What were you

20         trying to do?"

21               "Nothing."

22               "Really?"

23               And then he's going to say, "Well, why did

24         they deny it?"

25               "Because we didn't hashmark the X, the



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 112

1         access area, and -- and we didn't have -- we

2         didn't show an all-purpose road on the plan

3         because we didn't want to build an all-purpose

4         road."

5               And we're going to -- He's going to say --

6         then he's going to follow the criteria of urban,

7         and he's going to go, "Hmm.  Looks like you met

8         the requirements for the issuance.  Was it

9         adverse to the public?"

10               And he's going to find it's not.  He's

11         going to find that it's not because the staff

12         has already told you it's not.  They've already

13         told you that it's not about the homelessness.

14         It's not about a nuisance.  It's not about a

15         problem.  If you -- if it were, we would have

16         already heard that.

17               Then the neighbors are not -- they don't

18         want this there.  I get that.  I understand

19         NIMBY.  I understand "not in my back yard," but

20         that's -- that's different.

21               So what you've asked and what Mr. Holmer

22         has said is that we didn't meet the technical

23         requirement.

24               We did.  In fact, look at the -- Mr.

25         Holmer, where is the board's -- the DRC denial?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 113

1         That's before them, right, in their package?

2         The three-page denial?  The four-page denial?

3               MR. HOLMER:  I've got -- I've got a hard

4         copy right here.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.

6               MR. HOLMER:  I'll put it up on the screen.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  We'll want to make sure that

8         that thing -- let's look at the DRC denial.

9         There's a -- it's a four-page document, and

10         the -- the first standard project conditions --

11         the first seven are just standard project

12         conditions.

13               The second are special project conditions.

14         And -- and they're -- they're listed.  And

15         that's fine.  That's -- you know, again, they're

16         always conditions.

17               It could have been -- you can tell that on

18         page three, if we get it up -- okay.  So -- so

19         this is the -- that's the standard project

20         conditions.  They're always project conditions.

21         These are the standard ones.

22               Go to page three, three of four.  Special

23         project conditions.  There are three special

24         project conditions.  You can tell that number

25         three was -- the first two are always there.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 114

1               Number three was added.  Any further

2         development within the parcel boundaries will

3         require review for compliance with stormwater.

4         Okay.  That's a conditional requirement.

5               So if you find that you need a road, put

6         it as number four.  But look on page four.  Go

7         to page four, the denial.  It was not approved.

8         It was denied.

9               The development plan is denied for the

10         reasons noted below.  Well, note those below.

11         Keep scrolling down.  Exactly.  Exactly.  There

12         isn't any.

13               What's the denial?  And the denial is,

14         well, because we don't want a homeless shelter.

15         We don't want -- we don't want people living in

16         tents out on Sean's Outpost.

17               I don't know.  We've met the objective

18         criteria.  The burden shifts.

19               MR. JONES:  I -- I would like -- I would

20         like to -- I would like to -- we do understand

21         that Mr. Dunaway is applicating for his client.

22         And we're advocating for what was done for the

23         process and the LDC.

24               And again, I believe that this board --

25         Mr. Drew stated very, very, very good.  Was my



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 115

1         decision.  What's the Escambia County decision?

2         To deny the development order.

3               Was it arbitrary and capricious?  And I

4         still stand by it.  No, it was not.  This are

5         Land Development Code requirements that were

6         required per the Land Development Code.  Black

7         and white.  Those were not submitted.

8               And no, we cannot approve special project

9         conditions of that magnitude because of the

10         extensive review that is required with

11         stormwater, and for the road, and for access.

12               Yes, we do minor -- very, very minor

13         special project conditions, as we stated, for

14         signs, and then very, very minor, but this Land

15         Development Code of Escambia County, that's not

16         authorized me to.  Those requirements must be

17         reviewed by staff, must be on the site plan,

18         must be reviewed by staff, must be reviewed, and

19         they must meet the Land Development Code

20         before -- and we keep on saying a permit.  This

21         is a development order, which is distinct and

22         different from a permit.

23               In the special -- in the special

24         magistrate hearing -- Again, I know we're

25         arguing over whether or not that letter, which



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 116

1         I -- I will like to see that letter, Mr.

2         Dunaway, that -- that -- with my signature.

3               (Mr. Dunaway hands a document to Mr.

4         Jones.)

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  And I would ask -- I have

6         the original, so they can --

7               MR. JONES:  This -- this -- this is not a

8         letter from me.  This is not a signed letter.

9               Again, I would like to say -- say for the

10         record -- be noted, it was noted that it was a

11         signed letter by me.  It is not a signed letter

12         by me at all.

13               I can -- this was -- this is one of my

14         staff members who put together some things to

15         help facilitate this process.  This process.

16               And what was signed was stated that, yes,

17         we gave him -- we gave them some information,

18         information only to help them proceed with the

19         process.

20               I did not write that information.  It was

21         a staff member who I -- I trust emphatically.

22         It was based on internal -- and I guess going

23         back and forth to help you, especially with your

24         location criteria.  This can help you do this.

25               So -- so -- so that's -- and I date the



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 117

1         date that I gave it to him.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  And you signed it.

3               MR. JONES:  Yes.  I -- I dated it and I

4         signed it to make sure that he got this, but as

5         far as me stating that, I did not write the

6         content of that.  I did not write the content of

7         that at all.

8               It's just -- yes, I -- I gave the date --

9         I want to make sure I document that you got

10         this.  So -- so -- so -- so -- so I want to

11         clarify that for the record.

12               Now -- now -- now, during the special

13         magistrate hearing, Mr. Will, he made those same

14         remarks and comments because the use.  It shall

15         be here, whatever.

16               The special magistrate stated

17         emphatically -- and it's stated it's on page

18         four, which y'all have a copy.  I would like to

19         read it for the record, Mr. Dunaway.

20               It says, "I agree with the county that the

21         current use by Sean's Outpost constitute a

22         development activity."  So that that same

23         argument that he's been making for many, many,

24         many -- with County Attorneys' Office, with the

25         County Administrator, that -- that it would



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 118

1         not -- we're not doing anything.

2               According to the code, you are.  So that's

3         why we got you in this process.

4               And we had -- we had had no one, as far as

5         my staff -- we do not go in with the intention

6         of automatically saying no, unless the code says

7         completely no with the zoning.

8               But with the process, we always like to

9         give people the opportunity, but we had to bring

10         closure from the special magistrate hearing.

11         And this . . . we cannot do this.  We cannot do

12         this.

13               This board -- this process requires you to

14         make a decision.  Was the denial of the permit

15         and -- denial of the development order to -- for

16         sake of clarity, as a development order, was

17         that arbitrary?  Did I -- did we have the

18         grounds to make that denial?  And the code gave

19         us the grounds to make that denial.

20               If they make -- if -- if they want to --

21         if -- whatever their decision is, it will go

22         before a court.  It will be up to the court to

23         make those same assertions and argue that with

24         special magistrate.

25               But the special magistrate hearing is sort



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 119

1         of cut and dry.  That they discuss uses.  And --

2         and -- and -- and we cannot -- so are we

3         authorized the -- the -- the -- the staff to

4         make those special project conditions and

5         what's -- the Land Development Code is not

6         giving you the right to do that.  It does not

7         give them the right to do that.

8               That's why we be careful, with the

9         understanding of this board, with your duties

10         and your responsibilities, to make sure that

11         what's my -- it was a decision to deny it.  Was

12         it based upon facts or was it based upon

13         fiction?

14               The requirement is there.  It speaks for

15         itself.  And regrettably, their -- their

16         circumstances, I have -- we have to separate

17         ourselves from that issue.

18               MS. RIGBY:  So based on -- based on the

19         letter that we just saw, the denial letter, what

20         is the basis for the denial?

21               MR. JONES:  The basis for the denial,

22         which is -- which is -- Mr. Dunaway was at the

23         hearing.  And it was clear, for the record.

24         That's why I say we could verify the tape for

25         the record.  It was clear.  Mr. Dunaway was



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 120

1         there.

2               And the same thing that I said at that

3         meeting I'm saying again.  If you want to put up

4         for the record -- was clear that it was because

5         of the requirements of the Land Development

6         Code.  They were not met.

7               They did not meet the access requirement.

8         They did not -- what -- what -- trigger a

9         stormwater review.  None of that was shown.

10         None -- none of that was reviewed by staff.

11         None of that.

12               So, therefore, it had to be the plans that

13         they submit that my staff reviewed.  They were

14         not there.  So -- so -- so based upon my duties

15         as the -- as the planning director, I

16         recommended to the Chair at the time that this

17         development order be denied based upon those

18         facts, which they are governed.  You can hear

19         the same facts.

20               And Mr. Will Dunaway was present, and so

21         able, so eloquent today to present why it was

22         denied.  Not that he said that he doesn't know,

23         because he already made the case why it was

24         denied.  So he heard that at that meeting.

25               MS. RIGBY:  So based on this letter --



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 121

1               MR. JONES:  What?

2               MS. RIGBY:  Based on the denial letter it

3         says, "See below."  But there's nothing below.

4         What should have been below is a reason for the

5         access requirement and stormwater requirements

6         were not met.

7               MR. JONES:  Mm-hmm.

8               MS. RIGBY:  That's what it should say.

9         Okay.

10               Let me back up here.  Let me try to

11         understand this whole thing.  In the beginning,

12         when the DRC reviewed the project, what was the

13         DRC reviewing?

14               MR. JONES:  We was reviewing the site

15         plan.

16               MS. RIGBY:  Was it -- was it a

17         commercial --

18               MR. JONES:  It was reviewing --

19               MS. RIGBY:  -- site?  Was it a

20         residential --

21               MR. JONES:  To answer your question --

22               MS. RIGBY:  -- site?

23               MR. JONES:  -- Ms. Rigby, this was a

24         commercial activity.  We reviewed this per -- as

25         a commercial development activity that requires



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 122

1         site plan review, yes, ma'am.

2               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  So it was reviewed as a

3         commercial site.

4               MR. JONES:  Yes.

5               MR. HOLMER:  The property use is listed as

6         vacant commercial.  Going to a campground is a

7         change of use.  Change of use on commercial

8         sites requires development reviews.

9               MR. JONES:  Yes, it does.

10               MR. HOLMER:  The magistrate, of course,

11         kicking all of us back into this situation, we

12         had to figure out where we were going.

13               MS. RIGBY:  So it started out as

14         commercial use, but because it's a vacant site,

15         you can't have a vacant commercial use, I guess,

16         so then it went to a campground use?

17               MR. HOLMER:  That was -- the developer

18         review was the change of use of the activity on

19         that site.

20               MR. JONES:  Mm-hmm.

21               MR. HOLMER:  That hasn't changed.  The

22         development order was denied.  It remains vacant

23         commercial.  To change that to anything else

24         does require the DRC, along with the order we

25         got from the magistrate that put all of us into



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 123

1         the DRC position.

2               MS. RIGBY:  So was it reviewed as a

3         campground or was it reviewed as a commercial

4         vacant land?

5               MR. HOLMER:  All right.  It was reviewed

6         as a vacant commercial site going to campground.

7               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.

8               MR. HOLMER:  That's the use change.

9               MS. RIGBY:  Going to a campground.

10               MR. HOLMER:  Yes.

11               MS. RIGBY:  So those performance standards

12         or design standards were then in a campground

13         standard, if you will.

14               MR. HOLMER:  If you will, yes.  There's --

15         there's -- there's generic, you know, change of

16         use, commercial piece of property.  There's

17         generic ones that go along with that.

18               And I know we're -- everybody's gotten

19         wrapped up in the idea of the roadway.  I

20         understand that.  That would kick in these other

21         reviews.  Let's not overlook the fact -- I mean,

22         it got overlooked in all the discussion at the

23         DRC.

24               There are other deficiencies in this site

25         plan that would have ended in a denial for any



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 124

1         other plan.  It's not just that road.  You know,

2         standards and things required on the plan that

3         would hold everybody to . . .

4               MR. JONES:  Yes.

5               MR. HOLMER:  . . . simply weren't done.

6               MS. RIGBY:  But the denial said "see

7         below," and there was nothing below.  That

8         concerns me, that if you can't tell me why I was

9         denied, then I can't tell you how to fix it.

10               MR. JONES:  I understand -- I -- I

11         understand --  I understand what you're saying,

12         but -- but as I stated before, Mr. Will Dunaway,

13         he was present at the meeting wholeheartedly --

14         there's -- there's a record, and he -- and he --

15         that's why we're here today.

16               After -- after that happened, that same

17         meeting, the same meeting is what -- he want --

18         "I want to file -- I want to file for the

19         appeal."

20               We went back and forth on.  We went back

21         and forth on whether he should have to pay the

22         funds.  And we made the decision, well, he got

23         to pay for the appeal.

24               So -- so the issue for the denial, yes,

25         Mr. -- Mr. Jewel [sic] is absolutely correct.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 125

1         There were other issues that were -- that --

2         that are germane to the site plan that were not

3         present.  That were not present.

4               MS. RIGBY:  But you're --

5               MR. JONES:  The primary -- the primary

6         issue that was present that was presented at

7         that site plan review hearing -- Mr. Will

8         Dunaway was present.  And I know -- I know this

9         young lady -- maybe there was something that we

10         may not have done by putting that before him,

11         but that's why we're here today.

12               It was denied primarily for the focus if

13         there was a oversight on someone's part.  That's

14         why we are here today.  It was done primarily --

15         that's why we're here, for the appeal for the

16         issuance of the -- because of those requirements

17         had not been met.  And if he comes back and

18         still cannot meet them, it will still be the

19         same thing.

20               MS. RIGBY:  I guess -- I guess my concern

21         as a board member is, we are here today to say

22         whether or not the denial was arbitrary or

23         capricious.

24               I can't tell you because I don't have the

25         facts as to what, in fact, or why, in fact, it



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 126

1         was denied.  And that's what I can't wrap my

2         hands around.  I don't have -- I don't have

3         punch lists.  I don't have the -- you know, the

4         review of the DRC to say, "Okay.  This was

5         required.  You didn't do this."

6               I mean, we talked about roads, sort of.

7         We talked about the four corners, sort of, but I

8         don't have any -- something concrete that says,

9         you know, the denial was based on A, B, C and D,

10         and Mr. Applicant will not do A, B, C and D.

11         And obviously, then, yes, I can understand it.

12         It was denied.  And the applicant doesn't want

13         to do it.  Do you see what I'm saying?

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  I agree 100 percent.

15               Let me ask counselor a question.  Based on

16         what Ms. Rigby just said -- and we know that

17         this is -- this is tough for this board to make

18         a decision.

19               If we remand this back to staff and charge

20         them with the task of gathering with the

21         applicant, what is the consequence of that?  And

22         if there is a consequence, why can't we do that?

23               MS. HUAL:  I'm not sure I know what you

24         mean by "consequence."  Yes, you have the

25         authority to approve or disapprove or modify the



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 127

1         decision of staff, and that could include a

2         remand with instruction, so . . .

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That answers my

4         question.

5               We have a couple of other speakers.

6               MR. GANT:  I have a question.  How -- To

7         the attorney:  How are we tied to our -- how do

8         we consider the order to bring order from the

9         DRC in terms of our -- the order eventually and

10         went against the staff presentation and -- and

11         the like?

12               Is there any kind of process you must

13         consider, or does one trump the other?  I'm just

14         trying to determine is -- the overall fact to

15         the board today, staff comments, the DRC order,

16         Dunaway presentation.

17               MS. HUAL:  Again, it's in your discretion

18         to weigh the evidence as presented.  It's all

19         considered evidence.

20               MR. GANT:  Did you -- so -- so the -- so

21         the DRC is not -- not the -- the only thing.  We

22         need to consider everything else.

23               MS. HUAL:  No.

24               MR. GANT:  Okay.  You want to instruct us

25         on the -- we're not struck -- we're not stuck on



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 128

1         the one document.

2               MS. HUAL:  No.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  There will be a chance

4         to ask further questions for the staff from the

5         board, from the applicant.

6               I'd like to call on a speaker.  I believe

7         it's Richard Grimes.  And if you'll step to the

8         podium, sir, and give your name and address and

9         be sworn in.

10                          - - -

11                RICHARD PIERCE GRIMES, III

12         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

13         testified as follows:

14                          - - -

15               MR. GRIMES:  Richard Pierce Grimes, III,

16         254 Fennel Street, Pensacola, Florida 32505.

17               If you can pull the map up, you'll see the

18         house that says "Grimes."  That's my house.

19               All the property that was purchased from

20         ECUA, half of it belongs to me, half of it

21         belongs to my son-in-law's father.  He lives one

22         house down from me.

23               Yeah, we purchased that property to keep

24         them from coming any closer.  I've heard all

25         this about them.  Them.  Them.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 129

1               What about us?  What about the people that

2         live in the neighborhood that are here to

3         support me?  What about our rights?

4               They burn constantly.  How would you like

5         to open the windows at your house every night

6         and have it filled with smoke and fire?

7               The portajohns are two feet off the

8         privacy fence that they put up.  Mr. Dunaway

9         said they put up for the neighborhood.

10               No.  They put it up because code

11         enforcement was allowed to come on the ECUA

12         property and take pictures.  They put the

13         privacy fence up so they couldn't take pictures

14         no more.

15               What about the property where there is no

16         privacy fence around on Cleo, where all those

17         people see this?  There's nothing blocking it

18         from their houses.  What about, you know, you

19         see everybody -- borrow pits?

20               The residents have something to say about

21         a borrow pit being put in their neighborhood.

22         When they wanted to put probation and parole

23         downtown in the Coca-Cola building, they didn't

24         want it there because of the undue foot traffic.

25               Well, what about the undue foot traffic in



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 130

1         our neighborhood?  Yes, I'm not saying all these

2         people are bad or mean or going to do anything

3         damaging.  It's only going to take one.

4               I have a seven-year-old son.  When this

5         all started, I had him and two of my grandsons

6         in the back yard look out the window.  There's

7         two men sitting on the ground at the fence with

8         a puppy talking to my children.

9               Now, they deny that.  They say that other

10         people were out there and present, and that I'm

11         telling a lie.  But I know what I saw.  I know

12         what I read in the newspaper.

13               Mr. Dunaway, the very first meeting three

14         years ago, they knew they had to have a road in

15         there that supported a 44-ton fire truck.  It's

16         in the Pensacola News Journal.  It's not -- I'm

17         not just talking off my head.  So they knew all

18         this three years ago.

19               They said these people are here

20         temporarily.  There's two been back there.

21         One's been back there almost two years.  Another

22         one's been back there a year and a half.  How is

23         that temporary?

24               Some of those structures -- and I call

25         them structures -- they're tied between trees



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 131

1         and Gulf Power -- are as big as my -- almost as

2         big as my house.  Come on.

3               So we do not -- the neighborhood should

4         have the right.  We do not need this in the

5         neighborhood.  And yes, this will be the first

6         homeless campground permitted anywhere in the

7         United States.

8               If this gets permitted here, y'all could

9         wind up having them behind your house because

10         you set a precedent at that point.

11               VOICE IN THE AUDIENCE:  That's right.

12               MR. GRIMES:  They brought in -- When Mr.

13         King started all this, he put in the newspaper

14         that he did us a favor:  He bought land in a

15         blighted neighborhood.  I don't consider my

16         neighborhood blighted.  But he did us a favor.

17               I've had one Realtor tell me that we could

18         expect a 10 to 25 percent drop in our property

19         values over the next two years if this gets

20         permitted.

21               But another one says, "Oh, it's

22         commercial.  You can expect your property value

23         to go up."

24               When you look out my kitchen window and

25         see the top of three portajohns and all these



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 132

1         tents, I really don't see my property value

2         going up any time soon.

3               So I'm here to request that you deny this,

4         that you stand behind the county and deny this.

5         You know, it's one thing to want to help people,

6         but you can't destroy somebody else at the exact

7         same time.

8               This doesn't need to be in a residential

9         area.  If this was a KOA or a Good Sam's, I'd

10         still be standing right here fighting it, so it

11         has nothing -- it has to do with the use, not

12         the people that are using it.  And that's --

13         that's really all I have to say.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  Board, any

15         questions of the speaker?

16               MS. GUND:  I do.  So you purchased the

17         rectangular property?

18               MR. GRIMES:  No.  You see where it's

19         L-shaped there?

20               MS. GUND:  Mm-hmm.

21               MR. GRIMES:  On the -- be the south end

22         where Gulf Power is?  That easement -- there's

23         an easement on the south end there that belongs

24         to Escambia County.  It's going -- it's a

25         permanent easement.  The sewer line runs through



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 133

1         there and all.

2               From that point, 272 feet is my property.

3         From that point on over belongs to my

4         son-in-law's father, Mr. Biles.  And he had to

5         leave.  He had a doctor's appointment.  He was

6         here, and he had to leave.  So that's -- Yeah.

7               MS. GUND:  That other one.

8               MR. GRIMES:  No.  That's my son-in-law's.

9         That belongs to Mr. Biles.  They knew that.

10         They had it on one of their site plans, labeled

11         it in our names, but for some reason it's not on

12         this site plan.  Labeled it that way.

13               They tried to use it as a buffer.  They

14         had it labeled as a buffer on one of their site

15         plans.  No one -- It didn't belong to them then,

16         but, you know, they listed it as a buffer.

17               MS. GUND:  So that is this rectangular

18         piece.

19               MR. GRIMES:  That's me right there, yes,

20         ma'am.

21               MS. GUND:  Okay.  Parcel of land, but you

22         don't own that other rectangular piece?

23               MR. GRIMES:  No.  That belongs to Tony

24         Biles, my son-in-law's father.  So it's in the

25         family.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 134

1               MS. GUND:  He agreed that they can build a

2         road across it.

3               MR. GRIMES:  Not a road.  We bought it,

4         and we -- we were under the impression they had

5         the right to cross it.  I don't know . . .

6         nobody said they that could go in there and

7         build any of that.  We were told they couldn't

8         build anything on it or, you know, occupy it in

9         any way, shape or form.  They just had the

10         ability to cross over it, is what ECUA informed

11         us when we bought the property.

12               MS. GUND:  Thank you.

13               MR. GRIMES:  Okay.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other questions?

15         Staff, do you have questions?

16               MS. HUAL:  Board members, I just wanted to

17         caution you to follow up on your questions.

18         Your decision, whatever it may be, must be

19         supported by competent, substantial evidence.

20               So as you hear the testimony of lay

21         witnesses, their testimony should be limited

22         strictly to facts of which they have personal

23         knowledge, unless you wish to qualify an

24         individual as an expert.  Any other testimony is

25         considered pure speculation.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 135

1               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Correct.

2               MS. HUAL:  So . . .  May I ask the

3         witness --

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

5               MS. HUAL:  And, yes, please refrain from

6         making assertions about property values unless

7         you're qualified as an expert on that.  I've got

8         in the PowerPoint -- could you switch to that?

9         This -- all the way.  All the way down to the

10         very last one.

11               Mr. Grimes, I'm going to show you -- it's

12         not in that one.  Okay.  Never mind.  Go back to

13         the second one, if you would, please.

14               On that site plan -- on that site plan,

15         the long parcel on the west side that we're

16         talking about, on the site plan it's shown as a

17         single parcel of land running all the way from

18         the easement that's at the south end all the way

19         up through to the top and including the leg, so

20         to speak, that has the easement across it, on

21         the site plan that's all shown as ECUA parcel of

22         land that has one property reference number, you

23         purchased this property.  It's no longer ECUA

24         property; is that correct?

25               MR. GRIMES:  Hadn't been for two years.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 136

1               MS. HUAL:  Okay.  The lower half of it

2         belongs to you.

3               MR. GRIMES:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

4               MS. HUAL:  The upper half to the Biles.

5               MR. GRIMES:  Mm-hmm.

6               MS. HUAL:  Okay.  And you've already

7         testified they're not here to -- they're not

8         going to ask any questions about that.

9               MR. GRIMES:  Right.  Right.

10               MS. HUAL:  That is important for the

11         staff, this issue of ownership.  You know.

12               MR. GRIMES:  Okay.  I --

13               MS. HUAL:  The county --

14               MR. GRIMES:  Can I walk up there?

15               MS. HUAL:  Sure.  Sure.  I will have to

16         show it with the mouse, but --

17               MR. GRIMES:  Right here, if you take this

18         line right here and you draw it across,

19         everything this way is legally registered in my

20         name and deeded to me.  Everything that way

21         belongs to Mr. Biles.

22               MS. HUAL:  Okay.

23               MR. GRIMES:  And it's legally deeded on

24         the county -- if you went to the county plan,

25         you'd see the division.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 137

1               MS. HUAL:  It's like Sean's Outpost has on

2         their easement, the right to cross that.

3               MR. GRIMES:  To cross it, yes.

4               MS. HUAL:  Thank you.

5               Just wanted to -- the county has an issue

6         here, once again, with any site plan, treating

7         this as we would anyone else.  If we're

8         approving a site plan that does involve someone

9         else's property, this involves -- yes, there's

10         an easement across it, but the ownership is in

11         the Biles.  It's not ECUA.  We want our plan to

12         be accurate.  We want the plan to reflect that

13         there's an easement across that, and the

14         ownership.

15               MR. GRIMES:  Sure.

16               MS. HUAL:  Parcel numbers change when it's

17         submitted.  We need to have that reflected on

18         the plan.  We ask that of anyone.  That's one of

19         those things that was not shown on this, the

20         requirement for that easement to be -- same sort

21         of -- I know it sounds nitpicky, but if we're

22         involving someone else's property they own, we

23         have requirements that we expect to be shown on

24         the plan.  Thank you.

25               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 138

1               Any questions?  Counselor.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  I actually thought Mr.

3         Holmer was asking him a question.  Was he making

4         argument?  I wasn't sure.

5               MR. HOLMER:  I asked a question and

6         explained why.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Okay.  Understood.

8               Before I did cross-examine, I appreciate

9         the board attorney clarifying that.  And I would

10         just make that as a standard objection, that is,

11         that nonexpert testimony be not considered.

12         This is a lay witness, so that testimony

13         regarding these other issues would be ignored.

14                          - - -

15                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

16                          - - -

17 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

18        Q.     Mr. Grimes, you have complained to the

19 Board of County Commissioners about the use of the

20 property by Sean's Outpost, have you not?

21        A.     Yes.

22        Q.     How many times have you appeared before

23 the Board of County Commissioners to complain about this

24 use?

25        A.     I believe I spoke twice.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 139

1        Q.     And you've been -- you were present at the

2 DRC to object at that board; is that correct?

3        A.     I've been to every DRC county -- you know,

4 every meeting about this, yes.

5        Q.     Including every special magistrate

6 meeting?

7        A.     Yes.

8        Q.     Every opportunity you've been here to

9 object to this use by Sean's Outpost; correct?

10        A.     Yes.

11        Q.     And you would consider that their use of

12 the property to be, from your standpoint, a problem?

13        A.     Yes.

14        Q.     And were you the one that helped in

15 getting the word out to area neighbors about this issue?

16        A.     Yes, sir.  I was the number one person.  I

17 mean, I'm at ground zero, yes.

18        Q.     Right.  Your property actually abuts to

19 the west; correct?

20        A.     Yes.

21        Q.     And you have a house that is in lot six

22 that's labeled on --

23        A.     Yes.

24        Q.     That's where you reside.

25        A.     That's my homestead, yes.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 140

1        Q.     And then all the ways behind you was the

2 ECUA property before you and your son-in-law's father,

3 who is Mr. Biles, is one lot north of you?

4        A.     Yes.

5        Q.     And y'all bought it at auction.

6        A.     Right.

7        Q.     And y'all own the property.

8               You knew that its prior use, right -- you

9 were familiar with its prior use?

10        A.     Yes.  It was a gentleman to be -- I hope

11 this is admissible.  Freckles the Clown originally owned

12 it.  When he passed away, his son lived on it on two

13 trailers.  And they grew some trees and stuff back

14 there.  They had a little greenhouse at one time.

15               I know that -- for a fact that the county

16 during one hurricane, he allowed them to dump a lot of

17 debris on there.  The county went in there and had them

18 cleared up, and put -- he lost the property to back

19 taxes, and then they bought it from the gentleman that

20 bought it on the back taxes.

21        Q.     So the prior use was a residential use in

22 a temporary structure, and then it had code violations

23 because it was used for dumping; is that correct?

24        A.     No.  I believe it -- they had two trailers

25 on it that he lived in, but it was more commercial, used



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 141

1 for, you know, flower -- I don't know what the word for

2 it -- landscaping business, something like that, yes.

3               MR. DUNAWAY:  I have no further questions.

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Board have any questions

5         of the speaker?

6               Thank you, sir.

7               MR. GRIMES:  Thank you.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Ivan -- Alvin Kelly.

9               MS. KELLY:  Should be Catherine Kelly.  My

10         husband's not going to speak.

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  That will be fine.

12         State your name and address and be sworn in.

13               MS. KELLY:  I'm Catherine B. Kelly.  I

14         reside at 4335 Bridgedale Road, which is three

15         blocks west.

16                          - - -

17                    CATHERINE B. KELLY

18         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

19         testified as follows:

20                          - - -

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Go ahead.

22               MS. KELLY:  As I stated, I reside -- my

23         husband and I reside three blocks west of the

24         Sean's Outpost.  We resided there for 37 years.

25               And since Sean's Outpost has been there



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 142

1         for the last three years, they have been allowed

2         to cut trees, burn wood, leaves, and other

3         trees.

4               If I cut a tree in my yard, I have to get

5         permission to do it, to cut it down.  Now, there

6         is a no-burn ordinance that has been constantly

7         ignored.

8               And Sean's Outpost for the last three

9         years, since they've been allowed to cut and

10         burn constantly, almost daily, I have not been

11         able to enjoy sitting on my front porch because

12         of the smoke in the air.  It's very difficult

13         for me to breathe because I have asthma, and

14         it's a health issue for me.

15               There is also a safety issue for me

16         because there are a lot of strange people coming

17         through the neighborhood and Sean's post has

18         been three blocks away from our home.

19               Sean's Outpost is illegally on this site

20         because we do -- they do not have access to come

21         in there because of the burning that they do.

22         The trucks -- the fire trucks can't go in and

23         out of there.

24               And I know all of you have viewed and

25         looked at the local news and the national news



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 143

1         as to what happened in Tennessee last week.  The

2         possibility exists that the same thing can

3         happen to our neighborhood.

4               I can't burn leaves in my yard.  Why

5         should they be able to do all the burning that

6         they do on their property?  There shouldn't be a

7         double standard.

8               And for safety reasons, I am requesting

9         this board to deny them access to -- well, I

10         can't -- you can't deny them access to their

11         property, but to please side against them being

12         on this property and doing the things that they

13         are doing, for my personal reasons, and as well

14         as a lot of other people that live in the

15         neighborhood that are here and present today.

16               And I'm just asking you to consider my

17         objection because of health reasons, safety

18         reasons.

19               The trucks -- fire trucks can't go in

20         there.  They say they have fire extinguishers.

21         Fire extinguishers they don't always stop.

22         There's eight -- eight acres out there.  And

23         they have been allowed to cut and burn.  And I

24         don't think it's right.

25               If I burn leaves in my yard, Code



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 144

1         Enforcement will do something about it.  And I

2         don't think it's right that they are allowed

3         because the air should be for everyone.  And

4         they allowing me not to enjoy my personal

5         property because of the smoke in the air.

6         Please consider my objections.

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.

8               Board, any questions of Mrs. Kelly?

9               (No response.)

10               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff?

11               (No response.)

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Dunaway.

13                          - - -

14                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

15                          - - -

16 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

17        Q.     Ms. Kelly, if I'm not mistaken, this is

18 the first time that you've voiced an objection to this

19 process in an open public hearing; is that correct?

20        A.     Yes, open public.

21        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

22        A.     But I have talked to Mr. Kimbrel

23 personally . . .

24        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

25        A.     . . . down at the county commissioners'



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 145

1 meeting.

2        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  We appreciate that.

3        A.     And I expressed my concern.

4        Q.     Your concern.  Yes, ma'am.  We appreciate

5 that.

6               With regard to the allegations of cutting

7 and burning, were you familiar with the -- aware of the

8 fact that the county code enforcement apparatus has

9 been -- well, I don't think it to be wrong to say

10 "vigilant" over the Sean's Outpost for the last several

11 years?  Were you aware that code enforcement --

12        A.     I have -- I don't know what the Code

13 Enforcement's have done.

14        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

15        A.     But when I smell the smoke, I get in my

16 car and go and look and see that the smoke -- it goes up

17 in the air, in the atmosphere.

18        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

19        A.     And it spreads all the way over three

20 blocks from there.  And I'm sure it extends further.

21        Q.     And you've made that complaint to Code

22 Enforcement?

23        A.     I have called.

24        Q.     To Code Enforcement?

25        A.     I have called.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 146

1        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  Yes, ma'am.

2               With regard to the illegal cutting, have

3 you seen trees being felled on the property?

4        A.     No, I have not seen any trees being

5 felled, but I can see smoke.

6        Q.     Yes.

7        A.     And it's coming from someplace.

8        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

9        A.     Sand don't burn.

10        Q.     And you were talking about the cutting of

11 trees, specifically is what I was referring to.

12        A.     Whatever is on their property that they

13 are getting rid of, they have been burning it.

14        Q.     And you've seen trees being cut?

15        A.     I've seen the smoke.  And you can look

16 straight through there and see that it's clearer than

17 what it was.

18        Q.     Yes, ma'am.

19        A.     Over the years.  I've stayed here at my --

20 at our address for 37 years.

21        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  Yes, ma'am.

22        A.     And I never been able to look through that

23 property and see through there.  The water that's down

24 in the drainage, I've never been able to see that.

25        Q.     Yes, ma'am.  And you live to the west;



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 147

1 correct?

2        A.     Yes, I do.

3        Q.     So between you and Sean's Outpost is Mr.

4 Grimes' and Mr. Biles' property.

5        A.     Yes, it is.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  No further

7         questions.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other questions from

9         the board?

10               (No response.)

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much.

12               MS. KELLY:  Thank you.

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, would you like to

14         make a closing statement?

15               MR. HOLMER:  I'll be happy to speak.

16               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, just a point

17         of procedure.  I would request an opportunity to

18         have rebuttal.

19               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  I'd like to call Mr.

21         Kimbrel.  I'd call Mr. Kimbrel.

22                          - - -

23                     MICHAEL KIMBREL

24         having been previously duly sworn, was examined

25         and testified further as follows:



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 148

1               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, may I ask the

2         questions from here to facilitate that process?

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

4                          - - -

5                    DIRECT EXAMINATION

6                          - - -

7 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

8        Q.     Mr. Kimbrel, earlier, in questions of one

9 of the board members you provided some background and

10 details of the operation of the facility out there.

11               What I'd like to now ask you some

12 questions about, the actually -- the actual permitting

13 process that got us here, and --

14               MS. HUAL:  Would you mind using the

15         microphone?

16               MR. DUNAWAY:  Oh.  Well, I regret that it

17         appears that the battery -- maybe I've got --

18         maybe it will.  Does that work?

19 BY MR. DUNAWAY:

20        Q.     So Mr. Kimbrel, you've been involved in

21 this process from its origination; is that correct?

22        A.     Yes, sir, that is correct.

23        Q.     And Sean's Outpost purchased this

24 property.  And what were your plans initially for the

25 property?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 149

1        A.     Our plans initially were to build a

2 bathhouse with shower facilities and restrooms, a

3 washroom for laundry purposes, as well as having a

4 series of tiny homes that people would graduate up to

5 from initially a campground area to a graduation into

6 tiny homes.

7        Q.     And you knew and understood that that

8 process would have required an access road; correct?

9        A.     Yes, sir.

10        Q.     And then, when we first started going

11 through the process with the county, when all of those

12 kind of larger plans went by the wayside, what was the

13 process by which we got to where we finally decided that

14 it looks like we're going to have to make an application

15 simply to do what we're doing?  What was that process

16 when we finally made that decision?

17        A.     Not quite sure if I understand your

18 question.

19               So basically, we -- from the initial

20 plans, massively changed once we were outbid for the

21 ECUA property.  And then from that, we started bit --

22 our main source of funding ended up . . .

23        Q.     Donations that were coming in?

24        A.     Yeah, yeah.  Donations started drying up,

25 and so we didn't have the funding that we initially had



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 150

1 thought that we were going to have.  And so it -- the

2 process slowly started getting whittled down to what

3 you're currently seeing on the screen today.

4        Q.     And just to clarify, what you're currently

5 seeing on the screen is essentially what is the present

6 operation, with just a few more tent sites; is that

7 correct?

8        A.     Yes, sir, that is correct.

9        Q.     And that is the current operation, is

10 simply people with permission can pitch a tent and go

11 through the process as is outlined in the . . .

12        A.     Yes, sir, that is correct.

13        Q.     What trees and clearing have you done on

14 the properties illegally?

15        A.     None.

16        Q.     Has there been any other commercial

17 activity or any other unpermitted activity out there,

18 other than what -- the idea that people are just

19 referring there?

20        A.     No, sir.

21        Q.     So you heard Ms. Kelly just state that the

22 area is cleared.  That area that was -- is the strip,

23 that area has been cleared, hasn't it, that you cross

24 over that's owned by Mr. Biles?

25        A.     Yes, sir, that -- that -- that area has



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 151

1 been cleared, minus -- minus the trees.

2        Q.     Who cleared that?

3        A.     I believe Mr. Biles did.

4        Q.     Because he owns that property; right?

5        A.     Yes, sir.

6        Q.     Okay.  What area of Sean's Outpost has

7 been cleared?

8        A.     Other than, like, basic landscape

9 maintenancing [sic] --

10        Q.     So y'all removed all --

11        A.     Weeds.

12        Q.     -- of the junk that you found out there.

13        A.     Yes, sir.

14        Q.     And what was that?  What did you find out

15 on the property?

16        A.     Out on the property when we first

17 initially bought the property, it ranged from -- there

18 was a series of flower pots to a jet ski, huge piles of

19 rubble from -- which looks like construction debris.

20 There was some playground equipment.  It -- it -- it

21 basically looked like a dump site.

22        Q.     And what improvements did y'all make in

23 that?

24        A.     We -- we removed all of the debris.

25 The -- some of the construction debris, like huge pieces



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 152

1 of concrete we used to outline trails and what is called

2 the road or the dirt path, the dirt road.

3               And even Code Enforcement commended us on

4 a good job of cleaning it up and a good use of the

5 construction debris that had been on property.

6        Q.     Explain to the board the process that

7 you're working with, the State Department of Health and

8 local health officials and those inspection processes

9 that were occurring on the site.

10        A.     So we initiated weekly inspections with

11 the Escambia County Health Department at a fee of $50

12 per inspection.

13               And they would come out once a week

14 basically unannounced.  They would call me 30 minutes

15 ahead of time, saying, "We're on our way out there."

16               And I would -- sometimes was able to meet

17 them; sometimes was unable to, to escort them through

18 the property.  And they would walk around, if I was with

19 them, point out, you know, this is going to be a

20 problem.  This isn't a problem.

21               These are things you want to look for that

22 are going to be health violations.  And these are things

23 that we look for when, you know, we're inspecting

24 trailer parks or RV campgrounds.

25               And in some cases, if things that they had



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 153

1 pointed out to me existed during one of the inspections,

2 they would note it in the inspection, and then it had to

3 be corrected by the next inspection, so when they'd come

4 back out, they would notate that it -- you know, the

5 previous violation was corrected.

6               And over time, they started requesting

7 that we do less and less inspections.  If I'm correct,

8 they currently do one inspection a year for most

9 permitted facilities.

10               And so, after, I believe it was, six to

11 eight months of weekly inspections, we dropped bimonthly

12 to eventually monthly, to where now they -- they do not

13 come out and inspect.  And I believe that they've even

14 stated that our campground is cleaner than some of the

15 RV parks that they inspect.

16        Q.     So what, if any, adverse issues are going

17 on out there, from a neighborhood perspective?  You've

18 heard Mr. Grimes, and you've heard Ms. Kelly testify.

19 What is your response to that?

20        A.     So some of the concerns that they have

21 I -- I share.  I personally would like to see less

22 burning going on, but our rule out there is that they

23 can only burn for one of two reasons:  And that's either

24 to cook or to stay warm, which is also permitted in the

25 county code.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 154

1        Q.     And you've gone through that process and

2 know that those are two exceptions to the open-burning

3 rule; correct?

4        A.     Correct.  And -- and they -- they are well

5 aware that they are not allowed to cut down any trees or

6 anything on the property, so they either pick up dead

7 growth off of the ground or there have been people from

8 the neighborhood and the surrounding Escambia County

9 area that has brought in firewood on their own accord.

10               I haven't asked -- I have never requested

11 firewood to come in, which people have just brought in

12 firewood, knowing that they would need something to stay

13 warm with.  If we had the finances, we would probably

14 lean towards propane.

15        Q.     And, in fact, you provided through the

16 winter months, at the county's request, propane heaters;

17 correct?

18        A.     Yes, sir.  And -- and we still have them.

19 And when we have the propane, we use that in lieu of

20 burning.

21        Q.     Michael, what other aspects -- what other

22 efforts have you and Sean's Outpost taken with regards

23 to any type of problems or concerns that have come up

24 and been brought to your attention?  I mean, have they

25 been quickly rectified?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 155

1        A.     Yes, sir.

2        Q.     And give us an example of a situation that

3 was -- you know, that came up, came to your attention

4 and was rectified.

5        A.     I'm actually drawing a blank right now,

6 but let's see.

7        Q.     Well, Mr. Biles -- earlier there was

8 testimony that you put in -- Mr. Grimes testified that

9 you put in the fence to keep the Code Enforcement from

10 taking pictures.  Is that why you installed the fence?

11        A.     No, sir.

12        Q.     Why -- why did you install the fence?

13        A.     Mr. Grimes had no problem sharing with us

14 that he was not too happy about what we were doing.  And

15 we were trying to be respectful neighbors because

16 working in homelessness, we are -- we are very much

17 aware that homelessness is very much frowned upon.

18 It's -- in -- in some cases even vilified by -- the view

19 of homelessness is that it's all criminals and drug

20 addicts.

21               And so we -- we understand that that's --

22 that that's the view, so out of respect, we wanted to

23 put up a privacy fence.  And we -- we share all concerns

24 with the criminal element in homelessness.  We recognize

25 that there is a criminal element in homelessness.  And



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 156

1 those people are not welcome on our property.

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  No further questions.

3               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

4               MR. KIMBREL:  Thank you.

5               MR. JOLLY:  I'm sorry.  May I speak?

6               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Did you sign up?

7               MR. JOLLY:  No, sir, I didn't.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We'll get your

9         signature.

10               MR. JOLLY:  Didn't know I was supposed to.

11               MR. JONES:  Once he signs the form, can he

12         speak because time is --

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Come forward, sir.  And

14         if you'll be kind enough to state your name and

15         address and be sworn in.

16               MR. JOLLY:  My name's Louis Jolly.  I live

17         at 1418 Cleo Drive.

18                          - - -

19                       LOUIS JOLLY

20         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

21         testified as follows:

22                          - - -

23               MR. JOLLY:  I been living at that place

24         in -- on Cleo Drive for a long time.  And I'm 82

25         years old.  As far as those people talking about



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 157

1         cutting down trees, I've seen them cut the trees

2         down.

3               I've cleared the -- be clearing the bushes

4         in there.  My fence is my back yard, and the

5         tents the people live in, they probably as far

6         as from here to that window there is how close

7         they are to my property.

8               And every morning when I get up and step

9         out my back door, I'm on notice.  I don't know

10         who's back there or who's not back there.

11         People coming and going all the time, but I'm

12         concerned about my safety, my wife's safety, and

13         my neighbors' safety.

14               So as far as smoking and setting those

15         porta-johns go, they smell pretty ripe sometime,

16         so when I get ready to sell my property, when

17         you show your property to somebody, and they

18         say, "Well, what's all that blue stuff?  What's

19         all that back there?"

20               I said, "Well, them's the homeless people

21         live back there.  You can get that put in the

22         house.  When you buy the house, you can get that

23         for free."

24               So I just wanted to say that very -- I'm

25         82 years old, and we're concerned for our safety



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 158

1         as well.  Thank you.

2               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Just a moment.

3               Board, any questions?

4               (No response.)

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions?

6               Counselor.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Nothing.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

9               State your name and address.

10               MS. JOLLY:  My name is Helen Jolly.  I'm

11         Jack Louis Jolly's wife.

12                          - - -

13                       HELEN JOLLY

14         upon being duly sworn, was examined and

15         testified as follows:

16                          - - -

17               MS. JOLLY:  I live at 1418 Cleo Drive.

18         Our house is right adjacent to the tents.  The

19         tents are as close from one end of your podium

20         to the other end.  That's how close we are.

21               We can look out our kitchen window and see

22         the people walking around.  There's probably

23         four to five tents back there.  They're large,

24         very large.  They have two or three vehicles out

25         there.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 159

1               They turn their vehicles when they drive

2         in.  They are -- their lights shine, you know,

3         right on our back door, which comes out the

4         side.

5               And in discussing how thin or thick the

6         woods are, when we moved here, we chose not to

7         have a privacy fence because we do like to see

8         the woods.

9               So when Mr. Freckles died, and then when

10         his nephew moved out, there was no more woods

11         down -- there were no more -- they both lived in

12         a trailer, and they took the trailer -- the

13         nephew took the trailer with him.

14               And so naturally, the woods are thinner

15         now because we can see these people.  We hear

16         them.  If they're fussing and fighting, we hear

17         that.

18               We found a dog in our back yard that did

19         not climb the fence.  It was a very sick dog.

20         And there's no one -- there's only one lady

21         living on our left side, and she has dogs in her

22         house that lives in her house, so she's an

23         animal lover, but the dog was very sick.  And my

24         husband fed him.  And he finally left -- and the

25         next day, and we didn't see him anymore.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 160

1               My husband let him outside the fence

2         because he could not climb the fence.  He had a

3         large growth on the very back of his back, and

4         he was very mangy.  And he was -- he was so weak

5         he could hardly walk.

6               And as far as the tree cutting, there was

7         a big -- big large tree, maybe about 11 inches

8         in diameter on the right side -- on their side

9         of the fence.

10               And when we -- my husband and I both walk

11         because he had an illness.  And so our yard is

12         very large, and we walk in our yard.  And when

13         he -- when he -- when we walk, we walk down that

14         side.

15               And one morning the tree was down.  It had

16         been cut to a -- maybe about three feet from the

17         bottom.  And it was laying down.  So they had

18         cut the tree overnight because we're in our back

19         yard every day.  But we don't stay there because

20         we don't feel comfortable.

21               And there is burning, like Ms. Kelly said.

22         She may live three blocks over but we live

23         adjacent to them.  And there is burning a lot.

24               And we did notify code to begin with, but

25         then, you know, we realized that well, code



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 161

1         couldn't go to -- they couldn't always -- they

2         couldn't go inside the property, so we stopped

3         contacting them.

4               But we, too, have allergies.  And we can't

5         breathe good, so we have to stay inside.  And

6         when they -- when they moved in this property,

7         they kept it very quiet what they were doing.

8               And, in fact, my husband was walking.  And

9         he asked Mr. King when he came down the alley

10         behind our house, which belongs to the county,

11         and then Mr. Grimes bought the property that's

12         behind them and adjacent to us as well.  He

13         bought that property.

14               But Mr. King was coming down the alley

15         behind our fence.  And my husband introduced

16         himself to him and asked him if they were

17         building.

18               And he mumbled and kept walking.  He

19         didn't say anything, so we didn't know anything.

20         We watched because we saw the toolshed that they

21         had out there that they were using to mow and do

22         different things with.  And we observed that.

23               But, yes, we can take pictures from our

24         back yard.  We don't have to climb on anything.

25         And if any of you would like to come out to our



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 162

1         house, you're very welcome.  We would welcome to

2         take you back there and show you exactly.

3               And those tents go all the way down from

4         their privacy fence on the left or to the west

5         all the way to the east, as far as their

6         property, I suppose.

7               Thank you.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Jolly.

9               Any questions of Mrs. Jolly?

10               (No response.)

11               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions?

12               (No response.)

13               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Counselor, any

14         questions?

15               (No response.)

16               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, Mrs. Jolly.

17               MS. JOLLY:  You're welcome.

18               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We will ask for closing

19         statements at this time, beginning with the

20         staff and ending with the applicant.

21               MR. HOLMER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

22               I'd like to bring us back.  We've gotten

23         some testimony here.  Once again, there's been

24         testimony that's got a lot of emotion attached

25         to it.  There's been testimony about the use of



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 163

1         the property.

2               We're not here today to determine the use

3         on the property.  We're here today to discuss

4         the denial of the development order.

5               The person serving as chairman that day?

6         Should they have written in that entire -- the

7         whole list?  Sure, they could have.  Would it

8         have changed the denial?  No.  Those

9         deficiencies were still there, the deficiencies

10         that resulted in the denial.

11               Y'all made mention of -- some board

12         members made mention of remanding again.  We're

13         not here with a conditional use, where this

14         board determines if a use is appropriate or not.

15               In that case, sure.  You could say, "Hey

16         listen.  There's -- there's some outstanding

17         issues here.  Why don't you go back?  Why don't

18         you go back and see if you can resolve those and

19         then we'll talk about it?"

20               You're not determining use.  We're

21         determining that development order:  Was the

22         denial backed up by facts in the code or was it

23         not?  It's -- it's -- it's -- I mean, I hate to

24         keep saying this.  It's that simple.

25               It's not feelings.  It's not could it meet



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 164

1         it.  It's did it.  Did it meet it that day?  Was

2         the decision right?

3               Could they go back?  Sure.  They could go

4         back.  Could they meet the conditions?  Hey,

5         that's -- that's what the county was asking for

6         in the first place.  That's not what we're here

7         today to talk about.

8               We're here today because the applicant has

9         come and said, "This denial was incorrect.  It

10         was denied incorrectly.  There was not a basis

11         for the denial."

12               Appeals are a different animal before this

13         board.  It's not a matter of coming in and

14         saying, "Here, have a second bite at the apple."

15         That would be great.  That's fine.  You know, we

16         want everyone to come into compliance.

17               We say all the time, especially Mr. Jones

18         says all the time about granting or finding a

19         way, giving someone a path to compliance.

20               So there is a path to compliance.  It's

21         meeting the requirements of the LDC.  That's not

22         what we're here about today.  What we're here

23         about today:  Was that denial factually based?

24         Yes or no.

25               This board, when it comes to an appeal --



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 165

1         So if you scroll down, please.  These are the

2         pages from the Land Development Code dealing

3         with administrative appeals.

4               Please go down.  So here we have final

5         determination.  It's laying out that you're

6         going to need -- if you do a finding one way or

7         the other, here's what your finding is.

8               You're going to have to state how the

9         decision of the administrative official was

10         arbitrary or capricious.  If that's not proven,

11         then you would need to affirm the denial.

12               And below that, if you would just scroll

13         down, board authority.  Let's face it:  I'm a

14         geek about these development standard things.  I

15         truly think this board's authority is not to say

16         something is some technical standard that can be

17         waived or it's okay to move ahead without,

18         because there is -- there is a further technical

19         review called for.

20               If we want to talk about the roadway and

21         going to some sort of impervious use or

22         semi-impervious use surface, there's a ratio for

23         each one of those as to the stormwater that

24         comes off of it.  That's how stormwater

25         calculations are based.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 166

1               We don't have any calculations.  There

2         were none of those on the site plan.  The

3         request is in there:  "Hey, we want to see this

4         all-weather surface," but there's no

5         calculations.

6               The things -- the deficiencies missing on

7         the plan, they're there.  We're -- we don't get

8         to look at it.  And I keep saying this.  I'm

9         sorry.  We don't get to look at this as, "Wow,

10         is this an appropriate use or not?"

11               This isn't the avenue for that.  This

12         isn't what the DRC is doing.  The DRC is doing:

13         Does the plan meet this?  Yes or no.  The denial

14         was based on deficiencies on the plan.

15               Like I said, three sides.  We're right in

16         the middle.  Okay.  We don't necessarily want to

17         be in the middle.  That's where we are.

18               The magistrate was quite clear, explaining

19         to the applicant and to the county, "Hey, go

20         through the DRC.  Bring this to a resolution."

21               The application -- the site plan submitted

22         for that resolution in October had multiple

23         deficiencies that would have resulted in a

24         denial for any use.  You could have brought in a

25         grocery store, and with all those deficiencies,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 167

1         it still would have been denied for a grocery

2         store.  The use isn't factoring into the staff's

3         decision.

4               The county does not -- the county

5         disagrees with the idea that the denial was

6         arbitrary and capricious.

7               We've outlined areas of the code where the

8         facts are.  We've explained that the denial was

9         based on those deficiencies.  Those are facts.

10         Those are facts.  That was not arbitrary.  We're

11         not talking about somebody not liking a use.

12         That's capricious.  We didn't go there.  Staff

13         did not go there.

14               The staff went letter of the law.  And

15         really, at the end of the day, that's what this

16         is about, was it -- was it arbitrary and

17         capricious, the denial?  County says no, it's

18         not.  The burden should be, if the applicant

19         wants to overturn that, they need to prove that

20         it is.  Thank you.

21               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

22               Board, any questions of staff?

23               (No response.)

24               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Counselor, before your

25         summary, would you like to ask staff any



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 168

1         questions?

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I believe -- I

3         believe we've covered all that.  I'd be happy to

4         move right into closing.

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, sir.  Remember

6         your mic.

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and

8         members of the board.  And we do appreciate the

9         time and effort that you spent, along with the

10         public who are here who have been through this

11         process, again, many times.

12               And you are the appeal board.  You're the

13         board that acts in the shoes of the planning

14         director, and you get to make the decision that

15         the planning director can make.

16               The standards here are very clear.  The

17         Irving standards of the Supreme Court give it

18         those -- those standards.  That is, did the

19         applicant show substantial compliance with the

20         objective requirements of the Land Development

21         Code for the applicant use that it was

22         requesting?  What it was requesting here in this

23         case.

24               If it did, then the burden shifts to the

25         staff to prove that the issuance of that permit



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 169

1         would be adverse -- in fact, adverse to the

2         public.

3               General ideas of, "I don't like it, not in

4         my back yard," Supreme Court has already

5         indicated that that kind of lay testimony does

6         not rise to the level of an adverse use.

7               We've met those objective criteria.  The

8         staff failed to meet its burden in showing that

9         it's adverse.  This board ought to approve the

10         permit.

11               And let us get to that point.  What is it

12         that you would be approving?  Because Mr. Holmer

13         said this is not about the use of the property,

14         and any quotes from the special magistrate as to

15         what we were going through.

16               And let me be clear, because Mr. Jones

17         brought this up:  The applicant, Sean's Outpost,

18         did not -- we weren't -- we are not fighting

19         currently today the fact that we had to make a

20         development review submittal.  We gave in to

21         that.  We gave up on that fight.  We lost.

22               We filed the application for the

23         development permit.  We paid the fee, $859.

24         We're here.  We know that we are going through

25         some process of approval.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 170

1               The question -- and I think Ms. Rigby

2         pointed this out in her discussion with the

3         staff.  And I think the staff's articulation

4         back to you shows very clearly the tension and

5         the problems that we're having.

6               We're not talking about a subdivision.  We

7         know what a subdivision is.  We're not talking

8         about a KOA campground, which I think Mr. Grimes

9         stated eloquently his position on that.

10               It doesn't matter whether it's going to be

11         a homeless camp or a KOA campground.  Mr. Grimes

12         is going to be opposed to somebody doing

13         something to make this property behind him not

14         vacant.

15               It's commercial property.  It's currently

16         vacant.  We wanted to use the use that we're

17         doing now.  The magistrate addresses that in

18         page two of the original order.

19               And he says -- and he goes, "The county

20         position is that the change of use from vacant

21         to the existing use is a, quote, 'development',

22         pursuant to the Land Development Code."

23               I get that.  Mr. Holmer pointed it out.

24         He said, "That's why we had to file the

25         application."  We agreed.  We did so.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 171

1               And so what is it that we were doing?

2         Just that.  Just that.  We want that use to be

3         approved.  And we know that that use is approved

4         because the code says it's approved, and the

5         staff has already testified earlier they told

6         you this is an allowable use.

7               So what, then, is it that needed to be

8         approved?  And it gets to the point of where

9         we -- of where we are.  The code -- look at the

10         provisions.  And Mr. Holmer had them up there.

11               It says here, "The specific provisions

12         identified in the appeal application are

13         applicable.  Make sure that these are applicable

14         to the decision."

15               Well, look in your package.  Look at my

16         letter of October the 27th.  You have that

17         package before you.  I state that at the DRC,

18         the issue is narrowed to the county claim that

19         the design standard manual, DSM, Section 2.2

20         required the construction of an all-weather

21         access road.

22               And you heard Mr. Jones testify in

23         response to Ms. Rigby's question.  What is it?

24         Because the development order doesn't say.  Just

25         says, "Denied.  See below."  Nothing there.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 172

1               And he said it's the access road and the

2         stormwater that would be associated with it.

3         But we know from the testimony that stormwater

4         is not required if there's no access road

5         required.

6               So the question is:  Is there an access

7         road?  Is that required?  Staff said DSM 2.2

8         requires that.  We didn't hear any testimony or

9         evidence submitted to that today.

10               But in any event, we -- the applicant said

11         to the DRC:  "Okay.  Issue the permit contingent

12         upon the access road.  Make it a condition."

13               Staff says, "We can't do that because it

14         wasn't on the application.  We can't add to it."

15         But you see, you've got -- you've got special

16         conditions all the time.  Go back and do the

17         stormwater -- the flood plain analysis.  And all

18         kinds of conditions that are put on there.

19               We don't think this road's necessary.  And

20         the reason, again -- and point this out --

21         because we're not doing anything.  We're not

22         developing anything.

23               We're simply asking for what is the use.

24         And that's what the magistrate said.  The

25         change -- the existing use is vacant.  We know



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 173

1         that.

2               What is the use now?  Well, people are

3         there.  There went the battery.  They're using

4         it.  It's a residential use.  We know that the

5         use is allowed under the code.  The question is:

6         How do you get to a point in which you, the

7         county, can approve?

8               MR. JONES:  Probably need to get to the

9         mic.  Be able to hear you and record it.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  How do we get to a position

11         in which the county . . .

12               (Microphone stand collapses.)

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  Because it's happened

14         before.

15               MR. HOLMER:  I got it.  It happened to you

16         the last time.

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I'm just going

18         to hold it so it doesn't drop through.

19               MR. HOLMER:  There you go.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  So that's the whole point.

21         What is it that we're doing?  It's the use.  It

22         was vacant.  You know that there was a

23         trailer -- two trailers on there.  Hauled the

24         trailers off.  It was used as a dump, so we're

25         using it for residential use and temporary



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 174

1         shelters, so that's -- that is the issue that's

2         before you.  That's the clear matter that is

3         before you on this case.

4               We believe that you, based on the fact

5         that you've seen, can overturn staff and issue

6         the denial -- and issue the permit.

7               If you feel uncomfortable with that, then

8         we are asking, just as we asked the DRC, then

9         overturn staff's condition, issue the permit and

10         condition it on the implementation or the

11         building of an all-weather road.

12               Again, I point out that we're not doing

13         anything.  There's no -- the only reason the

14         road it said was there was for the

15         porta-potties.  Of course, you know, that's --

16         we're past that point.  If you want to make it a

17         condition, then do so.  You have that authority.

18               The staff said that it's black and white

19         and there are no shades of gray, but if this

20         were the case, there wouldn't be an appeal

21         process.  You act as the planning director.

22         Planning director has a lot of discretion in the

23         review and interpretation of the Land

24         Development Code.

25               As has already been stated, this is a use



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 175

1         that has never been permitted in Escambia

2         County.  I get that.  It's a difficult decision.

3         It's one that the staff needed your support.  It

4         needed a board of citizen-appointed persons who

5         can say to the county and to the -- our citizens

6         that, "You know what?  This is an allowable

7         use."

8               People are living in Escambia County in a

9         tent all the time.  We ought to give them a

10         place that is permissible, and this landowner is

11         doing so.  It's a commercial zoned property,

12         heavy commercial, light industrial.  We didn't

13         even go into all the details as to what could be

14         permitted in this type of location in this type

15         of area.

16               The densities for this property, of which

17         there are currently 15 dwellings, people who are

18         dwelling on this eight acres, the densities in

19         here well exceed hundreds, the number of people

20         who could be permittable living in this area,

21         neighbors to the Mayfair Subdivision.

22               We get it that it's an unpopular use.  We

23         get it that people are justifiably -- are

24         regrettably concerned about the people who don't

25         have permanent housing, but as you stated -- as



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 176

1         you've heard from the director, and as you see

2         from the detailed analysis and the detailed

3         operations manual, this is a well-run process.

4               Code Enforcement is -- I promise you that

5         the county is well aware of 1999 Massachusetts.

6         Code Enforcement knows where we are.  If there

7         were issues regarding nuisance or any type

8         thing, they would be written up.  We would be

9         written up.  Those have not come before you.

10               There's not been the clearing that was

11         talked about, trees.  There's not been any

12         adverse use of the property.  In fact, the only

13         competent substantial evidence before you is

14         that the property has been greatly improved.

15         It's been greatly improved from its previous

16         use.  That use is for the housing of persons who

17         don't have permanent housing in Escambia County,

18         and that is the use that Sean's Outpost requests

19         that you allow to continue.

20               We allow -- we request that it be granting

21         of the permit without the road, but if you

22         believe that that is, in fact, a DSM 2.2

23         requirement, then condition that on the issuance

24         of the permit and give us the permit.  Thank

25         you.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 177

1               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you, sir.

2               Board, any questions of the applicant?

3               (No response.)

4               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Staff, any questions of

5         the applicant?

6               (No response.)

7               THE CHAIRPERSON:  The Chair will now

8         entertain a motion regarding this item.  In your

9         motion, please state whether or not you adopt

10         staff's findings of fact.

11               If for any reason you do not accept

12         staff's finding of fact, please go through the

13         criteria and address each one specifically as

14         why you do not concur with staff's findings.

15               Do we have a motion?

16               MS. RIGBY:  I thought we didn't have a

17         staff's finding of fact per se on an appeal.

18               MR. HOLMER:  There's not.  That

19         boilerplate language . . . Sorry.  That's

20         boilerplate language because most cases that

21         come before us -- Once again this is a different

22         case.  Y'all are deciding to overturn the denial

23         or, you know, agree with the denial is basically

24         what's . . .

25               MS. RIGBY:  In overturning the denial, we



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 178

1         don't -- do we therefore -- we don't therefore

2         accept the development order; correct?  Because

3         then that would be acting as a development

4         review specialist.

5               MR. DUNAWAY:  Which you are.  I mean, just

6         for clarification.  The code -- Land Development

7         Code says that you in the appeal have all of the

8         authority as the planning director for the

9         county.  You are now the planning director for

10         the county.

11               MR. HOLMER:  And it's the highlighted

12         portion right there in front of you.

13               Also remind you about the technical

14         specifications to exempt any development from

15         required review or approval by the authority.

16         You know, you can't change technical standards

17         or the application therefor.  You are deciding

18         was the -- was the denial good or bad,

19         essentially.

20               MS. HUAL:  If you could just scroll up to

21         the . . . board finding right there.

22               MR. HOLMER:  There you go.

23               MS. HUAL:  So in essence, if you decide

24         that the appeal -- decision was an error, in

25         which case you may wish to reverse it or modify



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 179

1         it, or you may find -- affirm that decision.

2         Those are the options.  And the decision was to

3         deny the development order.

4               MR. HOLMER:  Correct.

5               THE CHAIRPERSON:  So bottom line:  We

6         either accept or deny.

7               MS. HUAL:  Affirm.

8               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Affirm or deny.  Affirm

9         or deny.

10               MR. CASEY:  Mr. Chairman, I have a

11         question.

12               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  You may affirm in

13         whole or in part.  And by that I mean modify it.

14         Okay.

15               MR. DUNAWAY:  Deny and or remand -- well,

16         in that case, yes.

17               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Or remand it.

18               MS. HUAL:  Well, if you're not affirming,

19         meaning you're reversing in whole or in part and

20         you add modification with an instruction, then

21         that would entail remanding.

22               MR. JONES:  And -- and -- and attorney, I

23         would suggest that if that is the decision, I

24         want specific and -- specifics on what this

25         board is directing.  If that's the case, I'm



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 180

1         going to be asking to request so that they'll

2         know . . . we'll know on what we are looking for

3         if there is a remand, based upon the Land

4         Development Code.

5               MR. GANT:  Let me see the rest of

6         Paragraph B in its totality.  I can't see it.

7               Thank you.

8               MR. CASEY:  Mr. Chair, my question is, I

9         guess just being straight, without trying to

10         search for the wording, is in the case of

11         accepting staff's finding of denial, where does

12         the applicant go from here?

13               Can he go back and do the re-ap to

14         complete the requirements?  I'm not sure if

15         that's something that staff could answer or the

16         applicant could answer.

17               MR. DUNAWAY:  I'd be happy to answer for

18         Mr. Casey, subject to the staff's . . .

19               MR. JONES:  Go ahead -- comments.

20               MR. DUNAWAY:  The Land Development Code

21         provides for the opportunity to appeal the Board

22         of Adjustment's decisions to a Circuit Court.

23         Circuit Court then would rule as to the legality

24         of the action here.

25               So that would -- that would be the next



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 181

1         step if the board affirmed, essentially, the

2         staff denial.

3               MS. HUAL:  I think Mr. Casey's question

4         was whether or not the applicant would have the

5         opportunity to go back to the DRC and meet the

6         stated requirements that were deficient --

7               MR. CASEY:  Correct.

8               MR. DUNAWAY:  Under the current --

9               MS. HUAL:  -- on the first go-round.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  -- procedural requirements

11         that are before us that were set by special

12         magistrate Beasley in the order that you were --

13         submitted and that you have, the options that

14         the special magistrate gave the applicant were:

15         Obtain the permit or cease the activity within

16         90 days of final appeal.

17               So we know in that circumstance that under

18         the current Land Development Code, an appeal of

19         a staff decision is not the same as a

20         conditional use, so there's no 90-day or 180-day

21         cooling-off period.

22               We could resubmit, but we started this

23         process over a year ago the first time, so we

24         would be -- we only have 30 days to appeal, so

25         the appeal process to the Circuit Court is much



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 182

1         faster than we know that we could ever get any

2         action at the county level.  Otherwise, we would

3         trigger the special magistrate's requirement

4         that we vacate the use.

5               MS. HUAL:  When did the clock start on the

6         90 days?

7               MR. DUNAWAY:  The clock starts on the 90

8         days when final appeal is rendered.

9               MS. HUAL:  Okay.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  So I couldn't afford not to

11         do that because I won't have time in the 30 days

12         to get something resolved to meet the

13         magistrate's order, so that's why I say the

14         practical consequence of that would be an appeal

15         to Circuit Court, of which we would do.

16               We would much prefer that if you had

17         some -- if you had some concern about that, that

18         you remand because a remand back from this board

19         would keep us out of the jurisdiction of the

20         special magistrate and would be able to allow

21         that process to continue under the -- under your

22         guidance.  You are the planning director now.

23               MR. JONES:  I would like to add -- Thank

24         you, Mr. Dunaway, for that legal -- and Madam

25         Attorney, that, again -- just -- just for



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 183

1         clarification, don't know what you're going to

2         decide but -- if determine that if you continue

3         to come back, with the understanding that it

4         still must meet the requirements.

5               And we do need to -- and I will suggest

6         that we give it a timeline, a reasonable

7         timeline.  This has been going on for quite a

8         while.

9               We -- we -- because I know that they want

10         closure.  We got to get closure to the

11         community.  We got to give closure for ourself.

12         This has been going on a good length of time.

13               So -- so -- so -- so those conditions

14         of -- we're discussing, but that's the case with

15         the attorneys, we can be specific -- specific on

16         what we're looking at and what staff is required

17         to do and what they expect per the Land

18         Development Code, if that is the case.

19               MR. HOLMER:  I just want to point out:  A

20         remand, going back, getting a second bite of the

21         apple, seeing could it meet it, that doesn't

22         address the question before you today.

23               MR. JONES:  Absolutely.  Thank you.

24               MR. HOLMER:  The question before you today

25         is, was that denial arbitrary, capricious?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 184

1         Really, it all boils down to that.  It's not

2         could they go back and get another chance and

3         make it?  Hey, we don't know.  At the heart of

4         the matter, we need some sort of finding from

5         this board on the issue of the day.

6               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.  But what I'm seeing,

7         you're asking me -- asking us was the denial

8         arbitrary and capricious?  But all we know is

9         that it was denied because it didn't meet some

10         standards.  What are those standards?

11               MR. HOLMER:  I went through that.  I

12         discussed those, which we talked about.  Yes, we

13         talked about the roadway and what that could

14         trip.  I discussed the buffering requirements

15         that weren't met.  I discussed the labeling.

16               MS. RIGBY:  But you said there was other

17         things.  If we had a list of -- and -- and I

18         guess that's what I'm looking for.  I'm used to

19         seeing it, is that we denied you -- we denied

20         you, Mr. Applicant, because of this list.

21               MR. DUNAWAY:  "See below."

22               MS. RIGBY:  And the applicant can say,

23         "Yeah.  I better do that."

24               Then, yes, you denied it and it was -- it

25         was a fair denial because the applicant is not



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 185

1         going to do it.

2               The applicant has stated that you want a

3         road.  To me, it seems like this road came last,

4         but I don't know because I don't have

5         documentation that says when the road came into

6         play or -- What I think happened here -- and I'm

7         basing on just the information given -- is that

8         this at first was a square peg that was going to

9         fit in a square hole, and everybody on the board

10         knew what was going on.

11               That square peg rounded because they

12         decided they couldn't afford to do the bathhouse

13         or -- or the structure, so the square peg became

14         round.  But we've still got this square hole.

15         Okay?

16               So now we have to somehow figure out how

17         this square -- this round peg can fit into the

18         square hole.  And through that process, there

19         has been many variations of comments that, okay,

20         well, since you're not doing this anymore, the

21         bathhouse, the permanent structures, you're now

22         doing this, now these are your criteria to fall

23         under.

24               Like he said, we're doing nothing.  What

25         do you want us to do if we're doing nothing?



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 186

1         This is an animal all in and of itself.  This

2         probably is not in the LDC, as far as

3         performance standards, as far as criteria, to a

4         certain degree.  I don't know.

5               I would -- in my mind, I would think that

6         they would be looking at this as a campground,

7         and what are the criteria, the conformity of a

8         campground, and do they meet them.

9               They meet the standards A through G but

10         they don't meet standard S, Q, L and M.  I

11         can -- I can -- I can -- I can say, "Yes, your

12         denial was correct."  But not knowing specifics,

13         in general that is arbitrary.

14               MR. HOLMER:  You've talked about doing

15         subdivisions.  Different animal.  Fully

16         understand that.  You're going through that

17         process.

18               When you get to the stage for a

19         development order, let's say your preliminary

20         plat.  As to those comments, one of the things

21         you get and you get signed off is from each

22         reviewer signing that disposition sheet saying,

23         "Hey, everything's done."

24               MS. RIGBY:  Mm-hmm.

25               MR. HOLMER:  We move forward.  Because



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 187

1         that's your thing, saying, "Hey, I met all their

2         conditions."

3               MS. RIGBY:  Right.

4               MR. HOLMER:  We don't have that.  It

5         didn't meet all the conditions before going to

6         the sign-off stage.  Once again --

7               MS. RIGBY:  Why did it go to final if it

8         didn't meet that step?

9               MR. JONES:  Because -- I would like to --

10         to submit this for -- in evidence.  The

11         evidence -- And I know that Mr. Rigby -- I mean

12         Mr. Dunaway definitely has this.

13               There was a letter forwarded to him by

14         order of the special magistrate stating that we

15         had to send a copy of these comments to Mr.

16         Dunaway, the comments that are -- that are right

17         here -- he got a copy -- stating on what he got

18         to do for the September 28th site plan review

19         meeting.  These comments right here.

20               MS. RIGBY:  Okay.

21               MR. GANT:  Read those comments.

22               MR. JONES:  Yes.  Yes, yes, yes.

23               For the record -- for the record -- I'm

24         quite certain that Mr. Dunaway has this letter.

25         Certain.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 188

1               We need -- it says, one of the comments --

2               MR. DUNAWAY:  Mr. Chairman, the only -- if

3         I could, the only reason I would object to this

4         is because the appeal that we're doing is coming

5         from DRC.  We're coming from a denial at DRC.

6               As Ms. Rigby knows, at DRC, lots of things

7         get resolved one way or the other.  Out of

8         DRC -- and I refer back to your standards for --

9         and that is, the specific LDC provision

10         identified in the appeal application, are they

11         appropriate?

12               The appeal application made clear, and

13         it's part of your record -- the appeal

14         application and the county -- the staff didn't

15         object to that.  They didn't -- and then they

16         didn't present any evidence contrary to that.

17               But the appeal -- and look at my letter of

18         October the 27th.  That's my appeal.  That's my

19         letter to you as the board, my appeal.

20               And it says, "At the DRC, the issue was

21         narrowed to the county claiming that the design

22         standard, DSM 2.2, required an all-weather

23         road."

24               And again, the testimony during the

25         hearing -- now we're in argument -- but the



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 189

1         testimony during the hearing was from Mr. Jones

2         this was narrowed to the road, the all-access

3         road.

4               And the reason it was is because the

5         county knew that the road would kill the

6         project.  It knew that, because I had been up

7         front with that since way back before.

8               I can't build a road if I don't have any

9         money.  I can't build a road, so is there a way

10         we can work through this process without the

11         road?

12               And -- and there was a time -- but at the

13         end, it turns out that, no, you can't.  And so

14         we said, "Well, condition the permit -- issue

15         the permit conditioned on the road."

16               But what's before you is an appeal of the

17         DRC, not appeal of staff's random comments

18         because I -- you know, we've got April comments.

19         We've got all kinds of comments out there.

20               But as you know, Ms. Rigby, it's what was

21         the denial at DRC.  And the DRC was narrowed to

22         the issue of the all-weather road, so we

23         believed that we were appealing the denial of

24         the staff based on an all-weather road.  That's

25         what we -- that's what we thought.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 190

1               That's why we paid the $682.60 to make

2         this appeal, so we could bring it to you and

3         say, "One, we don't think the road is necessary

4         and we don't think the staff has proved it.  And

5         we didn't think they proved then.  We don't

6         think they proved it tonight -- I mean today."

7               But if it is, as we said at DRC, clearly

8         to the DRC, well, then, issue the permit

9         conditioned on it because everything else we've

10         done.  And that's what we appealed.  That's what

11         the third paragraph is, so that's what your

12         provision -- specific LDC provision.  Identify

13         in the appeal application, are they appropriate

14         to the decision, and was the decision not in

15         compliance with those provisions?

16               We think we've met all those objective

17         criteria, and the burden would shift under the

18         Irving standard.

19               So I would object to Mr. Jones now in

20         argument, after the hearing is closed and the

21         board is discussing, to introduce comments which

22         I acknowledge we received.  Absolutely.  We

23         received a bunch of comments throughout the

24         years, but we narrowed these issues down at DRC

25         to the 2.2 DSM, was an all-weather road



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 191

1         required?  That's what we appealed.

2               MR. JONES:  Now, in response to answering

3         the question -- there was a question asked

4         regarding -- because I think -- I think it's

5         perfectly clear that they stated that they did

6         not want to do, which is the primary -- one of

7         the primary concerns, which is probably most

8         costly for them.  That's not my issue.  That's

9         not my issue, the cost.

10               I think it was stated emphatically by Mr.

11         Stromquist that -- that they are aware of the

12         comments, but they did not meet the requirements

13         of complying on the site plan, to give us the

14         opportunity to review for stormwater for the

15         road in any other comments that that may trigger

16         this.

17               They acknowledge the fact that they

18         received the comments.  He just acknowledged the

19         fact that he got them.  He just acknowledged the

20         fact that they know that they can do it, but "we

21         really don't want to do it."

22               So I think -- and I think at this point,

23         the testimony is quite clear from Mr. Drew and

24         Mr. Dunaway of what the primary issues are

25         from -- from the comments that they received,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 192

1         and they acknowledged those things.

2               So and if you -- and again, that's why I

3         say, we have those.  If you want to see them, we

4         can submit them right now.

5               But it has been acknowledged that they

6         have them.  We know why we're here.  Because we

7         just cannot and don't want to meet the

8         condition.  That's his -- his assertion, board,

9         his assertion that due to this condition, we

10         cannot -- our code does not allow for this

11         because other things that stated that -- that

12         this triggered this -- this triggered this.

13               It's in here.  They were aware of things

14         so we were -- but through that, Mr. Rigby -- Mr.

15         Dunaway already gave his closing remarks.

16               I'm just responding to the comments that

17         Ms. Rigby is stating to readdress that fact, not

18         to rehash this all over again.

19               And what he said by him was said by Mr.

20         Drew, too, for me.

21               MR. HOLMER:  The conditions . . . there

22         are conditions.  They're small things.  They

23         don't trigger other things.

24               The reason that the county approves a

25         development order, we want everything on that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 193

1         site plan.  It's real simple.  We have

2         inspectors who go out to make sure everything

3         was done according to the plan on that piece of

4         paper.

5               If we were to conditionally approve

6         something, a road, we don't know how much

7         impervious surface.  We don't know how much

8         runoff.  We don't know how the stormwater is

9         going to be handled.

10               If the county approves the site plan

11         without all that -- without that stuff on there,

12         what happens when the complaints roll in?

13               MR. JONES:  Absolutely.

14               MR. HOLMER:  Well, I think they're causing

15         problems for me downstream.  Our inspector goes

16         out with a set of plans.  It's not on the plans.

17         It's, "Well, we're going to do this."  Where's

18         the calculations?

19               We're in a position if it's not on that

20         plan and we need it on that plan, we have to

21         stop it at that point.  There's a reason why

22         everything needs to be drawn on that plan.

23               And years down the road, someone could

24         have an issue.  "Was it drawn on the plan?"

25               "No, it wasn't drawn on the plan.  It was



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 194

1         just going to be worked out later."

2               Mr. Jones is correct.  We simply don't

3         have that leeway.  We're not doing that.  I'm

4         sorry.

5               MR. CASEY:  Mr. Chair, if I may say, you

6         know, what we're here to decide, if the process

7         was done correct.

8               And listening to everything, taking out

9         the emotions, I'm hearing that's -- and I'm

10         convinced that staff is saying that two

11         requirements weren't met.  And the applicant is

12         also understanding that the requirements weren't

13         met.

14               So that being said, you know, I'm

15         convinced that the process -- the justification

16         for staff to deny it, I'm in a position that --

17         I don't take it real light -- if all the

18         discussion's been taken care of, to move that we

19         accept the recommendation of staff's denial.

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  We have a motion

21         to accept staff's finding of fact.

22               Do we have a second?

23               MS. GUND:  Well, I too believe that you

24         weren't doing nothing.  You were doing something

25         with the property, and going through the process



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 195

1         of the county.  And the county was in it for a

2         lot of years.  I mean, they know the process and

3         that the process was not followed, so I second.

4         I agree with Mr. Casey, and I second that

5         motion.

6               THE CHAIRPERSON:  We have a motion and we

7         have a second.  Second by Judy.  Motion by Mr.

8         Casey.

9               Discussion.

10               MS. HUAL:  Just to clarify, the motion is

11         to affirm the decision.

12               MR. CASEY:  Yes, the denial.

13               MS. HUAL:  Okay.

14               MR. CASEY:  Correct.

15               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Discussion?

16               (No response.)

17               THE CHAIRPERSON:  All those in favor,

18         signify by raising your right hand.

19               (Three hands raised.)

20               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Oh, boy.

21               Those opposed, likewise?

22               (Three hands raised.)

23               THE CHAIRPERSON:  It's a tie vote, so the

24         staff's findings are accepted.  Okay.

25               MR. DUNAWAY:  Ms. Hual, may I ask a



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 196

1         procedural question?

2               MS. HUAL:  Yes.

3               MR. DUNAWAY:  Given the fact that we have

4         a three-three vote, and knowing that I have to

5         appeal that process, the motion was to accept

6         staff's findings of fact, which we know there

7         are no findings of fact.

8               MS. HUAL:  Which I asked for the

9         clarification.

10               MR. DUNAWAY:  Then Ms. Gund stated the

11         process was not followed.

12               MS. GUND:  I'm sorry.

13               MR. DUNAWAY:  I would request --

14               MS. GUND:  The process was followed.  I'm

15         sorry.  I meant to say that the process -- the

16         county has a process, and it was followed.  It

17         was -- well, how do I put that?  I guess it was

18         not followed by you guys.

19               MR. DUNAWAY:  That's -- that's -- yeah,

20         that's what I heard -- I heard you say, that

21         Sean's Outpost did not follow the process.  And

22         so I don't know what to appeal.

23               MR. GANT:  I think the -- the vote was to

24         affirm the staff's -- approve -- approve the

25         staff's decision -- findings and decision, so I



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 197

1         think that's -- is that correct?

2               MS. HUAL:  That was what I understood.

3         And that was why I made a point of clarifying,

4         to be sure that that was, in fact, Mr. Casey's

5         motion.

6               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.  I just -- And I

7         understood that.  It's just that there were no

8         findings of fact.

9               MS. HUAL:  No.  I think it was to affirm

10         the decision.

11               MR. DUNAWAY:  Yes, ma'am.

12               MS. HUAL:  Is that true, Mr. Casey?

13               MR. CASEY:  Yes, absolutely.

14               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Any other business?

15               (No response.)

16               MR. HOLMER:  Yes, ma'am.  We do have a

17         variance case on the 21st at 8:30 a.m.

18               THE CHAIRPERSON:  Without objection, we

19         stand adjourned.

20               (Hearing concluded at 12:31 p.m.)

21

22

23

24

25



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 198

1

2

3                 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

4

5

6 STATE OF FLORIDA     )

                     )

7 COUNTY OF ESCAMBIA   )

8

9        I, DAVID A. DEIK, CP, CPE, Professional Court

10 Reporter, certify that I was authorized to and did

11 stenographically report the foregoing Board of

12 Adjustment proceedings; and that the transcript is a

13 true record of the proceedings contained herein.

14        I further certify that I am not a relative,

15 employee, attorney, or counsel to any of the parties,

16 nor am I a relative or employee of any of the parties'

17 attorney or counsel connected with the action, nor am I

18 financially interested in the action.

19

20

21

22

23              _____________________________

             DAVID A. DEIK, CP, CPE

24              Professional Court Reporter

25


	Agenda
	AP-2016-01
	Att1_AP-2016-01
	AP-2016-01
	Location Map
	Zoning Map
	FLU Map
	Aerial Map
	Wetlands Map
	Mailing List Map
	Letter of Request
	Proof of Corporation
	Warranty Deed
	Compatibility and Location Criteria Analysis
	Receipt
	Boundary Survey
	Site Plan

	Att2_Final Order
	Att3_Petition for Writ of Certiorari with Appendix
	Petition - Pages 1 to 308
	Petition - Pages 309 to 377

	Att4_Transcripts from December 7, 2016
	A
	a.m (2)
	1:16
	197:17

	abilities (1)
	4:9

	ability (1)
	134:10

	able (16)
	11:22
	22:16
	33:23
	41:19
	46:18
	60:13
	69:3
	99:11
	120:21
	142:11
	143:5
	146:22
	146:24
	152:16
	173:9
	182:20

	above-styled (1)
	1:14

	absolutely (15)
	14:6
	16:12
	16:19
	42:11
	43:7
	56:5
	58:24
	61:1
	101:20
	111:6
	124:25
	183:23
	190:22
	193:13
	197:13

	abstain (2)
	9:14
	68:19

	abstaining (2)
	68:10
	68:16

	abuts (2)
	35:10
	139:18

	accept (10)
	4:17
	67:24
	102:14
	102:15
	177:11
	178:2
	179:6
	194:19
	194:21
	196:5

	acceptable (1)
	15:6

	accepted (4)
	7:18
	15:14
	67:20
	195:24

	accepting (1)
	180:11

	access (51)
	22:3
	22:21
	33:1
	34:8
	34:14
	34:15
	35:1
	35:4
	35:6
	35:10
	35:13
	35:23
	40:18
	40:19
	41:11
	41:12
	41:13
	51:17
	51:19
	51:19
	52:8
	52:18
	54:13
	54:24
	55:4
	64:20
	65:6
	69:15
	69:20
	78:19
	78:24
	79:1
	79:14
	85:12
	87:20
	95:17
	99:2
	105:15
	112:1
	115:11
	120:7
	121:5
	142:20
	143:9
	143:10
	149:8
	171:21
	172:1
	172:4
	172:6
	172:12

	accessed (1)
	23:3

	accord (1)
	154:9

	account (1)
	56:25

	accurate (1)
	137:12

	acknowledge (3)
	49:7
	190:22
	191:17

	acknowledged (4)
	191:18
	191:19
	192:1
	192:5

	acquainted (1)
	10:20

	acquired (1)
	23:4

	acquisition (3)
	20:20
	36:14
	36:15

	acres (5)
	11:23
	20:12
	24:17
	143:22
	175:18

	act (4)
	82:23
	83:4
	84:24
	174:21

	acting (3)
	60:20
	61:9
	178:3

	action (8)
	6:15
	7:9
	7:17
	88:23
	180:24
	182:2
	198:17
	198:18

	active (4)
	21:11
	23:13
	26:6
	26:15

	activity (7)
	117:22
	121:24
	121:25
	122:18
	150:17
	150:17
	181:15

	acts (1)
	168:13

	actual (3)
	24:1
	40:21
	148:12

	add (4)
	98:23
	172:14
	179:20
	182:23

	added (3)
	76:8
	76:9
	114:1

	addicts (1)
	155:20

	adding (1)
	103:5

	additional (1)
	82:2

	address (18)
	1:7
	7:24
	9:22
	19:17
	19:18
	59:20
	69:13
	98:17
	101:2
	101:19
	104:9
	128:8
	141:12
	146:20
	156:15
	158:9
	177:13
	183:22

	addresses (1)
	170:17

	addressing (1)
	8:25

	adequate (1)
	77:1

	adjacent (3)
	158:18
	160:23
	161:12

	adjourned (1)
	197:19

	adjust (1)
	90:22

	Adjustment (7)
	1:2
	1:15
	2:2
	4:12
	5:22
	8:12
	198:12

	Adjustment's (1)
	180:22

	administrative (9)
	2:14
	5:23
	7:21
	8:18
	70:15
	73:18
	82:11
	165:3
	165:9

	administrator (3)
	37:3
	107:4
	117:25

	admissible (1)
	140:11

	admit (2)
	26:10
	105:18

	admitted (2)
	10:13
	59:2

	Adobe (1)
	17:16

	adopt (1)
	177:9

	adverse (13)
	47:25
	48:1
	48:6
	51:3
	71:22
	74:21
	112:9
	153:16
	169:1
	169:1
	169:6
	169:9
	176:12

	advertisement (1)
	5:12

	advocating (1)
	114:22

	aerial (3)
	13:8
	21:8
	53:8

	aerials (2)
	20:25
	21:14

	affect (1)
	82:1

	affirm (9)
	165:11
	179:1
	179:7
	179:8
	179:8
	179:12
	195:11
	196:24
	197:9

	affirmed (2)
	70:10
	181:1

	affirming (1)
	179:18

	afford (2)
	182:10
	185:12

	age (1)
	60:7

	agency (1)
	72:7

	Agent (1)
	1:10

	aggrieved (2)
	7:10
	7:20

	ago (3)
	130:14
	130:18
	181:23

	agonizing (1)
	29:18

	agree (6)
	97:20
	107:14
	117:20
	126:14
	177:23
	195:4

	agreed (4)
	39:7
	55:22
	134:1
	170:25

	agreement (2)
	39:24
	41:23

	ahead (9)
	10:16
	14:1
	14:1
	14:9
	83:12
	141:21
	152:15
	165:17
	180:19

	air (5)
	89:11
	142:12
	144:3
	144:5
	145:17

	Alfred (1)
	37:11

	all-access (1)
	189:2

	all-purpose (3)
	97:21
	112:2
	112:3

	all-weather (27)
	55:7
	55:16
	76:20
	76:21
	77:12
	77:13
	78:5
	78:9
	78:15
	79:15
	80:2
	81:21
	87:19
	88:7
	88:8
	91:21
	91:22
	92:15
	92:24
	95:2
	166:4
	171:20
	174:11
	188:22
	189:22
	189:24
	190:25

	allegations (1)
	145:6

	allergies (1)
	161:4

	alley (2)
	161:9
	161:14

	allow (10)
	23:8
	24:11
	31:7
	46:3
	61:5
	111:8
	176:19
	176:20
	182:20
	192:10

	allowable (3)
	111:4
	171:6
	175:6

	allowed (18)
	8:4
	24:25
	25:21
	58:17
	71:13
	71:14
	81:16
	103:8
	105:19
	105:20
	129:11
	140:16
	142:1
	142:9
	143:23
	144:2
	154:5
	173:5

	allowing (1)
	144:4

	allows (3)
	27:6
	86:7
	105:19

	alongside (1)
	69:11

	alterations (1)
	38:12

	Alvin (1)
	141:8

	amazing (1)
	46:14

	Amazon (1)
	23:1

	amended (2)
	103:21
	103:25

	amount (3)
	46:8
	76:16
	83:16

	amounts (1)
	62:1

	analysis (6)
	17:2
	40:4
	40:5
	41:6
	172:17
	176:2

	and/or (3)
	32:5
	47:23
	54:2

	Andrew (2)
	2:13
	70:13

	animal (4)
	159:23
	164:12
	186:1
	186:15

	announcing (1)
	12:13

	answer (6)
	55:23
	69:6
	121:21
	180:15
	180:16
	180:17

	answering (1)
	191:2

	answers (1)
	127:3

	anticipate (1)
	10:12

	anybody (2)
	79:6
	85:14

	anymore (2)
	159:25
	185:20

	anyway (2)
	43:18
	77:24

	AP-2016-01 (2)
	1:6
	9:1

	apparatus (1)
	145:8

	apparently (1)
	64:6

	appeal (50)
	1:8
	1:8
	7:21
	8:18
	13:3
	14:1
	17:9
	20:8
	44:4
	44:25
	70:16
	70:25
	72:12
	73:25
	82:11
	89:5
	98:4
	109:21
	111:11
	111:13
	124:19
	124:23
	125:15
	164:25
	168:12
	171:12
	174:20
	177:17
	178:7
	178:24
	180:21
	181:16
	181:18
	181:24
	181:25
	182:8
	182:14
	188:4
	188:10
	188:12
	188:13
	188:17
	188:18
	188:19
	189:16
	189:17
	190:2
	190:13
	196:5
	196:22

	appealed (3)
	89:21
	190:10
	191:1

	appealing (6)
	44:3
	44:5
	44:5
	44:9
	74:18
	189:23

	appeals (5)
	5:23
	43:23
	73:18
	164:12
	165:3

	APPEARANCES (1)
	2:1

	appeared (1)
	138:22

	appears (1)
	148:17

	APPELLANT (1)
	2:16

	apple (2)
	164:14
	183:21

	applicable (3)
	6:18
	171:13
	171:13

	applicant (44)
	7:1
	7:3
	10:1
	10:4
	10:6
	39:20
	44:13
	47:17
	65:16
	67:16
	68:4
	70:24
	71:2
	71:3
	72:3
	74:1
	74:16
	74:22
	75:23
	82:9
	86:18
	126:10
	126:12
	126:21
	128:5
	162:20
	164:8
	166:19
	167:18
	168:19
	168:21
	169:17
	172:10
	177:2
	177:5
	180:12
	180:16
	181:4
	181:14
	184:20
	184:22
	184:25
	185:2
	194:11

	applicant's (1)
	14:9

	applicants (2)
	51:15
	53:22

	applicating (1)
	114:21

	application (32)
	7:8
	7:16
	7:17
	17:12
	27:17
	30:7
	31:14
	38:22
	38:23
	38:25
	39:3
	39:8
	39:12
	39:15
	43:15
	44:22
	83:7
	85:2
	93:1
	106:24
	107:13
	149:14
	166:21
	169:22
	170:25
	171:12
	172:14
	178:17
	188:10
	188:12
	188:14
	190:13

	applied (2)
	27:13
	39:6

	applies (1)
	72:23

	apply (3)
	7:22
	62:10
	62:11

	appointment (1)
	133:5

	appointments (1)
	63:19

	appreciate (4)
	138:8
	145:2
	145:4
	168:8

	appreciated (1)
	42:19

	appropriate (6)
	7:12
	74:20
	163:14
	166:10
	188:11
	190:13

	approvable (1)
	84:21

	approval (14)
	39:9
	48:22
	75:10
	76:12
	85:11
	88:20
	106:25
	107:17
	107:21
	107:22
	109:20
	109:20
	169:25
	178:15

	approvals (2)
	76:9
	76:10

	approve (14)
	46:20
	77:20
	81:14
	81:17
	82:4
	83:13
	107:23
	115:8
	126:25
	169:9
	173:7
	193:5
	196:24
	196:24

	approved (10)
	75:8
	77:10
	78:6
	82:13
	88:3
	114:7
	171:3
	171:3
	171:4
	171:8

	approves (2)
	192:24
	193:10

	approving (2)
	137:8
	169:12

	approximately (1)
	20:12

	April (5)
	38:25
	39:2
	39:11
	56:9
	189:18

	apron (2)
	41:25
	42:11

	arbitrary (16)
	74:4
	74:10
	89:8
	89:23
	110:9
	110:11
	115:3
	118:17
	125:22
	165:10
	167:6
	167:10
	167:16
	183:25
	184:8
	186:13

	area (41)
	20:16
	20:24
	21:4
	21:12
	21:12
	21:22
	22:2
	22:15
	25:19
	26:24
	27:4
	30:21
	32:4
	36:6
	36:7
	36:11
	42:7
	53:9
	59:25
	60:23
	65:10
	78:18
	78:21
	82:1
	84:8
	91:14
	92:2
	105:21
	108:6
	112:1
	132:9
	139:15
	149:5
	150:22
	150:22
	150:23
	150:25
	151:6
	154:9
	175:15
	175:20

	areas (4)
	23:9
	31:21
	63:11
	167:7

	argue (2)
	89:6
	118:23

	argued (2)
	106:1
	106:3

	arguing (2)
	98:13
	115:25

	argument (5)
	48:14
	117:23
	138:4
	188:25
	190:20

	arguments (2)
	6:12
	6:14

	Articles (1)
	16:24

	articulate (1)
	54:8

	articulation (1)
	170:3

	aside (1)
	7:5

	asked (17)
	15:25
	26:12
	42:23
	44:21
	46:1
	61:10
	86:23
	95:7
	106:9
	112:21
	138:5
	154:10
	161:9
	161:16
	174:8
	191:3
	196:8

	asking (14)
	20:13
	45:5
	83:19
	83:20
	100:16
	107:5
	138:3
	143:16
	164:5
	172:23
	174:8
	180:1
	184:7
	184:7

	aspects (1)
	154:21

	asphalt (2)
	47:7
	76:24

	assertion (4)
	107:8
	107:11
	192:8
	192:9

	assertions (2)
	118:23
	135:6

	assessing (1)
	63:15

	assist (2)
	60:14
	63:3

	assistance (1)
	63:23

	Assistant (1)
	2:14

	assisting (2)
	63:7
	63:10

	associated (1)
	172:2

	assume (1)
	11:5

	assuming (2)
	71:19
	92:3

	assure (1)
	37:6

	asthma (1)
	142:13

	atmosphere (1)
	145:17

	attached (2)
	39:14
	162:24

	attempt (1)
	34:1

	attention (2)
	154:24
	155:3

	attest (1)
	93:18

	attorney (8)
	2:4
	10:3
	127:7
	138:9
	179:22
	182:25
	198:15
	198:17

	attorneys (2)
	63:20
	183:15

	Attorneys' (1)
	117:24

	AUBY (1)
	2:3

	auction (1)
	140:5

	AUDIENCE (1)
	131:11

	August (4)
	102:10
	103:18
	103:19
	103:20

	aunts (1)
	23:23

	authority (9)
	82:19
	83:4
	83:6
	126:25
	165:13
	165:15
	174:17
	178:8
	178:15

	authorized (3)
	115:16
	119:3
	198:10

	automatically (1)
	118:6

	available (2)
	15:9
	15:16

	avenue (3)
	1:7
	9:1
	166:11

	avenues (1)
	98:2

	average (1)
	77:6

	aware (13)
	92:23
	93:5
	93:8
	95:1
	95:3
	95:5
	145:7
	145:11
	154:5
	155:17
	176:5
	191:11
	192:13


	B
	B (6)
	3:13
	126:9
	126:10
	141:13
	141:17
	180:6

	back (88)
	8:2
	8:7
	8:9
	20:19
	22:20
	27:22
	30:2
	34:18
	35:11
	35:24
	36:18
	39:19
	39:20
	41:14
	41:17
	41:21
	42:14
	61:7
	62:17
	63:4
	75:11
	77:11
	82:7
	90:19
	93:4
	93:6
	93:10
	94:20
	94:20
	95:21
	99:16
	100:9
	101:9
	105:14
	105:15
	106:15
	108:3
	108:12
	109:21
	110:3
	110:6
	112:19
	116:23
	121:10
	122:11
	124:20
	124:20
	125:17
	126:19
	130:6
	130:20
	130:21
	130:22
	135:12
	140:13
	140:18
	140:20
	153:4
	157:4
	157:9
	157:10
	157:10
	157:19
	157:21
	158:23
	159:3
	159:18
	160:3
	160:3
	160:18
	161:24
	162:2
	162:22
	163:17
	163:18
	164:3
	164:4
	169:4
	170:4
	172:16
	180:13
	181:5
	182:18
	183:3
	183:20
	184:2
	188:8
	189:7

	backed (1)
	163:22

	background (6)
	14:2
	36:14
	51:5
	60:4
	60:5
	148:9

	backside (1)
	22:24

	backwards (1)
	91:6

	bad (3)
	49:5
	130:2
	178:18

	balance (1)
	63:25

	bambooed (1)
	65:5

	based (31)
	49:19
	72:9
	73:20
	75:20
	75:20
	83:24
	86:24
	89:22
	89:25
	90:22
	97:6
	97:10
	99:24
	116:22
	119:12
	119:12
	119:18
	119:18
	120:14
	120:17
	120:25
	121:2
	126:9
	126:15
	164:23
	165:25
	166:14
	167:9
	174:4
	180:3
	189:24

	basic (3)
	60:22
	81:12
	151:8

	basically (8)
	14:2
	61:16
	70:22
	96:9
	149:19
	151:21
	152:14
	177:23

	basing (1)
	185:7

	basis (5)
	74:13
	89:13
	119:20
	119:21
	164:10

	bathhouse (4)
	30:20
	149:2
	185:12
	185:21

	bathrooms (1)
	108:7

	battery (2)
	148:17
	173:3

	bear (2)
	7:4
	110:19

	Beasley (2)
	102:7
	181:12

	beautiful (1)
	53:9

	beds (1)
	24:3

	beers (1)
	61:7

	began (1)
	24:11

	beginning (7)
	20:19
	91:10
	91:19
	91:20
	92:13
	121:11
	162:19

	believe (31)
	19:20
	23:1
	42:17
	44:9
	47:15
	47:20
	47:20
	49:13
	49:19
	50:11
	50:23
	50:24
	50:25
	65:24
	66:2
	66:4
	94:9
	95:25
	98:16
	114:24
	128:6
	138:25
	140:24
	151:3
	153:10
	153:13
	168:2
	168:3
	174:4
	176:22
	194:23

	believed (1)
	189:23

	belong (1)
	133:15

	belongs (9)
	128:20
	128:21
	132:23
	133:3
	133:9
	133:23
	136:2
	136:21
	161:10

	bend (1)
	91:6

	benefits (2)
	62:9
	63:12

	best (2)
	17:15
	48:5

	better (2)
	59:9
	184:23

	beyond (2)
	104:18
	111:10

	bidding (1)
	33:17

	big (5)
	36:16
	131:1
	131:2
	160:7
	160:7

	bigger (1)
	42:4

	biggest (1)
	71:25

	Biles (10)
	133:4
	133:9
	133:24
	136:4
	136:21
	137:11
	140:3
	150:24
	151:3
	155:7

	Biles' (1)
	147:4

	Bill (4)
	2:9
	4:21
	5:14
	102:17

	bimonthly (1)
	153:11

	birth (1)
	62:11

	bit (5)
	17:19
	34:20
	35:8
	60:4
	149:21

	bite (2)
	164:14
	183:20

	black (11)
	72:13
	72:16
	72:24
	75:12
	83:21
	89:19
	90:2
	109:7
	109:8
	115:6
	174:18

	blank (1)
	155:5

	blighted (2)
	131:15
	131:16

	block (1)
	111:7

	blocking (1)
	129:17

	blocks (5)
	141:15
	141:23
	142:18
	145:20
	160:22

	blows (1)
	31:25

	blue (1)
	157:18

	bluffs (1)
	37:23

	BOA (16)
	4:17
	5:23
	6:4
	6:6
	6:16
	6:19
	6:25
	7:13
	7:14
	7:15
	7:16
	7:19
	7:21
	73:23
	82:19
	95:24

	BOA's (1)
	7:9

	board (104)
	1:2
	1:15
	2:2
	2:12
	4:2
	4:3
	4:6
	4:11
	4:14
	5:2
	5:19
	5:22
	7:25
	8:11
	8:16
	8:18
	8:21
	9:2
	9:8
	9:9
	9:14
	10:13
	14:20
	15:20
	16:18
	19:17
	20:8
	34:2
	34:6
	39:1
	46:21
	48:18
	49:13
	50:12
	50:13
	51:14
	67:15
	70:17
	72:15
	82:10
	82:10
	82:12
	82:16
	82:23
	83:1
	83:4
	84:20
	86:23
	87:4
	88:22
	89:21
	90:9
	97:4
	98:3
	99:16
	102:14
	102:23
	103:1
	106:2
	110:22
	110:22
	114:24
	118:13
	119:9
	125:21
	126:17
	127:15
	128:5
	132:14
	134:16
	138:9
	138:19
	138:23
	139:2
	141:4
	143:9
	144:8
	147:9
	148:9
	152:6
	158:3
	163:11
	163:14
	164:13
	164:25
	165:13
	167:22
	168:8
	168:12
	168:13
	169:9
	175:4
	177:2
	178:21
	179:25
	180:21
	181:1
	182:18
	184:5
	185:9
	188:19
	190:21
	192:8
	198:11

	board's (2)
	112:25
	165:15

	boilerplate (2)
	177:19
	177:20

	boils (1)
	184:1

	bones (1)
	20:17

	bono (1)
	27:15

	borrow (2)
	129:19
	129:21

	bottom (5)
	20:1
	21:1
	52:4
	160:17
	179:5

	bought (10)
	33:18
	131:14
	134:3
	134:11
	140:5
	140:19
	140:20
	151:17
	161:11
	161:13

	boundaries (1)
	114:2

	boundary (2)
	34:7
	36:9

	boxes (2)
	31:23
	50:6

	boy (1)
	195:20

	breathe (2)
	142:13
	161:5

	bridge (1)
	24:9

	Bridgedale (1)
	141:14

	briefly (1)
	39:5

	bring (10)
	30:22
	94:1
	94:4
	96:7
	97:17
	118:9
	127:8
	162:22
	166:20
	190:2

	bringing (1)
	75:11

	brings (1)
	77:13

	brought (7)
	76:7
	131:12
	154:9
	154:11
	154:24
	166:24
	169:17

	buffer (10)
	80:11
	80:14
	80:14
	80:16
	80:24
	86:12
	86:14
	133:13
	133:14
	133:16

	buffering (2)
	80:9
	184:14

	build (25)
	42:24
	45:5
	46:6
	46:9
	46:22
	46:23
	46:25
	47:11
	53:15
	53:23
	53:25
	64:17
	69:23
	104:19
	104:20
	108:4
	110:3
	110:5
	112:3
	134:1
	134:7
	134:8
	149:1
	189:8
	189:9

	building (15)
	30:19
	30:25
	30:25
	38:11
	45:20
	47:13
	50:19
	54:7
	105:2
	105:13
	105:14
	105:14
	129:23
	161:17
	174:11

	built (4)
	34:7
	41:14
	46:24
	53:17

	bunch (1)
	190:23

	burden (11)
	47:22
	50:24
	50:25
	74:1
	74:16
	110:19
	114:18
	167:18
	168:24
	169:8
	190:17

	burdened (1)
	69:19

	burn (8)
	129:4
	142:2
	142:10
	143:4
	143:23
	143:25
	146:9
	153:23

	burning (8)
	142:21
	143:5
	145:7
	146:13
	153:22
	154:20
	160:21
	160:23

	burrow (1)
	21:3

	bush (2)
	80:19
	81:4

	bushes (1)
	157:3

	business (5)
	65:19
	66:9
	89:18
	141:2
	197:14

	bust (1)
	41:25

	Button's (1)
	20:1

	buy (1)
	157:22


	C
	C (5)
	4:1
	80:16
	81:6
	126:9
	126:10

	C-1 (1)
	18:21

	C-3 (2)
	80:24
	80:24

	calculation (1)
	88:11

	calculations (8)
	77:18
	81:22
	83:18
	99:21
	165:25
	166:1
	166:5
	193:18

	call (13)
	14:19
	21:16
	36:3
	53:2
	59:10
	67:19
	91:13
	103:4
	128:6
	130:24
	147:20
	147:21
	152:14

	called (6)
	11:4
	24:12
	145:23
	145:25
	152:1
	165:19

	calling (1)
	81:9

	calls (4)
	24:12
	46:12
	80:15
	90:1

	camp (11)
	24:7
	27:24
	29:18
	37:7
	48:12
	48:19
	51:22
	61:8
	66:15
	71:22
	170:11

	camper (1)
	29:21

	campground (16)
	76:2
	76:6
	91:14
	122:6
	122:16
	123:3
	123:6
	123:9
	123:12
	131:6
	149:5
	153:14
	170:8
	170:11
	186:6
	186:8

	campgrounds (4)
	71:9
	71:10
	71:13
	152:24

	camping (11)
	26:22
	26:24
	26:25
	27:3
	27:12
	27:17
	27:24
	27:24
	29:15
	29:24
	37:10

	camps (3)
	24:6
	37:22
	38:1

	campsite (3)
	26:23
	27:18
	60:17

	canals (1)
	21:3

	candor (1)
	42:19

	capricious (13)
	74:4
	74:11
	89:8
	110:9
	110:11
	115:3
	125:23
	165:10
	167:6
	167:12
	167:17
	183:25
	184:8

	car (3)
	35:19
	42:6
	145:16

	care (3)
	29:7
	77:1
	194:18

	careful (1)
	119:8

	case (28)
	1:6
	8:20
	8:25
	9:3
	13:3
	14:3
	51:7
	70:22
	72:6
	74:9
	79:9
	85:22
	88:6
	98:13
	110:14
	120:23
	163:15
	168:23
	174:3
	174:20
	177:22
	178:25
	179:16
	179:25
	180:10
	183:14
	183:18
	197:17

	cases (3)
	152:25
	155:18
	177:20

	Casey (19)
	2:5
	65:17
	65:22
	66:11
	66:16
	67:4
	67:5
	67:13
	179:10
	180:8
	180:18
	181:7
	194:5
	195:4
	195:8
	195:12
	195:14
	197:12
	197:13

	Casey's (2)
	181:3
	197:4

	catch-22 (2)
	107:15
	109:6

	Catherine (4)
	3:13
	141:9
	141:13
	141:17

	cause (4)
	1:14
	68:23
	68:24
	77:22

	causing (2)
	61:9
	193:14

	caution (1)
	134:17

	cease (1)
	181:15

	Center (1)
	37:12

	central (2)
	1:17
	24:25

	certain (9)
	46:8
	58:18
	63:10
	76:17
	88:6
	93:25
	186:4
	187:24
	187:25

	certainly (1)
	24:24

	certainty (2)
	81:19
	81:20

	certificate (3)
	3:5
	62:11
	198:3

	certification (1)
	39:16

	certify (2)
	198:10
	198:14

	cetera (5)
	14:24
	73:21
	80:19
	85:20
	85:20

	chain (1)
	12:3

	Chair (8)
	4:16
	5:10
	8:20
	9:18
	120:16
	177:7
	180:8
	194:5

	chairman (32)
	2:3
	10:18
	10:23
	11:9
	11:10
	14:17
	15:25
	19:16
	20:4
	20:6
	20:7
	20:24
	34:16
	39:4
	51:4
	67:2
	101:18
	102:9
	103:7
	104:2
	104:5
	104:8
	106:2
	147:16
	148:1
	162:21
	163:5
	168:2
	168:7
	173:17
	179:10
	188:2

	CHAIRPERSON (111)
	4:3
	4:11
	4:20
	4:23
	5:4
	5:7
	5:10
	5:14
	5:16
	5:21
	8:7
	9:5
	9:13
	10:2
	10:7
	10:15
	10:21
	11:13
	11:16
	11:20
	11:24
	12:4
	12:7
	12:9
	12:14
	12:16
	12:19
	12:22
	12:25
	14:4
	14:8
	14:11
	14:12
	14:25
	16:3
	19:20
	19:23
	20:5
	51:10
	51:14
	59:12
	59:19
	59:23
	65:15
	65:20
	65:23
	67:11
	67:14
	68:3
	68:7
	70:4
	101:20
	102:11
	102:13
	102:17
	102:20
	102:24
	103:6
	103:13
	104:7
	104:10
	126:14
	127:3
	128:3
	132:14
	134:14
	135:1
	135:4
	137:25
	141:4
	141:8
	141:11
	141:21
	144:7
	144:10
	144:12
	147:8
	147:11
	147:13
	147:19
	148:3
	156:3
	156:6
	156:8
	156:13
	158:2
	158:5
	158:8
	162:8
	162:11
	162:13
	162:16
	162:18
	167:21
	167:24
	168:5
	177:1
	177:4
	177:7
	179:5
	179:8
	179:12
	179:17
	194:20
	195:6
	195:15
	195:17
	195:20
	195:23
	197:14
	197:18

	challenge (2)
	12:23
	55:25

	challenges (1)
	69:9

	chambers (1)
	8:3

	chance (2)
	128:3
	184:2

	change (18)
	36:16
	71:14
	72:8
	82:20
	83:6
	88:1
	88:2
	105:12
	122:7
	122:7
	122:18
	122:23
	123:8
	123:15
	137:16
	170:20
	172:25
	178:16

	changed (4)
	92:13
	122:21
	149:20
	163:8

	changes (2)
	103:22
	103:22

	charge (1)
	126:19

	charging (1)
	66:6

	check (2)
	60:6
	111:7

	children (2)
	23:17
	130:8

	choose (2)
	60:13
	61:19

	chose (1)
	159:6

	chronological (1)
	92:19

	circled (1)
	13:23

	Circuit (7)
	7:23
	98:4
	111:14
	180:22
	180:23
	181:25
	182:15

	circumstance (1)
	181:17

	circumstances (2)
	110:24
	119:16

	citizen-appointed (2)
	50:13
	175:4

	citizens (2)
	48:11
	175:5

	claim (1)
	171:18

	claiming (1)
	188:21

	clarification (3)
	178:6
	183:1
	196:9

	clarify (6)
	66:12
	90:11
	103:17
	117:11
	150:4
	195:10

	clarifying (2)
	138:9
	197:3

	clarity (3)
	18:1
	45:15
	118:16

	Clark (2)
	2:17
	9:25

	classified (2)
	23:17
	96:9

	clean (1)
	60:23

	cleaned-up (1)
	15:18

	cleaner (1)
	153:14

	cleaning (1)
	152:4

	clear (10)
	119:23
	119:25
	120:4
	166:18
	168:16
	169:16
	174:2
	188:12
	191:5
	191:23

	cleared (8)
	65:8
	140:18
	150:22
	150:23
	151:1
	151:2
	151:7
	157:3

	clearer (1)
	146:16

	clearing (3)
	150:13
	157:3
	176:10

	clearly (3)
	79:13
	170:4
	190:7

	Cleo (4)
	129:16
	156:17
	156:24
	158:17

	clerk (4)
	8:2
	9:23
	59:1
	59:2

	client (5)
	14:13
	20:21
	28:6
	94:8
	114:21

	climb (3)
	159:19
	160:2
	161:24

	clock (2)
	182:5
	182:7

	close (4)
	69:11
	157:6
	158:19
	158:20

	closed (1)
	190:20

	closely (2)
	37:5
	38:4

	closer (4)
	54:16
	95:23
	95:24
	128:24

	closes (1)
	98:1

	closest (2)
	37:11
	37:14

	closing (6)
	6:11
	51:9
	147:14
	162:18
	168:4
	192:15

	closure (9)
	94:1
	94:4
	96:7
	97:12
	97:17
	118:10
	183:10
	183:10
	183:11

	Clown (1)
	140:11

	Coalition (1)
	23:25

	Coca-Cola (1)
	129:23

	code (101)
	6:21
	25:9
	25:10
	25:14
	30:9
	36:22
	43:4
	43:6
	44:15
	44:17
	46:4
	47:19
	49:12
	55:18
	58:10
	71:9
	72:14
	72:16
	73:4
	73:8
	73:16
	73:17
	73:23
	74:13
	74:15
	74:25
	75:22
	76:1
	76:5
	80:15
	82:18
	83:22
	84:10
	86:25
	87:2
	88:4
	88:5
	89:4
	89:13
	89:22
	89:25
	93:12
	93:15
	95:13
	95:14
	95:15
	97:8
	99:18
	100:3
	100:8
	100:23
	104:21
	104:22
	104:22
	104:24
	105:19
	106:12
	109:8
	109:9
	109:14
	111:18
	115:5
	115:6
	115:15
	115:19
	118:2
	118:6
	118:18
	119:5
	120:6
	129:10
	140:22
	143:25
	145:8
	145:11
	145:12
	145:21
	145:24
	152:3
	153:25
	155:9
	160:24
	160:25
	163:22
	165:2
	167:7
	168:21
	170:22
	171:4
	171:9
	173:5
	174:24
	176:4
	176:6
	178:6
	178:7
	180:4
	180:20
	181:18
	183:18
	192:10

	coexisting (1)
	48:8

	collapses (1)
	173:12

	collection (1)
	42:9

	come (37)
	9:21
	21:4
	25:23
	34:22
	34:23
	52:13
	61:14
	61:20
	73:12
	73:12
	74:24
	75:9
	77:11
	82:17
	87:22
	87:23
	91:17
	92:14
	92:16
	100:24
	101:8
	109:21
	129:11
	131:2
	142:20
	152:13
	153:3
	153:13
	154:11
	154:23
	156:13
	161:25
	164:9
	164:16
	176:9
	177:21
	183:3

	comes (17)
	22:25
	52:1
	52:17
	52:24
	70:16
	75:13
	77:25
	81:13
	82:11
	84:3
	86:21
	89:7
	89:9
	125:17
	159:3
	164:25
	165:24

	comfortable (1)
	160:20

	coming (15)
	28:21
	42:12
	51:17
	82:7
	86:1
	100:18
	128:24
	142:16
	146:7
	149:23
	157:11
	161:14
	164:13
	188:4
	188:5

	commencing (1)
	1:16

	commended (1)
	152:3

	comment (1)
	78:17

	comments (41)
	54:12
	54:14
	54:21
	55:3
	56:9
	57:23
	72:20
	78:3
	85:17
	87:19
	90:19
	90:20
	90:22
	92:13
	93:21
	93:23
	94:7
	94:12
	94:16
	95:2
	96:24
	117:14
	127:15
	180:19
	185:19
	186:20
	187:15
	187:16
	187:19
	187:21
	188:1
	189:17
	189:18
	189:19
	190:21
	190:23
	191:12
	191:15
	191:18
	191:25
	192:16

	commerce (1)
	66:6

	commercial (28)
	13:6
	20:11
	20:23
	24:18
	24:18
	30:20
	71:11
	80:10
	96:11
	96:16
	121:17
	121:24
	121:25
	122:3
	122:6
	122:7
	122:14
	122:15
	122:23
	123:3
	123:6
	123:16
	131:22
	140:25
	150:16
	170:15
	175:11
	175:12

	commission (2)
	8:3
	8:17

	Commissioners (2)
	138:19
	138:23

	commissioners' (1)
	144:25

	Committee (2)
	1:9
	85:8

	communication (3)
	8:22
	8:24
	9:3

	communications (3)
	8:10
	8:13
	8:14

	community (4)
	60:8
	60:11
	71:5
	183:11

	comp (1)
	75:3

	comparable (2)
	37:15
	37:22

	compared (1)
	86:15

	compatibility (5)
	17:2
	40:3
	40:3
	40:5
	41:6

	compatible (1)
	111:3

	compatibly (1)
	31:9

	competent (5)
	6:22
	7:12
	74:2
	134:19
	176:13

	complain (1)
	138:23

	complained (1)
	138:18

	complaint (1)
	145:21

	complaints (1)
	193:12

	complete (2)
	7:25
	180:14

	completed (2)
	8:5
	8:6

	completely (1)
	118:7

	Complex (1)
	1:17

	compliance (9)
	73:14
	82:25
	84:25
	114:3
	164:16
	164:19
	164:20
	168:19
	190:15

	complicated (1)
	32:7

	complicates (1)
	57:9

	comply (1)
	97:15

	complying (1)
	191:13

	Comprehensive (1)
	83:1

	Computer's (1)
	19:4

	concept (3)
	27:12
	29:16
	31:12

	concern (9)
	28:11
	28:14
	48:15
	90:8
	105:23
	125:20
	145:3
	145:4
	182:17

	concerned (4)
	39:24
	157:12
	157:25
	175:24

	concerning (1)
	55:3

	concerns (6)
	93:12
	124:8
	153:20
	154:23
	155:23
	191:7

	concluded (1)
	197:20

	concluding (1)
	51:5

	conclusion (1)
	7:15

	concrete (4)
	55:12
	76:24
	126:8
	152:1

	concur (1)
	177:14

	condition (22)
	28:25
	42:24
	45:25
	50:18
	50:22
	76:12
	76:15
	76:18
	77:9
	77:10
	78:14
	84:22
	88:6
	110:15
	172:12
	174:9
	174:10
	174:17
	176:23
	189:14
	192:8
	192:9

	conditional (9)
	5:24
	6:20
	8:19
	45:22
	70:20
	76:8
	114:4
	163:13
	181:20

	conditionally (1)
	193:5

	conditioned (5)
	45:20
	47:12
	49:22
	189:15
	190:9

	conditions (34)
	28:10
	28:13
	28:24
	45:22
	49:18
	49:22
	50:17
	73:4
	74:3
	76:8
	76:9
	81:16
	81:17
	86:5
	87:10
	113:10
	113:12
	113:13
	113:16
	113:20
	113:20
	113:23
	113:24
	115:9
	115:13
	119:4
	164:4
	172:16
	172:18
	183:13
	187:2
	187:5
	192:21
	192:22

	conduct (1)
	73:23

	confident (1)
	54:4

	conflict (3)
	9:10
	68:14
	68:15

	conforming (1)
	25:18

	conformity (1)
	186:7

	connect (1)
	21:3

	connected (3)
	22:20
	22:23
	198:17

	connects (1)
	32:20

	consequence (4)
	126:21
	126:22
	126:24
	182:14

	consider (10)
	6:16
	73:24
	91:7
	127:8
	127:13
	127:22
	131:15
	139:11
	143:16
	144:6

	consideration (1)
	7:18

	considered (4)
	8:13
	127:19
	134:25
	138:11

	considers (1)
	6:7

	constant (1)
	91:2

	constantly (4)
	62:3
	129:4
	142:6
	142:10

	constitute (1)
	117:21

	constraints (1)
	58:18

	Construct (1)
	55:12

	construction (5)
	90:4
	151:19
	151:25
	152:5
	171:20

	contact (2)
	26:16
	62:21

	contacting (1)
	161:3

	contained (1)
	198:13

	Containers (2)
	41:2
	57:15

	content (2)
	117:6
	117:6

	contingent (1)
	172:11

	continue (7)
	27:11
	28:7
	46:3
	64:2
	176:19
	182:21
	183:2

	continued (2)
	25:18
	31:7

	contracted (1)
	28:17

	contrary (2)
	107:12
	188:16

	controlling (1)
	49:20

	conversation (1)
	91:2

	convinced (3)
	33:9
	194:10
	194:15

	cook (1)
	153:24

	cooling-off (1)
	181:21

	coordination (1)
	69:25

	copies (2)
	4:4
	66:25

	copy (16)
	10:8
	10:11
	28:2
	28:4
	66:25
	67:1
	67:4
	94:3
	100:25
	101:22
	101:24
	102:6
	113:4
	117:18
	187:15
	187:17

	corner (4)
	32:3
	32:17
	52:13
	78:12

	corners (1)
	126:7

	correct (32)
	10:15
	11:20
	13:25
	83:23
	104:3
	124:25
	135:1
	135:24
	139:2
	139:9
	139:19
	140:23
	144:19
	147:1
	148:21
	148:22
	149:8
	150:7
	150:8
	150:12
	153:7
	154:3
	154:4
	154:17
	178:2
	179:4
	181:7
	186:12
	194:2
	194:7
	195:14
	197:1

	corrected (2)
	153:3
	153:5

	correctly (5)
	22:6
	34:16
	39:18
	92:22
	94:9

	cost (3)
	41:17
	43:22
	191:9

	costly (1)
	191:8

	couch-surfing (1)
	23:23

	counsel (4)
	10:22
	65:21
	198:15
	198:17

	counselor (6)
	14:5
	126:15
	138:1
	158:6
	162:13
	167:24

	count (3)
	23:12
	23:20
	23:24

	counts (1)
	23:16

	county (120)
	1:2
	1:15
	1:17
	2:4
	6:23
	7:4
	8:16
	18:8
	23:12
	23:15
	24:2
	25:8
	26:8
	26:12
	27:1
	27:11
	27:20
	28:15
	28:18
	30:2
	30:5
	31:3
	31:10
	35:16
	36:18
	36:21
	37:7
	38:19
	41:10
	41:23
	42:2
	43:8
	43:14
	44:10
	44:21
	46:17
	47:10
	48:22
	49:2
	49:4
	49:6
	49:8
	49:16
	50:13
	51:1
	53:11
	53:15
	70:23
	72:7
	72:10
	72:22
	74:17
	74:18
	74:19
	74:22
	75:8
	76:20
	77:24
	79:16
	79:21
	81:12
	83:19
	83:23
	90:23
	106:3
	106:25
	107:3
	108:12
	109:13
	110:21
	110:23
	115:1
	115:15
	117:20
	117:24
	117:25
	132:4
	132:24
	136:13
	136:24
	136:24
	137:5
	138:19
	138:23
	139:3
	140:15
	140:17
	144:25
	145:8
	149:11
	152:11
	153:25
	154:8
	161:10
	164:5
	166:19
	167:4
	167:4
	167:17
	170:19
	171:18
	173:7
	173:11
	175:2
	175:5
	175:8
	176:5
	176:17
	178:9
	178:10
	182:2
	188:14
	188:21
	189:5
	192:24
	193:10
	195:1
	195:1
	196:16
	198:7

	county's (3)
	84:5
	89:7
	154:16

	couple (7)
	61:7
	64:8
	68:12
	73:10
	84:15
	111:6
	127:5

	course (12)
	25:3
	28:15
	30:16
	35:7
	37:14
	42:9
	46:2
	57:1
	66:25
	109:16
	122:10
	174:15

	court (19)
	6:2
	6:22
	7:7
	7:12
	7:23
	19:24
	47:22
	98:4
	111:14
	118:22
	118:22
	168:17
	169:4
	180:22
	180:23
	181:25
	182:15
	198:9
	198:24

	courts (2)
	100:1
	100:4

	covenants (1)
	90:16

	cover (1)
	39:12

	covered (2)
	103:14
	168:3

	CP (3)
	1:19
	198:9
	198:23

	CPE (3)
	1:19
	198:9
	198:23

	craft (1)
	30:7

	created (1)
	33:5

	credibility (1)
	68:1

	criminal (3)
	60:5
	155:24
	155:25

	criminals (1)
	155:19

	crises (1)
	25:23

	crisis (1)
	24:15

	criteria (30)
	14:3
	15:20
	17:2
	39:14
	41:7
	41:20
	44:11
	44:14
	44:16
	44:21
	47:18
	49:15
	49:19
	50:15
	50:24
	53:16
	54:6
	60:6
	71:10
	73:20
	111:17
	112:6
	114:18
	116:24
	169:7
	177:13
	185:22
	186:3
	186:7
	190:17

	critical (1)
	56:22

	cross (7)
	79:2
	79:18
	134:5
	134:10
	137:2
	137:3
	150:23

	cross-examination (5)
	3:12
	3:14
	6:5
	138:15
	144:14

	cross-examine (1)
	138:8

	cross-examined (1)
	42:18

	crosses (1)
	36:5

	curious (1)
	65:17

	current (5)
	87:10
	117:21
	150:9
	181:8
	181:18

	currently (10)
	28:8
	29:11
	60:13
	87:25
	150:3
	150:4
	153:8
	169:19
	170:15
	175:17

	curves (1)
	52:1

	cut (13)
	33:22
	104:11
	119:1
	142:2
	142:4
	142:5
	142:9
	143:23
	146:14
	154:5
	157:1
	160:16
	160:18

	cutting (7)
	68:21
	69:1
	145:6
	146:2
	146:10
	157:1
	160:6


	D
	D (4)
	2:13
	4:1
	126:9
	126:10

	daily (1)
	142:10

	damaging (1)
	130:3

	dare (1)
	45:23

	date (8)
	7:14
	7:14
	13:22
	28:18
	94:1
	116:25
	117:1
	117:8

	dated (2)
	102:10
	117:3

	David (3)
	1:18
	198:9
	198:23

	day (12)
	1:16
	84:4
	84:9
	89:10
	94:13
	95:23
	159:25
	160:19
	163:5
	164:1
	167:15
	184:5

	days (13)
	7:13
	7:19
	7:22
	43:24
	60:18
	98:4
	101:9
	109:22
	181:16
	181:24
	182:6
	182:8
	182:11

	dead (1)
	154:6

	deal (1)
	67:24

	dealing (2)
	88:7
	165:2

	debating (1)
	29:17

	Debbie (1)
	2:14

	debris (5)
	140:17
	151:19
	151:24
	151:25
	152:5

	December (4)
	1:16
	4:12
	11:15
	11:16

	decide (4)
	100:2
	178:23
	183:2
	194:6

	decided (3)
	25:8
	149:13
	185:12

	deciding (2)
	177:22
	178:17

	decision (52)
	6:16
	6:19
	6:25
	7:5
	7:9
	7:13
	7:14
	7:19
	7:20
	7:22
	8:17
	20:9
	74:10
	74:18
	74:20
	82:20
	82:22
	83:23
	84:9
	88:16
	89:22
	97:5
	98:3
	99:15
	100:10
	115:1
	115:1
	118:14
	118:21
	119:11
	124:22
	126:18
	127:1
	134:18
	149:16
	164:2
	165:9
	167:3
	168:14
	171:14
	175:2
	178:24
	179:1
	179:2
	179:23
	181:19
	190:14
	190:14
	195:11
	196:25
	196:25
	197:10

	decisions (1)
	180:22

	deed (5)
	16:25
	32:25
	64:21
	78:20
	79:12

	deeded (2)
	136:20
	136:23

	defer (1)
	101:1

	deficiencies (10)
	83:24
	83:25
	123:24
	163:9
	163:9
	166:6
	166:14
	166:23
	166:25
	167:9

	deficient (1)
	181:6

	defined (1)
	7:10

	defines (1)
	76:5

	definitely (3)
	97:7
	99:6
	187:12

	definition (3)
	23:19
	23:20
	74:6

	degree (1)
	186:4

	Deik (3)
	1:19
	198:9
	198:23

	delineate (1)
	78:18

	delineates (1)
	78:20

	delineation (1)
	80:17

	demand (1)
	79:23

	denial (66)
	1:9
	13:21
	20:9
	74:9
	74:13
	75:17
	75:19
	82:10
	83:24
	84:1
	86:24
	88:22
	89:8
	89:11
	89:12
	89:12
	95:25
	112:25
	113:2
	113:2
	113:8
	114:7
	114:13
	114:13
	118:14
	118:15
	118:18
	118:19
	119:19
	119:20
	119:21
	121:2
	123:25
	124:6
	124:24
	125:22
	126:9
	163:4
	163:8
	163:10
	163:22
	164:9
	164:11
	164:23
	165:11
	166:13
	166:24
	167:5
	167:8
	167:17
	174:6
	177:22
	177:23
	177:25
	178:18
	180:11
	181:2
	183:25
	184:7
	184:25
	186:12
	188:5
	189:21
	189:23
	194:19
	195:12

	denied (30)
	49:24
	75:21
	81:15
	82:13
	84:11
	88:14
	88:21
	96:5
	97:9
	97:21
	98:21
	99:24
	101:8
	114:8
	114:9
	120:17
	120:22
	120:24
	122:22
	124:9
	125:12
	126:1
	126:12
	164:10
	167:1
	171:25
	184:9
	184:19
	184:19
	184:24

	denies (1)
	7:16

	densities (2)
	175:16
	175:18

	deny (17)
	74:10
	83:23
	97:5
	111:24
	115:2
	119:11
	130:9
	132:3
	132:4
	143:9
	143:10
	179:3
	179:6
	179:8
	179:9
	179:15
	194:16

	depart (1)
	103:1

	department (20)
	2:13
	24:13
	26:19
	27:2
	27:19
	27:20
	27:25
	28:7
	28:18
	29:9
	29:13
	29:23
	57:20
	57:21
	67:9
	70:14
	85:13
	85:14
	152:7
	152:11

	departments (1)
	91:3

	depend (1)
	63:9

	describe (2)
	8:24
	86:11

	description (3)
	3:2
	48:2
	78:23

	design (8)
	42:16
	54:5
	55:17
	83:7
	97:6
	123:12
	171:19
	188:21

	designed (1)
	76:25

	destroy (1)
	132:6

	detailed (6)
	26:11
	26:13
	48:2
	58:13
	176:2
	176:2

	details (3)
	39:22
	148:10
	175:13

	deteriorate (1)
	77:5

	determination (1)
	165:5

	determine (3)
	127:14
	163:2
	183:2

	determined (2)
	29:14
	94:11

	determines (1)
	163:14

	determining (2)
	163:20
	163:21

	develop (3)
	79:19
	79:23
	107:12

	developed (4)
	35:14
	35:21
	37:16
	37:24

	developer (4)
	84:2
	90:5
	104:16
	122:17

	developing (2)
	104:14
	172:22

	development (92)
	1:8
	2:13
	2:15
	4:13
	6:21
	6:23
	7:5
	7:6
	23:5
	30:9
	36:15
	39:2
	39:15
	44:15
	44:17
	47:18
	55:18
	58:9
	70:14
	71:9
	72:9
	72:14
	72:16
	74:15
	74:25
	75:1
	75:8
	75:14
	75:15
	76:10
	77:9
	79:3
	79:5
	80:15
	82:4
	83:11
	85:8
	86:3
	86:4
	86:6
	87:23
	88:4
	88:20
	89:13
	92:18
	93:14
	94:21
	96:16
	97:8
	98:20
	100:3
	100:8
	100:22
	111:18
	114:2
	114:9
	115:2
	115:5
	115:6
	115:15
	115:19
	115:21
	117:22
	118:15
	118:16
	119:5
	120:5
	120:17
	121:25
	122:8
	122:22
	163:4
	163:21
	165:2
	165:14
	168:20
	169:20
	169:23
	170:22
	171:24
	174:24
	178:2
	178:3
	178:6
	178:14
	179:3
	180:4
	180:20
	181:18
	183:18
	186:19
	192:25

	development' (1)
	170:21

	diagram (1)
	52:1

	diameter (1)
	160:8

	died (1)
	159:9

	different (14)
	15:10
	15:15
	23:19
	37:6
	61:24
	62:1
	70:19
	91:3
	112:20
	115:22
	161:22
	164:12
	177:21
	186:15

	differently (2)
	91:15
	111:5

	difficult (4)
	17:19
	44:19
	142:12
	175:2

	difficulties (1)
	69:8

	digital (1)
	17:21

	diligent (1)
	48:10

	diligently (1)
	48:22

	diminish (1)
	83:6

	dire (2)
	11:9
	12:21

	direct (3)
	3:16
	94:24
	148:5

	directed (2)
	58:7
	66:14

	directing (3)
	65:20
	66:13
	179:25

	direction (6)
	63:5
	63:12
	78:1
	93:20
	97:14
	98:16

	directions (1)
	63:17

	director (12)
	2:13
	58:7
	92:18
	120:15
	168:14
	168:15
	174:21
	174:22
	176:1
	178:8
	178:9
	182:22

	dirt (25)
	22:20
	23:2
	33:4
	35:23
	36:1
	36:2
	36:5
	40:20
	46:24
	47:6
	51:18
	51:18
	51:19
	51:20
	52:7
	53:3
	57:1
	76:24
	77:6
	88:11
	95:19
	99:3
	99:3
	152:2
	152:2

	dirt-dry (1)
	95:20

	disabled (1)
	60:9

	disagrees (1)
	167:5

	disapprove (1)
	126:25

	disciplines (1)
	85:10

	disclose (1)
	68:14

	disclosed (1)
	8:16

	discovered (1)
	28:9

	discrepancy (1)
	100:3

	discretion (3)
	67:22
	127:17
	174:22

	discuss (3)
	90:21
	119:1
	163:3

	discussed (5)
	80:8
	91:19
	184:12
	184:14
	184:15

	discussing (3)
	159:5
	183:14
	190:21

	discussion (7)
	15:3
	57:19
	105:11
	123:22
	170:2
	195:9
	195:15

	discussion's (1)
	194:18

	discussions (2)
	27:23
	33:8

	dismissed (1)
	25:15

	dispassionate (1)
	83:21

	disposition (1)
	186:22

	distance (1)
	72:11

	distinct (1)
	115:21

	district (2)
	23:15
	23:16

	division (2)
	2:15
	136:25

	doctor's (1)
	133:5

	doctors' (1)
	63:19

	document (11)
	18:17
	33:4
	102:12
	102:16
	106:19
	106:20
	110:25
	113:9
	116:3
	117:9
	128:1

	documentation (1)
	185:5

	documents (2)
	6:6
	15:19

	dog (3)
	159:18
	159:19
	159:23

	dogs (1)
	159:21

	doing (55)
	20:18
	29:25
	30:8
	30:13
	30:14
	30:14
	31:9
	31:17
	37:6
	43:2
	43:12
	44:7
	48:6
	48:20
	57:12
	57:12
	57:18
	57:18
	62:23
	66:22
	88:3
	104:25
	105:9
	105:10
	107:4
	107:10
	107:20
	108:15
	111:2
	111:5
	111:6
	118:1
	143:12
	143:13
	149:15
	155:14
	161:7
	166:12
	166:12
	170:12
	170:17
	171:1
	172:21
	173:21
	174:12
	175:11
	185:20
	185:22
	185:24
	185:25
	186:14
	188:4
	194:3
	194:24
	194:24

	Donations (2)
	149:23
	149:24

	door (2)
	157:9
	159:3

	dormitories (1)
	37:17

	dormitory (1)
	37:19

	double (1)
	143:7

	downstream (1)
	193:15

	downtown (1)
	129:23

	drainage (3)
	21:3
	32:16
	146:24

	draining (1)
	21:4

	draw (1)
	136:18

	drawing (3)
	22:19
	85:20
	155:5

	drawings (1)
	45:8

	drawn (5)
	18:25
	92:6
	193:22
	193:24
	193:25

	DRC (49)
	17:13
	20:9
	38:8
	40:8
	41:12
	42:15
	42:20
	44:2
	58:5
	71:15
	77:20
	80:4
	85:6
	90:6
	90:10
	92:5
	94:4
	95:25
	112:25
	113:8
	121:12
	121:13
	122:24
	123:1
	123:23
	126:4
	127:9
	127:15
	127:21
	139:2
	139:3
	166:12
	166:12
	166:20
	171:17
	172:11
	174:8
	181:5
	188:5
	188:5
	188:6
	188:8
	188:20
	189:17
	189:21
	189:21
	190:7
	190:8
	190:24

	drew (4)
	50:5
	114:25
	191:23
	192:20

	drinking (1)
	61:5

	drive (6)
	23:1
	36:1
	156:17
	156:24
	158:17
	159:1

	driveway (2)
	42:12
	80:25

	drop (2)
	131:18
	173:18

	dropped (1)
	153:11

	drove (1)
	29:20

	drug (1)
	155:19

	drugs (1)
	61:2

	drunk (1)
	61:9

	dry (1)
	119:1

	drying (1)
	149:24

	DSM (7)
	45:16
	54:18
	171:19
	172:7
	176:22
	188:22
	190:25

	due (3)
	9:10
	49:20
	192:9

	duly (8)
	4:2
	59:16
	70:10
	128:12
	141:18
	147:24
	156:20
	158:14

	dump (3)
	140:16
	151:21
	173:24

	dumping (1)
	140:23

	Dunaway (160)
	1:10
	2:18
	3:12
	3:14
	3:16
	9:24
	9:24
	10:4
	10:10
	10:18
	10:23
	11:15
	11:18
	11:21
	12:2
	12:5
	12:8
	12:10
	12:15
	12:18
	12:20
	12:23
	13:25
	14:6
	14:14
	15:5
	15:21
	15:25
	16:7
	16:9
	16:13
	16:17
	16:20
	16:23
	17:1
	17:4
	17:8
	17:11
	17:14
	17:23
	18:1
	18:6
	18:9
	18:11
	18:14
	18:19
	18:22
	19:2
	19:6
	19:14
	19:24
	20:2
	20:6
	51:12
	51:13
	51:20
	51:23
	52:3
	52:6
	52:9
	52:11
	53:20
	54:4
	55:1
	55:5
	55:23
	56:16
	56:18
	56:20
	57:22
	58:9
	58:24
	64:19
	66:11
	66:17
	67:6
	69:6
	69:23
	76:7
	78:21
	92:20
	92:23
	93:18
	93:24
	94:8
	94:13
	96:4
	98:17
	98:18
	101:1
	101:18
	102:4
	102:9
	102:12
	102:18
	103:19
	104:2
	104:4
	104:8
	104:11
	113:5
	113:7
	114:21
	116:2
	116:3
	116:5
	117:2
	117:19
	119:22
	119:25
	120:20
	124:12
	125:8
	127:16
	129:8
	130:13
	138:2
	138:7
	138:17
	141:3
	144:12
	144:16
	147:6
	147:16
	147:20
	148:1
	148:7
	148:16
	148:19
	156:2
	158:7
	168:2
	168:7
	173:10
	173:13
	173:17
	173:20
	178:5
	179:15
	180:17
	180:20
	181:8
	181:10
	182:7
	182:10
	182:24
	184:21
	187:12
	187:16
	187:24
	188:2
	191:24
	192:15
	195:25
	196:3
	196:10
	196:13
	196:19
	197:6
	197:11

	duties (2)
	119:9
	120:14

	dwelling (1)
	175:18

	dwellings (1)
	175:17


	E
	E (2)
	4:1
	4:1

	E-mailed (1)
	55:2

	earlier (6)
	36:19
	54:14
	92:24
	148:8
	155:7
	171:5

	early (1)
	26:19

	earnest (2)
	36:19
	36:21

	easement (24)
	22:2
	32:25
	36:6
	36:7
	64:21
	64:25
	68:22
	69:20
	78:19
	78:24
	79:11
	79:14
	79:17
	79:22
	86:11
	132:22
	132:23
	132:25
	135:18
	135:20
	137:2
	137:10
	137:13
	137:20

	easily (1)
	89:24

	east (3)
	13:17
	47:3
	162:5

	easternmost (1)
	21:9

	easy (1)
	44:18

	ECUA (23)
	21:20
	21:21
	22:3
	22:7
	22:13
	22:21
	32:22
	32:23
	33:6
	33:9
	33:14
	34:14
	34:25
	35:1
	42:7
	128:20
	129:11
	134:10
	135:21
	135:23
	137:11
	140:2
	149:21

	effort (1)
	168:9

	efforts (1)
	154:22

	eight (7)
	11:23
	20:12
	24:17
	143:22
	143:22
	153:11
	175:18

	eight-and-a-half (1)
	17:20

	either (12)
	23:10
	24:13
	35:5
	35:13
	35:15
	37:22
	53:4
	72:18
	74:10
	153:23
	154:6
	179:6

	element (2)
	155:24
	155:25

	eleven (1)
	17:20

	eloquent (1)
	120:21

	eloquently (2)
	95:8
	170:9

	else's (5)
	35:2
	35:14
	79:19
	137:9
	137:22

	emergency (2)
	24:14
	57:21

	emergency-type (1)
	24:14

	emotion (2)
	72:5
	162:24

	emotional (5)
	72:12
	75:19
	89:15
	89:18
	95:10

	emotions (2)
	72:1
	194:9

	emphatically (3)
	116:21
	117:17
	191:10

	employee (2)
	198:15
	198:16

	empowered (1)
	64:3

	enablement (1)
	63:24

	enabling (1)
	63:25

	enclosed (1)
	30:21

	encouraging (1)
	62:4

	ended (6)
	33:20
	35:24
	39:6
	109:24
	123:25
	149:22

	endless (3)
	33:8
	38:1
	105:10

	enforcement (17)
	25:9
	36:22
	43:4
	46:4
	100:23
	106:12
	109:14
	129:11
	144:1
	145:8
	145:11
	145:22
	145:24
	152:3
	155:9
	176:4
	176:6

	Enforcement's (1)
	145:13

	engineer (5)
	50:9
	55:2
	81:23
	83:17
	92:4

	engineering (10)
	18:4
	45:6
	45:8
	57:8
	69:7
	69:8
	69:12
	91:25
	92:1
	99:20

	engineers (2)
	31:4
	92:8

	enjoined (1)
	7:7

	enjoy (2)
	142:11
	144:4

	enjoyment (1)
	69:18

	ensuing (1)
	30:15

	ensure (1)
	77:1

	entail (1)
	179:21

	entails (1)
	81:7

	enter (1)
	34:10

	entered (6)
	6:7
	6:9
	6:17
	34:11
	34:13
	54:21

	enterprising (1)
	20:21

	entertain (4)
	4:16
	5:11
	67:23
	177:8

	entire (8)
	11:23
	64:21
	65:1
	68:25
	69:14
	69:21
	69:21
	163:6

	entrance (1)
	13:16

	environmental (2)
	82:2
	85:13

	equipment (1)
	151:20

	erode (1)
	77:3

	error (2)
	82:21
	178:24

	Escambia (19)
	1:2
	1:15
	1:17
	23:12
	23:15
	23:25
	24:2
	49:2
	53:11
	110:21
	115:1
	115:15
	132:24
	152:11
	154:8
	175:1
	175:8
	176:17
	198:7

	escort (1)
	152:17

	especially (2)
	116:23
	164:17

	ESQ (1)
	2:4

	ESQUIRE (1)
	2:18

	essence (1)
	178:23

	essentially (16)
	20:10
	21:2
	21:5
	26:4
	31:16
	36:23
	39:6
	71:1
	74:8
	74:11
	74:19
	82:12
	103:8
	150:5
	178:19
	181:1

	established (2)
	82:24
	83:8

	establishes (1)
	74:3

	et (5)
	14:24
	73:21
	80:19
	85:19
	85:20

	evaluate (4)
	30:8
	31:3
	31:4
	31:11

	evaluation (3)
	27:22
	45:9
	45:10

	evened (1)
	21:18

	event (9)
	10:25
	35:12
	42:10
	42:19
	47:10
	48:4
	55:15
	109:17
	172:10

	eventually (3)
	77:21
	127:9
	153:12

	everybody (12)
	10:20
	31:2
	73:2
	79:11
	80:21
	82:8
	90:20
	100:18
	108:8
	124:3
	129:19
	185:9

	everybody's (1)
	123:18

	everything's (2)
	79:6
	186:23

	evidence (24)
	4:17
	6:7
	6:12
	6:18
	10:14
	14:18
	15:13
	16:21
	26:11
	28:3
	59:3
	67:25
	74:2
	82:24
	101:23
	103:12
	127:18
	127:19
	134:19
	172:9
	176:13
	187:10
	187:11
	188:16

	evidenced (1)
	104:1

	evidentiary (1)
	6:1

	ex (4)
	8:13
	8:14
	8:22
	9:2

	exact (1)
	132:6

	exactly (6)
	66:23
	86:13
	111:15
	114:11
	114:11
	162:2

	Examination (2)
	3:16
	148:5

	examined (7)
	59:16
	70:10
	128:12
	141:18
	147:24
	156:20
	158:14

	example (1)
	155:2

	exceed (1)
	175:19

	excellent (1)
	51:12

	exceptions (1)
	154:2

	excess (2)
	33:9
	33:15

	excessing (1)
	33:16

	Excuse (1)
	71:18

	excused (1)
	103:1

	execute (2)
	30:18
	31:1

	exempt (1)
	178:14

	exhibit (3)
	103:4
	103:9
	103:12

	exhibits (2)
	6:6
	6:17

	exist (5)
	24:5
	24:7
	37:8
	38:9
	38:19

	existed (1)
	153:1

	existing (3)
	38:10
	170:21
	172:25

	exists (1)
	143:2

	expect (4)
	131:18
	131:22
	137:23
	183:17

	expense (1)
	57:8

	expensive (2)
	50:19
	92:11

	experience (2)
	61:24
	83:16

	experiencing (1)
	61:23

	expert (6)
	4:7
	4:9
	93:11
	99:13
	134:24
	135:7

	experts (1)
	6:11

	Explain (1)
	152:6

	explained (4)
	105:6
	110:25
	138:6
	167:8

	explaining (1)
	166:18

	exploring (1)
	110:13

	expressed (1)
	145:3

	extends (1)
	145:20

	extension (1)
	6:20

	extensive (1)
	115:10

	extent (2)
	82:23
	84:25

	extinguishers (4)
	40:12
	58:2
	143:20
	143:21


	F
	face (2)
	76:19
	165:13

	facilitate (3)
	63:21
	116:15
	148:2

	facilities (4)
	27:8
	29:12
	149:2
	153:9

	facility (6)
	27:9
	29:20
	30:20
	37:11
	108:6
	148:10

	fact (48)
	4:14
	10:9
	29:15
	44:23
	46:11
	47:5
	47:24
	48:6
	48:16
	51:2
	58:25
	66:23
	80:5
	82:18
	85:24
	86:24
	93:23
	95:4
	104:15
	106:1
	111:1
	112:24
	123:21
	125:25
	125:25
	127:14
	140:15
	145:8
	154:15
	161:8
	169:1
	169:19
	174:4
	176:12
	176:22
	177:10
	177:12
	177:17
	191:17
	191:19
	191:20
	192:17
	194:21
	196:3
	196:6
	196:7
	197:4
	197:8

	factly (1)
	96:14

	factor (1)
	101:3

	factoring (1)
	167:2

	facts (10)
	10:11
	119:12
	120:18
	120:19
	125:25
	134:22
	163:22
	167:8
	167:9
	167:10

	factually (1)
	164:23

	failed (1)
	169:8

	fair (1)
	184:25

	fairly (2)
	54:4
	99:21

	fairness (1)
	53:20

	fall (1)
	185:22

	falls (2)
	76:5
	88:23

	familiar (4)
	23:11
	39:19
	140:9
	145:7

	family (1)
	133:25

	far (14)
	49:5
	51:19
	55:21
	63:6
	91:12
	117:5
	118:4
	156:25
	157:5
	157:14
	160:6
	162:5
	186:2
	186:3

	farm (1)
	53:1

	fashion (1)
	47:14

	faster (1)
	182:1

	father (4)
	128:21
	133:4
	133:24
	140:2

	fault (1)
	108:4

	favor (6)
	4:25
	5:17
	102:21
	131:14
	131:16
	195:17

	FDOT (1)
	37:25

	fed (1)
	159:24

	fee (6)
	17:9
	17:12
	31:14
	69:19
	152:11
	169:23

	feel (3)
	99:25
	160:20
	174:7

	feelings (1)
	163:25

	feels (1)
	71:6

	feet (13)
	32:2
	62:17
	63:4
	78:6
	78:10
	80:18
	90:24
	90:24
	91:23
	92:15
	129:7
	133:2
	160:16

	fell (1)
	13:14

	felled (2)
	146:3
	146:5

	fence (21)
	34:3
	34:5
	34:6
	65:3
	65:4
	129:8
	129:13
	129:16
	130:7
	155:9
	155:10
	155:12
	155:23
	157:4
	159:7
	159:19
	160:1
	160:2
	160:9
	161:15
	162:4

	fenced (1)
	65:4

	Fennel (1)
	128:16

	fiction (1)
	119:13

	fight (1)
	169:21

	fighting (3)
	132:10
	159:16
	169:18

	figure (5)
	27:23
	32:13
	38:5
	122:12
	185:16

	file (4)
	4:5
	124:18
	124:18
	170:24

	filed (1)
	169:22

	files (1)
	18:8

	filing (1)
	7:11

	filled (2)
	39:13
	129:6

	filters (1)
	75:7

	final (11)
	6:22
	41:9
	55:3
	86:2
	86:8
	91:4
	91:11
	165:4
	181:16
	182:8
	187:7

	finally (10)
	32:13
	33:9
	38:6
	50:8
	50:9
	109:5
	109:5
	149:13
	149:16
	159:24

	finances (1)
	154:13

	financial (1)
	93:12

	financially (1)
	198:18

	find (9)
	25:24
	60:4
	60:16
	71:3
	112:10
	112:11
	114:5
	151:14
	179:1

	finding (9)
	164:18
	165:6
	165:7
	177:12
	177:17
	178:21
	180:11
	184:4
	194:21

	findings (12)
	4:13
	10:8
	10:11
	14:1
	15:3
	177:10
	177:14
	195:24
	196:6
	196:7
	196:25
	197:8

	fine (12)
	11:1
	18:19
	30:1
	40:20
	41:4
	57:18
	57:18
	63:23
	103:6
	113:15
	141:11
	164:15

	fire (19)
	40:9
	40:11
	40:11
	57:20
	57:23
	57:24
	58:2
	58:2
	78:7
	78:11
	85:13
	99:8
	99:8
	129:6
	130:15
	142:22
	143:19
	143:20
	143:21

	firewood (3)
	154:9
	154:11
	154:12

	firm (2)
	9:25
	92:2

	first (29)
	19:7
	19:8
	28:23
	36:20
	50:4
	53:13
	56:8
	65:2
	73:10
	74:4
	77:17
	85:21
	85:25
	90:17
	90:18
	91:10
	110:20
	113:10
	113:11
	113:25
	130:13
	131:5
	144:18
	149:10
	151:16
	164:6
	181:9
	181:23
	185:8

	Fishing (1)
	65:13

	fit (2)
	185:9
	185:17

	fitting (1)
	76:3

	five (2)
	32:1
	158:23

	five-foot (1)
	55:12

	fix (1)
	124:9

	flawed (1)
	100:1

	flood (1)
	172:17

	Florida (12)
	1:18
	2:19
	8:15
	26:25
	28:7
	29:12
	62:12
	66:20
	67:8
	67:9
	128:16
	198:6

	flower (2)
	141:1
	151:18

	flowing (1)
	22:4

	fluid (3)
	26:4
	50:1
	50:2

	focus (4)
	38:22
	63:10
	80:4
	125:12

	folks (9)
	22:11
	37:24
	38:17
	46:12
	57:13
	71:24
	78:7
	79:20
	79:24

	follow (13)
	14:23
	49:12
	72:22
	74:21
	79:7
	89:4
	97:16
	109:8
	109:9
	109:20
	112:6
	134:17
	196:21

	follow-ups (1)
	62:22

	followed (8)
	15:2
	73:5
	98:16
	195:3
	196:11
	196:14
	196:16
	196:18

	following (4)
	17:11
	52:20
	74:3
	74:23

	follows (7)
	59:17
	70:11
	128:13
	141:19
	147:25
	156:21
	158:15

	food (1)
	35:25

	fool (1)
	60:20

	foot (4)
	13:11
	80:22
	129:24
	129:25

	footprints (1)
	90:15

	foregoing (1)
	198:11

	Forest (1)
	59:5

	form (6)
	8:1
	27:6
	39:13
	106:15
	134:9
	156:11

	formal (2)
	6:2
	14:23

	former (5)
	21:21
	32:23
	34:14
	34:25
	35:1

	formerly (1)
	21:20

	forms (3)
	8:2
	8:5
	8:6

	formulated (1)
	23:7

	forth (16)
	27:22
	39:19
	39:20
	41:22
	91:23
	93:5
	93:6
	93:10
	94:20
	94:20
	95:21
	106:15
	110:7
	116:23
	124:20
	124:21

	forums (1)
	38:3

	forward (4)
	30:22
	48:25
	156:13
	186:25

	forwarded (1)
	187:13

	found (5)
	25:14
	55:18
	82:20
	151:12
	159:18

	four (10)
	20:18
	48:7
	60:10
	113:22
	114:6
	114:6
	114:7
	117:18
	126:7
	158:23

	four-page (2)
	113:2
	113:9

	four-sided (1)
	21:17

	frame (2)
	100:15
	101:5

	frankly (1)
	55:11

	Freckles (2)
	140:11
	159:9

	Fred (1)
	67:17

	FREDERICK (1)
	2:6

	free (1)
	157:23

	friends (1)
	23:24

	Frisco (1)
	59:22

	front (3)
	142:11
	178:12
	189:7

	frowned (1)
	155:17

	frustration (1)
	107:3

	frustrations (1)
	48:15

	fulfilled (1)
	49:14

	full (3)
	39:13
	81:6
	90:9

	full-size (1)
	18:2

	fully (3)
	11:22
	37:16
	186:15

	funding (2)
	149:22
	149:25

	funds (4)
	23:7
	95:13
	97:1
	124:22

	furnish (1)
	93:20

	further (12)
	12:21
	56:14
	57:9
	114:1
	128:4
	141:3
	145:20
	147:6
	147:25
	156:2
	165:18
	198:14

	fussing (1)
	159:16

	future (1)
	13:6


	G
	G (2)
	4:1
	186:9

	game (1)
	86:3

	Gant (16)
	2:6
	5:3
	5:20
	6:9
	67:18
	68:2
	103:7
	103:15
	104:2
	104:6
	127:6
	127:20
	127:24
	180:5
	187:21
	196:23

	garbage (4)
	42:8
	42:9
	60:24
	60:25

	gate (2)
	34:12
	34:17

	gathering (1)
	126:20

	geek (1)
	165:14

	general (3)
	66:16
	169:3
	186:13

	generally (3)
	14:8
	32:3
	83:3

	generate (1)
	85:17

	generic (2)
	123:15
	123:17

	gentleman (2)
	140:10
	140:19

	germane (1)
	125:2

	getting (9)
	38:19
	62:4
	63:4
	87:16
	90:9
	139:15
	146:13
	150:2
	183:20

	give (18)
	9:15
	58:15
	58:22
	63:4
	73:4
	87:2
	96:21
	109:3
	118:9
	119:7
	128:8
	155:2
	168:17
	175:9
	176:24
	183:6
	183:11
	191:13

	given (8)
	38:16
	81:24
	82:21
	92:8
	93:25
	106:23
	185:7
	196:3

	gives (1)
	102:2

	giving (5)
	6:10
	63:18
	86:12
	119:6
	164:19

	go (94)
	10:16
	13:2
	14:1
	14:8
	14:11
	14:19
	14:19
	16:4
	16:14
	16:15
	19:14
	20:19
	22:22
	22:23
	24:16
	29:16
	30:22
	34:18
	34:20
	35:2
	35:13
	36:8
	36:9
	39:5
	40:22
	43:19
	45:3
	46:5
	46:12
	48:2
	51:19
	51:21
	60:3
	61:20
	63:5
	63:6
	63:13
	71:15
	71:15
	73:1
	73:9
	73:12
	74:6
	81:10
	83:12
	89:17
	89:17
	94:20
	95:21
	96:18
	97:23
	97:25
	98:8
	105:5
	108:14
	109:6
	112:7
	113:22
	114:6
	118:5
	118:21
	123:17
	131:23
	134:6
	135:12
	141:21
	142:22
	143:19
	145:16
	150:10
	157:15
	161:1
	161:2
	162:3
	163:17
	163:18
	164:3
	164:3
	165:4
	166:19
	167:12
	167:13
	172:16
	173:19
	175:13
	177:12
	178:22
	180:12
	180:13
	180:19
	181:5
	184:2
	187:7
	193:2

	go-round (1)
	181:9

	goes (15)
	27:19
	27:21
	32:15
	32:20
	40:24
	49:6
	52:1
	52:19
	66:18
	73:2
	73:8
	81:21
	145:16
	170:19
	193:15

	going (127)
	15:19
	15:22
	17:18
	18:17
	18:18
	19:10
	19:11
	22:16
	27:25
	28:3
	28:5
	30:25
	33:21
	39:25
	40:15
	40:24
	43:16
	43:25
	50:19
	51:16
	53:5
	53:5
	54:12
	54:19
	68:5
	68:23
	69:2
	77:3
	77:5
	77:15
	77:21
	77:22
	77:23
	78:14
	79:8
	79:18
	79:23
	81:6
	81:14
	81:15
	81:17
	82:1
	87:20
	87:25
	88:2
	93:4
	93:6
	93:10
	98:24
	99:14
	99:18
	100:8
	100:11
	100:11
	100:19
	101:7
	101:15
	103:3
	105:2
	106:6
	106:13
	106:15
	106:19
	108:3
	108:4
	108:5
	108:8
	108:12
	108:17
	109:1
	109:23
	110:8
	111:7
	111:8
	111:13
	111:14
	111:16
	111:19
	111:23
	112:5
	112:5
	112:6
	112:7
	112:10
	112:11
	116:22
	122:6
	122:12
	123:6
	123:9
	130:2
	130:3
	132:2
	132:24
	135:11
	136:8
	141:10
	149:10
	149:14
	150:1
	152:19
	152:22
	153:16
	153:22
	157:11
	165:6
	165:8
	165:21
	169:15
	169:24
	170:10
	170:12
	173:17
	180:1
	183:1
	183:7
	183:12
	183:20
	185:1
	185:8
	185:10
	186:16
	187:5
	193:9
	193:17
	194:1
	194:25

	good (17)
	15:24
	16:9
	18:22
	33:10
	33:12
	34:2
	48:10
	63:24
	79:6
	111:1
	114:25
	132:9
	152:4
	152:4
	161:5
	178:18
	183:12

	gotta (3)
	108:23
	108:25
	109:18

	gotten (3)
	62:17
	123:18
	162:22

	governed (1)
	120:18

	graciously (1)
	38:16

	graduate (1)
	149:4

	graduation (1)
	149:5

	grand (1)
	30:19

	grandsons (1)
	130:5

	grant (1)
	79:4

	granted (1)
	78:25

	granting (2)
	164:18
	176:20

	grass (1)
	52:16

	gravel (7)
	46:13
	47:6
	54:2
	57:2
	57:17
	76:25
	99:3

	Gravity (1)
	21:23

	gray (4)
	72:17
	84:8
	109:10
	174:19

	great (2)
	43:20
	164:15

	Greater (1)
	75:6

	greatly (3)
	63:9
	176:14
	176:15

	green (1)
	8:8

	greenhouse (1)
	140:14

	grew (2)
	53:1
	140:13

	Grimes (34)
	3:11
	35:7
	128:7
	128:11
	128:15
	128:15
	128:18
	131:12
	132:18
	132:21
	133:8
	133:19
	133:23
	134:3
	134:13
	135:11
	135:25
	136:3
	136:5
	136:9
	136:12
	136:14
	136:17
	136:23
	137:3
	137:15
	138:18
	141:7
	153:18
	155:8
	155:13
	161:11
	170:8
	170:11

	Grimes' (1)
	147:4

	grocery (2)
	166:25
	167:1

	ground (4)
	33:12
	130:7
	139:17
	154:7

	grounds (3)
	61:3
	118:18
	118:19

	group (5)
	20:22
	28:12
	48:19
	48:23
	83:15

	growth (2)
	154:7
	160:3

	guarantees (1)
	71:22

	guess (12)
	55:23
	64:12
	66:2
	87:6
	92:12
	116:22
	122:15
	125:20
	125:20
	180:9
	184:18
	196:17

	guidance (1)
	182:22

	Gulf (2)
	131:1
	132:22

	Gullian (1)
	37:25

	gun (2)
	106:11
	109:12

	Gund (18)
	2:7
	4:22
	5:15
	5:22
	6:10
	64:15
	102:19
	132:16
	132:20
	133:7
	133:17
	133:21
	134:1
	134:12
	194:23
	196:10
	196:12
	196:14

	guys (2)
	97:21
	196:18


	H
	half (7)
	21:8
	21:9
	128:20
	128:20
	130:22
	136:1
	136:4

	hand (6)
	5:1
	5:2
	5:18
	5:19
	102:22
	195:18

	hand-washing (2)
	29:4
	52:22

	handed (2)
	54:25
	59:2

	handful (2)
	38:17
	60:22

	handled (1)
	193:9

	hands (5)
	102:23
	116:3
	126:2
	195:19
	195:22

	happen (3)
	70:17
	97:19
	143:3

	happened (5)
	124:16
	143:1
	173:13
	173:15
	185:6

	happens (1)
	193:12

	happy (6)
	15:11
	58:25
	147:15
	155:14
	168:3
	180:17

	hard (2)
	48:20
	113:3

	hard-driving (1)
	76:22

	hardship (3)
	68:25
	72:21
	73:20

	hardworking (1)
	48:11

	harm (1)
	71:7

	hashmark (2)
	106:17
	111:25

	hatching (1)
	86:11

	hate (1)
	163:23

	Hauled (1)
	173:23

	HCL (1)
	71:11

	HCLI (1)
	20:10

	head (1)
	130:17

	health (17)
	26:19
	27:2
	27:19
	28:1
	28:7
	28:18
	29:9
	29:13
	29:24
	67:9
	85:14
	142:14
	143:17
	152:7
	152:8
	152:11
	152:22

	hear (10)
	10:25
	35:8
	110:8
	110:8
	120:18
	134:20
	159:15
	159:16
	172:8
	173:9

	heard (14)
	8:20
	62:25
	96:3
	105:18
	112:16
	120:24
	128:24
	150:21
	153:18
	153:18
	171:22
	176:1
	196:20
	196:20

	hearing (29)
	6:9
	6:14
	7:15
	8:11
	13:13
	14:23
	43:5
	43:22
	46:11
	48:10
	67:20
	69:4
	73:24
	93:16
	93:19
	102:8
	109:13
	115:24
	117:13
	118:10
	118:25
	119:23
	125:7
	144:19
	188:25
	189:1
	190:20
	194:9
	197:20

	hearings (4)
	5:24
	6:1
	6:1
	74:5

	hears (1)
	5:23

	hearsay (3)
	67:19
	67:19
	67:20

	heart (1)
	184:3

	heaters (1)
	154:16

	heavily (4)
	53:8
	65:5
	65:5
	93:13

	heavy (7)
	13:6
	20:10
	20:23
	24:18
	71:11
	80:10
	175:12

	held (1)
	1:14

	Helen (3)
	3:19
	158:10
	158:13

	help (16)
	27:16
	30:6
	63:12
	63:18
	63:21
	71:4
	71:6
	72:4
	90:11
	93:11
	96:10
	116:15
	116:18
	116:23
	116:24
	132:5

	helped (3)
	94:5
	94:23
	139:14

	helpful (1)
	15:12

	helping (1)
	28:23

	heritage (1)
	53:9

	hey (15)
	49:3
	75:15
	76:21
	83:12
	84:3
	98:5
	109:14
	110:23
	163:15
	164:4
	166:3
	166:19
	184:3
	186:23
	187:1

	high (1)
	33:12

	highlighted (1)
	178:11

	Hmm (1)
	112:7

	hold (3)
	13:15
	124:3
	173:18

	hole (3)
	185:9
	185:14
	185:18

	Holmer (89)
	2:13
	13:1
	14:10
	14:22
	15:17
	15:22
	16:4
	16:8
	16:11
	16:14
	16:19
	16:22
	17:3
	17:6
	17:10
	17:13
	17:15
	17:24
	18:5
	18:7
	18:10
	18:13
	18:16
	18:21
	19:1
	19:4
	19:13
	19:22
	20:1
	38:24
	39:4
	39:18
	54:24
	55:2
	68:5
	68:9
	70:6
	70:13
	70:13
	84:17
	84:24
	85:4
	87:13
	87:17
	87:22
	88:18
	88:25
	98:2
	98:19
	100:20
	101:6
	101:13
	103:3
	110:16
	112:21
	112:25
	113:3
	113:6
	122:5
	122:10
	122:17
	122:21
	123:5
	123:8
	123:10
	123:14
	124:5
	138:3
	138:5
	147:15
	162:21
	169:12
	170:23
	171:10
	173:15
	173:19
	177:18
	178:11
	178:22
	179:4
	183:19
	183:24
	184:11
	186:14
	186:25
	187:4
	192:21
	193:14
	197:16

	Holmer's (3)
	22:4
	54:17
	54:18

	home (2)
	71:25
	142:18

	homeless (18)
	20:16
	23:18
	23:19
	23:20
	23:21
	23:25
	27:24
	37:7
	37:19
	48:12
	48:19
	49:11
	49:11
	110:20
	114:14
	131:6
	157:20
	170:11

	homelessness (10)
	61:23
	61:25
	64:4
	64:5
	112:13
	155:16
	155:17
	155:19
	155:24
	155:25

	homes (3)
	27:7
	149:4
	149:6

	homestead (1)
	139:25

	Honor (1)
	111:16

	hoops (4)
	62:14
	88:17
	88:18
	88:20

	hope (5)
	26:8
	70:1
	110:7
	110:7
	140:10

	hopefully (1)
	106:9

	hoping (1)
	45:15

	Horace (4)
	2:13
	70:9
	92:17
	97:19

	hours (1)
	76:17

	house (17)
	100:21
	100:22
	104:20
	128:18
	128:18
	128:22
	129:5
	131:2
	131:9
	139:21
	157:22
	157:22
	158:18
	159:22
	159:22
	161:10
	162:1

	housed (1)
	20:15

	houses (2)
	90:15
	129:18

	housing (4)
	62:9
	175:25
	176:16
	176:17

	Hual (37)
	2:4
	67:22
	68:13
	126:23
	127:17
	127:23
	128:2
	134:16
	135:2
	135:5
	136:1
	136:4
	136:6
	136:10
	136:13
	136:15
	136:22
	137:1
	137:4
	137:16
	148:14
	178:20
	178:23
	179:7
	179:18
	181:3
	181:9
	182:5
	182:9
	195:10
	195:13
	195:25
	196:2
	196:8
	197:2
	197:9
	197:12

	huge (2)
	151:18
	151:25

	hundred (1)
	80:17

	hundreds (1)
	175:19

	hurricane (1)
	140:16

	husband (6)
	141:23
	159:24
	160:1
	160:10
	161:8
	161:15

	husband's (1)
	141:10

	hydrant (2)
	78:11
	78:13


	I
	ID (1)
	62:12

	idea (11)
	75:20
	76:2
	76:8
	78:5
	78:14
	82:15
	86:15
	109:3
	123:19
	150:18
	167:5

	ideas (4)
	30:15
	30:16
	30:19
	169:3

	identical (1)
	7:17

	identified (2)
	171:12
	188:10

	identify (3)
	8:23
	9:21
	190:12

	ignored (2)
	138:13
	142:7

	III (3)
	3:11
	128:11
	128:15

	illegal (1)
	146:2

	illegally (2)
	142:19
	150:14

	illness (1)
	160:11

	imagine (1)
	21:22

	immediate (1)
	61:3

	impact (3)
	71:23
	74:21
	75:6

	impervious (3)
	40:15
	165:21
	193:7

	implementation (1)
	174:10

	important (4)
	29:16
	56:22
	105:17
	136:10

	Importantly (1)
	105:17

	impression (1)
	134:4

	improve (1)
	41:25

	improved (4)
	41:13
	76:23
	176:14
	176:15

	improvements (6)
	23:5
	27:5
	31:2
	38:13
	38:14
	151:22

	in-between (1)
	28:21

	inception (2)
	64:9
	64:10

	inches (1)
	160:7

	include (3)
	83:5
	84:22
	127:1

	included (2)
	15:13
	29:12

	including (3)
	40:10
	135:19
	139:5

	incorporation (1)
	16:24

	incorrect (1)
	164:9

	incorrectly (1)
	164:10

	incumbent (1)
	47:23

	INDEX (2)
	3:1
	3:7

	indicate (3)
	54:1
	54:5
	58:4

	indicated (10)
	20:7
	28:4
	49:8
	53:15
	56:20
	58:1
	66:21
	87:16
	98:5
	169:5

	indicates (1)
	23:16

	indicating (1)
	13:9

	indication (4)
	11:10
	48:5
	48:5
	67:8

	individual (4)
	7:24
	49:3
	75:4
	134:24

	individuals (1)
	9:20

	industrial (7)
	13:6
	20:11
	20:23
	24:18
	71:12
	80:11
	175:12

	informal (2)
	67:20
	67:20

	information (11)
	9:16
	18:12
	39:13
	44:22
	45:13
	96:22
	98:10
	116:17
	116:18
	116:20
	185:7

	informed (1)
	134:10

	infrastructure (1)
	104:19

	infringe (1)
	69:17

	initial (6)
	84:20
	93:4
	93:4
	94:18
	94:19
	149:19

	initially (6)
	85:2
	148:24
	149:1
	149:5
	149:25
	151:17

	initiated (1)
	152:10

	inquire (2)
	11:8
	11:11

	insanitary (1)
	28:9

	inside (3)
	34:3
	161:2
	161:5

	inspect (2)
	153:13
	153:15

	inspecting (2)
	28:22
	152:23

	inspection (6)
	29:9
	152:8
	152:12
	153:2
	153:3
	153:8

	inspections (6)
	28:9
	28:19
	152:10
	153:1
	153:7
	153:11

	inspector (1)
	193:15

	inspectors (1)
	193:2

	install (1)
	155:12

	installed (2)
	34:6
	155:10

	instance (1)
	35:15

	instruct (1)
	127:24

	instruction (2)
	127:2
	179:20

	intend (2)
	9:9
	10:4

	intention (1)
	118:5

	interest (2)
	9:11
	75:2

	interested (1)
	198:18

	interests (1)
	75:2

	internal (1)
	116:22

	interpretation (1)
	174:23

	interpretations (1)
	83:2

	interview (4)
	60:2
	60:16
	60:19
	63:14

	introduce (1)
	190:21

	introduced (1)
	161:15

	invasive (1)
	50:20

	inventory (1)
	13:10

	investment (1)
	71:25

	involve (1)
	137:8

	involved (5)
	8:21
	13:21
	26:21
	72:1
	148:20

	involves (1)
	137:9

	involving (1)
	137:22

	Irving (3)
	47:21
	168:17
	190:18

	issuance (9)
	7:2
	47:19
	47:25
	50:15
	51:2
	112:8
	125:16
	168:25
	176:23

	issue (51)
	6:23
	7:25
	8:23
	27:2
	36:16
	42:23
	44:4
	44:13
	45:19
	46:15
	47:11
	49:16
	49:17
	49:21
	49:21
	50:18
	50:21
	50:22
	66:14
	66:18
	72:8
	72:8
	75:15
	93:6
	93:6
	95:6
	96:4
	97:18
	110:13
	119:17
	124:24
	125:6
	136:11
	137:5
	139:15
	142:14
	142:15
	171:18
	172:11
	174:1
	174:5
	174:6
	174:9
	184:5
	188:20
	189:14
	189:22
	190:8
	191:8
	191:9
	193:24

	issued (9)
	7:3
	36:21
	44:11
	45:23
	45:24
	45:25
	46:8
	47:17
	75:1

	issues (16)
	26:3
	40:10
	45:21
	61:12
	69:13
	77:15
	79:12
	79:16
	80:1
	125:1
	138:13
	153:16
	163:17
	176:7
	190:24
	191:24

	issuing (1)
	47:24

	item (2)
	9:21
	177:8

	items (1)
	91:7

	iterations (1)
	50:5

	Ivan (1)
	141:8


	J
	J (2)
	1:10
	2:18

	Jack (1)
	158:11

	Jason (4)
	41:9
	42:15
	45:18
	58:6

	JENNIFER (1)
	2:10

	Jesse (2)
	2:5
	67:12

	jet (1)
	151:18

	Jewel (1)
	124:25

	job (2)
	62:13
	152:4

	Joe (2)
	40:8
	57:22

	Jolly (17)
	3:17
	3:19
	156:5
	156:7
	156:10
	156:16
	156:16
	156:19
	156:23
	158:10
	158:10
	158:13
	158:17
	162:8
	162:9
	162:16
	162:17

	Jolly's (1)
	158:11

	Jones (50)
	2:13
	11:6
	46:17
	70:7
	70:9
	92:17
	92:18
	93:3
	95:11
	98:23
	101:21
	103:16
	103:20
	106:7
	107:14
	110:1
	110:16
	114:19
	116:4
	116:7
	117:3
	119:21
	121:1
	121:7
	121:14
	121:18
	121:21
	121:23
	122:4
	122:9
	122:20
	124:4
	124:10
	125:5
	156:11
	164:17
	169:16
	171:22
	173:8
	179:22
	180:19
	182:23
	183:23
	187:9
	187:22
	189:1
	190:19
	191:2
	193:13
	194:2

	Journal (1)
	130:16

	judge (2)
	67:25
	111:15

	judgment (1)
	90:1

	Judy (4)
	2:7
	4:24
	5:16
	195:7

	July (1)
	106:10

	jump (2)
	62:14
	88:17

	jumped (2)
	88:18
	88:21

	junk (1)
	151:12

	jurisdiction (3)
	6:23
	7:13
	182:19

	justifiably (1)
	175:23

	justification (1)
	194:15

	juts (2)
	22:8
	32:21

	jutting (1)
	64:16


	K
	keep (13)
	18:23
	22:3
	30:14
	43:19
	60:23
	63:24
	114:11
	115:20
	128:23
	155:9
	163:24
	166:8
	182:19

	keeps (2)
	75:11
	82:7

	Kelly (14)
	3:13
	141:8
	141:9
	141:9
	141:13
	141:13
	141:17
	141:22
	144:8
	144:17
	147:12
	150:21
	153:18
	160:21

	kept (2)
	161:7
	161:18

	kick (3)
	81:18
	86:16
	123:20

	kicking (4)
	80:1
	98:12
	100:18
	122:11

	kicks (2)
	78:15
	88:8

	kill (1)
	189:5

	Kimbrel (29)
	3:10
	3:15
	10:6
	11:3
	26:5
	59:7
	59:11
	59:12
	59:15
	59:21
	59:21
	60:1
	61:22
	62:20
	63:8
	64:9
	64:11
	64:14
	65:23
	66:1
	95:12
	105:5
	144:22
	147:21
	147:21
	147:23
	148:8
	148:20
	156:4

	Kimbrel's (1)
	110:24

	kind (15)
	45:1
	52:15
	52:16
	58:15
	58:21
	65:4
	72:21
	75:6
	77:4
	90:16
	101:1
	127:12
	149:12
	156:14
	169:5

	kinds (5)
	24:9
	29:3
	58:2
	172:18
	189:19

	King (3)
	131:13
	161:9
	161:14

	kitchen (4)
	30:20
	108:6
	131:24
	158:21

	knew (11)
	78:13
	108:8
	108:9
	130:14
	130:17
	133:9
	140:8
	149:7
	185:10
	189:5
	189:6

	know (195)
	16:20
	21:16
	22:25
	23:15
	24:2
	26:16
	26:17
	26:22
	27:4
	30:3
	30:19
	31:4
	31:5
	31:20
	31:23
	31:24
	32:3
	32:17
	33:19
	34:2
	35:19
	35:25
	36:3
	37:22
	40:2
	42:5
	42:11
	42:21
	42:21
	43:1
	43:13
	43:22
	43:24
	44:12
	44:24
	46:6
	46:7
	46:22
	47:5
	47:12
	47:13
	48:9
	52:23
	53:4
	53:21
	54:6
	55:14
	55:24
	56:6
	56:22
	58:21
	60:5
	60:12
	61:6
	61:11
	62:10
	63:5
	63:16
	63:19
	63:20
	64:1
	64:23
	65:9
	69:7
	69:10
	69:12
	70:22
	72:12
	73:2
	73:11
	73:19
	74:17
	75:18
	76:2
	77:3
	77:4
	77:23
	78:4
	79:6
	80:3
	81:11
	81:23
	82:3
	83:13
	85:5
	86:11
	86:12
	87:14
	87:17
	87:18
	90:23
	91:12
	91:13
	91:16
	92:12
	94:2
	96:23
	97:17
	99:1
	99:13
	99:16
	99:17
	101:7
	101:14
	101:15
	104:15
	104:16
	104:19
	104:20
	104:21
	104:24
	105:15
	106:8
	106:15
	107:14
	108:23
	108:24
	108:25
	109:3
	110:2
	110:15
	110:23
	113:15
	114:17
	115:24
	120:22
	123:15
	123:18
	124:1
	125:8
	125:8
	126:3
	126:9
	126:16
	126:23
	129:18
	130:11
	130:11
	132:5
	133:16
	134:5
	134:8
	136:11
	137:21
	139:3
	140:15
	141:1
	141:1
	142:24
	145:12
	152:19
	152:23
	153:4
	154:2
	155:3
	156:10
	157:9
	159:2
	160:25
	161:19
	164:15
	169:24
	170:7
	171:3
	172:3
	172:25
	173:4
	173:22
	174:15
	175:6
	177:23
	178:16
	180:2
	180:2
	181:17
	182:1
	183:1
	183:9
	184:3
	184:8
	185:4
	186:4
	187:11
	189:18
	189:20
	191:20
	192:6
	193:6
	193:7
	193:8
	194:6
	194:14
	195:2
	196:6
	196:22

	knowing (4)
	55:20
	154:12
	186:12
	196:4

	knowledge (4)
	9:16
	66:1
	66:4
	134:23

	knows (8)
	20:24
	26:16
	31:2
	31:3
	104:22
	105:12
	176:6
	188:6

	KOA (3)
	132:9
	170:8
	170:11

	KRISTEN (1)
	2:4


	L
	L (1)
	186:10

	L-shaped (1)
	132:19

	label (5)
	79:8
	91:5
	91:5
	103:3
	106:16

	labeled (6)
	33:3
	88:11
	133:10
	133:12
	133:14
	139:22

	labeling (2)
	86:12
	184:15

	lady (2)
	125:9
	159:20

	laid (1)
	44:14

	land (46)
	13:7
	30:8
	44:14
	44:16
	47:18
	55:16
	55:18
	58:9
	71:9
	72:13
	72:16
	73:21
	74:15
	80:15
	88:4
	89:13
	90:5
	93:14
	94:21
	97:7
	100:3
	100:8
	105:12
	106:25
	111:3
	111:17
	115:5
	115:6
	115:14
	115:19
	119:5
	120:5
	123:4
	131:14
	133:21
	135:17
	135:22
	165:2
	168:20
	170:22
	174:23
	178:6
	180:3
	180:20
	181:18
	183:17

	landing (2)
	94:24
	94:25

	landlocks (1)
	34:24

	Landmark (3)
	18:4
	92:1
	94:10

	landowner (1)
	175:10

	landscape (1)
	151:8

	landscaping (1)
	141:2

	language (2)
	177:19
	177:20

	large (10)
	21:7
	21:25
	22:2
	40:22
	108:5
	158:23
	158:24
	160:3
	160:7
	160:12

	larger (3)
	32:20
	32:24
	149:12

	late (2)
	54:16
	56:12

	late-coming (1)
	54:15

	laundry (1)
	149:3

	law (6)
	6:2
	6:18
	7:10
	8:15
	9:25
	167:14

	lawsuit (1)
	70:2

	lawyer (1)
	102:2

	lay (3)
	134:20
	138:12
	169:5

	layer (1)
	13:10

	laying (3)
	60:25
	160:17
	165:5

	lazy (1)
	64:1

	LDC (14)
	74:21
	74:23
	75:3
	82:21
	83:1
	83:9
	84:25
	85:18
	86:22
	114:23
	164:21
	186:2
	188:9
	190:12

	lean (1)
	154:14

	lean-to (1)
	24:9

	leave (4)
	61:10
	61:19
	133:5
	133:6

	leaves (3)
	142:2
	143:4
	143:25

	leeway (2)
	84:7
	194:3

	left (9)
	26:6
	35:17
	62:21
	62:23
	87:5
	102:8
	159:21
	159:24
	162:4

	leg (1)
	135:19

	legal (8)
	5:8
	5:12
	44:8
	45:8
	64:19
	69:13
	78:23
	182:24

	legality (1)
	180:23

	legally (6)
	35:6
	69:14
	69:23
	69:24
	136:19
	136:23

	legitimate (1)
	28:13

	length (1)
	183:12

	lengthy (4)
	92:21
	96:6
	97:10
	99:22

	let's (15)
	11:13
	16:14
	20:16
	20:19
	21:16
	38:22
	83:12
	83:12
	89:6
	95:20
	113:8
	123:21
	155:6
	165:13
	186:19

	letter (36)
	16:8
	16:22
	28:2
	29:10
	39:2
	39:12
	41:1
	57:16
	66:20
	66:24
	67:3
	67:6
	94:13
	94:15
	95:15
	95:15
	107:1
	107:1
	107:2
	107:3
	115:25
	116:1
	116:8
	116:8
	116:11
	116:11
	119:19
	119:19
	120:25
	121:2
	167:14
	171:16
	187:13
	187:24
	188:17
	188:19

	letter's (1)
	107:8

	level (6)
	27:5
	37:2
	37:3
	82:5
	169:6
	182:2

	LGBT (1)
	60:8

	license (8)
	28:6
	29:25
	30:1
	65:19
	66:21
	67:7
	67:10
	71:8

	licenses (1)
	29:13

	licensing (3)
	65:24
	66:5
	66:19

	lie (1)
	130:11

	lieu (1)
	154:19

	life (2)
	71:23
	104:12

	lift (2)
	21:21
	21:24

	light (8)
	13:6
	20:11
	20:23
	24:18
	71:11
	80:10
	175:12
	194:17

	lights (1)
	159:2

	likewise (1)
	195:21

	liking (1)
	167:11

	limbo (1)
	101:11

	limit (1)
	62:2

	limited (4)
	6:11
	6:12
	76:15
	134:21

	line (8)
	33:25
	34:1
	34:3
	63:23
	69:12
	132:25
	136:18
	179:5

	lines (1)
	76:13

	link (2)
	15:16
	16:5

	list (4)
	85:17
	163:7
	184:17
	184:20

	listed (3)
	113:14
	122:5
	133:16

	listen (2)
	46:15
	163:16

	listening (1)
	194:8

	listing (1)
	81:6

	lists (1)
	126:3

	literal (1)
	65:11

	literally (2)
	33:5
	52:14

	little (9)
	17:19
	19:4
	20:12
	34:20
	35:8
	36:1
	60:4
	64:16
	140:14

	live (13)
	48:11
	58:17
	58:18
	58:19
	129:2
	143:14
	146:25
	156:16
	157:5
	157:21
	158:17
	160:22
	160:22

	lived (4)
	22:12
	140:12
	140:25
	159:11

	lives (2)
	128:21
	159:22

	living (9)
	23:13
	23:23
	25:6
	28:12
	114:15
	156:23
	159:21
	175:8
	175:20

	local (4)
	27:20
	27:20
	142:25
	152:8

	located (1)
	8:2

	location (6)
	13:4
	19:9
	25:1
	55:9
	116:24
	175:14

	locational (2)
	17:2
	41:7

	locations (1)
	38:18

	Lockhart (3)
	2:14
	5:6
	5:9

	logic (1)
	74:12

	long (6)
	48:16
	58:20
	92:20
	97:11
	135:15
	156:24

	longer (1)
	135:23

	look (34)
	22:18
	50:4
	50:13
	60:6
	62:6
	71:21
	74:24
	75:23
	80:23
	83:20
	85:11
	85:16
	95:14
	97:2
	97:5
	109:18
	110:3
	112:24
	113:8
	114:6
	130:6
	131:24
	145:16
	146:15
	146:22
	152:21
	152:23
	158:21
	166:8
	166:9
	171:9
	171:15
	171:15
	188:17

	looked (4)
	27:11
	50:3
	142:25
	151:21

	looking (13)
	13:17
	27:10
	38:23
	39:4
	51:25
	78:1
	80:2
	84:18
	99:2
	180:2
	183:16
	184:18
	186:6

	looks (10)
	22:19
	31:19
	32:11
	32:14
	37:18
	76:20
	95:14
	112:7
	149:14
	151:19

	loosely (1)
	35:17

	lost (3)
	33:6
	140:18
	169:21

	lot (16)
	30:4
	35:10
	35:14
	62:13
	82:3
	84:7
	90:19
	139:21
	140:3
	140:16
	142:16
	143:14
	160:23
	162:24
	174:22
	195:2

	lots (1)
	188:6

	Louis (4)
	3:17
	156:16
	156:19
	158:11

	love (2)
	30:22
	50:17

	lover (1)
	159:23

	low (1)
	21:22

	lower (1)
	136:1

	lowest (1)
	21:1


	M
	M (1)
	186:10

	ma'am (25)
	56:16
	56:18
	58:24
	63:8
	64:11
	64:19
	122:1
	133:20
	144:21
	144:24
	145:2
	145:4
	145:14
	145:18
	146:1
	146:1
	146:8
	146:18
	146:21
	146:21
	146:25
	147:6
	197:6
	197:11
	197:16

	Madam (1)
	182:24

	magistrate (39)
	25:13
	25:13
	43:5
	43:6
	43:11
	43:17
	93:16
	93:19
	94:2
	94:6
	94:23
	96:10
	97:15
	97:16
	100:24
	101:21
	101:24
	102:7
	103:25
	106:17
	109:13
	109:17
	115:24
	117:13
	117:16
	118:10
	118:24
	118:25
	122:10
	122:25
	139:5
	166:18
	169:14
	170:17
	172:24
	181:12
	181:14
	182:20
	187:14

	magistrate's (6)
	46:4
	98:10
	98:14
	101:15
	182:3
	182:13

	magnitude (1)
	115:9

	mailbox (4)
	12:15
	12:17
	13:19
	34:23

	mailing (1)
	13:11

	main (3)
	22:3
	44:7
	149:22

	maintain (2)
	82:25
	103:2

	maintenancing (1)
	151:9

	major (1)
	67:19

	majority (1)
	33:12

	making (8)
	6:16
	16:13
	28:22
	38:11
	77:8
	117:23
	135:6
	138:3

	management (3)
	26:7
	41:11
	95:17

	manager (2)
	2:13
	64:7

	manages (1)
	26:6

	mangy (1)
	160:4

	manual (11)
	26:11
	26:13
	42:16
	54:5
	54:13
	55:17
	58:14
	59:4
	97:7
	171:19
	176:3

	map (6)
	13:4
	13:5
	13:8
	13:9
	13:11
	128:17

	maps (2)
	13:2
	16:6

	March (1)
	28:2

	Marcus (1)
	21:5

	Mark (5)
	2:8
	9:14
	94:10
	94:15
	102:25

	marsh (1)
	65:13

	Massachusetts (20)
	1:7
	9:1
	11:19
	12:6
	13:18
	21:1
	22:14
	22:22
	32:21
	34:17
	35:5
	35:15
	35:20
	41:14
	42:1
	42:2
	55:8
	55:13
	80:25
	176:5

	massively (1)
	149:20

	material (2)
	53:18
	99:11

	matter (9)
	11:9
	14:18
	88:16
	93:23
	96:14
	164:13
	170:10
	174:2
	184:4

	matters (1)
	8:12

	Mayfair (2)
	48:11
	175:21

	mean (49)
	14:19
	14:22
	19:7
	21:10
	30:21
	36:4
	36:10
	37:6
	42:21
	43:7
	44:1
	44:18
	44:25
	45:3
	45:21
	45:23
	46:6
	46:13
	50:17
	53:4
	55:16
	56:1
	61:16
	61:21
	63:1
	68:24
	71:24
	72:25
	89:16
	97:23
	98:21
	100:18
	101:4
	105:11
	107:25
	109:3
	110:4
	123:21
	126:6
	126:24
	130:2
	139:17
	154:24
	163:23
	178:5
	179:13
	187:11
	190:6
	195:2

	meaning (1)
	179:19

	meant (1)
	196:15

	mediate (2)
	61:14
	61:15

	medical (1)
	26:3

	meet (44)
	5:7
	41:19
	44:13
	50:14
	53:16
	74:25
	75:16
	75:22
	76:1
	83:22
	84:3
	84:4
	84:10
	86:22
	87:5
	87:24
	88:5
	89:19
	98:6
	98:7
	98:20
	100:12
	112:22
	115:19
	120:7
	125:18
	152:16
	163:25
	164:1
	164:4
	166:13
	169:8
	181:5
	182:12
	183:4
	183:21
	184:9
	186:8
	186:9
	186:10
	187:5
	187:8
	191:12
	192:7

	meeting (18)
	1:3
	4:12
	4:17
	12:13
	37:1
	80:4
	98:22
	120:3
	120:24
	124:13
	124:17
	124:17
	130:13
	139:4
	139:6
	145:1
	164:21
	187:19

	meetings (4)
	27:23
	30:4
	30:4
	63:20

	meets (4)
	72:18
	75:14
	81:13
	86:5

	member (7)
	8:21
	9:7
	9:9
	9:14
	103:1
	116:21
	125:21

	members (22)
	2:2
	4:2
	4:3
	4:15
	5:2
	5:19
	8:11
	9:2
	9:8
	20:7
	33:24
	40:8
	46:21
	48:18
	49:13
	60:7
	102:23
	116:14
	134:16
	148:9
	163:12
	168:8

	memory (2)
	92:22
	95:25

	men (1)
	130:7

	mention (4)
	38:2
	78:4
	163:11
	163:12

	mentioned (5)
	41:5
	72:20
	86:9
	87:18
	96:24

	mess (1)
	50:20

	met (23)
	37:2
	41:8
	44:20
	47:17
	47:20
	47:22
	50:11
	50:23
	50:24
	70:18
	93:15
	111:17
	112:7
	114:17
	120:6
	121:6
	125:17
	169:7
	184:15
	187:1
	190:16
	194:11
	194:13

	mic (3)
	59:13
	168:6
	173:9

	mic'd (1)
	66:3

	mic's (1)
	10:24

	Michael (9)
	3:10
	3:15
	10:6
	26:5
	26:17
	59:15
	59:21
	147:23
	154:21

	microphone (4)
	19:22
	20:3
	148:15
	173:12

	middle (5)
	38:20
	62:24
	93:17
	166:16
	166:17

	Mike (1)
	46:11

	mind (3)
	135:12
	148:14
	186:5

	minimum (1)
	107:23

	minor (9)
	39:8
	40:10
	44:23
	45:4
	103:22
	103:22
	115:12
	115:12
	115:14

	minus (2)
	151:1
	151:1

	minute (4)
	53:14
	58:12
	91:17
	96:3

	minutes (3)
	9:6
	102:25
	152:14

	mischaracterize (1)
	53:1

	missing (2)
	86:8
	166:6

	Mission (2)
	37:16
	37:18

	mistaken (1)
	144:17

	mixed-use (1)
	13:7

	Mm-hmm (6)
	121:7
	122:20
	132:20
	136:3
	136:5
	186:24

	modification (1)
	179:20

	modify (3)
	126:25
	178:25
	179:13

	moment (1)
	158:2

	money (9)
	33:19
	36:17
	41:19
	46:5
	66:9
	104:17
	108:10
	108:11
	189:9

	monitoring (1)
	35:20

	month (2)
	41:2
	70:19

	monthly (2)
	28:20
	153:12

	months (5)
	32:13
	101:5
	101:12
	153:11
	154:16

	morning (2)
	157:8
	160:15

	motion (20)
	4:16
	4:18
	4:20
	5:11
	5:12
	5:14
	102:13
	102:15
	102:17
	103:13
	177:8
	177:9
	177:15
	194:20
	195:5
	195:6
	195:7
	195:10
	196:5
	197:5

	motivation (1)
	64:2

	motor (1)
	27:7

	mouse (2)
	15:23
	136:16

	move (12)
	21:23
	26:1
	50:6
	50:8
	81:25
	84:13
	86:7
	109:2
	165:17
	168:4
	186:25
	194:18

	moved (6)
	4:19
	5:13
	28:19
	159:6
	159:10
	161:6

	moving (3)
	46:16
	48:25
	58:11

	mow (1)
	161:21

	multiple (2)
	85:4
	166:22

	mumbled (1)
	161:18


	N
	N (1)
	4:1

	name (11)
	3:8
	9:22
	9:24
	59:20
	59:21
	128:8
	136:20
	141:12
	156:14
	158:9
	158:10

	name's (1)
	156:16

	names (1)
	133:11

	narrowed (5)
	171:18
	188:21
	189:2
	189:21
	190:24

	national (2)
	13:9
	142:25

	naturally (1)
	159:14

	nature (2)
	5:25
	37:20

	nay (1)
	84:23

	near (1)
	34:22

	nearby (1)
	78:11

	neat (1)
	45:1

	necessarily (1)
	166:16

	necessary (5)
	50:20
	82:25
	93:21
	172:19
	190:3

	need (47)
	15:22
	27:10
	28:6
	40:11
	40:14
	41:17
	42:13
	53:19
	57:11
	57:17
	60:14
	63:13
	63:14
	63:21
	66:2
	67:10
	70:18
	70:21
	71:15
	76:19
	80:18
	91:18
	91:21
	91:22
	92:12
	94:3
	95:20
	98:15
	100:5
	100:6
	102:13
	106:4
	109:16
	114:5
	127:22
	131:4
	132:8
	137:17
	154:12
	165:6
	165:11
	167:19
	173:8
	183:5
	184:4
	188:1
	193:20

	needed (10)
	27:10
	39:23
	41:7
	53:15
	58:1
	62:18
	88:13
	171:7
	175:3
	175:4

	needing (2)
	63:11
	74:8

	needs (5)
	63:16
	79:3
	85:14
	91:23
	193:22

	negotiations (1)
	33:8

	neighbor (1)
	75:9

	neighbor's (1)
	12:3

	neighborhood (16)
	22:24
	48:12
	48:13
	129:2
	129:9
	129:21
	130:1
	131:3
	131:5
	131:15
	131:16
	142:17
	143:3
	143:15
	153:17
	154:8

	neighboring (1)
	71:7

	neighbors (8)
	34:2
	48:8
	71:17
	71:20
	112:17
	139:15
	155:15
	175:21

	neighbors' (1)
	157:13

	nephew (2)
	159:10
	159:13

	never (7)
	55:18
	62:25
	135:12
	146:22
	146:24
	154:10
	175:1

	nevertheless (1)
	24:4

	new (4)
	7:17
	9:13
	34:18
	69:3

	news (3)
	130:16
	142:25
	142:25

	newspaper (2)
	130:12
	131:13

	nice (2)
	21:15
	65:10

	night (3)
	38:20
	62:24
	129:5

	NIMBY (1)
	112:19

	nitpicky (2)
	86:15
	137:21

	no-belligerency (1)
	61:6

	no-burn (1)
	142:6

	noncompliance (1)
	74:15

	nonexpert (1)
	138:11

	nonprofits (1)
	33:20

	Nope (1)
	19:12

	normal (3)
	70:22
	77:2
	96:13

	north (3)
	21:5
	91:1
	140:3

	notate (1)
	153:4

	note (7)
	11:2
	14:16
	21:13
	36:7
	80:23
	114:10
	153:2

	notebook (1)
	45:2

	noted (4)
	9:18
	114:10
	116:10
	116:10

	notes (1)
	18:11

	notice (3)
	12:16
	36:22
	157:9

	notify (1)
	160:24

	nuisance (2)
	112:14
	176:7

	number (11)
	25:20
	71:19
	80:18
	86:8
	87:4
	113:24
	114:1
	114:6
	135:22
	139:16
	175:19

	numbers (2)
	38:1
	137:16


	O
	O (1)
	4:1

	oaks (1)
	53:9

	oath (1)
	6:4

	object (6)
	75:9
	139:2
	139:9
	188:3
	188:15
	190:19

	objection (7)
	59:3
	102:18
	104:4
	138:10
	143:17
	144:18
	197:18

	objections (1)
	144:6

	objective (11)
	44:14
	44:16
	44:20
	47:18
	49:14
	50:14
	111:17
	114:17
	168:20
	169:7
	190:16

	observed (2)
	12:6
	161:22

	obtain (3)
	106:24
	107:22
	181:15

	obtained (1)
	9:17

	obviously (6)
	28:11
	36:14
	46:2
	68:24
	72:4
	126:11

	occupy (1)
	134:8

	occurring (2)
	28:8
	152:9

	October (6)
	39:10
	96:1
	103:18
	166:22
	171:16
	188:18

	odd (3)
	21:14
	21:18
	22:7

	odd-shaped (1)
	32:11

	offer (2)
	4:9
	83:2

	Office (3)
	1:17
	26:16
	117:24

	official (5)
	82:13
	82:21
	83:5
	88:23
	165:9

	officials (1)
	152:8

	oh (13)
	14:6
	16:11
	17:13
	19:13
	19:23
	52:11
	55:1
	91:18
	101:6
	101:7
	131:21
	148:16
	195:20

	okay (74)
	10:2
	10:21
	12:25
	14:4
	14:10
	16:9
	16:13
	16:22
	17:4
	17:17
	18:19
	19:10
	20:2
	31:13
	33:15
	36:12
	41:24
	42:21
	43:17
	45:18
	54:10
	55:5
	58:8
	58:11
	60:1
	64:10
	67:14
	68:15
	69:22
	70:3
	71:9
	72:7
	73:14
	76:22
	77:10
	78:4
	78:24
	81:5
	90:3
	98:2
	98:7
	102:11
	103:15
	113:5
	113:18
	114:4
	121:9
	122:2
	123:7
	126:4
	127:24
	132:14
	133:21
	134:13
	135:12
	136:1
	136:6
	136:12
	136:22
	138:7
	151:6
	165:17
	166:16
	168:5
	172:11
	179:14
	182:9
	184:6
	185:15
	185:19
	187:20
	194:20
	195:13
	195:24

	old (7)
	21:3
	21:21
	22:10
	37:23
	65:3
	156:25
	157:25

	once (24)
	13:2
	16:5
	18:8
	34:10
	34:15
	36:23
	47:22
	60:15
	61:20
	74:15
	77:25
	87:17
	87:24
	88:10
	99:1
	99:2
	100:25
	137:6
	149:20
	152:13
	156:11
	162:23
	177:21
	187:6

	one's (3)
	54:24
	130:21
	130:22

	ones (3)
	18:7
	113:21
	123:17

	open (4)
	69:3
	129:5
	144:19
	144:20

	open-burning (1)
	154:2

	opening (4)
	14:9
	14:13
	68:6
	84:12

	operate (1)
	39:25

	operated (2)
	29:11
	29:23

	operates (1)
	58:16

	operating (13)
	22:5
	24:23
	26:11
	26:13
	28:8
	39:23
	40:1
	43:2
	51:11
	58:14
	59:4
	59:24
	66:14

	operation (4)
	58:22
	148:10
	150:6
	150:9

	operations (1)
	176:3

	opine (1)
	57:5

	opined (1)
	41:11

	opinion (1)
	6:10

	opinions (1)
	83:2

	opportunity (11)
	14:15
	20:22
	51:6
	51:8
	109:11
	118:9
	139:8
	147:17
	180:21
	181:5
	191:14

	oppose (2)
	47:23
	48:12

	opposed (6)
	47:6
	49:10
	49:11
	51:1
	170:12
	195:21

	option (2)
	76:7
	89:17

	options (2)
	179:2
	181:13

	oral (1)
	8:10

	order (52)
	6:21
	7:2
	7:3
	7:5
	58:12
	72:9
	75:8
	75:16
	76:11
	77:9
	79:5
	82:4
	83:11
	86:3
	86:6
	88:20
	92:19
	94:6
	94:23
	96:9
	97:16
	98:20
	101:22
	101:22
	101:25
	102:6
	103:18
	103:21
	103:25
	103:25
	115:2
	115:21
	118:15
	118:16
	120:17
	122:22
	122:24
	127:8
	127:8
	127:9
	127:15
	163:4
	163:21
	170:18
	171:24
	178:2
	179:3
	181:12
	182:13
	186:19
	187:14
	192:25

	order's (1)
	75:1

	orders (2)
	6:24
	103:24

	ordinance (1)
	142:6

	organizations (1)
	63:10

	original (4)
	13:13
	108:4
	116:6
	170:18

	originally (1)
	140:11

	origination (1)
	148:21

	ought (3)
	49:24
	169:9
	175:9

	ourself (1)
	183:11

	outbid (2)
	33:18
	149:20

	outline (1)
	152:1

	outlined (2)
	150:11
	167:7

	Outpost (48)
	1:9
	1:11
	2:16
	10:1
	20:17
	20:21
	24:11
	24:17
	24:23
	25:20
	25:24
	26:4
	27:14
	28:14
	29:6
	29:11
	29:23
	30:18
	32:23
	33:6
	33:17
	33:25
	37:20
	37:21
	38:15
	38:16
	48:21
	68:19
	78:20
	78:25
	79:13
	114:16
	117:21
	137:1
	138:20
	139:9
	141:24
	141:25
	142:8
	142:19
	145:10
	147:3
	148:23
	151:6
	154:22
	169:17
	176:18
	196:21

	outside (3)
	28:12
	75:18
	160:1

	outstanding (1)
	163:16

	overall (1)
	127:14

	overcome (1)
	55:25

	overlook (1)
	123:21

	overlooked (1)
	123:22

	overnight (2)
	37:17
	160:18

	overnighting (1)
	37:13

	oversight (1)
	125:13

	overturn (8)
	82:9
	82:16
	88:22
	89:1
	167:19
	174:5
	174:9
	177:22

	overturned (2)
	6:22
	89:24

	overturning (1)
	177:25

	owned (3)
	22:7
	140:11
	150:24

	owner (5)
	32:24
	49:2
	65:8
	69:18
	79:21

	owners (2)
	35:9
	75:4

	ownership (4)
	16:24
	136:11
	137:10
	137:14

	owns (3)
	35:16
	38:16
	151:4


	P
	P (1)
	4:1

	p.m (1)
	197:20

	package (17)
	4:12
	4:17
	10:13
	15:9
	15:10
	15:23
	16:10
	16:18
	39:1
	39:3
	40:4
	73:6
	73:7
	73:15
	113:1
	171:15
	171:17

	packet (1)
	102:4

	pad (1)
	22:10

	page (15)
	3:2
	3:8
	16:5
	18:16
	18:18
	77:17
	80:24
	80:24
	102:3
	113:18
	113:22
	114:6
	114:7
	117:17
	170:18

	pages (4)
	17:24
	18:2
	73:10
	165:2

	paid (4)
	29:21
	34:6
	169:23
	190:1

	paper (5)
	17:20
	45:2
	92:3
	92:7
	193:4

	parades (1)
	29:3

	paragraph (3)
	106:23
	180:6
	190:11

	parallelogram (1)
	21:17

	parcel (12)
	7:18
	32:23
	32:24
	33:6
	33:11
	33:13
	114:2
	133:21
	135:15
	135:17
	135:21
	137:16

	park (4)
	1:17
	35:16
	37:10
	42:7

	parks (3)
	42:6
	152:24
	153:15

	parole (1)
	129:22

	part (25)
	6:8
	10:12
	16:10
	18:3
	28:16
	29:8
	32:22
	32:25
	34:1
	35:21
	39:1
	40:4
	59:4
	63:14
	71:4
	82:15
	97:7
	98:17
	101:16
	101:16
	102:4
	125:13
	179:13
	179:19
	188:13

	parte (4)
	8:13
	8:14
	8:22
	9:2

	participate (1)
	68:13

	particular (3)
	7:25
	96:4
	105:20

	particulars (1)
	55:21

	parties (1)
	198:15

	parties' (1)
	198:16

	Partington (2)
	2:17
	9:25

	party (2)
	7:10
	9:20

	passed (1)
	140:12

	Passes (2)
	5:21
	102:24

	Passing (1)
	5:4

	passionate (1)
	97:3

	path (5)
	36:4
	65:14
	152:2
	164:19
	164:20

	paved (8)
	40:18
	40:19
	41:12
	54:2
	84:21
	84:22
	85:3
	87:8

	paving (5)
	41:17
	68:22
	68:25
	72:20
	79:12

	pay (7)
	31:13
	41:2
	43:21
	66:9
	108:19
	124:21
	124:23

	paying (1)
	28:17

	payment (1)
	17:8

	pdf (2)
	13:24
	50:6

	peaceably (1)
	48:8

	peg (4)
	185:8
	185:11
	185:13
	185:17

	Pensacola (4)
	1:18
	2:19
	128:16
	130:16

	people (55)
	20:22
	23:8
	24:1
	24:3
	25:20
	25:23
	28:12
	31:21
	49:9
	49:11
	49:12
	60:7
	60:8
	61:23
	62:3
	62:7
	62:16
	62:21
	62:23
	63:6
	63:6
	63:18
	63:25
	105:4
	105:4
	106:5
	114:15
	118:9
	129:1
	129:17
	130:2
	130:10
	130:19
	132:5
	132:12
	142:16
	143:14
	149:4
	150:10
	150:18
	154:7
	154:11
	156:1
	156:25
	157:5
	157:11
	157:20
	158:22
	159:15
	173:2
	175:8
	175:17
	175:19
	175:23
	175:24

	percent (2)
	126:14
	131:18

	percentage (1)
	21:7

	perfectly (2)
	15:5
	191:5

	performance (3)
	89:6
	123:11
	186:3

	period (4)
	7:19
	32:6
	60:18
	181:21

	Permanency (1)
	62:5

	permanent (11)
	23:22
	24:4
	25:25
	31:1
	38:18
	47:13
	79:14
	132:25
	175:25
	176:17
	185:21

	permissible (1)
	175:10

	permission (20)
	19:16
	20:4
	25:4
	25:7
	25:21
	27:11
	38:17
	43:8
	44:6
	59:1
	64:17
	67:2
	67:7
	69:14
	107:5
	108:16
	108:17
	109:15
	142:5
	150:10

	permit (48)
	7:2
	7:3
	7:6
	20:9
	25:10
	27:18
	27:18
	38:10
	42:24
	43:9
	43:9
	43:20
	44:12
	44:12
	45:19
	45:24
	47:11
	47:17
	47:19
	47:24
	47:25
	49:17
	49:18
	49:24
	50:15
	50:18
	50:21
	50:22
	51:2
	97:22
	106:4
	107:13
	115:20
	115:22
	118:14
	168:25
	169:10
	169:23
	172:11
	174:6
	174:9
	176:21
	176:24
	176:24
	181:15
	189:14
	189:15
	190:8

	permit's (1)
	46:8

	permits (8)
	6:24
	27:2
	45:21
	45:22
	45:24
	72:8
	72:9
	86:7

	permittable (1)
	175:20

	permitted (11)
	27:1
	34:7
	37:7
	110:21
	131:6
	131:8
	131:20
	153:9
	153:24
	175:1
	175:14

	permitting (3)
	30:10
	69:4
	148:12

	person (5)
	7:20
	83:10
	98:12
	139:16
	163:5

	person's (1)
	69:1

	personal (3)
	134:22
	143:13
	144:4

	personally (2)
	144:23
	153:21

	persons (4)
	23:13
	25:6
	175:4
	176:16

	perspective (1)
	153:17

	pervious (1)
	56:23

	peters (1)
	52:15

	petition (1)
	7:11

	petty (1)
	86:10

	philosophy (1)
	72:22

	photo (2)
	13:16
	13:17

	physical (1)
	73:20

	physically (1)
	60:9

	pick (2)
	42:8
	154:6

	pickup (1)
	60:24

	picture (1)
	51:18

	pictures (4)
	129:12
	129:13
	155:10
	161:23

	piece (11)
	22:7
	49:1
	49:3
	64:16
	79:20
	92:2
	92:6
	123:16
	133:18
	133:22
	193:3

	pieces (1)
	151:25

	Pierce (3)
	3:11
	128:11
	128:15

	pig (2)
	36:3
	53:2

	piles (1)
	151:18

	pipe (1)
	22:4

	pit (1)
	129:21

	pitch (1)
	150:10

	pits (2)
	21:4
	129:19

	place (12)
	1:18
	18:23
	24:16
	46:25
	47:4
	66:6
	97:25
	105:8
	108:7
	156:23
	164:6
	175:10

	places (1)
	25:25

	plain (1)
	172:17

	plaintiff (1)
	103:10

	plaintiff/defendant (1)
	14:24

	plan (96)
	13:20
	17:18
	17:25
	18:3
	18:4
	18:10
	18:24
	31:6
	31:7
	39:8
	39:8
	39:21
	40:1
	44:23
	44:24
	45:5
	46:9
	46:19
	47:8
	50:1
	50:3
	75:3
	75:21
	76:19
	77:17
	77:18
	77:20
	78:2
	78:18
	79:4
	80:3
	80:6
	80:8
	80:13
	80:21
	80:25
	81:9
	82:7
	82:13
	83:1
	83:25
	85:4
	85:9
	85:11
	85:23
	86:4
	86:13
	86:19
	86:21
	88:13
	90:12
	91:10
	94:14
	96:17
	97:18
	98:8
	108:19
	108:20
	108:22
	112:2
	114:9
	115:17
	121:15
	122:1
	123:25
	124:1
	124:2
	125:2
	125:7
	133:12
	135:14
	135:14
	135:16
	135:21
	136:24
	137:6
	137:8
	137:11
	137:12
	137:18
	137:24
	166:2
	166:7
	166:13
	166:14
	166:21
	187:18
	191:13
	193:1
	193:3
	193:10
	193:20
	193:20
	193:22
	193:24
	193:25

	plane (1)
	52:16

	planning (12)
	2:15
	58:7
	85:12
	100:22
	120:15
	168:13
	168:15
	174:21
	174:22
	178:8
	178:9
	182:22

	plans (20)
	6:21
	23:5
	23:6
	30:21
	36:15
	39:16
	90:5
	91:25
	95:18
	95:19
	99:20
	120:12
	133:10
	133:15
	148:24
	149:1
	149:12
	149:20
	193:16
	193:16

	planting (4)
	80:16
	81:3
	81:4
	81:4

	plat (2)
	78:23
	186:20

	play (5)
	92:14
	92:16
	92:17
	101:16
	185:6

	playground (1)
	151:20

	pleading (1)
	7:12

	please (17)
	8:23
	9:21
	20:5
	68:8
	70:5
	70:7
	78:18
	85:19
	85:19
	135:5
	135:13
	143:11
	144:6
	165:1
	165:4
	177:9
	177:12

	podium (5)
	9:21
	19:19
	19:21
	128:8
	158:19

	point (40)
	21:2
	35:22
	38:4
	42:25
	43:5
	56:7
	63:12
	63:16
	68:4
	77:14
	79:16
	81:12
	86:20
	93:7
	94:24
	94:25
	96:7
	96:21
	97:11
	97:13
	100:6
	100:14
	100:14
	106:21
	131:10
	133:2
	133:3
	147:16
	152:19
	169:11
	171:8
	172:20
	173:6
	173:20
	174:12
	174:16
	183:19
	191:22
	193:21
	197:3

	Pointe (1)
	21:5

	pointed (8)
	34:16
	39:18
	40:9
	57:10
	105:24
	153:1
	170:2
	170:23

	pointing (1)
	28:23

	points (2)
	11:2
	45:12

	police (1)
	57:20

	policy (1)
	61:6

	ponds (2)
	40:14
	56:15

	population (1)
	25:22

	porch (1)
	142:11

	porta-johns (1)
	157:15

	porta-potties (4)
	40:23
	41:3
	41:15
	174:15

	portable (2)
	29:2
	55:9

	portajohns (2)
	129:7
	131:25

	portalet (1)
	57:15

	portalets (6)
	29:2
	52:20
	52:21
	52:24
	60:24
	87:20

	portion (1)
	178:12

	position (13)
	19:17
	30:9
	30:17
	30:18
	59:9
	71:21
	110:18
	123:1
	170:9
	170:20
	173:10
	193:19
	194:16

	possibility (2)
	99:14
	143:2

	possible (3)
	48:24
	99:17
	102:5

	post (1)
	142:17

	postcards (1)
	13:12

	posted (5)
	11:25
	12:2
	12:12
	12:13
	34:16

	posting (1)
	13:13

	pot (1)
	29:2

	potential (2)
	60:19
	99:7

	potentially (3)
	35:16
	46:6
	68:18

	pots (1)
	151:18

	power (8)
	82:12
	82:16
	82:17
	83:10
	83:12
	83:17
	131:1
	132:22

	PowerPoint (3)
	10:19
	15:17
	135:8

	powers (1)
	82:11

	practical (1)
	182:14

	pre-op (1)
	94:19

	preapplication (1)
	90:18

	precedent (1)
	131:10

	prefer (4)
	14:7
	14:20
	19:18
	182:16

	prejudicial (1)
	8:15

	preliminary (1)
	186:19

	premised (1)
	57:24

	presence (1)
	11:12

	present (23)
	2:12
	5:3
	5:20
	9:7
	9:8
	9:15
	10:5
	10:5
	11:6
	51:7
	106:20
	120:20
	120:21
	124:13
	125:3
	125:3
	125:6
	125:8
	130:10
	139:1
	143:15
	150:5
	188:16

	presentation (11)
	10:17
	14:17
	15:2
	15:8
	16:2
	38:7
	51:12
	68:8
	70:5
	127:10
	127:16

	presented (5)
	16:18
	49:15
	88:19
	125:6
	127:18

	presenting (1)
	74:1

	preserve (1)
	103:17

	Presumably (1)
	57:2

	presumed (1)
	8:14

	prettiest (1)
	53:10

	pretty (2)
	81:12
	157:15

	previous (3)
	74:5
	153:5
	176:15

	previously (4)
	4:4
	4:6
	4:14
	147:24

	primarily (2)
	125:12
	125:14

	primary (5)
	125:5
	125:5
	191:6
	191:7
	191:24

	prior (5)
	11:4
	107:20
	140:8
	140:9
	140:21

	privacy (6)
	129:8
	129:13
	129:16
	155:23
	159:7
	162:4

	private (1)
	23:10

	pro (1)
	27:15

	probably (15)
	23:14
	24:6
	35:8
	44:24
	53:10
	53:21
	92:4
	92:8
	92:9
	154:13
	157:5
	158:22
	173:8
	186:2
	191:7

	probation (1)
	129:22

	problem (12)
	40:12
	40:25
	61:8
	77:7
	87:8
	87:12
	95:11
	112:15
	139:12
	152:20
	152:20
	155:13

	problems (4)
	61:9
	154:23
	170:5
	193:15

	procedural (3)
	11:2
	181:10
	196:1

	procedurally (1)
	67:18

	procedure (6)
	14:16
	14:25
	67:18
	79:7
	103:11
	147:17

	procedures (1)
	59:24

	proceed (4)
	14:5
	68:6
	75:1
	116:18

	proceedings (6)
	1:14
	3:1
	3:4
	67:21
	198:12
	198:13

	process (112)
	23:11
	24:25
	25:12
	25:13
	25:15
	25:17
	26:3
	26:4
	26:13
	26:15
	26:20
	26:21
	27:16
	27:19
	28:16
	29:8
	30:3
	30:23
	30:24
	32:11
	33:16
	33:20
	36:13
	39:16
	40:7
	43:2
	43:16
	43:20
	44:2
	44:19
	45:4
	45:7
	48:16
	48:20
	48:22
	48:25
	49:15
	50:2
	50:2
	56:9
	56:12
	57:9
	59:5
	60:3
	60:16
	63:15
	66:19
	69:4
	71:16
	74:24
	90:6
	90:7
	90:10
	92:5
	92:21
	93:1
	93:15
	93:17
	94:4
	96:6
	96:17
	96:18
	100:1
	104:13
	105:5
	105:23
	108:11
	109:21
	109:24
	111:3
	111:11
	114:23
	116:15
	116:15
	116:19
	118:3
	118:8
	118:13
	127:12
	144:19
	148:2
	148:13
	148:21
	149:8
	149:11
	149:13
	149:15
	150:2
	150:11
	152:6
	154:1
	168:11
	169:25
	174:21
	176:3
	181:23
	181:25
	182:21
	185:18
	186:17
	189:10
	194:6
	194:15
	194:25
	195:2
	195:3
	196:5
	196:11
	196:14
	196:15
	196:16
	196:21

	processes (1)
	152:8

	professional (4)
	1:19
	95:9
	198:9
	198:24

	progressively (1)
	28:20

	prohibitive (1)
	41:18

	project (19)
	1:9
	39:13
	75:13
	81:10
	81:13
	84:2
	84:19
	113:10
	113:11
	113:13
	113:19
	113:20
	113:23
	113:24
	115:8
	115:13
	119:4
	121:12
	189:6

	promise (1)
	176:4

	proof (2)
	5:5
	16:23

	propane (3)
	154:14
	154:16
	154:19

	properties (3)
	6:24
	71:7
	150:14

	property (133)
	12:3
	20:11
	20:20
	21:7
	21:14
	21:20
	22:2
	22:9
	23:4
	23:10
	24:19
	25:4
	25:6
	25:17
	28:22
	32:24
	33:10
	33:11
	33:15
	33:17
	33:18
	33:21
	33:23
	33:25
	34:1
	34:9
	34:11
	34:13
	34:19
	34:23
	34:24
	34:25
	35:1
	35:3
	35:4
	35:9
	35:14
	35:18
	36:9
	37:10
	38:12
	38:13
	38:15
	47:2
	49:1
	49:4
	49:10
	52:5
	56:24
	56:24
	58:13
	60:2
	60:17
	60:20
	61:4
	64:20
	65:8
	69:2
	69:18
	71:11
	71:23
	71:24
	75:4
	78:25
	79:13
	79:19
	79:20
	79:22
	79:24
	105:3
	105:7
	106:5
	122:5
	123:16
	128:19
	128:23
	129:12
	129:15
	131:18
	131:22
	132:1
	132:17
	133:2
	134:11
	135:6
	135:22
	135:23
	135:24
	137:9
	137:22
	138:20
	139:12
	139:18
	140:2
	140:7
	140:18
	143:6
	143:11
	143:12
	144:5
	146:3
	146:12
	146:23
	147:4
	148:24
	148:25
	149:21
	151:4
	151:15
	151:16
	151:17
	152:5
	152:18
	154:6
	156:1
	157:7
	157:16
	157:17
	161:2
	161:6
	161:11
	161:13
	162:6
	163:1
	163:3
	169:13
	170:13
	170:15
	175:11
	175:16
	176:12
	176:14
	194:25

	proposed (4)
	6:15
	55:9
	107:16
	107:18

	proposing (1)
	40:19

	protected (2)
	75:2
	75:3

	protection (1)
	45:11

	protective (1)
	45:10

	prove (5)
	47:24
	51:1
	74:8
	167:19
	168:25

	proved (3)
	190:4
	190:5
	190:6

	proven (1)
	165:10

	provide (8)
	24:10
	59:1
	60:24
	66:25
	67:3
	71:6
	85:19
	106:9

	provided (16)
	4:5
	4:14
	8:16
	10:8
	10:10
	15:8
	15:15
	26:8
	26:12
	26:14
	44:23
	65:18
	88:12
	106:8
	148:9
	154:15

	provides (1)
	180:21

	providing (2)
	66:13
	71:7

	provision (4)
	77:2
	188:9
	190:12
	190:12

	provisions (3)
	171:10
	171:11
	190:15

	PSP160400044 (1)
	1:9

	public (17)
	6:3
	8:6
	12:8
	13:13
	23:10
	33:16
	35:12
	38:2
	48:1
	48:1
	51:3
	73:24
	112:9
	144:19
	144:20
	168:10
	169:2

	publication (2)
	5:5
	5:7

	publicly (2)
	15:9
	15:16

	pull (8)
	27:7
	42:1
	42:5
	46:14
	54:12
	73:6
	86:7
	128:17

	pull-up (1)
	45:10

	pulled (1)
	89:11

	pulling (1)
	29:21

	punch (1)
	126:3

	puppy (1)
	130:8

	purchase (1)
	20:23

	purchased (5)
	128:19
	128:23
	132:16
	135:23
	148:23

	pure (1)
	134:25

	purpose (1)
	22:13

	purposes (2)
	103:5
	149:3

	pursuant (1)
	170:22

	purview (1)
	111:10

	put (36)
	30:2
	31:1
	49:25
	56:23
	58:13
	62:2
	77:21
	80:18
	81:8
	85:2
	87:8
	90:25
	97:20
	104:19
	108:3
	108:21
	109:13
	113:6
	114:5
	116:14
	120:3
	122:25
	129:8
	129:9
	129:10
	129:12
	129:21
	129:22
	131:13
	140:18
	155:8
	155:9
	155:23
	157:21
	172:18
	196:17

	puts (1)
	32:4

	putting (4)
	38:13
	55:22
	101:11
	125:10


	Q
	qualifications (1)
	4:8

	qualified (1)
	135:7

	qualify (1)
	134:23

	quasi-judicial (4)
	5:25
	5:25
	14:22
	73:24

	question (34)
	25:5
	30:5
	32:9
	51:16
	53:12
	59:8
	64:15
	65:25
	66:12
	67:16
	69:7
	87:6
	101:19
	103:7
	105:22
	121:21
	126:15
	127:4
	127:6
	138:3
	138:5
	149:18
	170:1
	171:23
	172:6
	173:5
	179:11
	180:8
	181:3
	183:22
	183:24
	191:3
	191:3
	196:1

	questions (37)
	4:8
	15:4
	51:14
	53:13
	64:13
	65:15
	67:15
	68:3
	68:11
	68:12
	84:14
	84:16
	128:4
	132:15
	134:14
	134:15
	134:17
	136:8
	138:1
	141:3
	141:4
	144:8
	147:7
	147:8
	148:2
	148:8
	148:12
	156:2
	158:3
	158:5
	162:9
	162:11
	162:14
	167:22
	168:1
	177:2
	177:4

	quickly (3)
	26:18
	54:10
	154:25

	quiet (1)
	161:7

	Quinn (3)
	40:8
	57:22
	57:25

	quite (9)
	33:4
	55:10
	71:18
	76:10
	149:17
	166:18
	183:7
	187:24
	191:23

	quorum (1)
	103:2

	quote (1)
	170:21

	quotes (2)
	107:18
	169:14

	quoting (1)
	55:5


	R
	R (1)
	4:1

	radius (2)
	13:5
	13:12

	rainfall (2)
	77:3
	77:6

	raise (1)
	46:5

	raised (6)
	5:2
	5:19
	23:7
	102:23
	195:19
	195:22

	raising (4)
	4:25
	5:17
	102:21
	195:18

	ran (1)
	108:10

	random (1)
	189:17

	ranged (1)
	151:17

	ratio (1)
	165:22

	re-ap (1)
	180:13

	reached (1)
	41:23

	read (6)
	28:5
	82:18
	106:21
	117:19
	130:12
	187:21

	readdress (1)
	192:17

	reading (1)
	5:11

	ready (1)
	157:16

	real (4)
	31:1
	50:9
	193:1
	194:17

	reality (1)
	75:13

	realized (3)
	32:13
	55:11
	160:25

	really (21)
	33:14
	35:6
	37:15
	42:13
	45:1
	52:14
	52:18
	89:5
	89:8
	89:9
	89:14
	94:23
	94:24
	104:11
	110:5
	111:22
	132:1
	132:13
	167:15
	184:1
	191:21

	realm (1)
	75:19

	Realtor (1)
	131:17

	reason (15)
	36:20
	60:25
	66:4
	68:20
	76:14
	97:9
	121:4
	133:11
	172:20
	174:13
	177:11
	188:3
	189:4
	192:24
	193:21

	reasonable (1)
	183:6

	reasons (9)
	44:8
	44:9
	61:24
	114:10
	143:8
	143:13
	143:17
	143:18
	153:23

	rebut (1)
	51:8

	rebuttal (1)
	147:18

	recalled (1)
	3:15

	receipt (1)
	17:7

	receive (1)
	8:4

	received (6)
	46:11
	67:4
	190:22
	190:23
	191:18
	191:25

	recognize (2)
	37:5
	155:24

	recognized (1)
	4:6

	recommendation (1)
	194:19

	recommended (1)
	120:16

	record (28)
	6:8
	6:13
	8:6
	9:23
	19:21
	59:19
	79:4
	82:24
	94:10
	96:25
	102:10
	103:9
	103:17
	103:18
	104:1
	104:5
	116:10
	117:11
	117:19
	119:23
	119:25
	120:4
	124:14
	173:9
	187:23
	187:23
	188:13
	198:13

	recreational (3)
	29:15
	29:18
	29:24

	rectangular (4)
	64:16
	132:17
	133:17
	133:22

	rectified (2)
	154:25
	155:4

	red (1)
	13:23

	reduced (1)
	78:6

	refer (2)
	36:2
	188:8

	reference (2)
	4:5
	135:22

	referenced (1)
	83:9

	references (1)
	87:2

	referred (1)
	13:19

	referring (5)
	22:16
	78:22
	107:2
	146:11
	150:19

	refers (1)
	73:17

	reflect (5)
	9:6
	78:3
	102:25
	104:6
	137:12

	reflected (1)
	137:17

	refrain (2)
	9:9
	135:5

	regard (4)
	40:16
	49:21
	145:6
	146:2

	regarding (9)
	4:8
	7:25
	8:12
	8:22
	9:3
	138:13
	176:7
	177:8
	191:4

	regardless (1)
	97:2

	regards (2)
	68:21
	154:22

	registered (1)
	136:19

	regret (1)
	148:16

	regrettably (2)
	119:15
	175:24

	regular (2)
	78:2
	90:14

	regulated (3)
	27:24
	106:25
	107:13

	rehash (1)
	192:18

	relating (2)
	6:19
	7:21

	relationship (1)
	68:18

	relative (2)
	198:14
	198:16

	relevant (1)
	6:17

	relief (1)
	7:8

	rely (1)
	53:21

	remain (2)
	4:5
	76:13

	remains (1)
	122:22

	remand (9)
	99:16
	126:19
	127:2
	179:15
	179:17
	180:3
	182:18
	182:18
	183:20

	remanded (1)
	100:9

	remanding (2)
	163:12
	179:21

	remarks (2)
	117:14
	192:15

	remember (2)
	55:13
	168:5

	remind (1)
	178:13

	removed (2)
	151:10
	151:24

	rendered (1)
	182:8

	rep (1)
	10:6

	replaced (1)
	21:25

	report (5)
	15:14
	17:5
	17:6
	58:20
	198:11

	reported (1)
	1:18

	reporter (6)
	1:19
	3:5
	19:25
	198:3
	198:10
	198:24

	represent (1)
	10:1

	representing (1)
	27:15

	request (14)
	8:19
	106:24
	107:9
	107:11
	107:21
	107:22
	107:23
	132:3
	147:17
	154:16
	166:3
	176:20
	180:1
	196:13

	request-to-speak (2)
	8:1
	8:5

	requested (6)
	1:8
	1:10
	57:11
	85:25
	86:6
	154:10

	requesting (7)
	69:4
	88:1
	88:2
	143:8
	153:6
	168:22
	168:22

	requests (3)
	5:24
	7:1
	176:18

	require (21)
	43:18
	56:10
	56:11
	56:14
	65:18
	65:24
	66:5
	69:25
	70:1
	80:11
	80:20
	81:5
	86:17
	88:13
	96:16
	99:19
	108:8
	110:10
	110:11
	114:3
	122:24

	required (35)
	41:13
	42:17
	42:17
	42:20
	43:9
	45:19
	46:23
	50:16
	54:15
	55:7
	56:6
	56:8
	57:4
	57:6
	66:22
	76:16
	82:6
	88:12
	106:25
	108:2
	110:5
	110:12
	115:6
	115:10
	124:2
	126:5
	149:8
	171:20
	172:4
	172:5
	172:7
	178:15
	183:16
	188:22
	191:1

	requirement (14)
	40:17
	40:18
	54:16
	57:24
	92:24
	101:14
	112:23
	114:4
	119:14
	120:7
	121:5
	137:20
	176:23
	182:3

	requirement's (1)
	98:24

	requirements (42)
	5:8
	42:22
	49:23
	57:25
	72:18
	73:3
	73:3
	73:9
	75:15
	75:16
	80:10
	80:24
	81:1
	81:3
	81:13
	86:22
	88:25
	93:14
	97:6
	98:6
	98:7
	98:21
	98:22
	99:5
	100:7
	112:8
	115:5
	115:16
	120:5
	121:5
	125:16
	137:23
	164:21
	168:20
	180:14
	181:6
	181:10
	183:4
	184:14
	191:12
	194:11
	194:12

	requires (8)
	62:1
	95:16
	96:17
	107:17
	118:13
	121:25
	122:8
	172:8

	requiring (5)
	56:11
	56:13
	58:5
	88:5
	99:18

	researched (1)
	53:25

	resembles (2)
	26:23
	26:23

	reserve (1)
	51:8

	reside (8)
	31:21
	31:22
	59:22
	60:2
	139:24
	141:14
	141:22
	141:23

	resided (1)
	141:24

	resident (1)
	32:5

	residential (17)
	20:14
	20:15
	31:8
	37:12
	44:17
	48:13
	76:4
	76:5
	80:12
	91:14
	96:12
	96:15
	121:20
	132:8
	140:21
	173:4
	173:25

	residents (5)
	28:14
	60:13
	60:21
	66:7
	129:20

	resolution (3)
	8:17
	166:20
	166:22

	resolve (2)
	61:13
	163:18

	resolved (3)
	61:14
	182:12
	188:7

	respect (3)
	49:20
	61:11
	155:22

	respectful (1)
	155:15

	respective (1)
	8:23

	respite (1)
	62:18

	respond (3)
	26:17
	59:8
	101:19

	responding (1)
	192:16

	response (17)
	4:10
	9:4
	144:9
	144:11
	147:10
	153:19
	158:4
	162:10
	162:12
	162:15
	167:23
	171:23
	177:3
	177:6
	191:2
	195:16
	197:15

	responsibilities (1)
	119:10

	responsibility (1)
	82:20

	rest (1)
	180:5

	restrooms (1)
	149:2

	resubmit (3)
	98:22
	100:16
	181:22

	resulted (4)
	39:23
	84:1
	163:10
	166:23

	results (1)
	75:17

	resumes (1)
	4:4

	retention (2)
	56:15
	57:6

	reverse (1)
	178:25

	reversing (1)
	179:19

	review (39)
	1:8
	7:23
	8:12
	39:3
	39:15
	54:13
	72:10
	73:14
	74:25
	75:14
	77:16
	82:2
	83:17
	84:2
	85:8
	85:14
	86:4
	87:23
	93:2
	96:11
	96:17
	96:22
	97:18
	99:8
	107:17
	114:3
	115:10
	120:9
	122:1
	122:18
	125:7
	126:4
	165:19
	169:20
	174:23
	178:4
	178:15
	187:18
	191:14

	reviewed (16)
	7:11
	54:11
	76:6
	85:10
	91:15
	115:17
	115:18
	115:18
	120:10
	120:13
	121:12
	121:24
	122:2
	123:2
	123:3
	123:5

	reviewer (3)
	87:1
	87:18
	186:22

	reviewers (1)
	85:16

	reviewing (5)
	7:7
	72:7
	121:13
	121:14
	121:18

	reviews (6)
	81:18
	88:9
	93:5
	100:13
	122:8
	123:21

	revoked (1)
	7:6

	Richard (4)
	3:11
	128:7
	128:11
	128:15

	rid (1)
	146:13

	rides (2)
	63:19
	66:13

	Rigby (54)
	2:10
	53:12
	54:3
	55:20
	56:13
	56:17
	56:19
	57:19
	58:8
	58:11
	61:18
	62:19
	63:3
	64:6
	64:10
	64:12
	90:3
	93:1
	104:11
	105:12
	106:2
	119:18
	120:25
	121:2
	121:8
	121:16
	121:19
	121:22
	121:23
	122:2
	122:13
	123:2
	123:7
	123:9
	123:11
	124:6
	125:4
	125:20
	126:16
	170:1
	177:16
	177:25
	184:6
	184:16
	184:22
	186:24
	187:3
	187:7
	187:11
	187:20
	188:6
	189:20
	192:14
	192:17

	Rigby's (2)
	101:19
	171:23

	right (75)
	5:1
	5:18
	10:7
	13:1
	15:17
	15:21
	16:7
	17:8
	17:14
	17:23
	18:6
	18:9
	32:17
	32:18
	34:12
	34:21
	35:1
	43:3
	47:8
	52:14
	54:3
	54:11
	57:1
	59:23
	62:19
	64:6
	64:13
	64:23
	70:4
	70:13
	78:19
	79:1
	79:2
	79:18
	85:3
	87:21
	88:24
	90:8
	102:22
	110:2
	113:1
	113:4
	119:6
	119:7
	123:5
	131:4
	131:11
	132:10
	133:19
	134:5
	136:9
	136:9
	136:17
	136:18
	137:2
	139:18
	140:6
	140:8
	143:24
	144:2
	151:4
	155:5
	158:18
	159:3
	160:8
	164:2
	166:15
	168:4
	178:12
	178:21
	187:3
	187:16
	187:19
	192:4
	195:18

	right-of-way (3)
	12:8
	42:3
	55:8

	right-of-ways (2)
	23:10
	38:1

	rightly (1)
	30:12

	rights (1)
	129:3

	ripe (1)
	157:15

	rise (1)
	169:6

	risk (1)
	7:4

	road (135)
	22:19
	22:20
	23:2
	33:4
	33:5
	34:8
	34:8
	34:14
	35:23
	36:1
	36:2
	36:5
	40:18
	40:19
	40:20
	41:13
	41:17
	41:17
	42:12
	42:13
	42:17
	42:25
	45:17
	45:20
	46:6
	46:22
	46:23
	46:24
	47:4
	47:4
	47:6
	47:6
	47:7
	47:7
	47:12
	47:13
	47:13
	50:16
	50:22
	51:18
	51:19
	52:7
	53:1
	53:3
	53:14
	53:16
	53:18
	53:19
	53:25
	54:7
	54:14
	54:15
	55:21
	55:22
	56:5
	56:10
	56:11
	56:13
	56:21
	57:1
	57:4
	57:10
	57:11
	57:17
	57:23
	58:6
	58:7
	58:11
	59:22
	64:18
	65:1
	68:21
	68:22
	68:25
	69:11
	69:24
	77:6
	84:21
	84:22
	85:3
	86:15
	87:9
	88:11
	88:12
	91:17
	91:18
	91:21
	92:14
	96:22
	97:21
	99:2
	99:22
	108:2
	108:8
	110:3
	110:5
	110:10
	112:2
	112:4
	114:5
	115:11
	124:1
	130:14
	134:2
	134:3
	141:14
	149:8
	152:2
	152:2
	171:21
	172:1
	172:4
	172:7
	172:12
	174:11
	174:14
	176:21
	185:3
	185:3
	185:5
	188:23
	189:2
	189:3
	189:5
	189:8
	189:9
	189:11
	189:15
	189:22
	189:24
	190:3
	190:25
	191:15
	193:6
	193:23

	road's (6)
	42:17
	45:19
	47:3
	50:19
	53:17
	172:19

	roads (4)
	53:25
	90:14
	104:19
	126:6

	roadway (4)
	80:5
	123:19
	165:20
	184:13

	Robert (1)
	102:7

	Robinson (10)
	2:8
	9:12
	68:10
	68:15
	69:6
	69:22
	70:3
	72:19
	102:8
	103:1

	rock (1)
	54:2

	roll (1)
	193:12

	Romana (1)
	2:18

	room (3)
	1:18
	6:9
	90:1

	rooms (1)
	24:14

	Rosa (3)
	40:13
	56:20
	57:3

	round (2)
	185:14
	185:17

	rounded (1)
	185:11

	rousted (1)
	38:21

	rousting (1)
	25:3

	routine (1)
	23:2

	row (1)
	53:3

	rows (1)
	53:2

	rubble (1)
	151:19

	rudimentary (1)
	91:8

	rule (5)
	82:7
	82:8
	153:22
	154:3
	180:23

	ruled (1)
	28:1

	rules (5)
	60:22
	60:23
	72:23
	75:12
	79:10

	ruling (4)
	98:11
	98:14
	101:1
	101:15

	run (8)
	10:19
	23:8
	23:9
	24:20
	32:19
	37:25
	38:19
	43:23

	running (3)
	19:4
	69:11
	135:17

	runoff (8)
	56:25
	77:1
	77:14
	77:14
	77:19
	87:7
	87:11
	193:8

	runs (2)
	22:2
	132:25

	RV (6)
	27:3
	27:4
	27:7
	37:10
	152:24
	153:15


	S
	S (2)
	4:1
	186:10

	safe (1)
	105:8

	safety (13)
	40:9
	57:23
	57:25
	58:3
	78:7
	99:8
	142:15
	143:8
	143:17
	157:12
	157:12
	157:13
	157:25

	sake (1)
	118:16

	Sam's (1)
	132:9

	Sand (1)
	146:9

	sanitary (3)
	28:13
	28:24
	29:8

	Saturday (1)
	11:17

	saw (6)
	32:10
	51:18
	95:19
	119:19
	130:11
	161:20

	saying (29)
	66:18
	74:11
	75:21
	75:23
	76:21
	77:20
	79:5
	79:17
	85:1
	90:23
	91:18
	94:9
	106:22
	109:14
	110:16
	110:17
	115:20
	118:6
	120:3
	124:11
	126:13
	130:1
	152:15
	163:24
	164:14
	166:8
	186:22
	187:1
	194:10

	says (34)
	47:6
	49:4
	55:6
	55:11
	57:16
	66:24
	67:8
	73:22
	79:13
	80:14
	80:23
	85:18
	104:21
	104:22
	104:24
	106:23
	107:1
	117:20
	118:6
	121:3
	126:8
	128:18
	131:21
	164:18
	167:17
	170:19
	171:4
	171:11
	171:25
	172:13
	178:7
	185:5
	188:1
	188:20

	scanned (1)
	18:2

	scenic (1)
	37:23

	schedule (3)
	80:16
	81:6
	86:13

	school (2)
	23:15
	23:16

	school-age (1)
	23:17

	Sciences (1)
	45:9

	screen (4)
	18:23
	113:6
	150:3
	150:5

	scroll (4)
	74:14
	165:1
	165:12
	178:20

	scrolling (1)
	114:11

	se (1)
	177:17

	Sean's (49)
	1:9
	1:11
	2:16
	10:1
	20:17
	20:20
	24:11
	24:17
	24:22
	25:20
	25:24
	26:4
	27:14
	28:14
	29:6
	29:11
	29:22
	30:18
	32:23
	33:5
	33:17
	33:25
	37:20
	37:21
	38:15
	38:16
	48:21
	68:19
	78:20
	78:25
	79:13
	114:16
	117:21
	137:1
	138:20
	139:9
	141:24
	141:25
	142:8
	142:17
	142:19
	145:10
	147:3
	148:23
	151:6
	154:22
	169:17
	176:18
	196:21

	search (1)
	180:10

	seated (1)
	19:17

	second (17)
	4:22
	4:23
	5:15
	5:16
	85:23
	102:19
	102:20
	106:23
	113:13
	135:13
	164:14
	183:20
	194:22
	195:3
	195:4
	195:7
	195:7

	section (4)
	73:7
	73:16
	89:1
	171:19

	sections (1)
	87:3

	Security (4)
	62:8
	62:12
	63:11
	66:13

	see (62)
	11:14
	12:11
	12:19
	17:19
	21:8
	21:18
	22:1
	22:7
	22:15
	22:17
	22:19
	24:6
	29:2
	32:14
	32:15
	33:3
	33:24
	34:4
	35:22
	52:21
	54:11
	63:6
	65:12
	69:10
	70:19
	76:9
	76:12
	94:16
	95:21
	98:25
	99:22
	116:1
	121:3
	124:6
	126:13
	128:17
	129:17
	129:19
	131:25
	132:1
	132:18
	136:25
	145:16
	146:5
	146:16
	146:23
	146:24
	153:21
	155:6
	158:21
	159:7
	159:15
	159:25
	163:18
	166:3
	171:25
	172:15
	176:1
	180:5
	180:6
	184:21
	192:3

	seeing (7)
	4:11
	9:5
	150:3
	150:5
	183:21
	184:6
	184:19

	seeking (2)
	71:3
	82:9

	seen (9)
	20:25
	21:13
	44:24
	146:3
	146:4
	146:14
	146:15
	157:1
	174:5

	segments (1)
	60:10

	self-regulate (1)
	60:12

	sell (1)
	157:16

	semi-impervious (2)
	99:4
	165:22

	send (1)
	187:15

	sense (1)
	71:2

	sent (3)
	13:12
	93:23
	107:3

	separate (3)
	77:16
	95:9
	119:16

	separates (1)
	34:8

	September (4)
	13:22
	18:8
	103:23
	187:18

	series (3)
	21:2
	149:4
	151:18

	serves (1)
	92:22

	service (4)
	4:13
	29:7
	40:21
	41:3

	serviced (1)
	29:6

	services (7)
	2:13
	2:15
	40:23
	52:24
	65:18
	66:12
	70:14

	serving (1)
	163:5

	set (10)
	7:5
	32:1
	60:17
	62:2
	72:23
	75:12
	79:10
	131:10
	181:11
	193:16

	setting (1)
	157:14

	settled (1)
	38:6

	seven (3)
	9:7
	110:23
	113:11

	seven-page (1)
	102:12

	seven-year-old (1)
	130:4

	seventh (1)
	9:7

	sewer (1)
	132:25

	shade (1)
	72:17

	shades (2)
	109:10
	174:19

	shape (2)
	21:15
	134:9

	share (2)
	153:21
	155:23

	sharing (1)
	155:13

	sheet (2)
	86:13
	186:22

	shell (1)
	76:25

	shelter (9)
	24:4
	24:9
	24:10
	25:18
	37:19
	48:19
	108:5
	110:20
	114:14

	shelters (4)
	24:15
	25:11
	25:19
	174:1

	sheriff (1)
	35:19

	sheriff's (3)
	24:13
	26:15
	42:6

	sheriffs (1)
	25:2

	shift (1)
	190:17

	shifts (3)
	50:25
	114:18
	168:24

	shine (1)
	159:2

	shoes (1)
	168:13

	show (12)
	15:19
	31:18
	33:24
	85:19
	91:22
	108:25
	112:2
	135:11
	136:16
	157:17
	162:2
	168:19

	shower (1)
	149:2

	showing (8)
	13:5
	13:10
	13:18
	22:5
	81:3
	98:8
	103:11
	169:8

	shown (13)
	71:18
	79:3
	80:5
	80:7
	80:13
	80:22
	82:6
	86:19
	120:9
	135:16
	135:21
	137:19
	137:23

	shows (6)
	19:9
	80:25
	81:1
	94:10
	111:4
	170:4

	sic (3)
	28:10
	124:25
	151:9

	sick (2)
	159:19
	159:23

	side (23)
	22:8
	22:14
	32:2
	35:11
	53:5
	71:17
	72:2
	72:5
	72:6
	77:7
	81:2
	89:18
	95:10
	100:21
	100:22
	100:23
	135:15
	143:11
	159:4
	159:21
	160:8
	160:8
	160:14

	sides (4)
	70:23
	71:1
	89:15
	166:15

	sidewalk (1)
	55:12

	sign (10)
	12:1
	12:2
	12:12
	12:19
	13:13
	13:15
	13:18
	77:23
	79:25
	156:6

	sign-off (1)
	187:6

	signage (3)
	40:10
	58:1
	76:16

	signature (2)
	116:2
	156:9

	signed (11)
	101:22
	101:24
	102:6
	106:10
	116:8
	116:11
	116:11
	116:16
	117:2
	117:4
	186:21

	signify (4)
	4:25
	5:17
	102:21
	195:18

	signing (3)
	83:10
	110:20
	186:22

	signs (3)
	34:17
	115:14
	156:11

	similarly (1)
	37:9

	simple (4)
	55:23
	74:24
	163:24
	193:1

	simply (16)
	12:6
	20:13
	31:7
	38:9
	38:10
	38:15
	44:13
	45:25
	65:1
	105:16
	106:4
	124:5
	149:15
	150:10
	172:23
	194:2

	single (2)
	86:18
	135:17

	sir (56)
	5:6
	10:7
	11:18
	11:18
	11:21
	12:5
	12:10
	12:15
	12:18
	12:20
	12:25
	13:1
	14:6
	14:14
	15:5
	17:3
	17:10
	18:5
	51:13
	51:20
	51:23
	51:23
	52:3
	52:6
	52:9
	52:9
	52:11
	52:11
	52:12
	66:17
	67:5
	67:13
	70:6
	84:17
	128:8
	137:25
	139:16
	141:6
	148:22
	149:9
	150:8
	150:12
	150:20
	150:25
	151:5
	151:13
	154:18
	155:1
	155:11
	156:3
	156:7
	156:13
	158:8
	167:21
	168:5
	177:1

	site (77)
	6:21
	9:17
	9:19
	11:11
	11:19
	11:23
	13:5
	13:7
	13:8
	13:10
	13:16
	13:20
	17:18
	18:4
	18:24
	19:10
	27:4
	37:17
	37:23
	39:7
	39:8
	39:16
	44:23
	44:23
	45:4
	46:19
	47:8
	49:25
	50:3
	64:7
	76:14
	76:19
	78:2
	78:18
	81:9
	85:4
	85:9
	85:11
	86:19
	90:12
	96:17
	97:18
	97:18
	97:25
	108:18
	108:19
	108:22
	115:17
	121:14
	121:19
	121:22
	122:1
	122:3
	122:14
	122:19
	123:6
	123:24
	125:2
	125:7
	133:10
	133:12
	133:14
	135:14
	135:14
	135:16
	135:21
	137:6
	137:8
	142:19
	151:21
	152:9
	166:2
	166:21
	187:18
	191:13
	193:1
	193:10

	sites (4)
	27:3
	27:8
	122:8
	150:6

	Sitocia (2)
	23:4
	59:5

	sitting (3)
	26:5
	130:7
	142:11

	situated (1)
	37:9

	situation (7)
	38:7
	46:5
	49:5
	61:15
	62:5
	122:11
	155:2

	situations (2)
	24:15
	75:7

	six (7)
	9:15
	32:12
	101:5
	101:12
	102:3
	139:21
	153:10

	sketch (1)
	45:1

	sketches (1)
	81:2

	ski (1)
	151:18

	slide (1)
	74:7

	slides (1)
	15:11

	slow (1)
	19:5

	slowly (1)
	150:2

	small (2)
	25:20
	192:22

	smaller (1)
	21:12

	smell (2)
	145:15
	157:15

	SMITH (1)
	2:3

	smoke (7)
	129:6
	142:12
	144:5
	145:15
	145:16
	146:5
	146:15

	smoking (1)
	157:14

	Social (4)
	62:8
	62:11
	63:11
	66:13

	somebody (5)
	100:17
	132:6
	157:17
	167:11
	170:12

	someone's (4)
	63:11
	79:22
	101:8
	125:13

	someplace (1)
	146:7

	son (2)
	130:4
	140:12

	son-in-law's (5)
	128:21
	133:4
	133:8
	133:24
	140:2

	soon (1)
	132:2

	sorry (10)
	15:23
	67:17
	85:7
	100:20
	156:5
	166:9
	177:19
	194:4
	196:12
	196:15

	sort (11)
	72:11
	83:20
	83:21
	83:25
	89:2
	118:25
	126:6
	126:7
	137:20
	165:21
	184:4

	sound (1)
	86:10

	sounds (2)
	91:9
	137:21

	source (1)
	149:22

	sources (1)
	9:17

	south (6)
	35:6
	55:8
	91:1
	132:21
	132:23
	135:18

	speak (7)
	8:4
	100:8
	135:20
	141:10
	147:15
	156:5
	156:12

	speaker (3)
	128:6
	132:15
	141:5

	speakers (1)
	127:5

	speaks (1)
	119:14

	special (41)
	1:3
	25:12
	25:13
	76:15
	77:8
	93:16
	93:19
	94:2
	94:6
	94:22
	96:10
	97:14
	97:15
	98:10
	100:23
	101:21
	101:24
	102:7
	103:24
	109:17
	113:13
	113:22
	113:23
	115:8
	115:13
	115:23
	115:23
	117:12
	117:16
	118:10
	118:24
	118:25
	119:4
	139:5
	169:14
	172:15
	181:11
	181:14
	182:3
	182:20
	187:14

	specialist (1)
	178:4

	specific (9)
	73:9
	80:17
	80:20
	171:11
	179:24
	183:15
	183:15
	188:9
	190:12

	specifically (2)
	146:11
	177:13

	specification (2)
	83:8
	89:2

	specifications (2)
	83:14
	178:14

	specificity (1)
	53:17

	specifics (2)
	179:24
	186:12

	speculation (1)
	134:25

	spend (1)
	25:24

	spent (2)
	29:17
	168:9

	spike (1)
	32:15

	Spitznagle (2)
	94:10
	94:15

	spoke (2)
	93:13
	138:25

	sporadically (1)
	61:20

	spot (1)
	60:16

	spreads (1)
	145:19

	square (11)
	21:16
	32:20
	64:22
	64:24
	185:8
	185:9
	185:11
	185:13
	185:14
	185:17
	185:18

	stable (1)
	28:25

	staff (102)
	2:12
	4:2
	4:4
	4:6
	4:13
	11:7
	12:12
	14:5
	15:14
	18:3
	20:8
	37:2
	37:4
	39:17
	39:21
	39:22
	39:24
	40:8
	44:10
	45:21
	47:23
	49:8
	49:16
	51:7
	53:20
	54:11
	54:12
	54:20
	54:21
	55:19
	56:9
	59:6
	67:1
	67:16
	68:3
	72:10
	72:17
	74:10
	75:18
	75:21
	77:7
	81:11
	84:8
	89:25
	91:2
	93:20
	94:11
	94:25
	95:7
	96:21
	103:4
	103:10
	104:22
	104:24
	105:18
	109:6
	110:1
	110:17
	112:11
	115:17
	115:18
	116:14
	116:21
	118:5
	119:3
	120:10
	120:13
	126:19
	127:1
	127:10
	127:15
	128:4
	134:15
	136:11
	144:10
	147:13
	158:5
	162:11
	162:20
	167:12
	167:14
	167:22
	167:25
	168:25
	169:8
	170:3
	171:5
	172:7
	172:13
	174:5
	174:18
	175:3
	177:4
	180:15
	181:2
	181:19
	183:16
	188:14
	189:24
	190:4
	194:10
	194:16

	staff's (24)
	10:8
	10:11
	14:17
	15:2
	68:6
	70:4
	74:9
	84:12
	167:2
	170:3
	174:9
	177:10
	177:12
	177:14
	177:17
	180:11
	180:18
	189:17
	194:19
	194:21
	195:24
	196:6
	196:24
	196:25

	stage (5)
	94:18
	94:19
	98:9
	186:18
	187:6

	stages (1)
	92:25

	stand (6)
	84:6
	99:19
	115:4
	132:4
	173:12
	197:19

	standard (23)
	42:16
	47:16
	47:21
	51:11
	54:5
	54:18
	55:17
	83:8
	90:20
	100:12
	113:10
	113:11
	113:19
	113:21
	123:13
	138:10
	143:7
	165:14
	165:16
	171:19
	186:10
	188:22
	190:18

	standards (16)
	54:7
	70:18
	75:5
	89:7
	123:11
	123:12
	124:2
	168:16
	168:17
	168:18
	178:16
	184:10
	184:10
	186:3
	186:9
	188:8

	standing (2)
	21:11
	132:10

	standpoint (1)
	139:12

	stands (1)
	99:19

	start (10)
	15:7
	20:19
	60:20
	61:9
	78:1
	80:1
	80:2
	99:1
	99:2
	182:5

	started (22)
	23:7
	24:25
	27:9
	27:15
	28:19
	28:23
	36:4
	36:4
	36:19
	36:20
	37:1
	56:8
	56:11
	122:13
	130:5
	131:13
	149:10
	149:21
	149:24
	150:2
	153:6
	181:22

	starting (1)
	35:24

	starts (1)
	182:7

	state (22)
	7:10
	26:25
	27:1
	27:18
	27:21
	27:25
	29:23
	59:19
	66:20
	67:7
	71:8
	74:5
	92:25
	141:12
	150:21
	152:7
	156:14
	158:9
	165:8
	171:17
	177:9
	198:6

	stated (28)
	39:15
	41:3
	56:21
	92:20
	94:3
	94:14
	95:4
	95:7
	96:14
	96:25
	97:4
	114:25
	115:13
	116:16
	117:16
	117:17
	124:12
	141:22
	153:14
	170:9
	174:25
	175:25
	181:6
	185:2
	191:5
	191:10
	192:11
	196:10

	statement (3)
	14:13
	51:5
	147:14

	statements (2)
	102:3
	162:19

	states (2)
	29:10
	131:7

	static (1)
	25:22

	stating (5)
	9:22
	117:5
	187:14
	187:17
	192:17

	station (5)
	21:21
	21:24
	29:4
	29:4
	52:22

	status (5)
	25:6
	25:9
	25:9
	49:9
	97:10

	stay (12)
	24:21
	25:1
	29:22
	49:3
	61:21
	66:7
	66:8
	105:7
	153:24
	154:12
	160:19
	161:5

	stayed (3)
	62:16
	62:21
	146:19

	stenographically (1)
	198:11

	step (9)
	59:13
	92:9
	92:9
	95:24
	111:13
	128:7
	157:8
	181:1
	187:8

	Stephanel (1)
	40:13

	stick (1)
	53:14

	sticks (1)
	21:19

	stop (3)
	34:21
	143:21
	193:21

	stopped (1)
	161:2

	store (2)
	166:25
	167:2

	storm (1)
	31:24

	stormwater (34)
	40:14
	40:17
	56:25
	57:2
	57:6
	57:7
	77:2
	77:15
	77:19
	77:22
	78:15
	81:22
	83:17
	85:13
	87:7
	87:11
	88:10
	90:15
	90:25
	95:17
	96:23
	99:6
	99:21
	114:3
	115:11
	120:9
	121:5
	165:23
	165:24
	172:2
	172:3
	172:17
	191:14
	193:8

	straight (3)
	73:23
	146:16
	180:9

	strange (1)
	142:16

	street (7)
	2:18
	13:15
	23:13
	24:1
	29:21
	35:13
	128:16

	streets (1)
	62:15

	strictly (1)
	134:22

	strip (13)
	32:15
	32:15
	32:19
	35:18
	64:22
	64:25
	65:1
	65:9
	65:10
	69:15
	69:18
	69:21
	150:22

	striping (1)
	56:17

	Stromquist (24)
	2:9
	4:19
	5:13
	51:16
	51:21
	51:25
	52:4
	52:7
	52:10
	84:15
	84:18
	85:1
	87:6
	87:15
	87:21
	88:15
	88:24
	97:19
	100:15
	100:20
	101:4
	101:10
	102:15
	191:11

	strong (1)
	72:1

	struck (1)
	127:25

	structural (1)
	38:14

	structure (4)
	23:22
	24:8
	140:22
	185:13

	structures (6)
	20:15
	25:7
	27:6
	130:24
	130:25
	185:21

	stuck (1)
	127:25

	study (1)
	97:6

	stuff (5)
	35:25
	90:16
	140:13
	157:18
	193:11

	subdivision (7)
	90:14
	90:14
	90:22
	104:14
	170:6
	170:7
	175:21

	subdivisions (1)
	186:15

	subject (2)
	6:5
	180:18

	submission (3)
	75:25
	84:20
	107:12

	submissions (1)
	103:22

	submit (19)
	8:1
	28:3
	39:7
	90:12
	90:21
	94:1
	101:23
	102:5
	102:6
	103:9
	103:11
	103:24
	105:25
	106:7
	108:19
	109:19
	120:13
	187:10
	192:4

	submittal (7)
	80:9
	85:21
	86:1
	86:8
	90:17
	90:18
	169:20

	submittals (1)
	85:5

	submitted (41)
	13:22
	17:18
	18:3
	27:17
	38:24
	39:11
	39:17
	40:1
	41:1
	41:7
	43:16
	44:22
	45:13
	50:4
	50:10
	57:16
	59:6
	75:20
	76:1
	77:17
	83:25
	84:4
	84:9
	85:23
	90:13
	91:11
	93:25
	94:8
	94:12
	94:13
	94:14
	94:17
	95:18
	96:1
	104:3
	110:25
	115:7
	137:17
	166:21
	172:9
	181:13

	subsequent (1)
	107:21

	substance (1)
	106:16

	substantial (4)
	74:2
	134:19
	168:19
	176:13

	succinctly (1)
	104:13

	sudden (1)
	97:25

	suggest (2)
	179:23
	183:5

	summary (4)
	48:3
	58:15
	58:22
	167:25

	summer (2)
	41:22
	106:10

	sums (2)
	61:16
	61:16

	supplement (1)
	103:8

	support (2)
	129:3
	175:3

	supported (3)
	82:24
	130:15
	134:19

	suppose (1)
	162:6

	supposed (2)
	107:6
	156:10

	Supreme (3)
	47:21
	168:17
	169:4

	sure (35)
	10:24
	12:22
	12:25
	16:3
	16:13
	26:10
	28:22
	68:9
	78:8
	79:5
	86:10
	89:23
	94:21
	98:11
	98:18
	99:8
	101:11
	113:7
	117:4
	117:9
	119:10
	126:23
	136:15
	136:15
	137:15
	138:4
	145:20
	149:17
	163:7
	163:15
	164:3
	171:13
	180:14
	193:2
	197:4

	surface (28)
	55:7
	56:24
	76:20
	76:21
	76:22
	76:23
	77:5
	77:12
	77:13
	78:5
	78:9
	78:15
	79:15
	80:2
	81:21
	87:19
	88:7
	88:8
	91:23
	92:15
	92:24
	95:2
	99:4
	99:9
	99:10
	165:22
	166:4
	193:7

	surfaces (1)
	40:15

	surprised (1)
	23:14

	surrounding (1)
	154:8

	survey (4)
	92:1
	92:4
	108:24
	108:24

	surveys (1)
	45:8

	swamp (1)
	21:10

	swear (2)
	59:10
	70:7

	switch (1)
	135:8

	switched (1)
	91:10

	sworn (17)
	4:2
	9:23
	10:3
	11:3
	11:4
	11:7
	59:8
	59:13
	59:16
	128:9
	128:12
	141:12
	141:18
	147:24
	156:15
	156:20
	158:14

	synopsize (1)
	59:24


	T
	table (2)
	8:3
	19:18

	tacks (1)
	34:4

	tailor (1)
	16:2

	take (8)
	14:14
	129:12
	129:13
	130:3
	136:17
	161:23
	162:2
	194:17

	taken (7)
	6:3
	48:16
	73:16
	73:17
	77:1
	154:22
	194:18

	takes (4)
	50:21
	61:25
	65:11
	94:20

	talk (8)
	23:24
	24:7
	63:5
	63:13
	87:7
	163:19
	164:7
	165:20

	talked (8)
	40:13
	126:6
	126:7
	144:22
	176:11
	184:12
	184:13
	186:14

	talking (16)
	22:17
	24:1
	24:8
	27:14
	29:17
	32:17
	89:14
	95:12
	130:8
	130:17
	135:16
	146:10
	156:25
	167:11
	170:6
	170:7

	tape (1)
	119:24

	tarp (2)
	24:8
	32:4

	tarps (1)
	25:19

	task (1)
	126:20

	taxes (2)
	140:19
	140:20

	technical (10)
	77:16
	81:18
	83:7
	83:14
	89:2
	112:22
	165:16
	165:18
	178:13
	178:16

	tedious (2)
	90:6
	92:10

	tell (20)
	31:11
	42:22
	48:18
	52:13
	53:7
	53:22
	61:19
	63:13
	72:15
	79:7
	85:6
	109:4
	109:22
	110:23
	113:17
	113:24
	124:8
	124:9
	125:24
	131:17

	telling (6)
	13:14
	62:24
	84:19
	88:15
	89:1
	130:11

	temporarily (1)
	130:20

	temporary (10)
	20:15
	24:10
	25:7
	25:11
	25:19
	27:6
	62:18
	130:23
	140:22
	173:25

	tend (1)
	60:10

	Tennessee (1)
	143:1

	tension (1)
	170:4

	tent (6)
	24:8
	27:8
	32:5
	150:6
	150:10
	175:9

	tents (11)
	25:19
	27:7
	108:25
	109:2
	114:16
	132:1
	157:5
	158:18
	158:19
	158:23
	162:3

	termination (1)
	61:3

	terms (1)
	127:9

	testified (17)
	40:9
	40:13
	41:5
	41:10
	57:3
	57:22
	58:6
	59:17
	70:11
	128:13
	136:7
	141:19
	147:25
	155:8
	156:21
	158:15
	171:5

	testify (3)
	46:18
	153:18
	171:22

	testifying (1)
	6:4

	testimony (22)
	4:9
	6:3
	6:10
	6:14
	6:17
	58:4
	67:23
	134:20
	134:21
	134:24
	138:11
	138:12
	155:8
	162:23
	162:24
	162:25
	169:5
	172:3
	172:8
	188:24
	189:1
	191:23

	thank (37)
	12:20
	12:23
	20:6
	37:4
	51:13
	59:23
	64:13
	67:5
	67:11
	68:2
	70:6
	104:4
	134:12
	137:4
	137:24
	137:25
	141:6
	141:7
	144:7
	147:11
	147:12
	156:3
	156:4
	158:1
	158:8
	162:7
	162:8
	162:16
	162:21
	167:20
	167:21
	168:7
	176:24
	177:1
	180:7
	182:23
	183:23

	them's (1)
	157:20

	therefor (1)
	178:17

	they'd (1)
	153:3

	thick (1)
	159:5

	thin (2)
	89:11
	159:5

	thing (23)
	11:5
	16:16
	21:18
	29:17
	31:16
	37:11
	41:9
	44:7
	50:10
	70:16
	75:12
	99:1
	105:9
	109:19
	113:8
	120:2
	121:11
	125:19
	127:21
	132:5
	143:2
	176:8
	187:1

	things (35)
	21:23
	24:10
	29:3
	56:14
	78:16
	80:3
	80:7
	80:20
	81:8
	81:18
	85:25
	86:9
	86:15
	86:19
	87:3
	89:19
	98:15
	116:14
	124:2
	137:19
	143:12
	152:21
	152:22
	152:25
	161:22
	165:14
	166:6
	184:17
	186:20
	188:6
	192:1
	192:11
	192:13
	192:22
	192:23

	think (48)
	18:21
	19:11
	45:14
	45:16
	53:10
	53:21
	54:9
	54:19
	57:11
	89:3
	90:8
	91:25
	92:25
	94:9
	95:4
	96:1
	96:2
	96:8
	96:25
	97:4
	101:7
	102:2
	103:13
	143:24
	144:2
	145:9
	165:15
	170:1
	170:3
	170:8
	172:19
	181:3
	185:6
	186:5
	190:3
	190:4
	190:5
	190:6
	190:16
	191:4
	191:4
	191:10
	191:22
	191:22
	193:14
	196:23
	197:1
	197:9

	thinner (1)
	159:14

	third (3)
	72:6
	86:1
	190:11

	thought (5)
	41:22
	138:2
	150:1
	177:16
	189:25

	three (29)
	20:18
	24:24
	29:2
	52:21
	71:1
	102:2
	104:12
	111:2
	113:18
	113:22
	113:22
	113:23
	113:25
	114:1
	130:13
	130:18
	131:25
	141:14
	141:23
	142:1
	142:8
	142:18
	145:19
	158:24
	160:16
	160:22
	166:15
	195:19
	195:22

	three-page (1)
	113:2

	three-three (1)
	196:4

	tie (1)
	195:23

	tied (3)
	13:15
	127:7
	130:25

	time (48)
	8:11
	12:11
	14:2
	25:24
	28:21
	32:6
	43:6
	45:22
	45:23
	46:7
	46:9
	48:17
	51:9
	51:15
	62:1
	62:2
	72:15
	72:24
	75:5
	79:11
	88:19
	93:24
	98:12
	100:15
	101:4
	106:11
	106:14
	120:16
	132:2
	132:7
	140:14
	144:18
	152:15
	153:6
	156:12
	156:24
	157:11
	162:19
	164:17
	164:18
	168:9
	172:16
	173:16
	175:9
	181:23
	182:11
	183:12
	189:12

	time-consuming (1)
	92:10

	timeline (2)
	183:6
	183:7

	times (5)
	80:9
	94:22
	95:12
	138:22
	168:11

	tiny (2)
	149:4
	149:6

	today (30)
	8:8
	8:13
	8:25
	9:7
	11:14
	11:14
	45:16
	70:15
	89:14
	91:11
	97:14
	120:21
	124:15
	125:11
	125:14
	125:21
	127:15
	143:15
	150:3
	163:2
	163:3
	164:7
	164:8
	164:22
	164:23
	169:19
	172:9
	183:22
	183:24
	190:6

	today's (1)
	12:13

	toilets (1)
	55:9

	told (6)
	54:9
	95:11
	112:12
	112:13
	134:7
	171:5

	tolerate (1)
	61:1

	tonight (1)
	190:6

	tonight's (1)
	12:13

	Tony (1)
	133:23

	toolshed (1)
	161:20

	top (3)
	32:16
	131:25
	135:19

	totality (1)
	180:6

	touch (1)
	26:17

	tough (1)
	126:17

	track (1)
	53:4

	tracks (1)
	53:3

	traffic (4)
	17:5
	17:6
	129:24
	129:25

	trail (2)
	36:3
	53:2

	trailer (5)
	152:24
	159:12
	159:12
	159:13
	173:23

	trailers (6)
	22:11
	27:7
	140:13
	140:24
	173:23
	173:24

	trails (1)
	152:1

	transaction (1)
	66:10

	transcript (1)
	198:12

	transecting (1)
	22:1

	transgress (1)
	11:25

	tread (1)
	53:5

	treating (1)
	137:6

	tree (8)
	45:10
	80:19
	81:4
	142:4
	160:6
	160:7
	160:15
	160:18

	trees (17)
	50:8
	53:10
	106:16
	130:25
	140:13
	142:2
	142:3
	146:3
	146:4
	146:11
	146:14
	150:13
	151:1
	154:5
	157:1
	157:1
	176:11

	trespassed (2)
	23:9
	38:20

	trial (1)
	60:18

	triangle (1)
	35:18

	tried (1)
	133:13

	trigger (6)
	96:23
	100:13
	120:8
	182:3
	191:15
	192:23

	triggered (2)
	192:12
	192:12

	triggering (1)
	99:7

	Trillium (1)
	37:23

	trip (1)
	184:14

	truck (9)
	40:21
	40:22
	40:22
	52:19
	52:23
	57:14
	57:15
	99:12
	130:15

	trucks (8)
	42:4
	42:5
	42:8
	87:19
	142:22
	142:22
	143:19
	143:19

	true (2)
	197:12
	198:13

	truly (2)
	107:16
	165:15

	trump (1)
	127:13

	trust (1)
	116:21

	try (16)
	27:16
	38:5
	43:14
	50:7
	61:13
	63:21
	63:24
	71:1
	94:1
	94:7
	94:21
	95:20
	95:22
	96:7
	96:20
	121:10

	trying (19)
	27:23
	38:6
	39:21
	53:24
	71:5
	93:10
	93:10
	93:11
	96:18
	97:15
	97:16
	105:16
	107:5
	107:25
	108:1
	111:20
	127:14
	155:15
	180:9

	turn (7)
	53:2
	53:3
	54:10
	65:2
	86:4
	98:8
	159:1

	turned (1)
	8:8

	turning (1)
	48:24

	turns (4)
	85:9
	98:19
	111:12
	189:13

	twice (1)
	138:25

	two (27)
	11:2
	44:8
	46:3
	53:3
	53:5
	53:13
	70:23
	81:2
	89:15
	98:2
	98:5
	113:25
	129:7
	130:5
	130:7
	130:20
	130:21
	131:19
	135:25
	140:12
	140:24
	153:23
	154:2
	158:24
	170:18
	173:23
	194:10

	two-page (1)
	39:12

	type (6)
	80:18
	80:19
	154:23
	175:14
	175:14
	176:7


	U
	ultimate (2)
	30:5
	30:9

	ultimately (4)
	28:1
	28:25
	29:19
	38:8

	unable (1)
	152:17

	unanimously (3)
	5:4
	5:21
	102:24

	unannounced (1)
	152:14

	uncertainty (2)
	82:3
	82:5

	uncles (1)
	23:23

	uncomfortable (1)
	174:7

	underserved (1)
	71:4

	underserviced (1)
	60:11

	understand (22)
	15:12
	16:1
	48:14
	48:14
	48:15
	49:7
	58:12
	89:16
	104:18
	110:18
	112:18
	112:19
	114:20
	121:11
	123:20
	124:10
	124:11
	124:11
	126:11
	149:17
	155:21
	186:16

	understanding (5)
	90:9
	99:10
	119:9
	183:3
	194:12

	understood (7)
	19:6
	30:24
	55:15
	138:7
	149:7
	197:2
	197:7

	underwater (2)
	21:9
	36:10

	undisturbed (1)
	76:14

	undue (4)
	68:24
	72:21
	129:24
	129:25

	unique (2)
	70:16
	73:20

	United (1)
	131:7

	unpermitted (3)
	36:24
	36:24
	150:17

	unpopular (1)
	175:22

	unusual (2)
	70:21
	70:25

	upheld (1)
	25:16

	uphill (1)
	21:23

	upland (2)
	21:12
	33:10

	uplands (1)
	31:21

	upper (1)
	136:4

	urban (2)
	13:7
	112:6

	use (105)
	5:24
	8:19
	13:7
	20:10
	20:13
	25:17
	30:7
	31:8
	32:7
	33:2
	33:6
	35:17
	36:24
	36:25
	38:10
	43:8
	44:17
	58:12
	69:15
	69:17
	70:20
	71:13
	71:14
	71:14
	72:8
	75:4
	76:4
	76:5
	81:6
	88:1
	88:2
	91:12
	96:8
	96:8
	96:15
	96:15
	105:12
	105:16
	105:19
	105:20
	105:20
	107:1
	107:13
	111:3
	111:4
	117:14
	117:21
	122:5
	122:7
	122:7
	122:14
	122:15
	122:16
	122:18
	123:8
	123:16
	132:11
	133:13
	138:19
	138:24
	139:9
	139:11
	140:8
	140:9
	140:21
	140:21
	152:4
	154:19
	162:25
	163:2
	163:13
	163:14
	163:20
	165:21
	165:22
	166:10
	166:24
	167:2
	167:11
	168:21
	169:6
	169:13
	170:16
	170:16
	170:20
	170:21
	171:2
	171:3
	171:6
	172:23
	172:25
	173:2
	173:4
	173:5
	173:21
	173:25
	174:25
	175:7
	175:22
	176:12
	176:16
	176:16
	176:18
	181:20
	182:4

	uses (4)
	6:20
	22:9
	80:12
	119:1

	usual (2)
	14:24
	14:25

	usually (2)
	85:21
	90:13

	utilize (1)
	33:23

	UWF (1)
	37:19


	V
	vacant (11)
	122:6
	122:14
	122:15
	122:22
	123:4
	123:6
	170:14
	170:16
	170:20
	172:25
	173:22

	vacate (1)
	182:4

	vacuum (1)
	43:3

	value (2)
	131:22
	132:1

	values (3)
	71:24
	131:19
	135:6

	variance (6)
	8:18
	70:20
	70:22
	73:19
	101:8
	197:17

	variances (2)
	5:23
	6:20

	variations (1)
	185:19

	varied (2)
	83:15
	83:16

	varies (1)
	61:23

	various (2)
	80:9
	85:10

	vegetated (1)
	65:6

	vehicle (1)
	53:4

	vehicles (3)
	53:3
	158:24
	159:1

	verify (1)
	119:24

	version (3)
	15:18
	17:15
	17:21

	versions (1)
	18:2

	view (3)
	15:10
	155:18
	155:22

	viewed (1)
	142:24

	viewpoint (1)
	94:22

	vigilant (1)
	145:10

	vilified (1)
	155:18

	violated (1)
	25:2

	violation (6)
	25:11
	25:14
	25:15
	26:20
	36:22
	153:5

	violations (2)
	140:22
	152:22

	violence (1)
	61:2

	visit (2)
	9:17
	11:22

	visited (3)
	9:18
	11:10
	20:25

	VOICE (1)
	131:11

	voiced (1)
	144:18

	voir (2)
	11:9
	12:21

	vote (4)
	68:11
	195:23
	196:4
	196:23

	voted (1)
	7:15

	voting (5)
	9:10
	9:10
	9:14
	9:15
	68:19


	W
	waited (1)
	62:7

	waive (1)
	5:11

	waived (1)
	165:17

	walk (7)
	136:14
	152:18
	160:5
	160:10
	160:12
	160:13
	160:13

	walking (3)
	158:22
	161:8
	161:18

	Walter's (3)
	55:3
	78:3
	78:17

	Walters (2)
	42:15
	55:6

	wander (1)
	105:4

	want (77)
	14:19
	14:21
	16:15
	17:16
	30:6
	30:12
	30:14
	31:15
	31:16
	37:4
	38:9
	38:10
	41:25
	44:6
	46:22
	52:25
	53:23
	56:2
	56:2
	56:4
	56:7
	64:2
	64:3
	67:24
	67:24
	79:18
	85:18
	86:2
	89:17
	90:3
	97:24
	101:23
	102:3
	103:16
	103:16
	105:1
	105:4
	106:20
	108:15
	110:8
	110:12
	112:3
	112:18
	113:7
	114:14
	114:15
	114:15
	117:9
	117:10
	118:20
	120:3
	124:17
	124:18
	124:18
	126:12
	127:24
	129:24
	132:5
	137:11
	137:12
	152:21
	164:16
	165:20
	166:3
	166:16
	171:2
	174:16
	179:24
	183:9
	183:19
	185:2
	185:25
	191:6
	191:21
	192:3
	192:7
	192:25

	wanted (12)
	47:10
	78:8
	78:9
	90:25
	91:5
	101:10
	129:22
	134:16
	137:5
	155:22
	157:24
	170:16

	wants (2)
	72:4
	167:19

	warm (2)
	153:24
	154:13

	Washburn (1)
	37:12

	washing (1)
	29:4

	washroom (1)
	149:3

	wasn't (14)
	33:14
	46:19
	56:8
	57:10
	75:21
	80:5
	92:6
	96:2
	98:12
	101:16
	108:11
	138:4
	172:14
	193:25

	watched (1)
	161:20

	water (7)
	21:11
	36:11
	47:3
	65:11
	65:11
	78:13
	146:23

	Waterfront (2)
	37:16
	37:18

	Waters (1)
	41:9

	way (43)
	14:21
	21:6
	22:23
	25:18
	31:8
	34:18
	36:8
	36:16
	37:2
	41:14
	42:13
	47:1
	48:25
	49:14
	50:4
	51:22
	71:4
	71:5
	71:23
	74:22
	76:4
	76:6
	81:10
	83:21
	87:10
	91:18
	133:12
	134:9
	135:9
	135:9
	135:17
	135:18
	136:19
	136:20
	145:19
	152:15
	162:3
	162:5
	164:19
	165:6
	188:7
	189:7
	189:9

	ways (1)
	140:1

	wayside (1)
	149:12

	we'll (15)
	13:1
	31:13
	31:14
	33:15
	42:11
	45:15
	53:13
	55:25
	84:13
	98:8
	103:4
	113:7
	156:8
	163:19
	180:2

	we're (119)
	8:25
	17:17
	20:8
	23:25
	30:13
	30:14
	38:11
	38:11
	38:12
	43:1
	43:2
	43:7
	43:16
	44:3
	44:5
	44:7
	44:9
	45:5
	49:10
	49:11
	50:12
	57:11
	57:12
	57:17
	57:18
	69:24
	70:15
	72:7
	76:3
	77:14
	77:23
	79:8
	79:18
	79:23
	81:6
	81:9
	81:14
	81:16
	83:19
	83:19
	88:7
	89:14
	89:19
	103:3
	105:1
	105:2
	105:9
	105:13
	105:13
	106:4
	107:5
	107:5
	107:6
	107:10
	108:1
	108:3
	108:15
	108:16
	110:8
	110:17
	111:7
	111:8
	111:10
	111:14
	111:16
	112:5
	114:22
	115:24
	118:1
	123:18
	124:15
	125:11
	125:15
	127:25
	127:25
	135:15
	137:7
	137:21
	149:14
	149:15
	152:15
	152:23
	157:25
	160:18
	163:2
	163:3
	163:12
	163:20
	164:6
	164:8
	164:22
	164:22
	166:7
	166:15
	167:10
	169:24
	170:5
	170:6
	170:7
	170:16
	172:21
	172:21
	172:23
	173:21
	173:24
	174:12
	174:16
	183:14
	183:16
	185:24
	185:25
	188:4
	188:5
	188:25
	192:6
	193:17
	193:19
	194:3
	194:6

	we've (25)
	17:21
	18:25
	31:17
	43:13
	43:15
	47:22
	48:6
	48:7
	50:11
	50:23
	50:24
	62:16
	73:11
	75:7
	114:17
	162:22
	167:7
	167:8
	168:3
	169:7
	185:14
	189:18
	189:19
	190:9
	190:16

	weak (1)
	160:4

	weather (1)
	13:14

	web (1)
	16:5

	Wednesday (1)
	11:16

	Weeds (1)
	151:11

	week (4)
	40:24
	62:17
	143:1
	152:13

	weekly (4)
	28:19
	29:7
	152:10
	153:11

	weigh (1)
	127:18

	welcome (5)
	64:14
	156:1
	162:1
	162:1
	162:17

	well-known (1)
	92:1

	well-run (1)
	176:3

	went (25)
	25:12
	25:15
	33:16
	33:21
	40:7
	43:5
	44:2
	44:20
	45:7
	45:11
	50:5
	66:19
	92:9
	105:10
	110:6
	122:16
	124:20
	124:20
	127:10
	136:24
	140:17
	149:12
	167:14
	173:3
	184:11

	weren't (13)
	29:20
	40:19
	53:24
	78:12
	80:7
	87:4
	101:11
	124:5
	169:18
	184:15
	194:11
	194:12
	194:24

	west (9)
	1:17
	2:18
	47:2
	135:15
	139:19
	141:15
	141:23
	146:25
	162:4

	western (3)
	22:8
	22:14
	33:25

	westernmost (1)
	22:18

	wet (1)
	95:20

	wetland (3)
	65:12
	69:12
	82:1

	wetlands (8)
	13:9
	13:10
	21:10
	45:8
	45:9
	45:10
	76:13
	108:24

	white (11)
	72:13
	72:16
	72:24
	75:12
	83:21
	89:19
	90:2
	109:8
	109:8
	115:7
	174:18

	whittled (1)
	150:2

	whoever's (1)
	22:5

	wholeheartedly (1)
	124:13

	wide (3)
	53:18
	91:23
	92:15

	width (2)
	55:21
	78:5

	wife (1)
	158:11

	wife's (1)
	157:12

	wiggle (1)
	90:1

	William (2)
	1:10
	2:18

	Williams (1)
	41:5

	wind (2)
	31:23
	131:9

	window (4)
	130:6
	131:24
	157:6
	158:21

	windows (1)
	129:5

	winter (1)
	154:16

	wish (3)
	67:23
	134:23
	178:25

	wishes (1)
	7:24

	wishing (1)
	60:1

	withstand (1)
	99:11

	witness (3)
	11:5
	135:3
	138:12

	witnesses (5)
	3:7
	4:7
	10:5
	14:20
	134:21

	women (1)
	60:7

	wood (1)
	142:2

	wooded (2)
	53:8
	65:10

	wooden (1)
	34:12

	woods (5)
	53:6
	159:6
	159:8
	159:10
	159:14

	word (3)
	35:17
	139:15
	141:1

	wording (1)
	180:10

	work (21)
	15:24
	17:16
	17:21
	19:23
	26:2
	26:2
	48:20
	55:19
	56:5
	57:7
	62:4
	66:8
	68:17
	90:23
	92:4
	96:20
	100:5
	108:13
	111:1
	148:18
	189:10

	worked (4)
	37:4
	38:4
	95:22
	194:1

	working (9)
	10:24
	17:17
	43:14
	43:19
	93:22
	104:16
	110:1
	152:7
	155:16

	works (6)
	21:23
	26:14
	58:23
	59:6
	85:6
	85:9

	worried (1)
	78:12

	wouldn't (5)
	25:3
	35:13
	69:25
	87:8
	174:20

	Wow (1)
	166:9

	wrap (1)
	126:1

	wrapped (1)
	123:19

	write (4)
	31:14
	116:20
	117:5
	117:6

	written (4)
	8:10
	163:6
	176:8
	176:9

	wrong (1)
	145:9


	X
	X (2)
	76:15
	111:25


	Y
	y'all (14)
	15:1
	22:16
	63:3
	83:15
	90:10
	109:18
	117:18
	131:8
	140:5
	140:7
	151:10
	151:22
	163:11
	177:22

	yard (13)
	37:25
	112:19
	130:6
	142:4
	143:4
	143:25
	157:4
	159:18
	160:11
	160:12
	160:19
	161:24
	169:4

	yea (1)
	84:23

	yeah (21)
	16:11
	16:11
	16:11
	16:17
	17:13
	18:17
	19:2
	19:6
	22:4
	32:18
	32:21
	34:21
	39:10
	42:10
	104:7
	128:23
	133:6
	149:24
	149:24
	184:23
	196:19

	year (9)
	29:17
	36:19
	36:20
	62:8
	106:1
	106:3
	130:22
	153:8
	181:23

	years (31)
	20:18
	24:22
	24:24
	27:22
	29:1
	30:15
	31:9
	40:24
	43:14
	48:7
	64:8
	90:5
	104:12
	111:2
	111:6
	130:14
	130:18
	130:21
	131:19
	135:25
	141:24
	142:1
	142:9
	145:11
	146:19
	146:20
	156:25
	157:25
	190:24
	193:23
	195:2

	young (1)
	125:9


	Z
	zero (1)
	139:17

	zeros (1)
	34:4

	zoned (4)
	20:24
	24:19
	71:11
	175:11

	zoning (3)
	13:5
	105:21
	118:7

	zoom (3)
	13:24
	15:20
	16:8


	0
	1
	1 (1)
	103:4

	10 (6)
	80:22
	86:14
	90:24
	102:10
	103:20
	131:18

	10-foot (2)
	80:13
	80:14

	100 (1)
	126:14

	104 (1)
	1:18

	10th (1)
	103:19

	11 (1)
	160:7

	12:31 (1)
	197:20

	125 (1)
	2:18

	128 (1)
	3:11

	138 (1)
	3:12

	14 (1)
	29:21

	141 (1)
	3:13

	1418 (2)
	156:17
	158:17

	144 (1)
	3:14

	148 (1)
	3:16

	15 (4)
	7:22
	60:12
	90:5
	175:17

	156 (1)
	3:17

	158 (1)
	3:19

	16 (4)
	78:6
	78:9
	91:23
	92:15

	180 (2)
	7:19
	101:9

	180-day (1)
	181:20

	198 (1)
	3:5

	1999 (4)
	1:7
	9:1
	11:19
	176:5


	2
	2,000 (1)
	23:16

	2.2 (8)
	42:16
	45:16
	54:18
	171:19
	172:7
	176:22
	188:22
	190:25

	20-foot (2)
	80:15
	86:14

	2013 (1)
	13:8

	2014 (2)
	25:8
	26:20

	2016 (9)
	1:16
	4:13
	28:2
	38:25
	39:11
	102:10
	103:20
	103:23
	106:10

	2016-01 (1)
	13:3

	212 (1)
	59:22

	21st (1)
	197:17

	22 (1)
	28:2

	25 (1)
	131:18

	25-foot (1)
	78:24

	2500 (1)
	13:11

	254 (1)
	128:16

	272 (1)
	133:2

	27th (3)
	39:10
	171:16
	188:18

	28 (1)
	95:24

	28th (1)
	187:18


	3
	30 (6)
	7:13
	60:18
	98:4
	152:14
	181:24
	182:11

	32502 (1)
	2:19

	32505 (1)
	128:16

	3363 (1)
	1:17

	37 (2)
	141:24
	146:20


	4
	4 (1)
	3:4

	4335 (1)
	141:14

	44-ton (1)
	130:15


	5
	5 (2)
	38:25
	39:11

	50 (2)
	60:7
	152:11

	500-foot (1)
	13:5

	59 (1)
	3:10


	6
	6 (1)
	106:10

	600 (1)
	43:21

	682.60 (2)
	17:9
	190:1


	7
	7 (3)
	4:12
	90:24
	103:23

	7th (3)
	1:16
	11:15
	11:16


	8
	8:30 (2)
	1:16
	197:17

	82 (2)
	156:24
	157:25

	859 (5)
	17:11
	23:12
	31:14
	108:19
	169:23


	9
	90 (5)
	43:24
	109:22
	181:16
	182:6
	182:7

	90-day (2)
	101:4
	181:20

	96-13 (1)
	8:17




